



GRĂDINA BOTANICĂ "ANASTASIE FĂTU" IAȘI

UNIVERSITATEA "ALEXANDRU IOAN CUZA" din IAŞI

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT

VOLUME 30

2023

http://www.plant-journal.ualc.ro

ISSN 2065-3158 e-ISSN 2066-9917



Science and Culture for Nature EDITURA UNIVERSITĂȚII "ALEXANDRU IOAN CUZA" din IAȘI 2023

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT VOLUME 30 2023

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF:

Professor Cătălin TĂNASE, PhD — "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, corresponding member of the Romanian Academy

ASSOCIATE EDITOR:

Ana COJOCARIU, PhD – Botanic Garden "Anastasie Fătu" Iași, Romania

EDITORIAL BOARD:

- Professor Karol MARHOLD, PhD Plant Science and Biodiversity Centre, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Slovakia
- Academician Tamás PÓCS, PhD Academy of Science, Hungary; Eszterházy Károly Catholic University, Eger, Hungary
- Associate Professor Lăcrămioara IVĂNESCU, PhD "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Romania
- Professor Vasile CRISTEA, PhD University "Babeş-Bolyai" Cluj-Napoca, Romania
- Professor Tatiana Eugenia ŞESAN, PhD University of Bucharest, corresponding member of the Academy of Agricultural Sciences and Forestry, Romania
- Professor Anca SÂRBU, PhD University of Bucharest, Romania

Professor Luis NAVARRO, PhD – University of Vigo, Spain

- Professor Attila J. KOVÁCS, PhD University of West Hungary, Savaria Univ. Centre, Biological Institute, Szombathely, Hungary
- Associate Professor Laura MOMEU, PhD University "Babeş-Bolyai" Cluj-Napoca, Romania
- Research Specialist Antoaneta PETROVA, PhD Botanic Garden, Academy of Science, Bulgaria
- Research Specialist Henrik SJÖMAN, PhD Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Landscape Management, Design and Construction, Sweden
- Research Specialist Giles Cassidy THELEN, PhD University of Montana, Division of Biological Sciences, Missoula, Montana, U.S.A.
- Biologist Adrian OPREA, PhD "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu" Iași, Romania

PRODUCTION STAFF (Technical & Publication Board): Engr. Monica MURARIU

Indexed in: EBSCO, DOAJ, CABI, INDEX COPERNICUS Journal Master list (ICV 2022 - 100.00), CSA ProQuest, AGRICOLA (USDA – NAL Catalog), CrossRef, Ulrich's International Periodicals Directory, Electronic Journals Library (EZB), Smithsonian Institution Libraries, EVISA, BASE Bielefeld Academic Search Engine, WorldWideSciense.

> Correspondence Address: GRĂDINA BOTANICĂ "ANASTASIE FĂTU" Str. Dumbrava Roșie nr. 7-9, 700487 - IAȘI http://www.botanica.uaic.ro E-mail: gbot.is@uaic.ro

CONTENTS

Downregulation of arabinogalactan proteins during spermatogenesis in the moss <i>Physcomitrium patens</i>	
ERIC EUGENE JOHNSON, ALYSSA TAYLOR-LAPOLE, MATTHEW BAVUSO	3
New data on the distribution and invasion status of some alien plants in Romania CULIȚĂ SÎRBU , ADRIAN OPREA , MIHAI DOROFTEI , SILVIU COVALIOV	17
Ripgut brome (<i>Bromus diandrus</i>) in Romania's vascular flora Adrian Oprea , Culiță Sîrb u	33
Collection and phenotypic characterization of some nigerian bambara groundnut (<i>Vigna subterranea</i>) germplasm using seed morphology	
DORCAS ROPO ABEJIDE, OLAMIDE AHMED FALUSI, OLADIPUPO ABDULAZEEZ YUSUF DAUDU, LIMAN MUHAMMAD MUHAMMAD, AISHATU AHMED GADO	47
Phytochemical screening of dhaman (<i>Grewia tiliifolia</i> Vahl) fruit in sub-tropical region of India SONALI SINGH, PUSHPENDER BHARDWAJ, AJAY SHARMA, GARIMA BHARDWAJ, NEHA RANI BHAGAT, PREETI KUMARI, AVILEKH NARYAL, ARUP GIRI	55
Contributions to the study of some aromatic species of the genus <i>Nepeta</i> L. MARICICA COLȚUN, ALINA BOGDAN, ELVIRA GILLE, VALENTIN GRIGORAȘ	69
Phytochemical screening and anti-bacterial activity of <i>Erythrina variegata</i> leaf, stem and root extracts	
BUSHRA SUMAYYA Mohammed , Poornesh Sutramay , Samreen Ahmadi , Salma Fathima , Srinitha Askani , Pruthvi Charan Jambiga , Ramya Thumma , Sunitha Bai Dharavath , Shasthree Taduri	77
Sustainable okra (<i>Abelmoschus esculentus</i> L.) productivity as influenced by fortification of goat manure with rice husk ash in Northern Guinea savanna ecology of Nigeria	80
Effects of chromium stress on seed germination and early seedling growth performances of pearl millet <i>Pennisetum glaucum</i> (L.) R. Br. (Poaceae)	89
MUHAMMAD ZAFAR IQBAL, SANA MURTAZA, MUHAMMAD SHAFIQ	99
Biodiversity of aquatic plants and microflora in Tagwai Dam, Nigeria HABIBA MAIKUDI MUHAMMED , USMAN IBRAHIM HAMZA , DANLADI GARBA HANI , ALIYU DANJUMA ALIYU , ALHASSAN USMAN GABI , IBRAHIM YAHAYA , HAUWA HUSSAINI NDAYAKO , MAIKARFI MONDAY	109
Cultivar and weed control strategy influencing the productivity of roselle (<i>Hibiscus sabdariffa</i> L.) in a semi-arid environment of Nigeria EMMANUEL ABRAHAM SHITTU , MOSES SAMUEL BASSEY , ISHAKU JAMES DANTATA	119

Comparative nutritional and phytochemical composition of <i>Sorghum bicolor</i> (L.) Moench and <i>Tea mays</i> I	
Ibrahim Umar Karaye , Sa'idu Muhammad Maishanu , Muhammad Hannatu Lawal , Ismaila Shafi'u Adili , Abubakar Sheh u, Nasiru Shehu Gatawa	129
Electrical signaling and its physiological and biochemical impacts during herbivore attacks: a brief review on <i>Arabidopsis thaliana</i> AIRA MONIQUE NASOL FELIX, TIM XING	137
The effects of acid mist environment on plant growth: a review MUHAMMAD SHAFIQ , MUHAMMAD ZAFAR IQBAL , MOHAMMAD ATHAR	149
Guide to authors	171

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS IN THE MOSS *PHYSCOMITRIUM PATENS*

Eric Eugene JOHNSON^{1*}, Alyssa TAYLOR-LAPOLE², Matthew BAVUSO³

¹ Department of Biology, Virginia Wesleyan University, Virginia Beach, VA – United States.
 ² Department of Mathematics, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC – United States.
 ³ Philips Institute, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA – United States.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: ejohnson@vwu.edu

Abstract: Seedless plants utilize flagellated sperm cells for reproduction that develop using a series of cell walls resulting in naked motile cells. Arabinogalactan Proteins (AGPs) have been shown to play an important role in the maturation of sperm in ferns by an unknown mechanism. We sought to identify AGPs expressed in the spermatids of the moss *Physcomitrium patens* to identify this mechanism because it is amenable to genetic manipulation. We tracked the expression of 121 putative AGP-encoding genes across three time points of development with RNAseq and quantified total AGPs to compare to the fern *Ceratopteris richardii*. Unexpectedly, AGP genes and proteins were significantly downregulated in *P. patens*. BURP domain-containing genes, which are expressed in pollen of angiosperms, were highly upregulated and may serve similar roles to the AGPs of ferns. This study shows that the fern cell walls do not share as significant of a need for AGPs of developing sperm in bryophytes and this may be related to the number of flagella found in the respective lineages.

Keywords: bryophyte, BURP-domain proteins, cell wall, flagella, gametogenesis, spermatid development.

Introduction

Throughout plant evolution, key adaptations arose in major lineages allowing them to thrive in drier conditions. One feature that has undergone dramatic changes among lineages is the morphology of the sperm cell [SOUTHWORTH & CRESTI, 1997]. The male gamete of the oldest land plants form a naked coiled cell containing a pair of flagella reminiscent of sperm from related algae. The pollen grains in most seed plants represent the entire microgametophyte and only produce sperm nuclei housed within. As new lineages emerged from ancestral bryophytes, sperm cells increase their number of flagella whereas ferns have dozens, but a few pollen-bearing seed plants, Cycads and Ginkgo, can have upwards of 50,000 flagella. In these, sperm travel through a pollen tube that bursts open just shy of the egg and the flagella drive the sperm across the short distance within the ovule to the egg [RENZAGLIA & GARBARY, 2001; SOUTHWORTH & CRESTI, 1997].

Hydration of mature antheridia in seedless plants cue sperm release, initiating their journey to the egg-bearing archegonium to form the zygote. In the later stages of development, sperm transform from the characteristic boxy plant cell to take on their coiled shape while the locomotory apparatus forms at the cell anterior concurrent with the deletion of cytoplasm, facilitated by the chemically unique extraprotoplasmic matrix (EPM) [BERNHARD & RENZAGLIA, 1995; GENAU & al. 2021; LOPEZ & al. 2017]. The locomotory apparatus contains a number of microtubule based structures including the lamellar strip, the overlying

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

flagella, and their anchoring basal bodies all attached to a row of connected microtubules, known as a spline [RENZAGLIA & al. 2000]. Sperm of most gymnosperms and all flowering plants, lack any need for flagella as pollinators and pollen tubes cooperate to deliver sperm nuclei directly to the egg.

Arabinogalactan Proteins (AGPs) are excreted glycoproteins containing large branching sugar residues consisting primarily of arabinose and galactose. They are encompassed within the hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein family, along with extensins and proline-rich proteins [SEIFERT & ROBERTS, 2007]. Historically, they are defined by their small proteinaceous backbones with high proportions of hydroxyproline that act as O-glycosylation points [TAN & al. 2003, 2010]. However, a survey of plant genomes found much higher AGP diversity, including the formation of chimeras with kinases, formins, or cell wall modifying domains among other subfamilies [MA & al. 2017]. The authors of this survey ultimately define AGPs by the proportion of "glycomodules" to gene length. Glycomodules are the dipeptides enriched in AGP sequences consisting of Pro + [Ala, Ser, Thr]. While most have a signal peptide and many are predicted to be GPI-anchored, these do not strictly define the proteins. Those that are GPI-anchored have the ability to remain linked to the outer surface of the plasma membrane, but may also render them susceptible to cleavage by phospholipases that would release them into the wall where they may play myriad roles [BORNER & al. 2003; ELORTZA & al. 2003, 2006]. The nature of this is, however, consistently vague with little direct evidence of a molecular mechanism [LAMPORT & al. 2014].

AGPs are known to play roles in many aspects of plant biology such as cell fate determination, plant microbe-interactions, gravitropism, and more [SEIFERT & ROBERTS, 2007], but they commonly facilitate aspects of reproduction across most land plants. They are produced at various developmental events and in key tissues involved in pollen and sperm production in a diverse sampling of flowering plants [CHUDZIK & al. 2014; COSTA & al. 2015; LI & al. 1992; MA & al. 2019; QIN & al. 2007; SOUTHWORTH & KWIATKOWSKI, 1996] and gymnosperms [MOGAMI & al. 1999; YATOMI & al. 2002]. Both the generative cell, giving rise to two sperm cells, and vegetative cell, controlling the growth of the pollen tube, strongly label for AGPs in most angiosperms and they are believed to function in both pollen tube elongation and pollen-pistil interactions affecting compatibility and efficient delivery of the sperm cells in nonflagellated plant lineages [LESZCZUK & al. 2019; SEIFERT & ROBERTS, 2007]. In the fern Ceratopteris, varying AGP populations are differentially expressed through spermatogenesis and are intimately associated with flagella throughout their elongation in the extracellular matrix [LOPEZ & RENZAGLIA, 2014]. When the AGPs are chemically removed late in development, flagella become haphazardly arranged and the cell fails to eliminate cytoplasm or develop the microtubular backbone. The purpose of this study was to directly identify AGP encoding genes associated with spermatogenesis in flagellated plants using the model moss Physcomitrium patens by tracking AGP expression, family-wide, throughout antheridium development in order to test for a more specific mechanism of AGP activity.

Materials and methods

Tissue growing conditions. Ceratopteris richardii spores were obtained and grown according to the manufacturer (Carolina Biological, Burlington, NC, USA). *Physcomitrium patens* culture was maintained under 24 °C 24hr light at 400-500 lux every 7-12 days growing on PpNH4 media. In preparation for inducing gametangia, 2 mm balls of protonemal tissue were arranged in a 9x9 grid on BCD+Ammonium Tartarate (5 mM) media [RESKI & COVE, 2004]

and grown for 5 weeks to allow gametophore development. Gametangia were induced as described [HOHE & al. 2002]. Antheridia development was confirmed by microscopy prior to harvest. For RNA-seq samples, tissue was frozen in liquid nitrogen, ground to a fine powder and stored at -80 °C before RNA extraction. For qPCR samples, gametophore tips only were dissected, frozen, and stored at -80 °C. These samples were homogenized in RNAzol (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA) using microfuge pestles followed by an application of the homogenate to a shredder spin column (Lamda Biotech, St. Louis, MO, USA).

RNA prep, RNA-seq, and analysis. RNA was extracted from quadruplicate samples of each timepoint using RNAzol, according to the manufacturer's protocol. Subsequently, samples were DNAse I treated and concentrated using a silica column (Zymo research, Irvine, CA, USA). Samples were assessed using a Qubit and 2100 Bioanalyser, ribo-depleted with a RiboZero Plant kit. Libraries were created with NEXTflex Rapid Directional qRNA-seq kit and sequenced with a HiSeq4000 (75pb paired-end, 30M reads per sample) performed by ACGT, Inc (Wheeling, IL, USA). Bcl2fastq was used to de-multiplex the raw reads. These data were further analyzed by the University of Virginia Bioinformatics Core, including quantitation and expression analyses.

For qPCR analysis, RNA quality was assessed visually on a gel and equivalent quantities were converted to cDNA using Protoscript II Reverse Transcriptase (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA). qPCR was conducted using the Pfaffl method, after primer pair efficiencies were calculated in triplicate [PFAFFL, 2001], using PowerUp SYBR green master mix (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) on a QuantStudio3 thermocycler. Primer pairs are listed in Table 1.

Primers	Gene Locus		Efficiency	Sequence				
E-256	D=2-7 420	Fasciclin-like	2 14 TCCTTCTCTCTCTCTCTCTCCCA					
E-257	Pp3c/_430	AGP	2.14	CCTGATACCTCCAATCGCCAAC				
E-258	$D_{m}2_{a}21_{a}10620$	Periostin-	1.04	AGCCTTCACCATCACCAG				
E-259	Pp3c21_10620	Related	1.94	TAGAGCGACAACAGCGGAC				
E-252	$D_{m}^{2} = 1 + 4120$	Fasciclin-like	1.04	AGCAGCGAAGGTCTACAG				
E-253	rpsc1_4150	AGP	1.94	GTCGATACCATGAACAGCAAC				
E-254	Dn3c13 8280	Fasciclin-like	2.06	TTGCGCCCTTCTCGTTTC				
E-255	1 p3c13_8280	AGP	2.00	GCAACAACTTTCTCGTGCAG				
E-476	$P_{m3c10} 22850$	Periostin-	1.07	GCTTCCTAACACTACCTTGAG				
E-477	1 p3c10_22830	Related	1.97	CTCCAGTGAGAGCAAATACC				
E-478	$P_{n}_{2}_{2}_{2}_{2}_{3}_{6}_{6}_{8}_{120}$	ID AK 1		GCCTACTGCTTCTTGTATTGC				
E-479	1 p3c20_8120	IKAKI	ΔΔΟι	TTGCATGGAGTTGTGTCTG				
E-480	Probable Probable		*^^C+	TCGCACCGCTTGTATCTG				
E-481	1 p3c3_14830	LTP_2	ΔΔΟΙ	CGAGCGTGAAACAAGGAAC				
E-484	$P_{n}_{2}_{2}_{16} = 10400$	BURP	1.04	GATCAGAGCAAGGAAAGTCG				
E-485	1 p3c10_19400	domain	1.94	TATCCTTTGAGTGGGACCTG				
E-470	$P_{n_{2}c_{5}}$ 0210	AGP 31	1.06	TGAAAGATGCCGAGGTGG				
E-471	Pp3c5_9210	AUF-51	1.90	TTTCGCCTTACATCCATTGC				
E-272		Reference		TTTCTCTTCTTCCTCTCGCTC				
E-273	Pp3c13_2360	Gene; RP- L21e	1.94	TTGTGCCTGAAGGGTCTG				
E-533	Pp3c8 1210	ITP 2	*^^Ct	AATCGGACATCATGCCTTC				
E-534	1 p3co_1210			CTGGAATAACTCTGCCATTGC				

Table 1. Primers used in qPCR analyses

E-535	$D_{\rm m} 2_{\rm s} 12_{\rm s} 11710_{\rm s}$	PLAT/LH2	****	GAGTGCCATGCAGAGCAAC
E-536	Pp3c12_11/10	domain	· AACt	TGCGTCTATCCCACGATGA
E-537	$D_{m}^{2} = 2 \cdot 4510$	BURP	*^^C+	ACGCATCACCACTCTACAGC
E-538	Pp3c2_4510 de	domain	*AACt	CGTCCATCACCTTCCATCTC

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

AGP extraction. Soluble AGPs were extracted according to [POPPER, 2011]. Total protein was quantified using the BCA method and total AGPs were quantified using a radial gel diffusion assay [VAN HOLST & CLARKE, 1985]. The gel diffusion assay showed an R^2 >0.99 using Gum Arabic as a standard with a dilution series between 0.031-2 µg.

Results and discussions

MA & al. (2017) identified AGPs from across the plant kingdom, and found 104 putative AGPs in the P. patens genome. Dynamic expression of this suite of genes was assessed using RNA-seq in plants at two points during spermatogenesis compared against non-induced samples. P. patens produces antheridia when exposed to low light, low temperature and long day conditions (16 dark/8 light) [HOHE & al. 2002]. Upon induction, new antheridia initials form and mature over 10 defined stages [LANDBERG & al. 2013]. However, additional antheridia initials form in succession after the previous. While the oldest antheridia may mature by 16 days after induction (stage 9), there will be a greater percentage of stage 9 antheridia later as additional sets of antheridia form and then mature. With this in mind, we sampled plants at 0 days past induction (dpi), showing only vegetative growth, at 15 dpi, when the first antheridia are nearly mature, and 28 dpi, when 2-4 antheridia in each cluster are mature and relatively few young antheridia apparent. When expression of all 104 putative AGPs were assessed, it was found that the majority were either downregulated or saw no significate change in expression (Figure 1A and archived data [JOHNSON, 2023]). Only two putative AGPs saw moderate upregulation during spermatogenesis in the initial screen. These include Pp3c26 8120 which showed a mere 1.28 Log₂ fold change (Log₂FC) at 15dpi that was sustained in the 28 dpi samples; and Pp3c10 22850 showed a 1.55 Log₂FC increase in 28 dpi vs. 0 dpi samples. A third putative AGP, Pp3c5 9210, not identified as an AGP by MA & al. (2017) was expressed strongly only in the 28dpi sample with a 2.96 log₂FC (Figure 1A). It is not surprising that some AGPs were missing from the target list as the authors acknowledged using a high threshold that likely excluded some genes. In validating these results with qPCR, we found that Pp3c26 8210 was too lowly expressed to accurately quantify in most replicates. Pp3c10 22850 saw a gradual increase in expression at 15dpi, but then a gradual downregulation at 28dpi. The third putative AGP, Pp3c5 9210 did see increased expression at both 15dpi at 1.82 Log₂(FC) and a much stronger increase of 5.77 Log₂(FC) at 28dpi (Figure 1B). The RNA-seq samples contained whole gametophores in an attempt to harvest tissue quickly, though this may have resulted in a dilution of spermatid-derived RNA with vegetative tissue. Subsequent qPCR analysis contained only gametophore tips, where antheridia are bore, giving a higher concentration of the tissues/cells of interest so a larger Log₂(FC) in our qPCR analysis is not unexpected.



Figure 1. AGP-transcriptome dynamics during spermatogenesis in *P. patens*. **A**. normalized relative transcript counts of 104 putative AGP-encoding genes 0, 15 or 28 days past induction. Only three AGPs show a significant up-regulation, while the majority show no change (ND) and many show down-regulation. p > 0.05. **B**. qPCR analysis of AGPs in antheridia-induced tissue at 15 and 28 dpi. * Pp3c26_8120 was not expressed at sufficient enough levels to measure in 3 out of 4 replicates. Bars are +/- SE. N=3-4.

Since the drop in AGP expression was initially unexpected, we wanted to confirm whether this change was reflected in total protein changes over the same time period. Total soluble AGPs were extracted and quantified (Figure 2A). While there was no significant change between 0- and 15-dpi samples, there was a significant decrease in AGPs during the maturation of sperm cells at 28 dpi, whereas we found 0.065, 0.076, and 0.036 μ g AGP/ μ g extracted protein, respectively. We then quantified AGPs in the fern C. richardi to ensure that the total protein extract was reflective of the ultrastructural analysis that initially identified the increase in spermatogenesis-related AGPs [LOPEZ & RENZAGLIA, 2014]. As expected, a significant increase in AGPs was noted when sperm cells matured and at the same timepoint point that swimming sperm were observed, 11 days after sowing (das), compared to 8 das; p < 0.05 (Figure 2B). While it should be noted that C. richardii sperm mature more rapidly and the gametophytes are structurally simpler and shortlived, there was more than 10 times the mass of AGPs in C. richardii compared to P. patens. AGP levels increased from 0.310 to 0.569 μ g AGP/ μ g extracted protein as sperm matured. In conjunction with our gene expression analysis, this suggests that AGPs play a far reduced role in spermatogenesis in moss compared to C. richardii. However, a pair of studies investigating the cell wall makeup of maturing moss sperm cells in *P. patens* and *Aulacomnium palustre* note the presence of dynamic populations of AGP-epitopes in the spermatid walls that wanes some as maturation commences [HENRY, 2021; LOPEZ-SWALLS, 2016]. From our data, it is unclear how or when these AGPs were expressed, though there is an emerging theme that the presence of particular AGPs may arise from the presence of the particular glycotransferases that build them under given conditions rather than the AGP-encoding genes themselves [SILVA & al. 2020]. It is possible that one/some of the non-differentially expressed genes in our study codes for the AGPs found in mature sperm and the changing epitopes labelled by [HENRY, 2021] result from the differential expression of AGP-modifying glycotransferases. Our data, however, clearly show a reduction in AGP expression during spermatogenesis.



DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

Figure 2. Arabinogalactan protein production during spermatogenesis. **A**. Extracted AGPs from developing *P. patens* gametophore tip quantified by radial diffusion assay. Note decrease in AGP levels during the maturation of sperm cells. At 28 dpi significantly fewer AGPs (p<0.05) are produced compared to non-induced tissue **B**. Extracted AGPs from developing *Ceratopteris richardii* prothalli, a flagellated plant known to require AGPs in sperm development. AGP levels are significantly increased (p<0.05) at 11 days after sewing compared to 8 days. Bars = SE; n = 3-4.

What was upregulated? Of the transcripts that were up regulated, no GO terms were significantly enriched. However, when the most up-regulated genes were assessed individually, some anticipated and unanticipated genes were identified (See Table 2 and archived data [JOHNSON, 2023]). For example, a β -tubulin component and two histone associated transcripts (Pp3c13_14080 and Pp3c26_7260) were among the top upregulated genes comparing 15 dpi to 28 dpi samples, as would be expected with the production of key microtubule-based structures and the spiral shaping of the nucleus. A key component to their maturation is the deletion of cytoplasm and organization of flagella into the extraprotoplasmic matrix. Thus, we would expect to find an upregulation of genes encoding secreted proteins, cell wall modifying enzymes and transport proteins, or possibly catabolic enzymes for cytoplasmic deletion and lysosome-related enzymes. A catabolic PLAT/LH2 protein (Pp3c12_11710), and four putative secreted proteins: a Lipid Transfer Protein (Pp3c8_1210), a pollen Ole e I Allergen (Pp3c5_9210) and two BURP domain containing proteins PpBURP4 (Pp3c16_19400) and PpBURP5 (Pp3c2_4510) were among the most highly upregulated.

What was downregulated? The genes most downregulated throughout sperm cell development are mostly associated with photosynthesis (Table 2 and archived data [JOHNSON, 2023]). This is unsurprising as induction of antheridia involves a low light, short day, low temperature treatment. However, there may be a more direct link to spermatogenesis or antheridia development as male fern gametophytes also show lower levels of photosynthesis compared to their hermaphroditic counterparts [CHEN & al. 2019]. This is also in agreement with the observation that plastids are reduced early during spermatogenesis in the liverwort *Blasia pusila* [RENZAGLIA & DUCKETT, 1987].

Eric Eugene JOHNSON & al.

samples, ranked compared 15 up vs. 28 up to emphasize rate-stage spermatid development.						
Gene code	Putative function	Sig rank ¹	15 dpi vs. 28 dpi	0 dpi vs. 15 dpi	0 dpi vs. 28 dpi	Basemean
Pp3c16_19400	BURP domain-containing protein	1	5.06	0.62	5.68	59.03
Pp3c12_11710	Lipase/lipooxygenase, PLAT/LH2 family protein	2	5.06	0.00	5.21	41.05
Pp3c13 14080	Linker histone H1 and H5 family	3	4.85	0.15	5.00	35.19
Pp3c8_1210	Bifunctional inhibitor/lipid- transfer protein/seed storage 2S albumin superfamily protein	4	4.30	0.51	4.81	39.20
Pp3c2_4510	BURP domain-containing protein	6	3.98	0.15	4.13	19.05
Pp3c5_9210	Pollen Ole e 1 allergen and extensin family protein (A subclass of AGPs)	9	2.96	0.71	3.67	43.46
Pp3c26_470	Dehydrin family	12	2.62	0.22	2.84	251.42
Pp3c26_7260	histone H1-3	13	2.52	0.00	2.66	7.61
Pp3c8_2420	Tubulin beta chain 2	16	2.41	0.25	2.66	6.66
Pp3c10_19280	SF5-Stromal Interaction Molecule Homolog	17	2.30	0.49	2.79	63.49

 Table 2. Most up-regulated genes during late antheridium development. Log2 (fold-increase) in samples, ranked compared 15dpi vs. 28 dpi to emphasize late-stage spermatid development.

¹: Sig rank = rank of most significant (Padj) comparing 15dpi vs. 28dpi samples

Table 3. Most down-regu	ilated genes during	g late antheridium	development. Log2	2 (fold-increase) in
samples, ranked com	pared 15dpi vs. 28	dpi to emphasize l	late-stage spermation	l development.

	Putative function	Sig rank ¹	15 dpi	0 dpi	0 dpi	
Gene code			vs. 28 dpi	vs. 15 dpi	vs. 28 dpi	Basemean
Pp3c13_15990	Global Transcription Factor	5	-1.54	NA	-2.28	1106.97
Pp3c13_15980	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	7	-1.96	-2.55	-4.51	39257.61
Pp3c13_16130	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	8	-1.94	-2.03	-3.97	4418.33
Pp3c13_15790	NA	10	-1.99	-1.19	-3.18	199.05
Pp3c13_15786	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	11	-1.90	-3.28	-5.17	304.44
Pp3c13_15800	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	55	-1.24	-3.73	-4.97	7098.13
Pp3c12_22350	carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase 1	312	NS	-4.69	-3.68	101.34
Pp3c13_2310	photosystem I subunit D-2	925	NS	-1.71	-2.12	291.15
Pp3c27_2340	photosystem II subunit R	1757	NS	-1.73	-1.46	2064.85
Pp3c13_16000	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	1799	NS	-2.53	-3.01	1919.28
Pp3c18_7850	NA	3120	NS	-5.19	-5.72	259.74
Pp3c14_380	Disease resistance-responsive (dirigent-like protein) family protein	7060	NS	-2.53	-2.73	2644.46
Pp3c8_7680	NA	8096	NS	-3.67	-3.47	33208.92
Pp3c19_21160	plastocyanin 1	10180	NS	-1.44	-1.53	5099.99
Pp3c3_18750	ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase small chain 1A	18734	NS	-2.25	-2.31	3203.72

¹: Sig rank = rank of most significant (Padj) comparing 15dpi vs. 28dpi samples

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

It has become clear that AGPs can play a major role serving as a Ca²⁺ store in the apoplast in a pH dependent manner through the negatively charged GlcA residues common to AGPs [LAMPORT & VÁRNAI, 2013; LOPEZ-HERNANDEZ & al. 2020; ZHANG & al. 2021]. The high proportion of AGPs found in Ceratopteris spermatids were suggested to support flagella positioning and elongation through this calcium signaling mechanism [LOPEZ & RENZAGLIA, 2018]. Cortical microtubule dynamics are influenced by Ca²⁺ [NICK, 2013] as are some interactions between AGPs and microtubules [NGUEMA-ONA & al. 2007; SARDAR & al. 2006], though a direct role in the polymerization of the stable microtubules found in flagella is not known. However, this mechanism could help explain why moss spermatocytes, with only 2 flagella show reduced AGP gene expression and protein as compared to the sperm of Ceratopteris with approximately 80 flagella [RENZAGLIA & al. 2017]. The diversity in AGP-glycosylation patterns found in tracheophytes [MUELLER & al. 2023] gives the possibility that AGPs evolved to provide a chemical environment facilitating development of these more complex sperm cells after the split from bryophytes. Furthermore, AGPs are also well known to be involved in tip growth, for which P. patens would have displayed significant protonema growth under vegetative conditions [LEE & al. 2005; TEH & al. 2022]. As the plants shift away from vegetative growth, the need for broad production of AGPs would also wane. [MIGNONE & BASILE, 2000] found that a strong increase in AGP production occurs as P. patens produces buds and transitions into gametophore growth, but in agreement with our data, the plants shift away from their production as gametophores transition into gametangia production.

Physcomitrium patens ecotypes. It was recently discovered that the most commonly studied ecotype of P. patens, Gransden (Gd), has accumulated (epi-)genetic changes resulting in spermatozoids with poorly formed flagella [HISS & al. 2017; MEYBERG & al. 2020]. This was attributed to consistent subculturing and encouraged the characterization of the Reute (Re) ecotype which shows healthy sperm production. To determine the nature of this in Gd, differentially expressed genes were determined and the key flaw in Gd seems to involve both the polymerization of its axoneme microtubules within the flagella as well as the adhearence of the plasma membrane to the flagella, roles AGPs could perceivably be involved in. However, off the 15 putative AGPs we identified as down-regulated in Gd, they were found to be similarly down-regulated or show no change in Re between juvenile and adult gametophore tissue, according to PEATmoss [FERNANDEZ-POZO & al. 2020]. This confirms our primary finding that AGP downregulation during gametangia development occurs in both Re and Gd. The only strongly up-regulated AGP we identified, Pp3c5_9210V3.1, was similarly upregulated in Ru and it was subsequently shown to contain a premature stop codon in Re [MEYBERG & al. 2020]. Clearly it is not necessary for normal sperm cell development. Furthermore, we confirmed that the two BURP domain containing genes were also strongly upregulated in the Reute ecotype of P. patens during sperm cell maturation (Figure 3). Although our developmental approach to characterizing changes in gene expression was conducted in Gd, the genes identified show similar expression patterns in both ecotypes.



Figure 3. PpBURP4 and PpBURP5 are highly expressed during antheridia maturation in Reute ecotype. **A.** qPCR analysis of PpBURP4 and PpBURP5 in tissue 28 days past induction of antheridia formation. **B.** Image is representative of 28dpi tissue with mature swimming sperm (arrow) and a series of younger antheridia. Bar = $50 \mu m$.

BURP-domain containing proteins. Two of the most highly upregulated genes in this study belonged to a family of genes that shows some similarities to AGPs in that they are extracellular proteins [WANG & al. 2012; XU & al. 2013] that play roles in many stress and developmental pathways. There are also a number of reports of involvement of these genes with male gametes of seed plants [KHLAIMONGKHON & al. 2021; SUN & al. 2019; TREACY & al. 1997; WANG & al. 2003]. It could be that these proteins are produced and secreted to help modify the cell walls or extra protoplasmic matrices that serve a homologous function to the AGP-rich layer in *C. richardii* spermatogenesis [LOPEZ & RENZAGLIA, 2014].

The BURP domain itself was initially characterized by its presence in BMN2, a microspore protein from Brassica napus [BOUTILIER & al. 1994]; USP, a nonstorage seed protein from Vicia faba [BASSÜNER & al. 1988]; RD22, a dehydration responsive protein from Arabidopsis [YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI & SHINOZAKI, 1993]; and PG18, a noncatalytic subunit of polygalacturonase isozyme I from Solanum lycopersicum [ZHENG & al. 1992]. The domain is located at the C-terminus and built from a pair of spaced cystine residues followed by four cysteine-histidine repeats (CHX₁₀CHX₂₃₋₂₇CHX₂₃₋₂₆CHX₈W) [DING & al. 2009; WANG & al. 2015]. This protein family emerged with the migration onto land but broad functional diversification only occurred after the split from lycophytes and likely showed strong diversification more recently among angiosperms [WANG & al. 2015; YU & al. 2022]. Phylogenetic analyses show most moss and lycophyte BURPs segregating into their own subfamily, BURP-IV, giving some question as to broad functional comparisons of these proteins between major plant lineages. To compound on that, each of the namesake genes for the family cluster into the three other BURP-domain containing gene subfamilies; including BMN1-like, PG1β-like, and BURPIII that includes RD22- and USP- homologues, which are all absent from lower land plants and limiting our ability to extrapolate functions of the identified genes. Regardless, the functional characterization of any BURP domain containing protein has only recently occurred whereas some members show autocatalytic peptide cyclase activity to form bioactive cyclopeptides [CHIGUMBA & al. 2022]. These are largely considered to be specialized metabolites that play defensive roles across a number of vascular plant lineages and it is unclear how these might contribute to the development of sperm cells in bryophytes. These

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

data highlight the need to further characterize BURP domain containing genes from seedless plants to determine their importance in spermatogenesis.

Conclusions

Sperm cells represent brief time in an organism's life cycle in which the fate of a lineage falls onto a single cell. With this, it is not surprising that plant evolution shows only incremental changes in overall structure when comparing the major lineages. It was surprising to find major differences in the importance of AGPs during spermatogenesis comparing the model moss and fern. AGPs were hypothesized to facilitate the formation of flagella in ferns and our data may actually agree as the pair of flagella in bryophytes wouldn't require as great a need for these glycoproteins as the 80+ flagella found in *Ceratopteris* sperm. This begs to determine the quantity of AGPs found in the development of Cycads and Ginkgo and their 1000s of flagella. As an alternative explanation, findings that seedless plants show the most structural diversity of AGPs among plant lineages could have provided ferns a mechanism to evolve and change the makeup of the spermatid extraprotoplasmic matrix during maturation to provide roles that other cell wall components may be serving in bryophytes, such as BURP-domain containing proteins.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Drs. Karen RENZAGLIA and Renee LOPEZ-SMITH for helping to initiate and develop this project as well as the following students who contributed in smaller ways to its completion: Justin Bloom, LeMar Callway III, Corentine Villot, Lindsey Whaley, Destini Garrison, and Amanda Albert. This research was funded by the Jeffress Memorial Trust foundation, two Virginia Federation of Independent Colleges summer research fellowships, and internal funding at Virginia Wesleyan University.

References

- BASSÜNER R., BÄUMLEIN H., HUTH A., JUNG R., WOBUS U., RAPOPORT T. A., SAALBACH G. & MÜNTZ K. 1988. Abundant embryonic mRNA in field bean (*Vicia faba* L.) codes for a new class of seed proteins: cDNA cloning and characterization of the primary translation product. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 11(3): 321-334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00027389
- BERNHARD D. L. & RENZAGLIA K. S. 1995. Spermiogenesis in the moss Aulacomnium palustre. The Bryologist. 98(1): 52-70. https://doi.org/10.2307/3243642
- BORNER G. H. H., LILLEY K. S., STEVENS T. J. & DUPREE P. 2003. Identification of Glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored proteins in Arabidopsis. A proteomic and genomic analysis. Plant Physiology. 132(2): 568-577. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.021170
- BOUTILIER K. A., GINÉS M. J., DÉMOOR J. M., HUANG B., BASZCZYNSKI C. L., IYER V. N. & MIKI B. L. 1994. Expression of the BnmNAP subfamily of napin genes coincides with the induction of *Brassica* microspore embryogenesis. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 26(6): 1711-1723. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00019486
- CHEN X., CHEN Z., HUANG W., FU H., WANG Q., WANG Y. & CAO J. 2019. Proteomic analysis of gametophytic sex expression in the fern *Ceratopteris thalictroides*. *PLOS ONE*. **14**(8): e0221470. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221470
- CHIGUMBA D. N., MYDY L. S., DE WAAL F., LI W., SHAFIQ K., WOTRING J. W., MOHAMED O. G., MLADENOVIC T., TRIPATHI A., SEXTON J. Z., KAUTSAR S., MEDEMA M. H. & KERSTEN R. D. 2022. Discovery and biosynthesis of cyclic plant peptides via autocatalytic cyclases. *Nature Chemical Biology*. 18(1): Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00892-6
- CHUDZIK B., SZCZUKA E., ZARZYKA B. & LESZCZUK A. 2014. Distribution of arabinogalactan proteins during microsporogenesis in the anther of *Bellis perennis* L. (Asteraceae). *Acta Biologica Cracoviensia. Series Botanica.* **52**(2): 1-12.

- COSTA M. L., SOBRAL R., COSTA M. M. R., AMORIM M. I. & COIMBRA S. 2015. Evaluation of the presence of arabinogalactan proteins and pectins during *Quercus suber* male gametogenesis. *Annals of Botany.* 115(1): 81-92. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcu223
- DING X., HOU X., XIE K. & XIONG L. 2009. Genome-wide identification of BURP domain-containing genes in rice reveals a gene family with diverse structures and responses to abiotic stresses. *Planta*. 230(1): 149-163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-009-0929-z
- ELORTZA F., MOHAMMED S., BUNKENBORG J., FOSTER L. J., NÜHSE T. S., BRODBECK U., PECK S. C. & JENSEN O. N. 2006. Modification-specific proteomics of plasma membrane proteins: identification and characterization of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins released upon phospholipase D treatment. *Journal of Proteome Research.* 5(4): 935-943. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr050419u
- ELORTZA F., NÜHSE T. S., FOSTER L. J., STENSBALLE A., PECK S. C. & JENSEN O. N. 2003. Proteomic analysis of Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*. 2(12): 1261-1270. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M300079-MCP200
- FERNANDEZ-POZO N., HAAS F. B., MEYBERG R., ULLRICH K. K., HISS M., PERROUD P.-F., HANKE S., KRATZ V., POWELL A. F., VESTY E. F., DAUM C. G., ZANE M., LIPZEN A., SREEDASYAM A., GRIMWOOD J., COATES J. C., BARRY K., SCHMUTZ J., MUELLER L. A. & RENSING S. A. 2020. PEATmoss (*Physcomitrella* Expression Atlas Tool): a unified gene expression atlas for the model plant *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Journal*. 102(1): 165-177. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.14607
- GENAU A. C., LI Z., RENZAGLIA K. S., FERNANDEZ-POZO N., NOGUÉ F., HAAS F. B., WILHELMSSON P. K. I., ULLRICH K. K., SCHREIBER M., MEYBERG R., GROSCHE C. & RENSING S. A. 2021. HAG1 and SWI3A/B control of male germ line development in *P. patens* suggests conservation of epigenetic reproductive control across land plants. *Plant Reproduction.* 34(2): 149-173. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00497-021-00409-0
- HENRY J. 2021. Studies on cell wall composition in bryophytes across taxa, tissue, and time. PhD Thesis. Southern Illinois University Carbondale, Illinois, United States.
- HISS M., MEYBERG R., WESTERMANN J., HAAS F. B. SCHNEIDER L., SCHALLENBERG-RÜDINGER M., ULLRICH K. K. & RENSING S. A. 2017. Sexual reproduction, sporophyte development and molecular variation in the model moss *Physcomitrella patens*: introducing the ecotype Reute. *The Plant Journal*. 90(3): 606-620. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13501
- HOHE A., RENSING S. A., MILDNER M., LANG D. & RESKI R. 2002. Day length and temperature strongly influence sexual reproduction and expression of a novel MADS-Box gene in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *Plant Biology*. 4(5): 595-602. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-35440
- JOHNSON E. 2023. Changes in gene expression during spermatogenesis in *P. patens. Mendeley Data.* V1. https://doi.org/10.17632/6t23jb94jg.1
- KHLAIMONGKHON S., CHAKHONKAEN S., TONGMARK K., SANGARWUT N., PANYAWUT N., WASINANON T., SIKAEWTUNG K., WANCHANA S., MONGKOLSIRIWATANA C., CHUNWONGES J. & MUANGPROM A. 2021. RNA Sequencing reveals rice genes involved in male reproductive development under temperature alteration. *Plants*, 10(4): 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10040663
- LAMPORT D. T. A. & VÁRNAI P. 2013. Periplasmic arabinogalactan glycoproteins act as a calcium capacitor that regulates plant growth and development. New Phytologist. 197(1): 58-64. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12005
- LAMPORT D. T. A., VARNAI P. & SEAL C. E. 2014. Back to the future with the AGP-Ca2+ flux capacitor. Annals of Botany. 114(6): 1069-1085. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcu161
- LANDBERG K., PEDERSON E. R. A., VIAENE T., BOZORG B., FRIML J., JÖNSSON H., THELANDER M. & SUNDBERG E. 2013. The moss *Physcomitrella patens* reproductive organ development is highly organized, affected by the two SHI/STY genes and by the level of active auxin in the SHI/STY expression domain. *Plant Physiology*. **162**(3): 1406-1419. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.214023
- LEE K. J. D., SAKATA Y., MAU S. L., PETTOLINO F., BACIC A., QUATRANO R. S., KNIGHT C. D. & KNOX J. P. 2005. Arabinogalactan proteins are required for apical cell extension in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Cell Online*. **17**(11): 3051-3065. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.105.034413
- LESZCZUK A., SZCZUKA E. & ZDUNEK A. 2019. Arabinogalactan proteins: distribution during the development of male and female gametophytes. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 135: 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2018.11.023
- LI Y., BRUUN L., PIERSON E. S. & CRESTI M. 1992. Periodic deposition of arabinogalactan epitopes in the cell wall of pollen tubes of *Nicotiana tabacum* L. *Planta*. **188**(4): 532-538. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00197045
- LOPEZ R. A., MANSOURI K., HENRY J. S. D., FLOWERS N. C., VAUGHN K. & RENZAGLIA K. S. 2017. Immunogold localization of molecular constituents associated with basal bodies, flagella, and extracellular matrices in male gametes of land plants. *Bio-Protocol.* 7(21): e2599. https://doi.org/10.21769/BioProtoc.2599

DOWNREGULATION OF ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEINS DURING SPERMATOGENESIS ...

- LOPEZ R. A. & RENZAGLIA K. S. 2014. Multiflagellated sperm cells of *Ceratopteris richardii* are bathed in arabinogalactan proteins throughout development. *American Journal of Botany*. 101(12): 2052-2061. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1400424
- LOPEZ R. A. & RENZAGLIA K. S. 2018. The Ceratopteris (fern) developing motile gamete walls contain diverse polysaccharides, but not pectin. Planta. 247(2): 393-404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-017-2793-6
- LOPEZ-HERNANDEZ F., TRYFONA T., RIZZA A., YU X. L., HARRIS M. O. B., WEBB A. A. R., KOTAKE T. & DUPREE P. 2020. Calcium binding by arabinogalactan polysaccharides is important for normal plant development. *The Plant Cell.* 32(10): 3346-3369. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.20.00027
- LOPEZ-SWALLS R. 2016. The special walls around gametes in Ceratopteris richardii and Aulacomnium palustre: Using immunocytochemistry to expose structure, function, and development. PhD Thesis. Southern Illinois University Carbondale, Illinois, United States.
- MA T., DONG F., LUAN D., HU H. & ZHAO J. 2019. Gene expression and localization of arabinogalactan proteins during the development of anther, ovule, and embryo in rice. *Protoplasma*. 256(4): 909-922. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-019-01349-3
- MA Y., YAN C., LI H., WU W., LIU Y., WANG Y., CHEN Q. & MA H. 2017. Bioinformatics prediction and evolution analysis of arabinogalactan proteins in the Plant Kingdom. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00066
- MEYBERG R., PERROUD P. F., HAAS F. B., SCHNEIDER L., HEIMERL T., RENZAGLIA K. S. & RENSING S. A. 2020. Characterisation of evolutionarily conserved key players affecting eukaryotic flagellar motility and fertility using a moss model. *New Phytologist.* 227(2): 440-454. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16486
- MIGNONE M. M. & BASILE D. V. 2000. Evidence for the interrelated actions of auxin, ethylene, and arabinogalactanproteins on the transition from non-apical to apical growth of Physcomitrella patens Hedw. (Funariaceae).
 In: NOTHNAGEL E. A., BACIC A. & CLARKE A. E. (eds). 2000. Cell and developmental biology of arabinogalactan-proteins, 205–219 pp., Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4207-0 18
- MOGAMI N., NAKAMURA S. & NAKAMURA N. 1999. Immunolocalization of the cell wall components in *Pinus densiflora* pollen. *Protoplasma*. 206(1-3): 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01279247
- MUELLER K. K., PFEIFER L., SCHULDT L., SZÖVÉNYI P., de VRIES S., de VRIES J., JOHNSON K. L. & CLASSEN B. 2023. Fern cell walls and the evolution of arabinogalactan proteins in streptophytes. *The Plant Journal*. **114**(4): 875-894. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.16178
- NGUEMA-ONA E., BANNIGAN A., CHEVALIER L., BASKIN T. I. & DRIOUICH A. 2007. Disruption of arabinogalactan proteins disorganizes cortical microtubules in the root of Arabidopsis thaliana. *The Plant Journal*. **52**(2): 240-251.
- NICK P. 2013. Microtubules, signaling and abiotic stress. *The Plant Journal.* **75**(2): 309-323. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.12102
- PFAFFL M. W. 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR. Nucleic Acids Research. 29(9): e45.
- POPPER Z. A. 2011. Extraction and detection of arabinogalactan proteins. In: POPPER Z. (eds.). 2011. The Plant Cell Wall: methods in molecular biology. 715: 245-254. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-008-9_17
- QIN Y., CHEN D. & ZHAO J. 2007. Localization of arabinogalactan proteins in anther, pollen, and pollen tube of Nicotiana tabacum L. Protoplasma. 231(1-2): 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-007-0245-z
- RENZAGLIA K. S. & DUCKETT J. G. 1987. Spermatogenesis in *Blasia pusilla*: from young antheridium through mature spermatozoid. *The Bryologist*. **90**(4): 419-449. https://doi.org/10.2307/3243109
- RENZAGLIA K. S., DUFF R. J. T., NICKRENT D. L. & GARBARY D. J. 2000. Vegetative and reproductive innovations of early land plants: implications for a unified phylogeny. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences.* 355(1398): 769-793.
- RENZAGLIA K. S. & GARBARY D. J. 2001. Motile gametes of land plants: diversity, development, and evolution. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences.* **20**(2): 107-213. https://doi.org/10.1080/20013591099209
- RENZAGLIA K. S., LOPEZ R. A. & SCHMITT A. S. J. 2017. Scanning Electron Microscopy of motile male gametes of land plants. *Bio-Protocol.* 7(19): e2570. https://doi.org/10.21769/BioProtoc.2570
- RESKI R. & COVE D. J. 2004. Physcomitrella patens. Current Biology. 14(7): R261-R262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.03.016
- SARDAR H. S., YANG J. & SHOWALTER A. M. 2006. Molecular interactions of arabinogalactan proteins with cortical microtubules and F-actin in Bright Yellow-2 tobacco cultured cells. *Plant Physiology*. 142(4): 1469-1479.
- SEIFERT G. J. & ROBERTS K. 2007. The biology of arabinogalactan proteins. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 58(1): 137-161. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.58.032806.103801

- SILVA J., FERRAZ R., DUPREE P., SHOWALTER A. M. & COIMBRA S. 2020. Three decades of advances in arabinogalactan-protein biosynthesis. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.610377
- SOUTHWORTH D. & CRESTI M. 1997. Comparison of flagellated and nonflagellated sperm in plants. American Journal of Botany. 84(9): 1301-1301.
- SOUTHWORTH D. & KWIATKOWSKI S. 1996. Arabinogalactan proteins at the cell surface of *Brassica* sperm and *Lilium* sperm and generative cells. *Sexual Plant Reproduction*. **9**(5): 269-272. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02152701
- SUN H., WEI H., WANG H., HAO P., GU L., LIU G., MA L., SU Z. & YU S. 2019. Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of the BURP domain-containing genes in *Gossypium hirsutum*. BMC Genomics. 20(1): 558. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-5948-y
- TAN L., LEYKAM J. F. & KIELISZEWSKI M. J. 2003. Glycosylation motifs that direct arabinogalactan addition to arabinogalactan-proteins. *Plant Physiology*. 132(3): 1362-1369. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.021766
- TAN L., VARNAI P., LAMPORT D. T. A., YUAN C., XU J., QIU F. & KIELISZEWSKI M. J. 2010. Plant O-Hydroxyproline Arabinogalactans are composed of repeating trigalactosyl subunits with short bifurcated side chains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 285(32): 24575-24583. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.100149
- TEH O. K., SINGH P., REN J., HUANG L. T., ARIYARATHNE M., SALAMON B. P., WANG Y., KOTAKE T. & FUJITA T. 2022. Surface-localized glycoproteins act through class C ARFs to fine-tune gametophore initiation in *Physcomitrium patens*. *Development*. 149(24): dev200370. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.200370
- TREACY B. K., HATTORI J., PRUD'HOMME I., BARBOUR E., BOUTILIER K., BASZCZYNSKI C. L., HUANG B., JOHNSON D. A. & MIKI B. L. 1997. Bnm1, a Brassica pollen-specific gene. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 34(4): 603-611. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005851801107
- VAN HOLST G. J. & CLARKE A. E. 1985. Quantification of arabinogalactan-protein in plant extracts by single radial gel diffusion. Analytical Biochemistry. 148(2): 446-450. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(85)90251-9
- WANG A., XIA Q., XIE W., DATLA R. & SELVARAJ G. 2003. The classical Ubisch bodies carry a sporophytically produced structural protein (RAFTIN) that is essential for pollen development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 100(24): 14487-14492. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2231254100
- WANG H., ZHOU L., FU Y., CHEUNG M. Y., WONG F. L., PHANG T. H., SUN Z. & LAM H. M. 2012. Expression of an apoplast-localized BURP-domain protein from soybean (GmRD22) enhances tolerance towards abiotic stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* 35(11): 1932-1947. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2012.02526.x
- WANG L., WU N., ZHU Y., SONG W., ZHAO X., LI Y. & HU Y. 2015. The divergence and positive selection of the plant-specific BURP-containing protein family. *Ecology and Evolution*. 5(22): 5394-5412. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1792
- XU B., GOU J. Y., LI F. G., SHANGGUAN X. X., ZHAO B., YANG C. Q., WANG L. J., YUAN S., LIU C. J. & CHEN X. Y. 2013. A cotton BURP domain protein interacts with α-Expansin and their co-expression promotes plant growth and fruit production. *Molecular Plant.* 6(3): 945-958. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/sss112
- YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI K. & SHINOZAKI K. 1993. The plant hormone abscisic acid mediates the drought-induced expression but not the seed-specific expression of rd22, a gene responsive to dehydration stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Molecular and General Genetics MGG. 238(1): 17-25. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00279525
- YATOMI R., NAKAMURA S. & NAKAMURA N. 2002. Immunochemical and cytochemical detection of wall components of germinated pollen of gymnosperms. *Grana.* 41(1): 21-28. https://doi.org/10.1080/00173130260045468
- YU S., YANG F., ZOU Y., YANG Y., LI T., CHEN S., WANG Y., XU K., XIA H. & LUO L. 2022. Overexpressing *PpBURP2* in rice increases plant defense to abiotic stress and bacterial leaf blight. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 13: 812279. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.812279
- ZHANG Y., HELD M. A. KAUR, D. & SHOWALTER A. M. 2021. CRISPR-Cas9 multiplex genome editing of the hydroxyproline-O-galactosyltransferase gene family alters arabinogalactan-protein glycosylation and function in Arabidopsis. *BMC Plant Biology*. 21(1): 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-02791-9
- ZHENG L., HEUPEL R. C. & DELLAPENNA D. 1992. The beta subunit of tomato fruit polygalacturonase isoenzyme 1: isolation, characterization, and identification of unique structural features. *The Plant Cell.* 4(9): 1147-1156. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.4.9.1147

How to cite this article:

JOHNSON E. E., TAYLOR-LAPOLE A. M. & BAVUSO M. 2023. Downregulation of arabinogalactan proteins during spermatogenesis in the moss *Physcomitrium patens*. J. Plant Develop. 30: 3-15. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.930

<u>Culiță SÎRBU</u>^{1*}, Adrian OPREA², Mihai DOROFTEI³, Silviu COVALIOV³

¹ "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences, Iaşi – Romania.
 ² "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu", Iaşi – Romania.
 ³ National Research and Development Institute "Danube Delta", Tulcea – Romania.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: csirbu@uaiasi.ro, ORCID: 0000-0003-3217-0947

Abstract: In this paper we report new chorological data for 20 alien plant taxa from the vascular flora of Romania. A total of 9 species (*Campsis radicans, Euphorbia glyptosperma, Grindelia squarrosa, Impatiens balfourii, Oenothera suaveolens, Robinia × ambigua, Rudbeckia triloba, Sedum sarmentosum, Setaria faberi*) are reported as new to the regional floras within the country. *Oenothera pycnocarpa* and *Dittrichia graveolens* are reported in their second and the third sites in Romania, respectively. For the remaining 9 species (*Cytisus scoparius, Dysphania pumilio, Eleusine indica, Erigeron sumatrensis, Eriochloa villosa, Oenothera depressa, Paspalum distichum, Rosa rugosa* and *Sicyos angulatus*), we provided new field data, to improve knowledge on their current distribution and invasion status. All taxa are neophytes, introduced either accidentally (11 taxa) or deliberately (9 taxa), more than half of which are currently invasive or potentially invasive in the country.

Keywords: chorological data, invasion status, neophytes, new floristic records, vascular flora.

Introduction

Research on alien flora, mainly on neophytes (*i.e.* alien plant species introduced after the year 1500, according to RICHARDSON & al. 2000), has registered notable development in recent decades in Romania. For all neophytes cited in the vascular flora of Romania until 2011, historical data on their distribution and invasive status in the country were previously extensively documented by ANASTASIU & NEGREAN (2009) and SÎRBU & OPREA (2011). After 2011, new data on neophytes from Romania were added by reporting on some previously unrecorded species [e.g.: ANASTASIU & MEMEDEMIN, 2012; OPREA & al. 2012; NAGODĂ & al. 2013; CAMEN-COMĂNESCU & al. 2016; NEGREAN & al. 2017; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017; SÎRBU & ŞUŞNIA, 2018; SZATMARI & HURDU, 2020, etc.], but also by new contributions to knowledge on their distribution, habitat preferences and invasive status in the country [e.g.: SÎRBU & al. 2012; NAGODĂ, 2015; NEGREAN & al. 2017; OPREA & al. 2021; SÎRBU & al. 2021; ŞUŞNIA, 2022, etc.]. An extensive literature review on alien plant species (primarily neophytes) in Romania, covering the 1778-2018 time-period has been compiled recently [SÎRBU & al. 2022], resulting in a list of 102 invasive or potentially invasive alien plant species in the country.

Field research on this topic increased substantially especially during 2019-2022, when the project "*The adequate management of invasive species in Romania in accordance with EU Regulation*" [Code SMIS 120008; https://invasive.ccmesi.ro/], coordinated by Dr. P. ANASTASIU, was carried out at the national level.

This work aims to update knowledge on distribution and invasive status of a number of 20 neophytes from Romania, some of which are here reported as new to the regional floras within the country.

Material and methods

Species of neophytes were recorded as a result of our field works between 2012 and 2022 (but particularly in the last 3 years), in various regions of the country. For species identification and nomenclature we used standard floras, such as: BRITTON & BROWN (1970), KOMAROV & al. (1968-2004), TUTIN & al. (1968-1980, 1993), SÂRBU & al. (2013) etc. The invasive status in Romania (*i.e.*, casual, naturalised or invasive) of neophytes listed in the paper was established according to RICHARDSON & al. (2000) and PYŠEK & al. (2004). The geographic coordinates (northern latitude, eastern longitude) were recorded in the field using the application OsmAnd (https://osmand.net/). Voucher specimens were deposited in the Herbarium of the University of Life Science "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" of Iaşi (IASI) and the Herbarium of the Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu", "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi (IAGB). Phytosociological data for *Cytisus scoparius* were recorded and presented according to CRISTEA & al. (2004) and COLDEA (2012). Limits of the geographical-historical regions (provinces) of Romania mentioned for each species are consistent with CLEMENT & al. (1959).

Results and discussions

Campsis radicans (L.) Seem. (Tecoma radicans Juss.)

This is a liana native to North America, widely cultivated as ornamental [CIOCÂRLAN, 2009]. It has been cited as a casual alien (escaped from cultivation) in several localities of Dobrogea [ANASTASIU & al. 2009; MEMEDEMIN & al. 2016] – including the Danube Delta [ANASTASIU & al. 2014], Muntenia [NAGODĂ & al. 2014; NAGODĂ, 2015] and Transylvania [NEGREAN & al. 2017].

We report it now for the first time in three historical provinces of Romania, namely Moldova (Bacău, Botoșani, Iași, Neamț, Suceava and Vrancea counties), Oltenia (Gorj and Vâlcea counties) and Banat (Timiș County):

– Bacău County: Răcăciuni – roadsides and vacant grounds (N 46.33478, E 27.00289; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 27.VIII.2020);

– Botoșani County: Miorcani – derelict old fences (N 48.20180, 26.85153; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 13.XI.2020);

– Iași County: Bivolari – derelict fences and vacant grounds (N 47.51085, E 27.43692; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 06.X.2021), Hârlău – railway embankment and associated disturbed grounds (N 44.62100, E 26.92012; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 09.X.2019), Scânteia – derelict old fences (N 47.33049, E 27.56485; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 30.VIII.2021);

– Neamţ County: Bicaz – train station and associated disturbed lands (N 46.86142, E 26.09889; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 31.VII.2020), Tupilaţi – derelict old fences (N 46.88473, E 26.63539; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 10.X.2021), Ştefan cel Mare – derelict old fences (N 46.75446, E 26.51116; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 11.X.2021);

– Suceava County: Dolhasca – disturbed grounds, along the railway track (N 47.54022, E 26.60391; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 10.VII.2021);

Vrancea County: Râmniceni – disturbed grounds (N 45.53679, E 27.44885; *leg. et det*.
A. Oprea, 13.VI.2021), Alexandru Vlahuță towards Cândești – roadsides (N 47.54172, E 27.10132; *leg. et det*. C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 27.VIII.2022).

– Gorj County: Roșiuța – derelict fences and walls (N 44.80089, E22.98152; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 13.VIII.2020);

– Vâlcea County: Căzănești – derelict fences and vacant grounds (N 45.93423, E 24.28324; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 12.VIII.2020), Copăcelu – derelict fences and vacant grounds (N 45.95138, E 24.30619; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 12.VIII.2020);

- Timiș County: Timișoara - at the edge of the "Green Forest" ("Pădurea Verde") (N 45.77837, E 21.25194; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 10.VI.2017).

New chorological data from other regions:

- Brașov County: Bod - vacant grounds (N 45.76760, E 25.64433; *leg. et det*. A. Oprea, 16.IX.2022), Cristian - derelict fences and walls (N 45.50592, E 25.48369; *leg. et det*. A. Oprea, 23.VIII.2020);

- Covasna County: Ozun - derelict fences and walls, vacant grounds (N 45.10467, E 25.84720; *leg. et det*. A. Oprea, 12.VIII.2020);

– Buzău County: Buzău, The Marghiloman Park – flower beds, edges of paths, spaces between pavers (N 45.14716, E 26.84534; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 31.VIII.2022);

Tulcea county: Tulcea – on the Danube right bank (N 45.17995, E 28.80316; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 02.VIII.2020), vacant ground next to the "Monumentul Eroilor" (N 45.18646, E 28.81441 *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 02.VIII.2020); Periprava – derelict fences (N 45.40503, E 29.54127; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov 03.VIII.2021), Mila 23 – the channel bank and roadside along the channel (N 45.21678, E 29.23539; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 13.VIII.2021); Caraorman – roadsides, vacant grounds, walls (N 45.07740, E 29.39205; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 01.VIII.2022); Plopu – roadside and derelict yard (N 45.78572, E 29.13367; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 31.VII.2022); Sarinasuf – derelict yard (N 45.75258, E 29.06776; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 31.VII.2022), Sulina – household yard (N 45.09212, E 28.38370; M. Doroftei); Crişan – derelict yard (N 45.10261, E 29.23556; M. Doroftei); Mila 23 – derelict yard (N 45.13419, E 29.15046; N 45.13393, E 29.15083; M. Doroftei); Gorgova – the bank of the Danube River within the locality, roadside (N 45.10423, E 29.09445; N 45.10414, E 29.09389; M. Doroftei); Mila 36 channel joint with Şontea (N 45.15101, E 29.55327; M. Doroftei); Gârla Şontea – "La Scăunele" (N 45.15100, E 28.58437; M. Doroftei).

Current status in Romania's flora: casual (or quasi-naturalized).

Cytisus scoparius (L.) Link (Sarothamnus scoparius (L.) W. D. J. Koch) (Figure 1)

This is a species originating from Central, Western and Southern Europe [CIOCÂRLAN, 2009], reported (outside the cultivation sites) as naturalised [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009] or invasive [SÎRBU & al. 2022] in almost all provinces of the country so far [SÎRBU & Oprea, 2011].

Although it is pretty widespread in Moldova (Eastern Romania) – see references in SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011 – very extensive populations of this species have not been reported from this country's province of the country, until now. During our recent fieldwork, we recorded vast populations of *C. scoparius*, covering entire mountain slopes south of the town of Moinești (Bacău County). We provide below the plant composition of a phytocoenosis of the association *Festuco - Agrostietum capillaris* Horv. 1951, recorded in the above-mentioned place, strongly invaded by *C. scoparius* (N 46.44947; E 26.46729; surface: 100 m²; westerly aspect, slope 20%;

leg. et det. C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 08.VI.2020; plant species and abundance-dominance values – AD): *Cytisus scoparius* 4; Car. ass.: *Agrostis capillaris* ssp. *capillaris* 3, *Festuca rubra* 1; *Cynosurion & Arrhenatheretalia*: *Cynosurus cristatus* +, *Gentianopsis ciliata* +, *Hypochaeris radicata* +, *Achillea millefolium* +, *Briza media* +, *Leontodon hispidus* +; *Molinio-Arrhenatheretea*: *Agrostis stolonifera* ssp. *stolonifera* +, *Centaurea jacea* ssp. *jacea* +, *Festuca pratensis* ssp. *pratensis* +, *Helianthemum nummularium* ssp. *nummularium* +, *Holcus lanatus* +, *Polygala vulgaris* ssp. *vulgaris* +, *Thymus pulegioides* ssp. *pulegioides* +, *Viola canina* ssp. *montana* +; *Festuco-Brometea*: Carlina biebersteini ssp. *brevibracteata* +, *Eryngium campestre* +, *Galium verum* ssp. *verum* +, *Pimpinella saxifraga* subsp. *saxifraga* +, *Plantago lanceolata* (+); *Trifolio-Geranietea*: *Fragaria vesca* +, *Ranunculus polyanthemos* subsp. *polyanthemoides* +, *Seseli annuum* ssp. *annuum* +; *Variae*: *Daucus carota* ssp. *carota* +, *Betula pendula* +, *Carpinus betulus* +, *Crataegus monogyna* +, *Pinus sylvestris* (juv.) +, *Rosa canina* +, *Salix caprea* +.

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Dittrichia graveolens (L.) W. Greuter (Figure 2)

The first data concerning the occurrence in Romania of this Mediterranean species was published by SZATMARI & HURDU (2020), namely along the European road E68 (DN1), between the villages Viștea de Jos and Ucea de Jos (Brașov County) and between the villages Arpașul de Jos and Scoreiu (Sibiu County), on the roadsides and in the cracks formed between the concrete tiles of a bridge.



Figure 1. Cytisus scoparius, south of the Moinești town, Bacău County

We have found hundreds of specimens of *D. graveolens* near Tohanu Nou (Braşov County), about 80 Km road from Viştea de Jos, on compacted gravel, on both sides of the road E574 (N 45.55196, E 25.38871; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 22.X.2022). This is the third place where the species has been identified in Romania to date.

SZATMARI & HURDU (2020) pointed out the high invasive potential of this species due to its easy dispersal over long distances and broad ecological tolerance. According to PONTICELLI & al. (2022), *D. graveolens* "is currently undergoing a dramatic northward



Figure 2. *Dittrichia graveolens*, Tohanu Nou, Brașov County

expansion of its native range related to climate change". For a detailed description of this species and taxonomy of the genus, see BRULLO & De MARCO (2000).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised, potentially invasive.

Dysphania pumilio (R. Br.) Mosyakin & Clemants (*Chenopodium pumilio* R. Br.)

Reported relatively recently in Romania [CHYTRÝ, 1993], previously assessed as a casual neophyte [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009], the species originating from tropical regions (Australia, New Zealand, New Caledonia), has been confirmed in the country, until now, only on fluvial sands of the Danube, in the Danube Delta [CHYTRÝ, 1993; COSTEA, 1994; OPREA, 2005; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; SÂRBU & al. 2013] and in the Galati County [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011]. We identified it between the pavement tiles in the central zone of the city of Focsani (N 45,69750, E 27.18303: leg. et det. C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 28.VII.2022). This is the first

report of this species in anthropogenic habitats at a great distance from the Danube River, and the first for the Vrancea County. Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn.

This is a species native to tropical and subtropical Asia, first mentioned in the country by RĂVĂRUȚ & MITITELU (1960). Although the population reported by the cited authors from north-eastern Romania (the city of Iași) did not survive over time, new populations have been reported in recent decades from other regions, as follows: southern Moldova [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; ŞUŞNIA, 2022], Dobrogea [COSTEA, 1996; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; MEMEDEMIN & al. 2016], Muntenia [NEGREAN & CONSTANTIN, 1999; OPREA & al. 2004; NAGODĂ, 2015], Oltenia [RĂDUȚOIU & STAN, 2013] and Transylvania [NEGREAN & al. 2017]. ANASTASIU & NEGREAN (2009) assessed it as naturalised in the country.

We report it now for the first time in Argeş, Buzău and Vrancea counties, as follows: Jgheaburi – roadside, sandy ground (N 45.27771, E 24.80556; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 11.VIII.2022) (Argeş County); Buzău train station – near the platform (N 45.14269, E 26.84434; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 31.VII.2022) (Buzău County); Cândești – roadside, vacant sandy ground (N 45.53985, E 27.08698; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 27.VIII.2022) (Vrancea County).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised, potentially invasive in southern regions and casual elsewhere; dispersed over long distances by road and rail transport.

Erigeron sumatrensis Retz. (*Conyza sumatrensis* (Retz.) E. Walker)

An invasive species native to South America, reported in Romania for the first time by ANASTASIU & MEMEDEMIN (2012). After this first report, in just a single decade, it has been identified in several provinces of the country, namely: Dobrogea [ANASTASIU & MEMEDEMIN, 2012; MEMEDEMIN & al. 2016; OPREA & al. 2021], Banat, Moldova, Oltenia [OPREA & al. 2021] and Muntenia (Argeş County) [SOARE, 2021].

We report it here for the first time in three counties (Dâmbovița, Buzău and Iași), as follows: Târgoviște – train station, between the railway lines (N 44.91593, E 25.45447; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 11.VIII.2022) and Curtea Domnească (The Royal Court) – on the lawns (N 44.93211, E 25.45832; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 11.VIII.2022) (Dâmbovița County); Buzău train station – between the railway lines (N 45.142900, E 26.82873; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 31.VII.2022) (Buzău County); Iași (the central area, near the Palace of Culture) – vacant land (N 47.15710, E 27.58806; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 05.IX.2022); Miroslava – disturbed ground, at the edge of the orchard (N 47.13922, E 27.54893; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 12.XI.2022) (Iași county); Corbu – seaside at abandoned industrial site (N 44.21209, E 28.41327; M. Doroftei) (Constanța County).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised to invasive.

Eriochloa villosa (Thunb.) Kunth

This is a weed of Asian origin [CIOCÂRLAN & SIKE, 2006; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009], quite common (invasive) in western and north-western Romania [CIOCÂRLAN & SIKE, 2006; FĂRCĂȘESCU & al. 2007, 2008; ARDELEAN & al. 2009, 2018; KARÁCSONYI, 2011; NEGREAN, 2011; SZATMARI, 2016; NEGREAN & al. 2017; SÎRBU & al. 2022].

We identified it in Alba County, at Blaj, near the "Eminescu's Linden Tree" – in a corn field (N 46.18062, E 23.93088; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 20.VIII.2021) and at Ighiu – in a corn field (N 46.14964, E 23.51041; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 21.VIII.2021). These reports seem to be the first from the Alba County and the easternmost from Romania.

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Euphorbia glyptosperma Engelm. (Chamaesyce glyptosperma (Engelm.) Small)

Reported a few years ago [SÎRBU & ŞUŞNIA, 2018] for the first time in the flora of Romania, this neophyte of North American origin, identified so far only in Moldova (Galați, Vrancea and Vaslui counties) [SÎRBU & ŞUŞNIA, 2018; ŞUŞNIA & al. 2020; OPREA & al. 2021; ŞUŞNIA, 2022], seems to be much more widespread than initially thought, or is in full process of invasion.

We report it from new localities, as follows: East of Cornățel – river sands and pebbles in the Trotușului river bed, upstream of the bridge (N 46.13416, E 27.05252; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 27.VIII.2022) (Bacău County); south of Adjud – vacant land, with compacted gravel (N 46.08645, E 27.19130; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 27.VIII.2022), Bonțești – vacant land, with compacted gravel (N 45.67776, E 27.05255; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 26.VIII.2022), Urechești – roadside, on compacted gravel (N 45.60420, E 27.08860; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 26.VIII.2022) (Vrancea County); Râmnicu Sărat, north of the town – vacant, stony land, with concrete slabs, in the yard of an out-of-use industrial hall (N 45.39778, E 27.04790; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 06.XI.2022) (Buzău County). The species is reported here for the first time from Muntenia (at Râmnicu Sărat, Buzău County) and Bacău County (at Cornățel). We have to mention that the specimens collected from Râmnicu Sărat have atypical seeds, weakly ornamented.

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Grindelia squarrosa (Pursh) Dunal.

This is a species native to North America, previously known in Romania only toward the eastern border of the country, between the cities of Iași and Galați [SÎRBU & OPREA, 1998, 2011; OPREA & al. 2021], at first assessed as casual [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009], later on as invasive, or potentially invasive [TRUȚĂ & al. 2012; SÎRBU & al. 2022].

We report it here from the Brăila port area – on the railway embankment (N 45.28964, E 27.98203; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 11.VI.2022). This is the first report of *G. squarrosa* in Muntenia and the southernmost from Romania until now. From the current data, it is quite predictable that it will spread further to other regions of the country along the transport networks.

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Impatiens balfourii Hook. f.

This is an Asian species (native to the Himalayas), introduced in Romania as an ornamental plant and first listed by NEGREAN (2011) as an alien plant species in the country. Until now, it has been cited from Banat [NEGREAN, 2011], Crişana [NEGREAN, 2011, 2012; KARÁCSONYI, 2011], Muntenia [NEGREAN, 2011, 2012; NAGODĂ, 2015; ANASTASIU & al. 2017], Oltenia [NEGREAN & CIORTAN, 2014] and Transylvania [KOVÁCS, 2012; NEGREAN & al. 2017].

We report it for the first time as a neophyte in Moldova (eastern Romania), from Pojorâta (Suceava County) – roadsides, vacant lands and ditches (N 47.48450, E 25.49068; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 03.IX.2022).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised (casual in eastern Romania).

Oenothera depressa E. Greene

This species, native to North America, has recently been reported in the alien flora of Romania [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017], being known until now in Moldova [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017; ŞUŞNIA & al. 2020; ŞUŞNIA, 2022], Transylvania [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017] and the Danube Delta [OPREA & al. 2021].

We report it now from new localities, as follows: Cornățel – fluvial sands in the Trotuș river bed (N 46.13416, E 27.05252; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 27.VIII.2022) (Bacău County); Smârdan – vacant land, with sandy-stone substrate (N 45.46556, E 27.95785; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 05.VI.2021); Tecuci – the embankment of the ring road under construction, at the eastern end of the bridge over the railway (N 45.81380, E 27.43831; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 06.VI.2021) (Galați County); Iași – at the Socola train station – between the railway tracks (N 47.13989, E 27.61237; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 24.IX.2022) (Iași County); Bogata – Moldova river bank (N 47.41124, E 26.20646; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 02.IX.2022) (Suceava County). We mention that this invasive species has not been reported from the counties of Bacău, Iași and Suceava, up to now.

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Oenothera pycnocarpa G. F. Atk. & Bartlett

This is a North American species, very rare in Romania, known so far only from one locality, namely Răchiteni (Iasi County) – on the right, sandy bank of the Siret River [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017]. We report it here from a second locality in the country, this time in an anthropogenic habitat: Dolhasca train station (Suceava County) – between the railway tracks and vacant lands nearby (N 47,4247, E 26,61059; N 47.42377, E 26.61126; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 10.VII.2021).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised.

Oenothera suaveolens Person

A native to North America, this species has been recently reported from Romania [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017], in both anthropogenic (vacant lands, train stations) and natural habitats (fluvial sands, river banks), in the counties of Iași [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017], Galați [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017; ŞUŞNIA & al. 2020], Vrancea [ŞUŞNIA, 2022] and Brăila [ŞUŞNIA & al. 2020].

We report it now for the first time in the Danube Delta (Tulcea County), as well as in Neamt and Bacău counties, as follows:

- Tulcea County (the Danube Delta): Caraorman – the edge of the path, on the sand dunes, near the "kneeling oak" ("stejarul îngenunchiat") (N 45.02986, E 29.40650; N 45.02905, E 29.40602; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 01.VIII.2022), Letea (the village) – roadsides and associated vacant lands (N 45.29115, E 29.51412; N 45.29197, E 29.51127; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 03.VIII.2022), Letea (the nature reserve) – sand dunes, dry interdune depressions (N 45.30099, E 29.51353; N 45.3028, E 29.51266; N 45.30838, E 29.52889; N 45.31012, E 29.53331; N 45.32166, E 29.51923; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 04.VIII.2022);

– Bacău County: Galbeni – sandy land at the sand and gravel quarry, downstream of the dam (N 46.45031, E 26.95338; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 26.VII.2021), Coteni – fluvial sands on the left bank of Siret River (N 46.53564, E 26.98858; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 26.VII.2021);

– Neamţ County: Adjudeni – fluvial sands on the right bank of the Siret River (N 46.79910, E 26.96416; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 26.VII.2021), Ion Creangă – fluvial sands on the left bank of the Siret River (N 47.30992, E 26.96227; N 47.30985, E 26.97140; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 26.VII.2021), Sagna – on the dyke bordering the Siret River bed (N 46.96501, E 26.99056; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 27.VII.2021).

The species has already been reported from Iaşi County [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2017], but new points of presence have been recorded recently, as follows: between Kogălniceni and Alexandru Ioan Cuza – along the Siret River, on the edge of the dyke (N 47.13119, E 26.82347; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 13.IX.2021) and inside of the riparian forest (N 47.12982, E 26.82249; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 13.IX.2021); Iaşi, near the "Frumoasa" Monastery – vacant land at the edge of a silted up pond (N 47.14051, E 27.59094; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 24.IX.2022); between Soloneț and Zaboloteni – fluvial sands on the right bank of the Prut River (N 47.48581, E 27.47303 *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 15.IX.2021).

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Paspalum distichum L. (Paspalum paspalodes (Michx.) Scribn.) (Figure 3)

This neophyte of tropical origin, invasive in Romania [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; SÎRBU & al. 2022], was first mentioned in the country by ROMAN (1992). Until now it is known from several localities along the Danube River, between the Nera micro-delta, in Caraş-Severin County (upstream) and Sulina, Danube Delta (downstream) [ROMAN, 1992; CIOCÂRLAN, 2000, 2009, 2011; OPREA, 2005;

Culiță SÎRBU & al.

ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009; SÂRBU & al. 2007; DOROFTEI & al. 2011; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; NEGREAN, 2012; SÎRBU & al. 2021; CAMEN-COMĂNESCU & MIHAI, 2022].

From the Danube Delta, the species has been reported so far from three localities: the Letea forest [ROMAN, 1992], Mila 28 [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011] and Sulina [DOROFTEI & al. 2011]. In our recent field work, we have identified extensive populations of *P. distichum* in many other localities in this protected area, namely: Cardon, in the south-eastern extremity of the Letea levee, near the bridge – on the channel edges (N 45.23006, E 29.63172; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); Cardon, at the monastery – on the channel edges (N 45.25828, E 29.62489; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); Cardon, at the monastery – on the channel edges (N 45.25828, E 29.62489; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); Cardon, at the monastery – on the channel edges (N 45.25828, E 29.62489; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); Cardon, at the monastery – on the channel edges (N 45.25828, E 29.62489; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); Cardon, at the monastery – on the channel edges (N 45.25828, E 29.62489; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, M. Doroftei, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2020); downstream of Crișan, at the wharf for picking up waste – marshy



Figure 3. Paspalum distichum, Sulina, Tulcea County

place (N 45.17274, E 29.43669; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, S. Covaliov, 06.VIII.2021); Mila 23 – on the channel edges (N 45.21612, E 29.23484; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 13.VIII.2021); upstream of Vulturu – on the channel edges (N 45.17061, E 29.00346; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, S. Covaliov, 03.VIII.2020). The species has already been cited from the Sulina town, as shown before, but without a precise location. We identified a large population of *P. distichum* in this locality, around a pond on the left side of the Sulina chanel (N 45.16059, E 29.63885; N 45.16045, E 29.63828; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, A. Oprea, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 03.VIII.2020).

Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Robinia × **ambigua** Poir. (R. pseudoacacia × viscosa; R. dubia Fouc., R. hybrida Audib., R. intermedia Soul.-Bod.)

This is a hybrid between *R. pseudoacacia* and *R. viscosa*, of North American origin, cultivated for ornamental purposes. As a casual alien plant, it has been reported from Romania only from Alba County, at Sebeş (Viile Românilor and Calea Scufundată) [BORZA, 1959]. We report it for the first time in the flora of Moldova and the Danube Delta (as a casual alien plant, outside the cultivation sites), as follows: Lunca Asău – on the river bank and the roadside (N 46.42444, E 26.42993; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 03.VII.2022) (Bacău County); Giurgeni – roadsides (N 47.20069, E 27.11683; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 26.VI.2022), Mărmureni – roadsides



Figure 4. Rudbeckia triloba, Soveja, Vrancea County

and vacant lots (N 47.21101, E 27.17894; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 26.VI.2022), Valea Enei – roadsides (N 47.79991, E 27.15270; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 26.VI.2022) and Valea Ursului – roadsides (N 47.20069, E 27.09544; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 26.VI.2022) (Neamţ County); in the Danube Delta (Tulcea County): Lăstuni – household yard (N 45.01340, E 28.41335), Zebil – train halt (N 44.57539, E 28.43073; M. Doroftei).

Current status in Romania's flora: casual.

Rosa rugosa Thunb.

An East Asian species cultivated in gardens as ornamental [PRODAN, 1956], it was reported as a casual alien from the counties of Satu Mare [KARÁCSONYI, 1995], Sălaj [NEGREAN & al. 2017] and Botosani [HUTANU, 1999]. We identified a small population of R. rugosa in the grassland of the "Poiana cu Schit" nature reserve - Grajduri, Iași County (N 46.98649, E 27.58479; leg. et det. C. Sîrbu, 10.VII.2021). This is the second record of its spontaneous occurrence

outside the cultivation site in Moldova (Eastern Romania).

Current status in Romania's flora: casual.

Rudbeckia triloba L. (Figure 4)

This is a North American species, widely cultivated in Romania for its ornamental value, previously reported as a casual alien plant, from only a few localities, namely: Bocicoi (Maramureş County), Agapia (Neamţ County), Ruginoasa and Iaşi (Iaşi County) [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2010]. Recently, numerous new points of presence of this species outside the cultivation sites have been registered, in some cases (Lepşa, Soveja) the populations being very extensive, of hundreds of individuals. Our new records are as follows:

Covasna County: Imeni – roadsides (N 46.06089, E 26.16695; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 10.IX.2022), Bățanii Mari – vacant lots (N 46.08847, E 25.69137; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 10.IX.2022);

- Bacău County: Livezi - vacant lots (N 46.40294, E 26.73394; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 06.X.2020);

– Botoșani County: Lunca – on a deposit of river sand (N 47.88901, E 26.26002; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 01.XI.2020);

– Iași County: Cârlig – vacant lots (N 47.20421, E 27.56004; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 10.VII.2013);

– Neamț County: Pângărați – ditch beside the road (N 46.92989, E 26.20125; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea., 10.XI.2021);

– Vrancea County: Adjud – roadsides (N 46.10162, E 27.17959; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 28.VIII.2020), Lepşa – uncultivated land, near the access road to "Piatra Ciutei", abundant (N 45.9421, E 26.5884; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 26.VIII.2022), Răcoasa – clogged ditch on the roadside (N 45.99314, E 26.86780; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 26.VIII.2022) and vacant lands (N 45.99300, E 26.86732; N 45.99282, E 26.86865; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 26.VIII.2022), Soveja – the bank of the Dragomira stream, abundant (N 45.99830, E 26.64168; N 45.99905, E 26.66158; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 26.VIII.2022);

– Vaslui County: Vaslui – roadside and on the Delea stream bank (N 46.65753, E 27.71786; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 5.VIII.2017).

According to our data, the species is now reported for the first time in Transylvania (Covasna County), as well as in some counties of Moldova (Botoşani, Bacău, Vaslui and Vrancea).

Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised.

Sedum sarmentosum Bunge (Figure 5)

An ornamental plant, native of East Asia, reported in the alien flora (as a refugee from culture) in almost all provinces of the country [DRĂGULESCU, 2010; NEGREAN, 2011; ANASTASIU & al. 2011, 2014; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; NEGREAN & CIORTAN, 2014; NAGODĂ, 2015; NEGREAN & al. 2017], except for Moldova (eastern Romania). We have registered it in several localities in this historical province, namely:

– Suceava County: Stulpicani – vacant land (N 47.47200, E 25.75902; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 06.IX.2022), Iţcani-Suceava – railway station (N 47.676667, E 26.216944; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 06.IX.2022);

– Neamţ County: Piatra Şoimului – on river pebble and the concrete bank of the river Calu (N 46.79410, E 26.45704: *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 02.VII.2022);

– Bacău County: Valea lui Ion – stony ground (N 46.69963, E 26.62701; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 03.VII.2022);

– Vrancea County: Soveja – stony ground on a stream bank (N 46.00010, E 26.66462; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, 26.VIII.2022);

In other provinces of the country, we have also recorded it in new localities as follows:

– Bihor County: Băile Felix – on the edge of the forest, next to the railway (N 46.99758, E 21,97893; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 2017);

- Sălaj County: Jibou - sidewalks (N 47.25856, E 23.25161; *leg. et det.* Sîrbu & Oprea 2012);

- Cluj County: Frăsinet - on the bank of the Valea Ierii rivulet (*leg. et det.* Sîrbu & Oprea, 2012);

- Covasna County: Bixad - vacant land (N 46.10217, E 25.85851; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 16.VII.2020);

Dâmbovița County: Pucioasa – roadside, sidewalks (N 45.04481, E 25.43852; N 45.04439, E 25.43903; N 45.04468, E 25.43879; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea 11.VIII.2022). Current status in Romania's flora: naturalised.



Figure 5. Sedum sarmentosum, Piatra Soimului, Neamt County

Setaria faberi J. Herrm.

This is a species native to East Asia, accidentally introduced into Romania, from where it was first cited by COSTEA (1996). So far it has been reported as a casual neophyte [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2009] in anthropogenic habitats of railway stations only from Dobrogea [COSTEA, 1996; CIOCÂRLAN, 2000, 2009], Muntenia [CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; OPREA & al. 2012; CAMEN-COMĂNESCU & MIHAI, 2022] and Moldova [OPREA & al. 2012]. We identified it for the first time in Transylvania, in the Făgăraș railway station (Brașov County) – on the railway embankment and the associated vacant land (N 45.83046, E 24.97393; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 20.IX.2022).

Current status in Romania's flora: casual.

Sicyos angulatus L.

This is a neophyte native to North America, invasive in Romania [SÎRBU & al. 2022], reported to date from all provinces of the country [ANASTASIU & al. 2011; RĂDUȚOIU & STAN, 2013; NICULESCU & al. 2021; ARDELEAN & ROȘU, 2016; NEGREAN & al. 2017; for older references, see SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011].

Culiță SÎRBU & al.

From the Danube Delta, the species has been first mentioned by ANASTASIU & al. (2011), recorded along the Black Sea coast. We have recently identified this species in several places in the Delta, between Tulcea and Sulina, as follows: Litcov Channel – channel banks (N 45.12441, E 29.18134: leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2021), Sontea Channel – channel banks (N 45.2031, E 29.17947; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, 04.VIII.2021), Caraorman - Channel Vătafu-Împutita - on the willows and the water's edges (N 45.11919, E 29.42309: N 45.11741, E 29.39516; leg. et det. A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 03.VIII.2022). Crisan - on the Danube banks (N 45.17437, E 29.38675; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei; 05.VIII.2021), Mila 23 – channel banks (N 45.21678, E 29.23539; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 13.VIII.2021), Mila 28 - channel banks (N 45.17400, E 29.06185; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 04.VIII.2020), Tulcea – on the Danube banks (N 45.18000, E 28.80097; N 45.17995, E 28.80316; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 04.VIII.2020), Sulina - channel banks (N 45.15947, E 29.63745; N 45.15284, E 29.67612; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 06.VIII.2021), Vulturu (upstream) – channel banks (N 45.17061, E 29.00346; leg. et det. A. Oprea, C. Sîrbu, S. Covaliov, M. Doroftei, 05.VIII.2020), Grindul Lupilor - roadside (N 44.41444, E 28.56265; M. Doroftei).

Other new chorological data:

- Caraș-Severin County: Baziaș - wet thickets (N 44.86299, E 21.39048; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 20.VIII.2020);

– Mehedinți County: the Mraconia bay – roadside (N 47.74677, E 22.29391; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 19.VIII.2020);

– Iași County: Hălăucești – unkempt land, on the bank of a stream (N 47.10111, E 26.81632; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 14.IX.2021), Șcheia – the steep bank of the Siret River (N 47.11073, E 26.88616; *leg. et det.* C. Sîrbu, 13.IX.2021);

– Neamț County: Borca – the bank of the homonymous stream (N 47.79752, E 25.77423; N 47.79752, E 25.77445; *leg. et det.* A. Oprea, 11.XI.2021).

The species has not been reported previously in Iași and Neamț counties. Current status in Romania's flora: invasive.

Conclusions

The paper presents new chorological data and the current invasion status in Romania for a total of 20 species of neophytes;

Some taxa are reported for the first time in some regional floras within the country, as follows: *Campsis radicans* – the first record for Moldova (eastern Romania), Oltenia and Banat; *Impatiens balfourii, Robinia × ambigua* and *Sedum sarmentosum* – the first record for Moldova (eastern Romania); *Oenothera suaveolens* – the first record for the Danube Delta; *Euphorbia glyptosperma* and *Grindelia squarrosa* – the first record for Muntenia; *Rudbeckia triloba* and *Setaria faberi* – the first record for Transylvania;

Oenothera pycnocarpa and *Dittrichia graveolens* are reported in their second and third sites in Romania, respectively;

Based on current data, the invasive status in Romania of the taxa analyzed in the paper was assessed as follows: 4 species are casual (*Robinia* × *ambigua*, *Rosa rugosa*, *Setaria faberi*, *Campsis radicans*); 4 species are naturalised (*Impatiens balfourii*, *Oenothera pycnocarpa*, *Rudbeckia triloba*, *Sedum sarmentosum*); 3 species are potentially invasive (*Dittrichia graveolens*,

Eleusine indica, Erigeron sumatrensis) and 9 species are invasive (Cytisus scoparius, Dysphania pumilio, Eriochloa villosa, Euphorbia glyptosperma, Grindelia squarrosa, Oenothera depressa, Oenothera suaveolens, Paspalum distichum, Sicyos angulatus).

Acknowledgements

Most of the field data reported in this paper were collected as part of two projects carried out during 2019-2022, namely: "Adequate management of invasive species in Romania in accordance with EU Regulation" (Code SMIS 120008) and "Revision of the management plan and the R.B.D.D. regulation" (Code SMIS 123322).

References

- ANASTASIU P., COMĂNESCU C. P., NAGODĂ E., LIŢESCU S. & NEGREAN G. 2017. Nature reclaiming its territory in urban areas. Case study: Văcăreşti Nature Park, Bucharest, Romania. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 44: 71-99.
- ANASTASIU P. & MEMEDEMIN D. 2012. *Conyza sumatrensis*: a new alien plant in Romania. *Botanica Serbica*. **36**(1): 37-40.
- ANASTASIU P. & NEGREAN G. 2009. Neophytes in Romania. pp. 66-97. In: RÁKOSY L. & MOMEU L. (eds.). Neobiota din România, Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Presa Univ. Clujeană.
- ANASTASIU P., NEGREAN G., FĂGĂRAȘ M., SAMOILĂ C. & COGĂLNICEANU D. 2009. Constanța harbour (România) as a major gateway and reservoir for alien plant species. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 36: 41-60.
- ANASTASIU P., NEGREAN G., SAMOILĂ C., MEMEDEMIN D. & COGĂLNICEANU D. 2011. A comparative analysis of alien plant species along the Romanian Black Sea coastal area. The role of harbours. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*. 15: 595-606.
- ANASTASIU P., NEGREAN G., SMARANDACHE D., LITESCU S. & BASNOU C. 2014. Neophytes in protected areas. Case study: the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve. *Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis.* **41**: 41-68.
- ARDELEAN A., KARÁCSONYI K. & NEGREAN G. 2009. Eriochloa villosa a new alien graminaceae species for Arad county (Romania). Studia Universitatis "Vasile Goldiş" Arad, Ser. Ştiinţele Vieţii. 19(2): 281-282.
- ARDELEAN A. & ROȘU I. 2016. Flora și vegetația Defileului Mureșului Inferior. București: Edit. Acad. Române, 695 pp.
- ARDELEAN A., ROȘU I. & DON I. 2018. Flora și vegetația Banatului. I, Flora. București: Edit. Acad. Române, 616 pp.
- BORZA A. 1959. Flora și vegetația Văii Sebeșului. București: Edit. Academiei R. P. Române, 363 pp.
- BRITTON N. & BROWN A. 1970. An illustrated flora of the Northern United States and Canada, I-III. New York: Dover Publ. Inc.
- BRULLO B. & De MARCO G. 2000. Taxonomical revision of the genus Dittrichia (Asteraceae). Portugaliae Acta Biologica. 19: 341-354.
- CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P. & MIHAI D. C. 2022. Alien flora from Brăila county Romania. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 48: 25-42.
- CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P., NEGREAN G., NAGODĂ E. & ANASTASIU P. 2016. Symphyotrichum squamatum a new alien plant in Romania. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 43: 79-84.
- CHYTRÝ M. 1993. *Chenopodium pumilio* R. Br., a new adventive species for Romania. *Linzer Biologische Beiträge*. **25**(1): 151-152.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2000; 2009. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta (ed. II, III). București: Edit. Ceres, 1138 pp.; 1141 pp.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2011. Vascular flora of the Danube Delta. Analele Științifice ale Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași, Ser. II a. Biologie vegetală. 57(1): 41-64.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. & SIKE M. 2006. Eriochloa villosa (Thunb.) Kunth. (Poaceae) in the Romanian Flora. Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași. 13: 105-108.
- CLEMENT V., DUNĂRESCU-IONESCU I. & CERGĂU L. 1959. Republica Populară Română, harta politicoadministrativă. Anexa II, în Monografia Geografică a R.P.R. (edit. comm.), Vol I. Geografia Fizică. București: Edit. Acad. R.P.R.
- COLDEA GH. (ed.) 2012. Les associations végétales de Roumanie, Tome 2. Les associations anthropogènes. Cluj-Napoca: Presa Univ. Clujeană, 482 pp.
- COSTEA M. 1994. Chenopodium pumilio R. Br., o nouă specie adventivă în flora României. Studii și Cercetări de Biologie, Ser. Biologie Vegetală. 46(2): 117-119.

- COSTEA M. 1996. The recording of some new adventive taxa for Romania in the harbor of Constanța. *Revue Roumaine de Biologie, Sér. Biologie végétale.* **41**(2): 91-96.
- CRISTEA V., GAFTA D. & PEDROTTI F. 2004. Fitosociologie. Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Presa Univ. Clujeană, 394 pp.

DOROFTEI M., OPREA A., STEFAN N. & SÂRBU I. 2011. Vascular wild flora of Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve. Scientific Annals of the Danube Delta Institute. 17: 15-52.

DRĂGULESCU C. 2010. Cormoflora județului Sibiu. Sibiu: Edit. Univ. "Lucian Blaga", 931 pp.

- FĂRCĂȘESCU A. M., ARSENE G. G. & NEACȘU A. G. 2007. Eriochloa villosa (Thunb.) Khunt (Poaceae) a new species for the Banat flora. Scientific Papers. University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine of the Banat, Faculty of Agriculture. 39: 483-584.
- FĂRCĂȘESCU A. M., ARSENE G. G. & NEACȘU A. G. 2008. Eriochloa villosa (Thunb.) Khunt a new invasive weed in Romania. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection, Special Issue. 21: 329-330.
- HUȚANU M. 1999. Cormofite noi și rare în flora Moldovei. Lucrări Științifice UAMV Iași, Ser. Agronomie (supl.). 42: 99-102.
- KARÁCSONYI C. 1995. Flora și vegetația județului Satu-Mare. Satu Mare: Edit. Muz. Sătmărean, 196 pp.
- KARÁCSONYI C. 2011. Flora și vegetația dealurilor Tășnadului și a colinelor marginale. Arad: "Vasile Goldiș" University Press, 368 pp.
- KOMAROV V. L. & al. (chief eds). 1968-2004. Flora of the USSR, Vol. 1-31 (Translated from Russian: Flora SSSR, Vol. 1-31. Moscow-Leningrad: Akademiya Nauk SSSR, 1934-1964). Washington D.C.: Smithsonian Institution Libraries.
- KOVÁCS J. A. 2012. Adatok Székelyföld edényes flórájának és növényföldrajzának ismeretéhez (Kelet-Erdély, Románia) 1. Kanitzia. 19: 115-178.
- MEMEDEMIN D., ANASTASIU P., PREDA C., NEGREAN G. & COGĂLNICEANU D. 2016. Alien plant species turnover in Constanța harbor (Romania) in the last decade. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 43: 5-18.
- NAGODĂ E. 2015. Cercetări asupra plantelor alohtone din București și împrejurimi. PhD thesis [in Romanian]. București: Universitatea București, 240 pp.
- NAGODĂ E., COMĂNESCU P. & ANASTASIU P. 2013. *Phemeranthus confertiflorus*: new alien species to Europe. Journal of Plant Development. 20: 141-147.
- NAGODĂ E., COMĂNESCU P. & ANASTASIU P. 2014. Grădina Botanică "D. Brândză", potențial centru de dispersie pentru plantele invazive? Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. **41**: 13-40.
- NEGREAN G. 2011; 2012. Addenda to "Flora Romaniae" volumes 1-12. Newly published plants, nomenclature, taxonomy, chorology and commentaries (Part 1; Part 2). Kanitzia. 18: 89-194; 19: 195-233.
- NEGREAN G. & CIORTAN I. 2014. Alien and potentially invasive plants from Geopark Plateau Mehedinți. Journal of Horticulture, Forestry and Biotechnology. 18(1): 84-95.
- NEGREAN G. & CONSTANTIN N. 1999. Noi plante adventive în flora Bucureștiului. Acta Horti Botanici Bucureștiensis. 27/1998/: 143-146.
- NEGREAN G., KARÁCSONYI C. & SZATMARI P. M. 2017. Patrimoniul natural al Sălajului. Vol. I., Flora, micobionta și vegetația. Satu Mare: Edit. Someșul, 1319 pp.
- NICULESCU M., CORNEANU M. & NUȚĂ SILVESTRU I. 2021. Sicyos angulatus and Echinocystis lobata, two invasive vascular plants on the Danube Valley, between the Baziaș and Măceșu de Sus (Romania). Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 47: 27-35.
- OPREA A. 2005. Lista critică a plantelor vasculare din România. Iași: Edit. Univ. "Alexandru Ioan Cuza", 668 pp.
- OPREA A., BARINA Z. & SÎRBU C. 2012. Euphorbia davidii Subils (Euphorbiaceae) a new alien species to the Romanian flora. Contribuții Botanice. 47: 7-12.
- OPREA A., SÂRBU A. & PASCALE G. 2004. A new contribution to the knowledge of flora and vegetation along Danube River, between Zimnicea and Călărași towns (Romania). Note I. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 31: 141-146.
- OPREA A., SÎRBU C., DOROFTEI M. & COVALIOV S. 2021. New contributions to the chorology of some alien plant species in Romania's flora. *Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis*. **47**: 13-26.
- OPREA A., SÎRBU C., ELIÁŠ P. jun. & FERUS P. 2012. New data addition to the Romanian alien flora. *Journal of Plant Development.* **19**: 141-156.
- PONTICELLI M., LELA L., RUSSO D., FARAONE I., SINISGALLI C., MUSTAPHA M. B., ESPOSITO G., JANNET H. B., COSTANTINO V. & MILELLA L. 2022. *Dittrichia graveolens* (L.) Greuter, a rapidly spreading invasive plant: chemistry and bioactivity. *Molecules*. 27: 895. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27030895
- PRODAN I. 1956. Rosa L. (pro parte). pp. 799-835. In.: SĂVULESCU T. (ed.), Flora R. P. Române. Vol. 4. Bucureşti: Edit. Acad. R. P. Române.
- PYŠEK P., RICHARDSON D. M., REJMÁNEK M., WEBSTER G. L., WILLIAMSON M. & KIRSCHNER J. 2004. Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. *Taxon.* 53(1): 131-143. https://doi.org/10.2307/4135498

- RĂDUȚOIU D. & STAN I. 2013. Preliminary data on alien flora from Oltenia Romania. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 40: 33-42.
- RICHARDSON D. M., PYŠEK P., REJMÁNEK M., BARBOUR M. G., PANETTA F. D. & WEST C. J. 2000. Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and Distribution*. 6: 93-107.
- RĂVĂRUŢ M. & MITITELU D. 1960. Două specii noi în flora Republicii Populare Române. Studii și Cercetări ale Academiei R. P. Române, Fil. Cluj, Sect. Biologie. 11(1): 7-9.
- ROMAN N. 1992. Contribuții la cunoașterea florei Rezervației Biosferei Delta Dunării. Analele Științifice ale Institutului Delta Dunării. 1: 51-56.
- SÂRBU A., NEGREAN G., PASCALE G., SMARANDACHE D. & MIHAI C. 2007. The Nera mini-delta botanical contributions. *Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis*. **34**: 63-71.
- SÎRBU C., ANASTASIU P., URZICEANU M., CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P., SÎRBU I. M., POPA A. M., IOJA C., GAVRILIDIS A. A. & OPREA A. 2021. Invasive alien plant species in Romania of European Union concern. Environmental & Socio Economic Studies. 9(4): 32-44.
- SÎRBU C., MIU I. V., GAVRILIDIS A. A., GRĂDINARU S. R., NICULAE I. M., PREDA C., OPREA A., URZICEANU M., CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P., NAGODĂ E., SÎRBU I. M., MEMEDEMIN D. & ANASTASIU P. 2022. Distribution and pathways of introduction of invasive alien plant species in Romania. *NeoBiota.* **75**: 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.75.84684
- SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 1998. Grindelia squarrosa (Pursh) Dunal en Roumanie. Revue Roumaine de Biologie, Sér. Biologie végétale. 43(2): 91-93.
- SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 2010. Contribution to the knowledge of the alien flora from Romania: Rudbeckia triloba L. and Senecio inaequidens DC. (Asteraceae). Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca. 38(1): 33-36.
- SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 2011. Plante adventive în flora României. Iași: Edit. "Ion Ionescu de la Brad", 733 pp.
- SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 2017. Notes on the genus Oenothera, section Oenothera, subsection Oenothera in Romania. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 44: 33-56.
- SÎRBU C., OPREA A., SAMUIL C. & TĂNASE C. 2012. Neophyte invasion in Moldavia (Eastern Romania) in different habitat types. *Folia Geobotanica*. 47: 215-229.
- SÎRBU C. & ŞUŞNIA (TONE) I. 2018. New records in the alien flora of Romania: Euphorbia serpens and E. glyptosperma. Journal of Plant Development. 25: 135-144.
- SÎRBU I. M., ANASTASIU P., URZICEANU M., NAGODĂ E. & ŞESAN T. E. 2021. Noi date de distribuție a speciei Paspalum distichum în lungul sectorului românesc al Dunării: 31. In: ANASTASIU P. & CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P. (eds.). 2021. Sesiunea de Comunicări ştiințifice "D. Brandza", ediția a 27-a. Program, rezumate. București: Edit. Univ. din București.
- SOARE L. C. 2021. Noi localități pentru specia adventivă Conyza sumatrensis Retz., în județul Argeș: 51-52. In: ANASTASIU P. & CAMEN-COMĂNESCU P. (eds.). 2021. Sesiunea de Comunicări ştiințifice "D. Brandza", ediția a 27-a. Program, rezumate. București: Edit. Univ. din București.
- SZATMARI P. M. 2016. Monitoring invasive wooly cupygrass *Eriochloa villosa* in the Pir village area, Satu Mare County, Romania, and its impact on segetal flora. *Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis*. 43: 41-55.
- SZATMARI P. M. & HURDU B. I. 2020. Dittrichia graveolens (Asteraceae) a new alien plant species for Romania. Contribuții Botanice. 55: 49-58. https://doi.org/10.24193/Contrib.Bot.55.3
- ŞUŞNIA I. 2022. Cercetări asupra invaziei plantelor adventive în lunca Siretului inferior. PhD thesis [in Romanian]. Iași: "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences, 199 pp.
- ŞUŞNIA I., OPREA A., SAMUIL C., HUŢANU M. & SÎRBU C. 2020. The current spread of some invasive neophytes along the lower course of the Siret river. Lucrări Științifice ale USAMV Iași, Ser. Agronomie. 63(1): 219-223.
- TRUȚĂ E., VOCHIȚA G., OPREA A. & SÎRBU C. 2012. Karyotype traits in Grindelia squarrosa (Pursh) Dunal (Asteraceae), an invasive plant in Romania. Silvae Genetica. 61(4-5): 179-186. https://doi.org/10.1515/sg-2012-0023
- TUTIN T. G., BURGES N. A., CHATER A. O., EDMONSON J. R., HEYWOOD V. H., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.) 1993. *Flora Europaea*, vol. 1, 2nd ed. (1st paperback printing 2010), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 581 pp.
- TUTIN T. G., HEYWOOD V. H., BURGES N. A., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.) 1968, 1972, 1976, 1980. Flora Europaea, vol. 2-5, 1st ed. (1st paperback printing 2010), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 469 pp., 385 pp., 517 pp., 463 pp.
- *** Adequate management of invasive species in Romania in accordance with EU Regulation (Code SMIS 120008). https://invazive.ccmesi.ro/

How to cite this article:

SÎRBU C., OPREA A., DOROFTEI M. & COVALIOV S. 2023. New data on the distribution and invasion status of some alien plants in Romania. J. Plant Develop. 30: 17-32. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.922

RIPGUT BROME (*BROMUS DIANDRUS*) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

Adrian OPREA^{1*}, Culiță SÎRBU²

¹ "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu", Dumbrava Roşie St., 7-9, 700487, Iaşi – Romania.

² "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University for Life Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, Mihail Sadoveanu Alley,

700490, Iași – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: a_aoprea@yahoo.co.uk

Abstract: The paper refers to *Bromus diandrus*, a vascular plant species identified in the spontaneous flora of the historical province of Muntenia, namely at the Buzău railway station during the summer of 2022 and autumn of 2023. Both the ecological conditions of the habitat, as well as some taxonomic and coenotaxonomic aspects of the species are presented in the paper. A key is also included to help identify the other species from the sect. *Genea, Bromus* spp., known so far in the flora of Romania.

Key words: identification key, natural distribution, relevées, ruderal vegetation, spontaneous plants.

Introduction

It is not uncommon for different sources to provide varying estimates of the number of species within a particular taxonomic group, as the exact number of species can be difficult to determine and can depend on factors such as the specific criteria used to define a species and the methods used to identify and classify them. So, estimates in the scientific literature of the number of species in *Poaceae* Barnhart (*Gramineae* Juss.) family is ca. 8,000, belonging to ca. 700 genera [BUIA & al. 1965; NYÁRÁDY & BELDIE, 1972]. Others estimates a number between 7,000 and 8,000 species [CRISTEA, 2014], while acording to other sources, family of *Poaceae* includes 9,000-10,000 species [https://ro.wikipedia.org/wiki/Poaceae]. It is important to note that these estimates are based on current knowledge and understanding of the group, and as research continues and new species are discovered, these estimates may change in the future.

Bromus L. [LINNÆUS, 1753] have ranged from 100 to 400 species, but plant taxonomists currently recognize around 160-170 species [https://ro.wikipedia.org/wiki/Poaceae]. The romanian botanist I. Todor stated that the genus Bromus consisted of more than 100 species worldwide distributed [TODOR, 1972].

Etymology of *Bromus*: 1. gr. bróma = food; 2. gr. bromos = the vernacular name of cultivated oat species (a name cited in this form for the first time appeared in Theophrastus's work, which is accessible to us in Italian [TEOFRAST, 1549]).

The genus *Bromus* is part of the cool-season grass lineage (subfamily Pooideae, which includes about 3,300 species). Within Pooideae subfamily, *Bromus* is classified in tribe Bromeae (the only genus in the tribe). *Bromus* species occur in many habitats worldwide, mostly in temperate regions, including Europe [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; SMITH, 1980; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; SOMLYAY, 2001; STACE, 2010; https://europlusmed.org/ cdm_dataportal/taxon/897057], Asia [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; COPE, 1982; KON &

Received: 10 October 2023 / Revised: 24 November 2023 / Accepted: 4 December 2023

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

BLACKLOW, 1989; NADERI & al. 2012; MALIK & MOHAMMAD, 2015; NADERI & RAHIMINEJAD, 2015], Africa [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; MEJRI & al. 2010; https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/31167], North America [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; SAARELA, 2008], Central America [O'CONNOR, 1990], South America [https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/31167/], Australia [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; MICHAEL & al. 2010; BORGER & al. 2021], and New Zealand [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; MICHAEL & al. 2010; BORGER & al. 2021], and New Zealand [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; BURGHARDT & FROUD-WILLIAMS, 1997; https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/31167].

Bromus diandrus Roth

The most common vernacular name in english literature of *B. diandrus* is "the ripgut brome", according to WILLIAMS (1986). Other names are: great brome, ripgut grass, giant brome, slands grass, jabbers, Kingston grass, spear grass, brome grass [BOWCHER & al. 2019].

It is a species native to the Irano-Turanian, Pontic, and Mediterranean regions [CABI, 2020], but it has been widely introduced elsewhere (Europe, Asia, Africa, North America, South America, Australia, and Oceania) as an alien weed [KUNEV, 2021; BORGER & al. 2021; CABI, 2022]. Close to Romania, *B. diandrus* has been reported as a naturalized species in Bulgaria [KUNEV, 2021; STOYANOV & al. 2022], and Hungary, as doubfully introduced there, perhaps only cultivated [https://europlusmed.org/cdm_dataportal].

Among other locations with *B. diandrus* in the proximity of Romania, are the next ones: the coastline of the Black Sea and its surroundings, including "Insula Şerpilor" and Crimea, as well as Southwestern Russia and Georgia [GBIF, 2023; https://www.gbif.org/species/2703760]. Also, it has also been identified in the European part of Turkey [WEBB, 1966], Greece [GBIF, 2023], Montenegro [GBIF, 2023], and North Macedonia [KOSTADINOVSKI & al. 2019].

B. diandrus and *B. rigidus* Roth belong to the sect. *Genea* Dumort. [SALES, 1993; SAARELA & al. 2007; SAARELA, 2008; STACE, 2010; LLAMAS & ACEDO, 2019], and differ from the other species of this section mainly by their longer lemma and awn, which are of at least 20 and 30 mm, respectively [SMITH, 1980]. They are morphologically very similar and are often difficult to distinguish from each other [SALES, 1993; STOYANOV & al. 2022; VERLOOVE, 2022; http://alienplantsbelgium.be]. Some authors consider them to be conspecific [VELDKAMP & al. 1991; SALES, 1993; SAARELA, 2008], but their exact taxonomic classification is still under debate and subject to ongoing research [BORGER & al. 2021].

According to literature data [SMITH, 1980; SALES, 1993; STACE, 2010; BOWCHER & al. 2019; KUNEV, 2021], *B. diandrus* differs from *B. rigidus* mainly by the following combination of features: panicle usually lax, with branches spreading laterally or pendent, at least some branches being longer than spikelets; callus scar ovate or almost circular, rounded at the ends; presence of a conspicuous constriction at the base of lemma, in side-view; anthers longer than 0.7 mm (vs. panicle usually dense, stiff [BOWCHER & al. 2019], with erect, shorter branches than spikelets; callus-scar elliptic, pointed/acute at the ends; lemma straight at base; anthers up to 0,7 mm long, in *B. rigidus*). However, ecological conditions can induce variations in the features, which makes it difficult to correctly differentiate between the two species, and, in some cases, there can be significant overlap in their morphology. For instance, SALES (1993) observed in population with other *diandrus*-like features all variations from dense and stiffly erect panicles to lax and spreading ones. The same author reduced these two taxa to varietal rank, and pointed out that the differences between them are subtle enough that identification of many specimens beyond *B. diandrus sensu lato* is often impossible.
Adrian OPREA & Culiță SÎRBU

Therefore, a careful examination of multiple diagnostic features and a comparison with reliable reference specimens may be necessary for an accurate identification.

Even the ecology differs; while *B. diandrus* is a tolerating species to a wide range of climates, growing both on acidic and alkaline, sandy or loamy soils, on those soils plenty in nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), *B. rigidus* prefers the sandy calcareous soils [KON & BLACKLOW, 1995].

As a result of molecular and phylogenetic studies on populations of those 2 species collected from France, was stated that *B. diandrus* and *B. rigidus* are genetically similar, seeming to have a common maternal genome, while the paternal genomic background still remains unclear for now [FORTUNE & al. 2008].

The aim of the current paper is to: i) to bring evidences on the presence of *B. diandrus* in Romania, ii) made considerations upon the features to discriminate to the closely related species in sect. *Genea*, iii) to underline the phytosociological aspects of the species *B. diandrus* in Buzău railway station, aspects that can further help our understanding of the ecology of this species in Romania.

Material and methods

The plant names follow the well-known work *Flora Europaea* [TUTIN & al. 1968-1980; TUTIN & al. 1993], including the on-line *Flora Europaea* [http://euromed.luomus.fi/; http://ww2.bgbm.org/europlusmed]. For those species lacking in Europe, other floras were used, as: *Flora of the Northern United States and Canada* [BRITTON & BROWN, 1970], on-line floras of the *United States of America* [www.efloras.org/Flora of North America], the flora of Republic of China [www.efloras.org/florataxon ... Flora of China], or the flora of ex-URSS area [TZVELEV, 1976, 1983].

The author's name(s) of each plant species are abbreviated according to BRUMMITT & POWELL (1992).

The distribution of the taxa within Europe follow the same on-line *Flora Europaea* [http://euromed.luomus.fi/euromed map.php].

All the plant specimens collected were deposited in public herbaria, as: IAGB (located within the Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu", "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași), and IASI (located within the University for Life Sciences "Ion Ionescu de la Brad", Iași).

Other herbaria collections were checked to have a complete view of the distribution of *B. diandrus* in Romania. The acronymes for herbaria collections follow THIERS (2022+).

Fieldwork was conducted in the summer of 2022 and early fall of 2023; the coordinates were registered in WGS84 system, using a Garmin's GPSMAP 60CSx and digital photos were taken.

Results

Bromus diandrus Roth (syn. Anisantha diandra (Roth) Tutin; A. gussonei (Parl.) Nevski; Bromus gussonei/gussonii Parl.; B. maximus Desf. subsp. gussonei (Parl.) Arcang.; B. rigidus Roth subsp. gussonii (Parl.) Maire; B. rigens L. subsp. gussonei (Parl.) Cout.; Zerna gussonei (Parl.) Grossh.) [http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed].

Analyzed specimens in public herbarium collections in Romania:

Herb. (Herbarium) I, no. 182824, collected in county of Timiș: Timișoara North railway station, *in ruderatis, ad viam ferream*, 45°45'00.83"N, 21°12'06.39", alt. (altitude) ca.

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

91 m a.s.l. (above sea level), *leg. et det.* G. Negrean, 30 May 2014 (labelled as *Bromus rigidus* Roth);

Herb. I, no. 183800, collected in county of Mehedinți: Drobeta-Turnu Severin railway station, *in ruderatis*, 45°37′18.58″N, 22°38′03.39″, alt. ca. 52 m a.s.l., *leg. et det.* G. Negrean, 25 June 2013 (labelled as *Bromus rigidus* Roth);

Herb. CL, no. 665457, collected in county of Mehedinți: Drobeta-Turnu Severin railway station, *in ruderatis*, 44°37'18.58''N, 22°38'03.39", alt. ca. 52 m a.s.l., *leg. et det.* G. Negrean, 25 June 2013 (labelled as *Bromus rigidus* Roth);

Herb. IAGB, no. 47735-47738, collected in county of Buzău: Buzău - railway station, between the railway tracks and the associated disturbed sites, N 45.14222/E 26.82994, *leg.* A. Oprea, 9 July 2022; *det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu;

Herb. IASI, no. 18044, collected in county of Buzău: Buzău railway station, between the railway tracks and the associated disturbed sites, N 45.14222/E 26.82994, *leg.* A. Oprea, 9 July 2022; *det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu;

Herb. IASI, no. 18045-18046, collected in county of Buzău: Buzău railway station, between the railway tracks and the associated disturbed sites, N 45.14237, E 26.83085, *leg. et det.* A. Oprea & C. Sîrbu, 31 July 2022.

Discussion

The presence of *B. diandrus* in the spontaneous flora of Romania was cited under this name for the first time in 1979, in a field identification book, as: "...? ...quoted from Banat, but unconfirmed..."!. This citation is "blind", without any reference given in there. But, following the features included in the identification key to the genus *Bromus* ["erect spikelets; lemma of 2-3 cm long, with a 3-5 cm awn long"] one can see that at as a matter of fact, the author actually referred to an other species, which it is now accepted as *B. rigidus* Roth (in fact, the author placed the latter name as a synonime for the first one) [BELDIE, 1979].

Later works did not included *B. diandrus* as being present in Romania's flora [POPESCU & SANDA, 1998; CIOCÂRLAN, 1990, 2000, 2009; SÂRBU & al. 2013]. Until, in 2022, when STOYANOV & al. (2022), as a result of the revision of some specimens, previously identified by Gavril Negrean as *B. rigidus* Roth, collected from the harbour of Constanța (Herb. SOM, no. 177292) and from Drobeta-Turnu Severin railway station (Herb. CL, no. 665457) reported the presence of this species in Romania's flora. In the Herbarium of the University "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" in Iași (I), there are other similar specimens collected from Drobeta-Turnu Severin railway station (I, no. 183800, *leg. et det.* Negrean, at 25 June 2013, labelled as *B. rigidus* Roth) and from Timișoara North railway station (Herb. I, no. 182824, *leg. et det.* Negrean, at 30 May 2014, labelled as *B. rigidus* Roth).

B. diandrus was fully described as a species new to science by A. W. Roth [ROTH, 1787].

Within this paper, the species is presented taking into account the characteristic features observed on the specimens collected in the Buzău railway station (Romania), in the summer of 2022 and the beginning of autumn, 2023: an annual plant, therophyte, 30-90 cm high, stem hairy below panicle, with leaves up to 10 mm wide, rough, with some long hairs; ligule prominent, 3-6 mm long, membranous, and jagged tipped; panicle loose, nodding, over 25 cm long, pale green becoming purple-red, \pm lax, wide-ovate (Figure 1); branches of 1-7 cm long, laterally extended or \pm pendulous when mature, with 1-2 (-3) spikelets each; spikelet branches longer than spikelet itself; spikelets pendulous, at maturity of 25-40 mm long, with 5-

8 flowers (even, 4-11 flowers/spikelet [http://beta.floranorthamerica.org /Bromus_diandrus]); glumes unequal, 1 (-3) nerved, lower glume of 15-25 mm, upper one of 25-35 mm (Figure 2); lemmas of 20-35 mm long, involute, with non-tangent edges, finely 2-toothed, with awn of 30-65 mm long, straight, flattened, scabrous; abscission scar/callus-scar (at the base of the lemma) subcircular-ovate, rounded at the end (Figure 3a) in accordance with GILL & CARSTAIRS (1988), STACE (2010) and BORGER & al. (2021), < 1 mm in accordance with KON & BLACKLOW (1989); lemma, at the base, with an obvious constriction (in lateral view) (Figure 3b) in accordance with SALES (1993); anthers of 0.7-5.9 mm [SALES, 1993]; grain of 9-11 mm long, hairy at the tip, in accordance with CLAPHAM & al. (1952) and CABI (2022).

Obs.: though the epithet *diandra* means "two male flowers" (or stamens) in fact, the number of stamens of *B. diandrus* vary from 2 [ROTH, 1787] up to 2-3 [SMITH, 1980; SALES, 1993; MALIK & MOHAMMAD, 2015]. The examined specimens collected from Buzău railway station had always 3 stamens; also, the length of the anthers was of \pm 1.3 mm. SMITH (1980) refers to anther lengths between 1 and 5 mm.

The chromosome number: 2n=8x=56; it is an octoploid species [SMITH, 1980; GILL & CARSTAIRS, 1988; KON & BLACKLOW, 1988; OJA & LAARMANN, 2002]. The flowering period of *B. diandrus*, in Buzău railway station: June; the maturation of grains: August-September.

The chromosome number of *B. rigidus*: 2n=6x=42; it is a hexaploid species [GILL & CARSTAIRS, 1988; KON & BLACKLOW, 1988].

Regarding the general/worldwide distribution area of *B. diandrus*, there are several points of view, as the following:

- Mediterranean-Southwest Europe [SMITH 1980; https://europlusmed.org/cdm_ dataportal/taxon/897057]
- Mediterranean region & South and Central-Western Europe [MALIK & MOHAMMAD, 2015]
- Mediterranean-Eurasiatic [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989; BORGER & al. 2021]
- Irano-Turanian, Pontic, and Mediterranean regions [KUNEV, 2021; CABI, 2020], but introduced elsewhere as an alien weed [https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet].

Within the native areas, *B. diandrus* grows in cultivated fields, vineyards, orchards, and roadsides, or various disturbed sites [CLAPHAM & al. 1952; KON & BLACKLOW, 1989]. Outside of the native area, *B. diandrus* is met in various habitats, including coastal sand dunes, pastures, hilltops, croplands, fallows, wastelands, roadsides, even in national parks and nature reserves [BOWCHER & al. 2019].

We were able to analyze specimens collected by Gavril Negrean in 2013 and 2014, which are preserved in the various official herbaria of Romania (CL, I). All these specimens have panicle dense, with erect branches, which explains why Negrean labelled them as *B. rigidus*. However, by the presence of conspicuous constriction at the base of lemma, more or less rounded callus scar, and anthers of about 1 mm long, they can be attributed to *B. diandrus*.

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA



Figure 1. Bromus diandrus – panicle (a specimen photographed in Buzău railway station) Photo: C. Sîrbu, 31 July 2022



Figure 2. *Bromus diandrus* – spikelet. Scale: 0.5 mm Photo: C. Sîrbu, 31 July 2022



Figure 3. *Bromus diandrus* – callus scar (a) and base of lemma (b). Scale: 0.5 mm Photo: C. Sîrbu, 22 September 2022

B. diandrus has been identified by us in Buzău railway station (N 45.14237, E 26.83085, \approx 95 m a.s.l.): *leg. et det.* Adrian Oprea, 9 July 2022; a second collecting: Adrian Oprea & Culiță Sîrbu, 31 July 2022; voucher specimens: IAGB, no 47.735-47.738; IASI, no. 18044-18046. At the first date of registration, on 9 July 2022, the plants were at the anthesis stage, while at the later one, on 31 July 2022, they were already at the fruiting stage (it was at the same stage of development at the beginning of autumn 2023).

The specimens collected at Buzău railway station show all the specific traits of *B*. *diandrus* above mentioned from the literature, including loose and nodding panicle, spreading, with pendulous spikelets, and at least some branches longer than spikelets.

At the above mentioned place, *B. diandrus* grows abundantly (thousands of specimens), between the railway tracks in the railway station and the associated disturbed sites, along the entire extent of railway station area.

The EUNIS habitat type for ripgut brome in Romania's flora is identified as J4.3 *Rail networks* and E5.1 *Anthropogenic herb stands* [SCHAMINÉE & al. 2012], unlike the preferred habitats in Bulgaria, where *B. diandrus* species grows in habitat type identified as B1.324 *Pontic white dunes*, between non-vegetated sand beaches, at the foot of sea cliff slopes [KUNEV, 2021; STOYANOV & al. 2022].

This is the first report of *B. diandrus* from Muntenia (in Buzău county) and the fourth from Romania.

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

Place: Buzău railway station; Vegetation: ruderal, between the railway lines; Habitats: railway embankments; Altitude: ≈ 95 m a.s.l.; Surface: flat land; Soils: superficial, usually acid; Surveying date: 31 July 2022; Fruits/caryopses collection: 10 September 2023.

For the purpose of this paper only two relevées are given (a more detailed phytosociological study will be carried out soon):

Relevé no. 1 - surface: 9 sq. m, vegetation height: 40 cm, vegetation cover: 85%.

N 45.14269, E 26.82876, ≈ 95 m a.s.l.

Bromus diandrus 4, Euphorbia davidii 1, Erigeron canadensis 1, Ambrosia artemisiifolia 1, Amaranthus albus +, A. powelii +, Lepidium densiflorum +, Xanthium italicum +, Euphorbia maculata +, Chenopodium album sensu lato +, Erodium cicutarium +, Polygonum aviculare +, Echium vulgare +, Artemisia scoparia +, Tribulus terrestris +, Lactuca serriola +, Salsola kali subsp. ruthenica +, Portulaca oleracea +, Taraxacum officinale +, Fraxinus pennsylvanica juv. +, Ailanthus altissima (juv.) + ...

Relevé no. 2 - surface: 9 sq. m, vegetation height: 45 cm, vegetation cover: 95%.

N 45.14237, E 26.83085, ≈ 95 m a.s.l.

Bromus diandrus 5, Euphorbia davidii 1, Parthenocissus inserta +, Potentilla argentea subsp. argentea +, Echium vulgare +, Melilotus officinalis +, Tribulus terrestris +, Cephalaria transsylvanica +, Chondrilla juncea +, Geranium purpureum +, Eleusine indica +, Bassia scoparia + ...

	Identification key for Bromus (sect. Genea) in the flora of Romania is proposed as follow:
1a	Lower glume 1 (rarely incompletely 3) veined, the upper one 3 (rarely incompletely 5)
	veined. Lemmae not aristate or aristate, with the arista inserted between 2 terminal teeth
	or below the level of the teeth
1b	Lower glume 3-5-veined, upper (5-) 7-9-veined. Lemmae aristate, with the arista inserted on the back, slightly below its terminal teeth .
2a	Annual plants, spikelets dilated towards the tip. Arista longer than lemma
2b	Perennial plants, spikelets with parallel edges. Arista shorter than the lemma or missing
3a	Lemma over 20 mm long. Panicle ± dense. Stamens 2-5
3b	Lemma up to 20 mm long. Panicle loose. Stamens 2 or 3
4a	Dense panicle, erect, 15-20 cm. Lemma 22-25 mm, deeply bifid, with a 30-50 mm arista. Stamens 2, with anthers of 0.7-1 mm long. Scars \pm elliptical.
	B. rigidus Roth (Anisantha rigida (Roth) Hyl.) - Annual, T, 20-40 cm, VI-VII. Cited from
	Timişoara North railway station (Herb. I, leg. G. Negrean 2014), Caraş-Severin county -
	along the Danube river banks [JAVORKA, 1925; CIOCÂRLAN, 2000, 2009] and the
	Constanța harbour [ANASTASIU & al. 2009; MEMEDEMIN & al. 2016]. 2n=42.
	Festucetalia valesiacae. Meditpont.
4h	Panicle + lay + pendulous over 25 cm Lemma 20.35 mm deeply hifd with 4.5 mm

4b Panicle ± lax, ± pendulous, over 25 cm. Lemma 20-35 mm, deeply bifid, with 4-5 mm teeth, with a 30-65 mm arista. Stamens 2-5, with anthers of 0.7-5.9 mm long. Scars almost circular.

Adrian OPREA & Culiță SÎRBU

B. diandrus Roth (Anisantha diandra (Roth) Tutin) – Annual, T, 30-90 cm, VI-VII. Ruderal. 2n=56. Pont.-iran.-turan.-medit. (Locations: above in this work, in sect. Analyzed specimens)

5a Panicle erect, lax, with branches of about 10 mm or more, shorter than the spikelets, 2-3 at a node. Spikelets loose, with 6-10 flowers. Lemmas of 12-20 mm, narrowly oblong-lanceolate, with the edges sometimes involute when mature and a 12-20 mm arista, straight or slightly divaricate. Stamens 2.

B. madritensis L. (*Anisantha madritensis* (L.) Nevski) – Annual, T, -60 cm, VI-VII. Very rare. Cited from Bucharest – railway station "Triaj" [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2008], Chitila South – the railway station "Triaj" and Constanța harbour [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2008; ANASTASIU & al. 2009]. 2n=28, 42. S & W Eur.

- 6a Stem pubescent below the panicle. Panicle unilateral, with flexible and ramified branches. Lemma of 8-12 mm, lanceolate, inconspicuously veined, with a 10-18 mm arista. Stamens 3.

B. tectorum L. (Anisantha tectorum (L.) Nevski) – Annual, T, 20-50 cm, V-VI. Frequently, from steppe area to beach belt of vegetation, on dry, ruderal and sandy places. Cont. euras.

6b Stem glabrous below panicle. Panicle multilateral, lax, pendulous at the end, with simple and rough branches. Lemma linear-subulate, 12-20 mm, obviously veined, with a 15-30 mm arista. Ligule of about 4 mm. Stamens 3.

B. sterilis L. (Anisantha sterilis (L.) Nevski) – Annual, T, 20-90 cm, V-VI. Frequently, from steppe area to beach belt of vegetation, in acacia plantations, on ruderal places, sands or loess. Euras. (submedit.)

Regarding the possible provenance of *B. diandrus* in Romania's flora, it is reasonable to assume that it could be a contaminant of cereals or other goods transported via railways or arriving through the Black Sea harbours of Romania (also G. Negrean himself identified this species in railway stations of Timişoara, Drobeta-Turnu Severin, and Constanţa harbour). This idea is also supported by other authors [GLEICHSNER & APPLEBY, 1989; MICHAEL & al. 2010].

Considering the location of the species in disturbed habitats and the possible ways of arrival, through harbours or railways, it can be assumed that *B. diandrus* is an adventitious species in the spontaneous flora of Romania.

For the time being, *B. diandrus* does not seem to extend beyond the spaces of railway stations or harbours in Romania; however, preventive measures must be considered to control the invasion of this species outside the current ruderal areas. Some management measures as weed control, could include, for instance: a) burning residues on site, as it is already practiced in Australia and USA [HEENAN & al. 1990; SWEET & al. 2008; BOWCHER & al. 2019], b) complete inversion of the soil as it is practiced in Spain [GARCIA & al. 2013; RECASENS & al. 2016], c) biological control as it is practiced in Tunisia and United Kingdom [LAWRIE & al. 1998; MEJRI & al. 2010], d) non-selective herbicide as it is practiced in Spain [ROYO-ESNAL & al. 2018], e) pre-emergence herbicide as it is practiced in Australia and New Zealand [DASTGHEIB & al. 2003; KLEEMAN & GILL, 2008; KLEEMAN & al. 2016], f) post-emergence herbicide as it is practiced in Australia and New Zealand [BASTGHEIB & al. 2009; GARCIA & al. 2014; ROYO-ESNAL & al. 2018], g) spray-topping as it is practiced in Australia [BOWCHER & al. 2019], h) grazing as it is practiced in Australia and New Zealand [TOZER & al. 2007; BOWCHER & al. 2019], i) weed seed harvesting for

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

seed control as it is practiced in Australia [WALSH & POWLES, 2014; BORGER & al. 2020], and so forth.

Conclusions

The natural distribution of ripgut brome (*Bromus diandrus*) in the Romania's flora is presented here, in synthesis. This species was recorded in the fourth known place in Romania, namely Buzău (it is the first location in the historical province of Muntenia), in the city's train station. At the site, *B. diandrus* was estimated to grow in the thousands along and inbetween the railway tracks and the associated disturbed sites, throughout the railway station area.

Considering the habitat, ecology, and the ruderal behavior, it can be assumed that the ripgut brome is an adventitious species in Romania's flora.

An identification key of the species of the genus *Bromus*, sect. *Genea*, known up to now in the Romania's flora was compiled and included in this work.

References

- ANASTASIU P. & NEGREAN G. 2008. Plante străine noi în România [New alien plants to Romania]. Analele Universității. Craiova, Seria Agronomie, Monanologie, Cadastru. 38/B: 1-10.
- ANASTASIU P., NEGREAN G., FĂGĂRAȘ M., SAMOILĂ C. & COGĂLNICEANU D. 2009. Constanța harbour (Romania) as a major gateway and reservoir for alien plant species. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 36: 41-60.
- BELDIE A. 1979. Flora României. Determinator ilustrat al plantelor vasculare. 2. București: Edit. Acad. Române, 406 pp.
- BORGER C. P. D., HASHEM A. & GILL G. S. 2020. Comparison of growth, survivorship, seed production and shedding of eight weed species in a wheat crop in Western Australia. Weed Research. 60(6): 415-424. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12444
- BORGER C. P. D., TORRA J., ROYO-ESNAL A., DAVIES L. & NEWCOMBE G. 2021. Chapter 4. Bromus diandrus and Bromus rigidus, pp. 67-88. In: CHAUHAN S. B. (ed.). 2021. Biology and Management of Problematic Crop Weed Species. 1st Ed. London: Academic Press, 415 pp.
- BOWCHER A., CHEAM A., GILL G., MOORE J. & KLEEMANN S. 2019. Weed 6. Brome grass (Bromus spp.), pp. 32-35. In: STORRIE A. E. (ed.). 2019. Integrated weed management in Australian cropping systems. A national reference manual for growers. Grains Research & Development Corporation, Australia, 319 pp.
- BRITTON N. L. & BROWN A. 1970. An illustrated flora of the Northern United States and Canada (from Newfoundland to the parallel of the southern boundary of Virginia, and from the Atlantic Ocean westward to the 102_D meridian). 3. New York: Dover Publ. Inc., 637 pp.
- BRUMMITT R. K. & POWELL C. E. 1992. Authors of Plant Names. Kew, England: Royal Botanic Gardens, 732 pp.
- BUIA AL., NYÁRÁDY A. & RĂVĂRUŢ M. 1965. Botanică agricolă. Sistematica Plantelor. 1-2. București: Edit. Agro-Silvică, 339 pp., 528 pp.
- BURGHARDT G. & FROUD-WILLIAMS R. J. 1997. Phenology and reproductive allocation of Bromus sterilis, B. diandus, B. hordeaceus and B. commutatus. The 1997 Brighton Crop Protection Conference: Weeds. British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, UK: 479-484.
- CABI. 2020. Bromus diandrus (great brome). Invasive Species Compendium. Wallingford, United Kingdom: CAB International. Accesed: 21 Nov. 2022 from https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/10024/
- CABI. 2022. Bromus rigidus (ripgut brome). Invasive Species Compendium. Wallingford, United Kingdom: CAB International. Accesed: 21 Nov. 2022 from https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/10024/
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 1990. Flora ilustrată a României. Determinarea și descrierea speciilor spontane și cultivate. 2. București: Edit. Ceres, 598 pp.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2000. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. Ed. a 2ª. București: Edit. Ceres, 1138 pp.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2009. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. Ed. a 3ª. București: Edit. Ceres, 1141 pp.
- CLAPHAM A. R., TUTIN T. G. & WARBURG E. F. 1952. Flora of the British Isles. 1st ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1591 pp.

- COPE T. A. 1982. *Poaceae*. In: NASIR E. & ALI S. I. (eds). 1982. *Flora of Pakistan*, No. 143. Pakistan Agricultural Research Council and University of Karachi, Islamabad and Karachi, Pakistan, 678 pp.
- CRISTEA V. 2014. Plante vasculare: diversitate, sistematică, ecologie și importanță. Cluj-Napoca: Presa Universitară Clujeană, 575 pp.
- DASTGHEIB F., ROLSTON M. P. & ARCHIE W. J. 2003. Chemical control of brome grasses (*Bromus* spp.) in cereals. New Zealand Plant Protection. 56: 227-232. https://doi.org/10.30843/nzpp.2003.56.6096
- FORTUNE P. M., POURTAU N., VIRON N. & AINOUCHE M. L. 2008. Molecular phylogeny and reticulate origins of the polyploid *Bromus* species from the section Genea (Poaceae). *American Journal of Botany*. 95(4): 454-464. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.95.4.454
- GARCIA A. L., RECASENS J., FORCELLAF., TORRA J. & ROYO-ESNAL A. 2013. Hydrothermal emergence model for ripgut brome (*Bromus diandrus*). Weed Science. 61(1): 146-153. https://doi.org/10.1614/WS-D-12-00023.1
- GARCIA A. L., ROYO-ESNAL A., TORRA J., CANTERO-MARTINEZ C. & RECASENS J. 2014. Integrated management of *Bromus diandrus* in dryland cereal fields under no-till. *Weed Research*. 54(4): 408-417. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12088
- GBIF. 2023. Bromus diandrus Roth. In: National Museum of Natural History, Smithsonian Institution. Integrated Taxonomic Information System (ITIS), Checklist dataset. https://doi.org/10.5066/f7kh0kbk accessed via GBIF.org, on 04 Oct. 2023.
- GILL G. S. & BOWRAN D. G. 1990. Tolerance of wheat cultivars to metribuzin and implications for the control of Bromus diandrus and B. rigidus in Western Australia. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture. 30: 373-378. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA9900373
- GILL G. S. & CARSTAIRS S. A. 1988. Morphological, cytological and ecological discrimination of Bromus rigidus and Bromus diandrus. Weed Research. 28(5): 399-405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.1988.tb00820.x
- GLEICHSNER J. A. & APPLEBY A. P. 1989. Effect of depth and duration of seed burial on ripgut brome (*Bromus rigidus*). Weed Science. **37**(1): 68-72.
- HEENAN D. P., TAYLOR A. C. & LEYS A. R. 1990. The influence of tillage, stubble management and crop rotation on the persistence of great brome (*Bromus diandrus* Roth). *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. 30(2): 227-230. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA9900227
- JÁVORKA S. 1925. Magyar Flóra (Flora Hungarica). Magyarország virágos és edányes virágtalan növényeinek meghatározo kézikönyve. I-II (p. 109). Budapest: Kiadása, 664 pp., 643 pp.
- KLEEMANN S. G. L. & GILL G. S. 2008. Application of metribuzin for the control of rigid brome (*Bromus rigidus*) in no-till barley crops of southern Australia. *Weed Technology*. 22(1): 34-37.
- KLEEMANN S. G. L. & GILL G. S. 2009. The role of imidazolinone herbicides for the control of *Bromus rigidus* (rigid brome) in wheat in southern Australia. *Crop Protection.* 28: 913-916.
- KLEEMANN S. G. L., BOUTSALIS P., GILL G. S. & PRESTON C. 2016. Applications of pre-emergent pyroxasulfone, flufenacet and their mixtures with triallate for the control of *Bromus diandrus* (ripgut brome) in no-till wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) crops of southern Australia. *Crop Protection.* 80: 144-148.
- KON K. F. & BLACKLOW W. M. 1988. Identification, distribution and population variability of great brome (*Bromus diandrus* Roth) and rigid brome (*B. rigidus* Roth). Australian Journal of Agricultural Research. 39(6): 1039-1050. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR9881039
- KON K. F. & BLACKLOW W. M. 1989. The biology of Australian weeds 19. Bromus diandrus Roth and B. rigidus Roth. Plant Protection Quarterly. 4: 51-60.
- KON K. F. & BLACKLOW W. M. 1995. Bromus diandrus Roth and B. rigidus Roth., pp. 13-27. In: GROVES R. H., SHEPHERD R. C. H. & RICHARDSON R. G. (eds.) 1995. The biology of Australian weeds. Melbourne, Australia.
- KOSTADINOVSKI M., ĆUŠTEREVSKA R. & MATEVSKI V. 2019. Anisantha diandra (Roth) Tutin and Ochlopoa infirma (Kunth) H. Scholz - new species of Poaceae family in Republic of Macedonia. Macedonian Academy of Science and Arts. Contributions. Section of Natural, Mathematical and Biotechnical Sciences. 40(2): 273-276.
- KUNEV I. G. 2021. Bromus diandrus (Poaceae), an addition to the Bulgarian flora. Acta Botanica Croatica. 80(2): 215-216. https://doi.org/10.37427/botcro-2021-017
- LAWRIE J., GREAVES M. P. & DOWN V. M. 1998. Drechslera sp. (Pyrenophora chaetomioides Speg.), a potential biocontrol agent for Bromus sterilis and other Bromus spp. Biocontrol Science and Technologyl. 8: 479-484.
- LINNÆUS C. 1753. Species plantarum: exhibentes plantas rite cognitas, ad genera relatas, cum differentiis specificis, nominibus trivialibus, synonymis selectis, locis natalibus, secundum systema sexuale digestas. 2 vols. Holmiæ: Impensis Laurentii Salvii [Stockholm], 560 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.669
- LLAMAS F. & ACEDO C. 2019. Typification of eight current and seven related names and a new section in the genus Bromus (Bromeae, Pooideae, Poaceae). PhytoKeys. 121: 53-72. https://doi.org/10.3897/phytokeys.121.30254
- MALIK V. & MOHAMMAD I. 2015. Bromus diandrus (Poaceae): a new record for North India. Rheedea. 25(1): 44-46.

RIPGUT BROME (BROMUS DIANDRUS) IN ROMANIA'S VASCULAR FLORA

- MEJRI D., GAMALERO E., TOMBOLINI R., MUSSO C., MASSA N., BERTA G. & SOUISSI T. 2010. Biological control of great brome (*Bromus diandrus*) in durum wheat (*Triticum durum*): specificity, physiological traits and impact on plant growth and root architecture of the fluorescent pseudomonad strain X33d. *BioControl.* 55(4): 561-572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10526-010-9285-y
- MEMEDEMIN D., ANASTASIU P., PREDA C., NEGREAN G. & COGĂLNICEANU D. 2016. Alien plant species turnover in Constanța harbor (Romania) in the last decade. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 43: 5-18.
- MICHAEL P. J., OWEN M. J. & POWLES S. B. 2010. Herbicide-resistant weed seeds contaminate grain sown in the Western Australian grainbelt. Weed Science. 58(4): 466-472. https://doi.org/10.1614/WS-D-09-00082.1
- NADERI R. & RAHIMINEJAD M. R. 2015. A taxonomic revision of the genus *Bromus* (Poaceae) and a new key to the tribe *Bromeae* in Iran. *Annales Botanici Fennici*. **52**: 233-248. https://doi.org/10.5735/085.052.0316
- NADERI R., RAHIMINEJAD M. R., ASSADI M. & SAEIDI H. 2012. Notes on the genus Bromus L. (Poaceae) in Iran. The Iranian Journal of Botany. 18(1): 42-46.
- NYÁRÁDY A. & BELDIE AL. 1972. Family no. 123. Gramineae A. L. Juss, pp. 23-27. In: Flora Republicii Socialiste România, 12. București: Edit. Acad. Române, 810 pp.
- O'CONNOR P. 1990. *Poaceae*. pp. 1481-1604. In: WAGNER W. L., HERBST D. R. & SOHMER S. H. (Eds.). 1990. *Manual of the flowering plants of Hawaii*. Honolulu, Hawaii: University of Hawaii Press & Bishop Museum Press, 1952 pp.
- OJA T. & LAARMANN H. 2002. Comparative study of the ploidy series *Bromus sterilis*, *B. diandrus* and *B. rigidus* (Poaceae) based on chromosome numbers, morphology and isozymes. *Plant Biology (Stutgart)*. 4(4): 484-491. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-34133
- POPESCU A. & SANDA V. 1998. Conspectul florei cormofitelor spontane din România. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 1-336.
- RECASENS J., GARCIA A. L., CANTERO-MARTINEZ C., TORRA J. & ROYO-ESNAL A. 2016. Long-term effect of different tillage systems on the emergence and demography of *Bromus diandrus* in rainfed cereal fields. *Weed Research.* 56(1): 31-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12185
- ROTH A. W. 1787. Beschreibung neuer Pflanzen. Nürnberg. Botanische Abhandlungen und Beobachtungen: 44-45.
- ROYO-ESNAL A., RECASENS J., GARRIDO J. & TORRA J. 2018. Rigput brome (Bromus diandrus Roth.) management in a no-till field in Spain. Agronomy. 8(11): 251. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8110251
- SAARELA J. M. 2008. Taxonomy of Bromus (Poaceae: Pooideae: Bromeae) sections Bromopsis, Bromus, and Genea in British Columbia, Canada. Journal of the Botanical Research Institute of Texas. 2(1): 323-372.
- SAARELA J. M., PETERSON P. M., KEANE R. M., CAYOUETTE J. & GRAHAM S. W. 2007. Molecular phylogenetics of Bromus (Poaceae: Pooideae) based on chloroplast and nuclear DNA sequence data. *Aliso: A Journal of Systematic and Floristic Botany.* 23(1): 450-467.
- SALES F. 1993. Taxonomy and nomenclature of Bromus sect. Genea. Edinburgh Journal of Botany. 50(1): 1-31.
- SÂRBU I., ȘTEFAN N. & OPREA A. 2013. Plante vasculare din România. Determinator ilustrat de teren. București: Edit. "Victor B Victor", 1320 pp.
 SCHAMINÉE H. J. J., CHYTRÝ M., HENNEKENS M. S., MUCINA L., RODWELL S. J. & TICHÝ L. 2012.
- SCHAMINEE H. J. J., CHYTRY M., HENNEKENS M. S., MUCINA L., RODWELL S. J. & TICHY L. 2012. Development of vegetation syntaxa crosswalks to EUNIS habitat classification and related data sets. Final report EEA/NSV/12/001, 134 pp.
- SMITH P. M. 1980. Bromus L., pp. 182-189. In: TUTIN T. G., HEYWOOD V. H., BURGES N. A., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.). Flora Europaea. 5. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 463 pp.
- SOMLYAY L. 2001. A rozsnok (Bromus L.) nemzetség kutatásának története és jelenlegi állása Magyarországon. Kitaibelia. 6(2): 251-257.
- STACE C. A. 2010. New flora of the British Isles. 3rd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1232 pp.
- STOYANOV S., NEGREAN G. & VLADIMIROV V. 2022. Contribution to the knowledge of Bromus diandrusrigidus (Poaceae) polyploid complex in the Bulgarian and Romanian floras. Comptes rendus de l'Académie bulgare des Sciences, ser. Biology, Botany. 75(4): 536-544. https://doi.org/10.7546/CRABS.2022.04.08
- SWEET S. B., KYSER G. B. & DITOMASO J. M. 2008. Susceptibility of exotic annual grass seeds to fire. *Invasive Plant Science and Management.* 1(2): 158-167. https://doi.org/10.1614/IPSM-07-040.1
- TEOFRAST. 1549. Historia plantarum/Περὶ φυτῶν ἰστορία, Peri phyton historia; Dell'Historia delle piante, di Thephrasto libri tre (in Italian, by Michel Angelo Biondo). Venezia, 295 pp.
- THIERS B. 2022+ [continuously updated]. Index Herbariorum: a global directory of public herbaria and associated staff. New York Botanical Garden's virtual herbarium – Published at http://sweetgum.nygb.org/science/ih/ [Accessed: Nov., the 2nd, 2022].
- TODOR I. 1972. Genus no. 731. Bromus L., pp. 300-338. In: Flora Republicii Socialiste România, **12**. București: Edit. Acad. Române, 810 pp.

- TOZER K. N., MARSHALL A. J., SEDCOLE J. R. & EDWARDS G. R. 2007. Ripgut brome (*Bromus diandrus*) distribution in relation to topography and management on seven high country properties in the south island. *New Zealand Plant Protection*. 60: 168-173. https://doi.org/10.30843/nzpp.2007.60.4677
- TUTIN T. G., BURGES N. A., CHATER A. O., EDMONSON J. R., HEYWOOD V. H., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.). 1993. Flora Europaea. 1 (Psilotaceae to Platanaceae). 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 581 pp.
- TUTIN T. G., HEYWOOD V. H., BURGES N. A., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.). 1964-1980. *Flora Europaea*. 1-5. 1st ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 464 pp., 469 pp., 385 pp., 517 pp., 463 pp.
- TZVELEV N. N. 1976. Zlaki SSSR. Bromus L., pp. 554-583. Nauka Publishers, Leningrad [in Russian]. [English translation/1983/. Grasses of the Soviet Union. 1-2. New Delhi: Amerind Publishing Co., 622 pp.

VELDKAMP J. F., ERIKS M. & SMIT S. S. 1991. Bromus (Gramineae) in Malesia. Blumea. 35(2): 483-497.

- VERLOOVE F. 2022. Bromus diandrus Roth. On: Manual of the Alien Plants of Belgium. Botanic Garden Meise, Belgium. http://alienplantsbelgium.be. Accessed: 10 Febr. 2023
- WALSH M. J. & POWLES S. B. 2014. High seed retention at maturity of annual weeds infesting crop fields highlights the potential for harvest weed seed control. Weed Technology. 28(3): 486-493. https://doi.org/10.1614/WT-D-13-00183.1
- WEBB D. A. 1966. The flora of European Turkey. In: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Sect. B: Biological, Geological, and Chemical Science, 65/B (1), Dublin: Royal Irish Academy, 100 pp.
- WILLIAMS L. D. 1986. Bromeae. In: JESSOP J. P. & TOELKEN H. R. (eds). 1986. Flora of South Australia, South Australian Printing Division, Adelaide, part IV: 1878-1882.
- *** https://ro.wikipedia.org/wiki/Poaceae/. Accessed 2 Nov. 2022.
- *** https://europlusmed.org/cdm dataportal/taxon/897057/. Accessed 2 Nov. 2022.
- *** https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/31167/. Accessed 27 Dec. 2022.
- *** https://www.gbif.org/species/2703760/. Accesed: 13 Jan. 2023.
- *** http://alienplantsbelgium.be/. Accessed 10 Febr. 2022.
- *** http://euromed.luomus.fi/euromed_map.php?taxon=354579&size=medium/. Accesed 25 Oct. 2022.
- *** http://ww2.bgbm.org/europlusmed/. Accessed 2 Nov. 2022.
- *** https://efloras.org/Flora of North America/, vol. 21, pp. 68-70/. Accessed 2 Nov. 2022.
- *** http://beta.floranorthamerica.org/Bromus_diandrus/. Accessed 16 Nov. 2022.
- *** http://www.efloras.org/florataxon.aspx?flora_id=2&taxon_id=200025001. Flora of China/, vol. 22, pp. 373 & 381/. Accessed 2 Nov. 2022.
- *** http://euromed.luomus.fi/. Accessed 10 Dec. 2022.

How to cite this article:

OPREA A. & SÎRBU C. 2023. Ripgut brome (*Bromus diandrus*) in Romania's vascular flora. J. Plant Develop. **30**: 33-45. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.931

COLLECTION AND PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME NIGERIAN BAMBARA GROUNDNUT (*VIGNA SUBTERRANEA*) GERMPLASM USING SEED MORPHOLOGY

Dorcas Ropo ABEJIDE^{1*}, Olamide Ahmed FALUSI², Oladipupo Abdulazeez Yusuf DAUDU², Liman Muhammad MUHAMMAD², Aishatu Ahmed GADO²

¹ Kogi State University, Anyigba, Department of Plant Science and Biotechnology – Kogi State Nigeria. ² Federal University of Technology, Department of Plant Biology, Minna – Niger State. * Corresponding author. E-mail: doroapitan@gmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-7671-5665

Abstract: Bambara groundnut is an indigenous African legume with great potential to tackle food insecurity in Nigeria. A germplasm collection mission was carried out in collaboration with the Agricultural Developments Project (ADP) Extension officers of Nigeria between October and December 2014. Bambara groundnut seeds were collected from farmers in Kaduna, Niger, Kogi, Benue, Plateau, Adamawa, Nasarawa, Jigawa, Enugu and Federal Capital Territoy (FCT) Abuja. Some seeds were also collected from National Centre for Genetic Resources and Biotechnology (NACGRAB). A total of 45 original seed lots were collected which comprised of mixed seeds (different seed coat colours) and pure seeded accessions (comprising of one seed coat colour). A total of 24 distinct seed morphotypes were identified from the collections. The highest number of accessions were collected from NACGRAB (11) followed by Niger State (10) and the lowest from Benue, Jigawa and Adamawa States (2). Niger State also had the highest number of mixed seeds. The different seed phenotypes observed in the study are important for field production of true to type lines and can be exploited for the genetic improvement of bambara groundnut.

Keywords: Bambara groundnut, characterization, collection, germplasm, phenotypic.

Introduction

Bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.) is a herbaceous plant with substerranean fruit-set cultivated by smallholder farmers in semi-arid region of Africa [AZAM-ALI & al. 2001]. It is an indigenous African leguminous crop belonging to the family Fabaceae and sub-family Faboideae [ABEJIDE & al. 2020]. It has different names by different language groups in Nigeria. In Hausa language bambara groundnut is called "Gurjiya" or "Kwaruru". In Goemai language of Plateau State it is known as "Kwam", and Kanuri people refer to it as "Ngamgala". In Igbo language, it is commonly known as "Okpa" while the Yoruba's call it "Epa-roro" or "Epa-kuta". Although the name "bambara groundnut" was derived from the Bambara tribe which presently lives in Mali where the crop is also believed to have originated from [NWANNA & al. 2005].

Bambara groundnut is a high protein crop that is largely cultivated for its seeds used as human food. Chemical analyses showed that the seed contains 32.50-32.72% of total essential amino acids including lysine, histidine, arginine, leucine and isoleucine and 66.10-70.80% of the non-essential amino acids such as methionine, glycine, cysteine, tyrosine and proline [AMARTEIFIO & al. 2006]. It also contains 63% carbohydrate, 19% protein, 6.5% oil and minerals like calcium (95.5-99 mg/100 mg), iron (5.1-9 mg/100 mg), potassium (11447-14355

COLLECTION AND PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME NIGERIAN BAMBARA ...

mg/100 mg) and sodium (2.9-10.6 mg/100 mg) as reported by MAYES & al. (2012).

Bambara groundnut is a potential crop in contributing to world food security and reducing malnutrition [MSHELIA & al. 2004; OUEDRAOGO & al. 2008]. The seeds can be eaten fresh when boiled and can also be processed by milling to make flour; a paste is then made from the flour and then used in the preparation of various fried or steamed products like "akara" and "moin-moin" [OKPUZOR & al. 2010]. Another much loved Nigerian delicacy made from bambara groundnut is 'Okpa', which is produced by wrapping the doughy paste in banana leaves or polythene and then boiled. The seeds can also be used to produce vegetable milk that is comparable with soy milk. Following a protein functionality test on the ground seeds, BROUGH & al. (1993) indicated that bambara groundnut can compete with or replace other conventional flours in a range of processed products. Bambara groundnut seeds can be used as animal feed and the leafy shoots are also used as fodder [BRINK & al. 2006].

The demand for bambara groundnut is increasing due to its many uses, its high nutritional value and medicinal value as it is believed to be suitable for consumption by diabetic and hypertensive patients. The crop also serves as a major diet for poor subsistence farmers who cannot afford expensive animal protein. In Nigeria, despite the nutritional value, uses and agronomic advantages of bambara groundnut, it is still one of the less cultivated and underutilized legumes. This has been attributed to lack of improved varieties [MAYES & al. 2011]. The crop has received little attention by Scientists [HILLOCKS & al. 2012]. It is cultivated from local land races as there are no true varieties of the species bred for specific traits in Nigeria [ANCHIRINAH & al. 2001]

The increasing world population requires that efforts be made towards increasing food production. Bambara groundnut is a potential crop that can be used to tackle food insecurity and malnutrition in Nigeria. Being a highly nutritious crop, bambara groudnut is relevant to food security. Bambara groundnut also plays an important role in income generation for resource poor farmers in Nigeria as demand for the crop is on the increase due to increasing awareness of its nutritional value. It fetches a high market price and there is therefore a great need to increase its productivity.

Bambara groundnut germplasm is abundant in Sub-Saharan Africa, as the crop is grown in every tropical region of the continent. So far, wild relatives of cultivated bambara groundnut have only been found in North Eastern Nigeria and Northern Cameroon. It is believed that the crop originated from this part of the continent. Electrophoretic studies conducted by HOWELL & al. (1994) did not reveal a significant difference between the cultivated genotypes and the supposedly wild forms, and it was concluded that the wild plant might simply be an escape from the cultivated ecotype. The major germplasm collection held by IITA has been characterized and evaluated. A few other countries such as Zambia, Burkina Faso, Ghana have also characterized their germplasm.

The collections of bambara groundnut available in most national programs may not reflect all the diversity existing in the respective countries. The crop germplasm is often collected in an opportunistic manner. Plant collectors use a collecting mission for a major crop to include sampling of bambara groundnut. For example, scientists at IITA have usually collected bambara groundnut samples during collecting missions for cowpea or rice. Collecting missions primarily devoted to bambara groundnut need to be organized in many countries producing the crop in order to save those ecotypes that are in the process of extinction. It is based on this that Bambara groundnut germplasm were collected from major growing areas in Nigeria and characterized based on their seed morphology.

Materials and methods

Collection of bambara groundnut germplasm

A germplasm collection was carried out in collaboration with the Agricultural Development Projects' (ADP) Extension Officers of Nigeria between October and December 2014. The major bambara groundnut producing States in Nigeria such as Kaduna, Niger, Kogi, Benue, Plateau, Adamawa, Nassarawa, Jigawa, Enugu and Federal Capital Territory (FCT) Abuja were visited in order to collect the germplasm. Some germplasm was also collected from National Centre for Genetic Resources and Biotechnology (NACGRAB), Ibadan. The seeds were collected packed and sealed in thick paper envelopes each of which was given an entry number, information regarding the locality and local name were also recorded.

Characterization of bambara groundnut germplasm using seed morphology

The seeds collected from farmers and NACGRAB were characterized based on their seed coat colour and pattern and also eye colour and pattern according to the descriptor list of *Vigna subterranea* produced by the International Plant Genetic Resource Institute (IPGRI, 2000). Each original seed lot collected comprising of mixed seeds were sorted out into their distinct seed morpho-types. Royal Horticultural chart was used to identify the colours.

Results

A total of 45 original seed lots were collected during the survey comprising of 34 seed lots collected from farmers and 11 from National Centre for Genetic Resources and Biotechnology (NACGRAB) Ibadan (Table 1). The highest number of accessions were collected from NACGRAB (11) followed by Niger State (10). The least number of accessions were collected from Benue, Jigawa and Adamawa States (2). It was observed that farmers possessed both pure seeds (with same seed coat colour pattern and eye colour pattern) and mixed seeds (comprising of a variety of seed coat colour pattern and eye colour pattern). Out of the original seedlots collected during the survey, Niger State had the highest number of mixed seeds (4) and the least was observed in Nassarawa State (0) with all the accessions having pure seeds and no mixed seeds. NACGRAB had the highest number of original seed lots comprising of pure seeds (9) and the least was observed in Benue, Jigawa and Adamawa States having one accession that is pure seeded (Table 1).

Geopolitical zone	State	Number of accessions	Number of pure seeds	Number of mixed seeds
	Kogi	3	2	1
	Benue	2	1	1
North Control	Plateau	3	2	1
North-Central	Niger	10	6	4
	Nassarawa	2	2	0
	FCT	3	2	1
North West	Kaduna	3	2	1
North-west	Jigawa	2	1	1
North-East	Adamawa	2	1	1
South-East	Enugu	4	2	2
NACGRAB	NACGRAB	11	9	2
Total		45	30	15

Table 1. Number of bambara groundnut accessions collected during the survey

COLLECTION AND PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME NIGERIAN BAMBARA ...

The 45 bambara groundnut accessions collected during the survey were made up of 24 distinct seed morphotypes (Figure 2) with varying seed coat colours and eye colours. A total of 21 descriptors were used to describe their seed coat colours. They are cream (B, C, M), cream purplish spots (D), cream brown spots/stripe (R), cream black stripe (S), cream dark brown patches (U), cream light grey spots (T), cream black patches (K), black (A), red (N), light red (I), dark red (E, F), brownish red (Q), brown speckled with black (H), red speckled with black (G), brown (J), brown with brown pattern below hilum (L), brown with black pattern below hilum (O), cream black (P), grey brown (V), grey black (W), variegated red (X) (Figure 2).





Figure 1. Mixed and pure seeds of bambara groundnut accessions. A, B, C: samples of mixed seeds of bambara groundnut accessions collected during the survey D, E, F: samples of pure seeds of bambara groundnut accessions collected during the survey



Figure 2. Variations in bambara groundnut seed coat colour collected during the survey. A – black; B, C, M – cream; D – cream purplish spots; E, F – dark red; G – red speckled with black; H – brown speckled with black; I – light red; J – brown; K – cream black patches; L – brown with brown pattern below hilum; N – red; O – brown with black pattern below hilum; P – cream/black; Q – brownish red; R – cream brown spots/stripes; S – cream purplish stripes; T – brown with grey spots; U – cream with brown patches; V – grey brown; W – variegated red; X – grey black

COLLECTION AND PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME NIGERIAN BAMBARA ...

 Table 2. Characteristics of bambara groundnut accessions (original seed lots) collected from peasant holders in Nigeria

S/N	Accession	Local	State	Sood type Local par		Diversity
5/1	number	government	State	seeu type	Local name	score
1.	NG-KG-O1	Dekina	Kogi	Brownish red	Okpakpikpa	1.0
2.	NG-KG-02	Ankpa	Kogi	Mixed	Jatoaka	3.0
3.	NG-KG-03	Ofu	Kogi	Cream	Okpafufu	1.0
4.	NG-EN-O4	Igbo-Etiti	Enugu	Brownish red	Aki naukwaa	1.0
5.	NG-EN-05	Igbo-Etiti	Enugu	Mixed	Eyo	3.0
6.	NG-EN-06	Igbo-Etiti	Enugu	Mixed	Oddy	4.0
7.	NG- EN-07	Igbo-Etiti	Enugu	Cream	Caro	1.0
8.	NG-KD-08	Zaria	Kaduna	Mixed	Kwaruru/ gurjiya	7.0
9.	NG-KD-09	Jemaá	Kaduna	Cream	Kwaruru	1.0
10.	NG-KD-10	Sanga	Kaduna	Cream purplish spots	Kwaruru	1.0
11.	NGR-PL-11	Jos	Plateau	Mixed	Kwam	2.0
12.	NGR-PL-12	Jos	Plateau	Brownish red	Kwam	1.0
13.	NGR-PL-13	Jos	Plateau	Cream purplish spots	Kwam	1.0
14.	NGR-BN-16	Ogbadibo	Benue	Mixed	Karo	2.0
15.	NGR-NS-14	Laffia	Nassarawa	Cream	Ikpeyi	1.0
16.	NGR-NS-15	Obi	Nassarawa	Cream black stripes	Kirikiri	1.0
17.	NGR-JG-17	Kazaure	Jigawa	Mixed	Kwaruru	3.0
18.	NG-NI-18	Chanchaga	Niger	Black	Kwaruru	1.0
19.	NG-NI-19	Chanchaga	Niger	Ceam	Kwaruru	1.0
20.	NG-NI-20	Bida	Niger	Mixed	Edzu	11.0
21.	NG-NI-21	Katcha	Niger	Cream	Edzubokun	1.0
22.	NG-NI-22	Kotangora	Niger	Variegated cream black	Yarkasa	1.0
23.	NG-NI-23	Kotangora	Niger	Mixed	Kwaruru	3.0
24.	NG-NI-24	Kotangora	Niger	Mixed	Kwaruru	1.0
25.	NG-NI-25	Shiroro	Niger	Mixed	Kwaruru	5.0
26.	NG-NI-26	Shiroro	Niger	Cream	Yarkasa	1.0
27.	NG-NI-27	Shiroro	Niger	Cream purplish spots	Kwaruru	1.0
28.	NGR-AD-28	Yola	Adamawa	Mixed	Kwaruru	2.0
29.	NGR-AB-29	Zuba	FCT	Cream purplish stripes	Kwaruru	1.0
30.	NGR-AB-30	Dakwa	FCT	Cream purplish spots	Kwaruru	1.0
31.	NGR-AB-31	Yaba	FCT	Mixed	Kwaruru	2.0
32.	NGR-BN-32	Kwande	Benue	Cream	Sisi	1.0
33.	NGR-JG-33	Hadejia	Jigawa	Cream	Gurjiya	1.0
34.	NGR-AD-34	Yola	Adamawa	Cream	Kwaruru	1.0
35.	NGB-01486	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
36.	NGB-01493	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
37.	NGB-01492	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
38.	NGB-01496		NACGRAB	Cream purplish spots	-	1.0
39.	NGB-01489	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
40.	NGB-01491	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
41.	NGB-01311		NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
42.	NGB-01646	-	NACGRAB	Mixed	-	3.0
43.	NGB-01645	-	NACGRAB	Mixed	-	2.0
44.	NGB-01488		NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0
45.	NGB-01487	-	NACGRAB	Cream	-	1.0

Discussion

The seeds collected from farmers during the survey revealed that farmers possess and grow both pure and heterogeneous mixtures of seeds that hold distinctive and divergent genetic attributes (Table 1). ALHASSAN & EGBE (2013) in a participatory rural appraisal of bambara groundnut in Kogi and Benue States observed that farmers possess both pure and mixed seeds. MOHAMMED & al. (2013) also reported the same in Kano State that bambara groundnut landraces exist as heterogeneous mixtures of seeds of few to several morphotypes that embraces a wide genetic potential. Farmers grow mixtures of different seed types probably because of the absence of improved varieties which has resulted into variable yields between years and localities [ABU & BUAH, 2011].

The highest number of pure seeded accessions was observed in NACGRAB (9), this could be because, being a National Centre for Genetic Resources, some level of sorting of the accessions must have been carried out. Accessions, which have cream seed coat colour, are most homogeneous due to market demand. This is because at the time of harvesting, farmers avoid mixture on Bambara groundnut seeds which possess creamy seed coat colour.

The bambara groundnut seed collections (45 seedlots) collected from farmers in Nigeria and NACGRAB phenotyped using visual techniques to describe seed morphology revealed that bambara groundnut possesses distinguishable morphological identities that can be exploited through breeding. The 24 distinct seed morphotypes (Table 2) distinguished are important for field production of true to type lines that can be used for further genetic improvement of the crop. Variations in seed feature have been previously reported by other authors such as MASSAWE & al. (2005) and ABU & BUAH (2011). ABU & BUAH (2011) reported that seeds of bambara groundnut landraces possess identifiable morphological features such as seed testa colour, seed shape, eye and hilum colour and pattern. While PADULOSI & al. (2002) reported that variations in seed coat colour and eye colour and patterns displayed by the landraces are useful to differentiate among bambara groundnut genotypes.

Conclusion

It can be concluded from the study that bambara groundnut germplasm in Nigeria embraces a wide genetic pool with distinct seed morphological identities that can be exploited and used in crop improvement. The different seed phenotypes observed in the study are also important for field production of true to type lines that can be used for further genetic improvement of bambara groundnut.

Acknowledgements

The Authors wish to acknowledge and appreciate National Centre for Genetic Resources and Biotechnology, Ibadan and Agricultural Development Project Extension officers of Nigeria for providing some of the seeds used in the Research.

References

- ABEJIDE D. R., FALUSI O. A., ADEBOLA M. O., GANA A. S., ABUBAKAR A. & DANGANA M. 2020. Effect of water stress on physiological parameters of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.) accessions. *Journal of Plant Development.* 27: 111-120. https://doi.org/10.33628/jpd.2020.27.1.111
- ABU H. B. & BUAH S. J. 2011. Characterization of bambara groundnut landraces and their evaluation by farmers in the upper West regions of Ghana. *Journal of Development in Sustainable Agriculture*. **6**(1): 64-74.

COLLECTION AND PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME NIGERIAN BAMBARA ...

ALHASSAN G. A. & EGBE M. O. 2013. Participatory rural appraisal of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) (Verdc.) production in Southern Guinea Savanna of Nigeria. *Agricultural Science*. 1(2): 18-31.

- AMARTEIFIO J. O., TIBE O. & NJOGU R. M. 2006. The mineral composition of bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.) grown in Southern Africa. African Journal of Botany. 5: 2408-2411.
- ANCHIRINAH V. M., YIRIDOE E. K. & BENNET-LARTEY S. O. 2001. Enhancing sustainable production and genetic resource conservation of Bambara Groundnut: A survey of indigenous agricultural knowledge systems. *Outlook Agriculture*. **30**(1): 281-288. https://doi.org/10.5367/00000001101293788
- AZAM-ALI S. N., SESAY A., KARIKARI S. K., MASSAWE F. J., AGULLAR-MANJARREZ J., BRENNAN M. & HAMPSON K. J. 2001. Assessing the potential of an underutilized crop: a case study using bambara groundnut. *Experimental Agriculture*. **37**(1): 433-472. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479701000412
- BRINK M., RAMDEMANA G. M. & SIBIGA K. P. 2006. Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc. In: M. BRINK & G. BELAY (eds.). Plant Resources of Tropical Africa I. Cereals and Pulses. Wageningen, Netherlands: PROTA Foundation, Backhuys Publishers. pp. 213-218.
- BROUGH S., AZAM-ALI S. & TAYLOR A. 1993. The potential of Bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.) in vegetable milk production and basic protein functionality systems. Food Chemistry. 47(3): 277-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-8146(93)90161-8
- HILLOCKS R. J., BENNET C. & MPONDA O. M. 2012. Bambaranut: a review of utilization, market potential and crop improvement. African Crop Science Journal. 20(1): 1-16.
- HOWELL J. A., ESHBAUGH W. H., GUTTMAN S. & RABAKONANDRIANINA E. 1994. Common names given to bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea*) in Central Madgascar. *Economic Botany*. **48**(2): 217-221.
- MASSAWE F. J., MWALE S. N., AZAM-ALI S. N. & ROBERTS J. A. 2005. Breeding in bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.) strategic considerations. African Journal of Biotechnology. 4(6): 463-471.
- MAYES S., MASSAWE F. J. & ALDERSON P. G. 2012. The potential for underutilized crops to improve security of food production. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 63(3): 1075-1079. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err396
- MOHAMMED M. S., SHIMELIS H. & LAING M. D. 2013. Preliminary investigation on the genetic diversity of bambara groundnut landraces using seed morphology. Paper presented at the Combined Congress in Durban, 21st-24th January, 2013. South African Society of Crop Production, p. 222.
- MOHAMMED M. S., SHIMELIS H. A. & LAING M. D. 2016. Phenotypic characterization of diverse Bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.) germplasm collections through seed morphology. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution. 63: 889-899. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-016-0374-3
- MSHELIA S. N., KUCHINDA C. & ALIYU L. 2004. The performance of maize/bambara groundnut inter crops as influenced by sowing date and planting pattern. *Journal of sustainable Agriculture and the Environment*. 6(1): 2-4.
- MUKURUMBIRA L. W. 1985. Effects of the rate of fertilizer Nitrogen and the previous grain legume on maize yields. Zimbabwe. Agricultural Journal. 82(6): 177-180.
- NWANNA L. C., ENUJIUGHA V. N., OSENI A. O. & NWANNA E. E. 2005. Possible effects of fungal fermentation on bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.) as a feed stuff resource. *Journal for Food Technology*. 3(4): 572-575.
- OKPUZOR J., OGBUNUGAFOR H. A., OKAFOR U. & SOFIDIYA M. O. 2010. Identification of protein types in bambara nut seeds: Perspectives for dietary protein supply in developing countries. *Excli Journal*. 9: 17-28.
- OUEDRAOGO M., OUEDRAOGO J. T., TIGNERE J. B., BILMA D., DABIRE C. B. & KONATE G. 2008. Characterization and evaluation of accessions of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdcourt) from Burkina Faso. *Sciences & Nature*. 5(2): 191-197. https://doi.org/10.4314/scinat.v5i2.42164
- PADULOSI S., HODKING T., WILLIAMS J. T. & HAQ N. 2002. Underutilized crops: Trends, challenges and opportunities in the 21st century. In: ENGELS J. M. M., RAO V. M., BROWN A. H. D. & JACKSON M. T. (eds.). 2002. Managing plant genetic diversity. Wallingford, UK: CAB International., pp. 323-338.

How to cite this article:

ABEJIDE D. R., FALUSI O. A., DAUDU O. A. Y., MUHAMMAD L. M. & GADO A. A. 2023. Collection and phenotypic characterization of some Nigerian bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea*) germplasm using seed morphology. J. Plant Develop. 30: 47-54. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.920

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (*GREWIA TILIIFOLIA* VAHL) FRUIT IN SUB-TROPICAL REGION OF INDIA

Sonali SINGH¹, Pushpender BHARDWAJ², Ajay SHARMA³, Garima BHARDWAJ⁴, Neha Rani BHAGAT², Preeti KUMARI², Avilekh NARYAL⁵, <u>Arup GIRI^{1,2,6*}</u>

¹ Department of Life Science, School of Basic Sciences, Arni University, Himachal Pradesh – India.
 ² DRDO-Defence Institute of High Altitude Research, Chandigarh – India.
 ³ Chandigarh University, Gharuan, Mohali, Punjab – India.
 ⁴ Sant Longowal Institute of Engineering and Technology, Longowal, Sangrur, Punjab – India.
 ⁵ Vigyan Prasar, Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi – India.
 ⁶ Department of Zoology, Baba Mastnath University, Rohtak, Haryana – India.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: arupsatadal@gmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-2313-3581

Abstract: The present study was conducted to determine the availability of bioactive phytomolecules in the Dhaman (*Grewia tiliifolia*) fruit collected from a sub-tropical region of India. Methanolic and ethanolic extracts were prepared from processed Dhaman fruits. The extracts were screened for phytomolecules using the Gas chromatography – mass spectrometry (GC-MS) method. Results found that the methanolic extract has alkaloids at 5%, esters at 21%, triterpenoids at 2%, fatty alcohol at 5%, acid chloride at 2%, hydrocarbons at 26%, and steroids at 2%. However, the ethanolic extract has alkaloids (2%), ester (27%), fatty alcohol (6%), hydrocarbons (9%), steroids (13%), amide (4%), and triglycerides (2%) in different amounts. From this study, it has been concluded that the Dhaman fruit is highly enriched in different phytomolecules. As a result, Dhaman fruit has a high potential for curing various human diseases and well-being.

Keywords: bio-active molecules, ethanolic extract, GC-MS, methanolic extract, phytomolecules.

Introduction

Ayurveda, an ancient system of medicine originating in India, recommends the utilization of various components of the *Grewia tiliifolia* plant for treating conditions such as irritation, burning sensations, fever, blood disorders, excessive menstrual flow, and diabetes [ZIA-UL-HAQ & al. 2013]. It is known to be effective in addressing gastric issues, hyperdipsia, rhinopathy, ulcers, skin diseases, haematemesis, and general debility. Traditional healing practices involve employing the leaves, bark decoction, and infusion of this medicinal plant to treat snakebites in livestock through wound drenching [OWUOR & KISANGAU, 2006]. The application of fresh leaf paste aids in burn treatment, while the powdered bark is utilized for its aphrodisiac properties [MRABTI & al. 2022]. Furthermore, the ripe fruits of *Grewia tiliifolia* are consumed for their nutritional value [AHMAD & al. 2013]. DIXIT & GEEVAN (2000) documented the historical use of *Grewia tiliifolia* as an agricultural tool and food source.

Grewia tiliifolia, commonly known as Dhamani or Dhaman, is a medium-sized tree reaching a height of approximately 20 meters, with a trunk length of 8 meters and a diameter of 65 cm. The plant bears small yellow flowers on thick axillary peduncles. It holds a significant place in the Ayurvedic system of medicine. *Grewia tiliifolia* is primarily found in various regions of India, including Punjab, Himachal Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Chennai, Andhra Pradesh, and Mumbai. It belongs to the Malvaceae family, which encompasses approximately 150

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

species of small trees or shrubs distributed across subtropical and tropical regions, including tropical Africa, Arabia, the Himalayas, India, Pakistan, China, Bangladesh, Myanmar, Thailand, and Northern Australia [ULLAH & al. 2012]. India alone hosts around 40 different species, such as *G. asiatica*, *G. tenax*, *G. hirsuta*, *G. damine*, *G. lasiodiscus*, *G. optiva*, *G. biloba*, *G. bicolor*, and many others [KUMAR & al. 2022].

Grewia tiliifolia, known as Dhaman, exhibits various medicinal properties. The powdered wood of G. *tiliifolia* is used as an emetic to counteract opium poisoning. Additionally, the stem bark acts as a coagulant and shows cardiovascular effects [KUMAR & al. 2022]. Studies have demonstrated the analgesic and antipyretic properties of G. tiliaefolia bark [PAVIAYA & al. 2013]. The plant is often employed in the treatment of burning sensations, blood disorders, and as an aphrodisiac and tonic. Furthermore, the methanolic extract and a constituent called gulonic acid gamma-lactone obtained from G. tiliifolia have shown in vivo wound healing activity [AHAMED & al. 2009]. ADHIKARI & al. (2010) reported the use of flowers, fruits, bark, and leaves of G. tiliifolia for treating syphilis. Notably, G. tiliifolia exhibits cholinesterase inhibitory properties and demonstrates anti-amyloidogenic and neuroprotective effects in *in-vitro* and *in silico* conditions [MALAR & al. 2017]. G. tiliifolia is utilized in cases of inflammation and burning sensations [JUVEKAR & al. 2007]. It is employed for the treatment of skin diseases, inflammatory bowel diseases, diarrhea, and pruritus [BADAMI & al. 2002]. Previous researchers have isolated three triterpenoids, namely betulin, friedelin, and lupeol, from the stem bark of G. tiliifolia [BADAMI & al. 2002, 2004]. Moreover, the methanolic extract of G. tiliifolia stem bark demonstrates potent antioxidant and antibacterial properties [JUVEKAR & al. 2007]. The same extract has shown significant wound healing activity in various cutaneous wound models in rats [AHAMED & al. 2009].

In traditional Indian folk medicine, *Grewia asiatica* fruit, also known as Dhaman fruit, is used to alleviate blood disorders, as well as cardiac and respiratory diseases [POONAM & SINGH, 2009]. Research suggests that *G. asiatica* possesses anticancer [GUPTA & al. 2014], antioxidant [ZIA-UL-HAQ & al. 2013], radio-protective, hepatoprotective [SHARMA & SISODIA, 2009], and antihyperglycemic [KHATTAB & al. 2015] activities. *Grewia asiatica* fruit is rich in nutrients, including vitamins and minerals, and contains various bioactive compounds such as anthocyanins, tannins, phenolics, and flavonoids [ZIA-UL-HAQ & al. 2013].

Although the utilization of Dhaman trees in traditional medicine is well-established, there remains a paucity of studies focusing on the phytochemical screening of Dhaman fruit. Further investigations in this area may unveil specific curative properties associated with Dhaman fruits, offering new avenues for research. Consequently, these findings hold potential implications for promoting human well-being in the Post-COVID-19 era.

Materials and methods

Experimental site

The experiment was performed in Rehan Khas village, situated in the Kangra district in Himachal Pradesh. The experimental site lies between 32°9'49.02" North Latitude and 75°54'49.30" East Longitude (Figure 1).

Sonali SINGH & al.



Figure 1. Experimental site make by Google 3D Earth Pro software

Environmental conditions

The experiment was conducted under average temperatures of 22-37 °C in Rehan Khas village in District Kangra HP. In Himachal Pradesh, over 30 years of records, average air temperatures were 0.7 to 2.4 °C higher than in the 1980s, as against the global average of 0.5 °C; the Himachal Pradesh trend indicates an increase of 0.06 °C per year.

Plant material collection

Fresh fruits were collected from the Dhaman tree (Figure 2). The fruits of Dhaman were dried for 30 days in the shade at room temperature. Then grounded, the fruit and a powder were obtained. Powdered samples were kept in a refrigerator (4 $^{\circ}$ C) for further experiments.



Figure 2. Dhaman tree; the experimental plant from where fruit samples were collected

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

Plant ethics, guidelines, and source

We hereby confirm that our utilization of plants in this study adheres strictly to international, national, and/or institutional guidelines. Our research specifically excludes the involvement of genetically modified plants, as well as any genetic plant resources procured from local suppliers or collectors. This encompasses species obtained from protected areas, endangered species possessing medical significance, or quarantine organisms (e.g., harmful pests or plant pathogens). Consequently, we did not require legal authorization from the appropriate governing body or the need to adhere to standard protocols. Our sample collection occurred within the confines of Rehan Khas village, located in the Kangra district of Himachal Pradesh. The experimental site's geographical coordinates fall between 32°9'49.02" North Latitude and 75°54'49.30" East Longitude (Figure 1).

Preparation of fruit extract

The extraction of Dhaman tree fruit was conducted following the method proposed by FATOPE & al. (1993), with minor adjustments. Briefly, 20 g of fruit powder was percolated at room temperature using 400 mL of methanol for methanolic extraction, as well as for aqueous extraction. Another 20 g of powdered fruit was mixed with 400 mL of hot water, starting at an initial temperature of 98 °C. The mixture was then placed in conical flasks, tightly sealed, and subjected to agitation in a shaker at room temperature for 24 hours, operating at 100 rpm. After the 24-hour period, the extract was filtered using a muslin cloth, followed by further filtration using Whatman filter paper no. 1. The filtrates were subsequently concentrated using a water bath set at a temperature range of 35-40 °C. The resulting extracts were appropriately labelled and stored in a refrigerator at 4 °C. To prepare a stock solution, the extract was dissolved in DMSO to achieve a concentration of 0.5 g/mL.

Phyto-characterization of fruit extract

Salkowski test (Terpenoid test): a sample weighing 0.5 g was combined with 2 mL of chloroform, followed by the addition of 3 mL of concentrated sulfuric acid to form a distinct layer. The presence of terpenoids was indicated by the formation of a reddish-brown coloration at the interface.

Flavonoid test: to 0.5 mL of the extract filtrate, 5 mL of dilute ammonia was added, followed by the addition of 1 mL of concentrated sulfuric acid. The presence of flavonoids was indicated by the appearance of a yellow coloration in the solution, which faded over time.

Saponin test: 0.5 g of the extract was mixed vigorously with 5 mL of distilled water. After the formation of a stable and persistent froth, 3-4 drops of olive oil were added, and the mixture was vigorously shaken again. The formation of an emulsion indicated the presence of saponins.

Saponin glycosides test: 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with 80% H₂SO₄, resulting in a deep yellow coloration, confirming the presence of saponin glycosides.

Tannin test: a sample weighing 0.5 g was mixed with 10 mL of distilled water and boiled. The solution was then filtered, and a few drops of 0.1% ferric chloride were added. The presence of tannins was indicated by the formation of a brownish-green or blue-black color.

Phenolics test (Ferric chloride test): small amounts of the aqueous and alcoholic extracts were separately dissolved in 2 mL of distilled water, followed by the addition of a few drops of 10% aqueous ferric chloride solution. The presence of phenols was confirmed by the development of a blue or green color.

Carbohydrate test (Molisch's test): 0.5 g of the extract was mixed with 5 mL of distilled water, and the resulting solution was filtered. To the filtrate, 1 mL of α -Naphthol and

concentrated H_2SO_4 were added, leading to the formation of a purple color, indicating the presence of carbohydrates.

Chlorogenic acid test: 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with aqueous ammonia and exposed to the air. The resulting solution exhibited a green color, suggesting the presence of chlorogenic acid.

Coumarin test: 0.5 mL of both aqueous and alcoholic extract solutions were treated with 10% sodium chloride. The yellow coloration of the solution indicated the presence of coumarin.

Flavone test: two methods were employed to detect the presence of flavones. In the first method, 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with sodium hydroxide, and the appearance of a yellow coloration indicated the presence of flavones. In the second method, 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with sulfuric acid, resulting in a yellowish-orange coloration, also indicating the presence of flavones.

Anthocyanin test: two methods were utilized to determine the presence of anthocyanin. In the first method, 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with aqueous sodium hydroxide, and the formation of a blue or violet coloration confirmed the presence of anthocyanin. In the second method, 0.5 mL of the extract was treated with sulfuric acid, resulting in a yellowish-orange coloration, also indicating the presence of anthocyanin.

Phytochemical screening using GC-MS: the phytochemical analysis was conducted utilizing a Thermo Trace 1300GC gas chromatography system coupled with a Thermo TSQ 8000 Triple Quadrupole MS, following the procedure described by BHARDWAJ & al.(2019), with minor adjustments. Data processing was performed using XCalibur 2.2SP1 software with Foundation 2.0SP1. The analysis employed a BP 5MS column (30 m X 0.25 mm, 0.25 μ m). The total program duration was 60 minutes, and the temperature program for the column oven was as follows: starting at 80 °C (maintained for 1.0 minute), followed by an increase to 236°C at a rate of 6 °C/min, with a 5-minute hold, and finally reaching 300 °C at a rate of 8 °C/min with a 20-minute hold. The carrier gas (Helium) flow rate was set at 1.10 mL/min, and the injection volume and injector temperature were 2.0 μ L and 280 °C, respectively. The mass range analyzed was 50-650 m/z using electron ionization (EI) mode. Identification of phytocomponents was based on comparison of their mass spectral data with the NIST 2.0 database. The results were expressed as percentage areas.

Methodology limitations: due to limitations in logistical support and funding, certain essential parameters such as antioxidant analysis and in vitro studies to assess biological effects could not be conducted. However, despite these limitations, our study successfully revealed unique and significant findings regarding the percentage availability of various phytomolecules in Dhaman fruit, which was the main objective of this investigation.

Results and discussions

Phytochemical characterization of extracts of Grewia tiliifolia fruits

After extracting herbal plants using different solvents, the extract with the highest yield (aqueous extract of *Grewia tiliifolia*) was subjected to phytochemical characterization to identify various bioactive phytomolecules. The analysis revealed the presence of terpenoids, flavonoids, saponins, tannins, phenols, carbohydrates, coumarin, and anthocyanin in three of the extracts. However, chlorogenic acid and saponin glycoside were not detected. These findings are consistent with a study conducted by HARIDAS & al. (2017), which also reported the presence of terpenoids, flavonoids, and phenols in the tender leaves of *Grewia tiliifolia* Vahl.

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

It is worth noting that terpenoids, flavonoids, and phenols possess notable antioxidant activity, suggesting their potential as antioxidants.

Gas chromatography (GC-MS) analysis

The present study covers the GC-MS analysis of methanol and ethanol extracts of *Grewia tiliifolia* (Figure 3 and 4). Both extracts obtained using the soxhlet extraction showed the presence of 48 compounds in each. Most compounds found in these two extracts were of the ester class. In contrast, hydrocarbons, fatty alcohol, alkaloids, triglyceride, amide, steroids, triterpenoid, sesquiterpenoid, acid chloride, phenic acid derivatives, and fatty acid classes of secondary metabolites were also identified (Table 1 & 2, Figure 5). The maximum peak area was found in methanol extract for 9,12-octadecadienoic acid, methyl ester, trans-13-Octadecenoic acid, and methyl ester.Further, in ethanol extract, 2-methyl-Z, Z-3,13-octadecadienol was found at a maximum, followed by n-Hexadecanoic acid.

Grewia tiliifolia bark has long been employed in traditional medicine. Previous investigations [BADAMI & al. 2002, 2004] successfully isolated three triterpenoids, namely betulin, friedelin, and lupeol, from the stem bark of *G. tiliifolia*. These studies also assessed the in vitro cytotoxic properties of *G. tiliifolia* bark against various cell lines [BADAMI & al. 2003]. Phalsa, a member of the *Grewia* species, is another plant used in folk medicine. It contains essential mineral elements, carbohydrates, and various active metabolites such as flavonoids and alkaloids [PATIL & al. 2011; ULLAH & al. 2012]. Historically, plants have been a source of lead compounds for anticancer drugs like vincristine and taxol [GREENWELL & RAHMAN, 2015]. *G. villosa*, belonging to the *Grewia* genus, has been reported to possess anticancer activity, and compounds such as nitidanin, grewin, harman, and gulonic acid have been identified from different *Grewia* species [KHADEER AHAMED & al. 2010; WALIULLAH & al. 2011].



Figure 3. GC-MS Chromatogram of methanolic extract of Grewia tiliifolia fruit



Figure 4. GC-MS Chromatogram of ethanolic extract of Grewia tiliifolia fruit



Figure 5. GC-MS Chromatogram of methanolic and ethanolic extract of Grewia tiliifolia fruit

	Table 1. Compound identified in methanolic extract of Grewia tiliifolia fruit using GC-MS								
S. No.	Compound name	Formula	M.W.	R.T.	% Area	CAS No.			
1.	1,1,1,3,5,5,5-Heptamethyltrisiloxane	C7H22O2Si	166.33	39.64	0.46	1873-88-7			
2.	1,1,1,5,7,7,7-Heptamethyl-3,3-bis(trimethylsiloxy)tetrasiloxane	C13H40O5Si6	444.97	29.87	0.52	38147-00-1			
3.	17-Octadecynoic acid	C ₁₈ H ₃₂ O ₂	280.44	26.05	9.71	34450-18-5			
4.	2-Hexyl-1-octanol	C ₁₄ H ₃₀ O	214.39	10.66	0.18	19780-79-1			
5.	2-t-Butyl-1-methyl-3-phenyl-imidazolidin-4-one	$C_{14}H_{20}N_2O$	232.32	9.52	0.61	NA			
6.	3,7,11,15-Tetramethyl-2-hexadecen-1-ol	C ₂₀ H ₄₀ O	296.53	21.19	0.34	102608-53-7			
7.	3-Hexadecene,(Z)-	C ₁₆ H ₃₂	224.42	12.60	0.73	34303-81-6			
8.	4,2-Cresotic acid, 6-methoxy-, bimol. ester, methyl ester, 4,6-dimethoxyotoluate	C ₂₉ H ₃₀ O ₁₀	538.54	29.09	0.22	19314-74-0			
9.	4,4-Bis(dichlorofluoromethyl)-1,2-oxathietane-2,2-dioxide	C ₄ H ₂ Cl ₄ F ₂ O ₃ S	309.93	36.46	0.37	22721-88-6			
10.	5-Octadecene,(E)-	C ₁₈ H ₃₆	252.48	16.69	0.46	7206-21-5			
11.	6,9,12-Octadecatrienoic acid, phenylmethyl ester,(Z,Z,Z)-	C ₂₅ H ₃₆ O ₂	368.55	34.85	0.10	77509-03-6			
12.	7,9-Ditertbutyl-1-oxaspiro(4,5)deca-6,9-diene-2,8-dione	C ₁₇ H ₂₄ O ₃	276.37	22.26	0.18	82304-66-3			
13.	9,12-Octadecadienoic acid, methyl ester	C ₁₉ H ₃₄ O ₂	294.47	26.34	17.01	2462-85-3			
14.	9,12-Octadecadienoyl chloride, (Z,Z)-	C ₁₈ H ₃₁ ClO	298.89	30.92	0.34	7459-33-8			
15.	ç-Sitosterol	C ₂₉ H ₅₀ O	414.70	44.09	6.23	83-47-6			
16.	Cyclopropaneoctanoic acid,2-[[2-[(2-ethylcyclopropyl)methyl]cyclopropyl]methyl], methyl ester	C22H38O2	334.53	32.08	0.15	10152-71-3			
17.	Cyclotrisiloxane, hexamethyl	C ₆ H ₁₈ O ₃ Si ₃	222.46	40.16	0.22	541-05-9			
18.	Decane, 2,3,5,8-tetramethyl-	C14H30	198.39	15.57	0.38	192823-15-7			
19.	Decane, 2-methyl-	C ₁₁ H ₂₄	156.31	20.56	0.23	6975-98-0			
20.	Di-n-decylsulfone	$C_{20}H_{42}O_2S$	346.61	39.11	1.61	111530-37-1			
21.	Dodecane, 2,6,11-trimethyl-	C15H32	212.41	14.11	0.13	31295-56-4			
22.	Dodecane, 4,6-dimethyl-	C14H30	198.39	14.65	0.36	61141-72-8			
23.	Eicosanoic acid, ethyl ester	$C_{22}H_{44}O_2$	340.58	26.85	0.79	18281-05-5			
24.	Hexadecane, 2,6,11,15-tetramethyl-	$C_{20}H_{42}$	282.55	19.58	0.28	504-44-9			
25.	Hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester	$C_{18}H_{36}O_2$	284.48	2376.	7.95	628-97-7			
26.	l-Proline, N-methoxycarbonyl-, isohexyl ester	C13H23NO4	257.33	8.29	1.09	NA			
27.	Methyl stearate	$C_{19}H_{38}O_2$	298.50	25.84	1.61	112-61-8			
28.	n-Hexadecanoic acid	C ₁₆ H ₃₂ O ₂	256.42	23.27	2.47	57-10-3			
29.	Octadecane, 1-(ethenyloxy)-	$C_{20}H_{40}O$	296.53	20.43	0.42	930-02-9			
30.	Octane, 2,4,6-trimethyl-	C ₁₁ H ₂₄	156.31	12.78	0.51	62016-37-9			
31.	Octasiloxane, 1,1,3,3,5,5,7,7,9,9,11,11,13,13,15,15-hexadecamethyl-	C16H50O7Si8	579.25	37.60	0.38	19095-24-0			
32.	Pentanoic acid, 5-hydroxy-,2,4-ditbutylphenyl esters	$C_{19}H_{30}O_3$	306.44	14.90	0.43	166273-38-7			

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

Sonali SINGH & al.

33.	Phthalic acid, cyclobutyl isobutyl ester	C25H38O4	402.57	21.47	3.01	NA
34.	Silane, cyclohexyldimethoxymethyl-	C ₉ H ₂₀ O ₂ Si	188.34	7.55	0.39	17865-32-6
35.	Silane, diethyldecyloxypentadecyloxy-	C29H62O2Si	470.88	45.53	4.27	NA
36.	Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	$C_{10}H_{28}O_4Si_3$	296.58	41.09	0.79	3555-45-1
37.	Squalene	C ₃₀ H ₅₀	410.72	38.04	0.55	111-02-4
38.	Tetracosamethylcyclododecasiloxane	$C_{24}H_{72}O_{12}Si_{12}$	889.84	22.98	0.30	18919-94-3
39.	Tetradecanoic acid, 10,13-dimethyl-, methyl ester	$C_{17}H_{34}O_2$	270.45	22.64	5.89	267650-23-7
40.	trans-13-Octadecenoic acid, methyl ester	$C_{19}H_{36}O_2$	296.49	25.43	10.61	NA
41.	Undecane, 2-methyl-	$C_{12}H_{26}$	170.33	18.77	0.51	7045-71-8
42.	Undecane, 3,7-dimethyl-	$C_{13}H_{28}$	184.36	11.12	0.27	17301-29-0
43.	Z-(13,14-Epoxy)tetradec-11-en-1-ol acetate	C ₁₆ H ₂₈ O ₃	268.39	28.44	0.11	NA

Table 2. Compound identified in ethanolic extract of Grewia tiliifolia fruit using GC-MS

S. No.	Compound name	Formula	M.W.	R.T.	% Area	CAS No.
1.	1,1,1,3,5,5,5-Heptamethyltrisiloxane	$C_7H_{22}O_2Si_3$	222.50	42.11	0.35	1873-88-7
2.	1,1,1,5,7,7,7-Heptamethyl-3,3bis(trimethylsiloxy) tetrasiloxane	$C_{13}H_{36}O_4Si_4$	368.76	49.31	0.22	87867-97-8
3.	1,3-Benzenedicarboxylic acid, bis(2-ethylhexyl) ester	$C_{24}H_{38}O_4$	390.55	29.51	3.27	6422-86-2
4.	1,5,7,9,11,13-Hexamethyl-3,15-diphenyloctaprismo Octasilasesquioxane	$C_{18}H_{28}O_{12}Si_8$	661.09	42.87	2.62	NA
5.	10-Heneicosene (c,t)	$C_{21}H_{42}$	294.56	16.69	0.61	95008-11-0
6.	1-Monolinoleoylglycerol trimethylsilyl ether	C27H54O4Si2	498.88	37.60	0.34	54284-45-6
7.	2-Bromotetradecane	C14H29Br	277.28	36.43	2.18	74036-95-6
8.	2-Cyclohexen-1-one, 3-(3-hydroxybutyl)-2,4,4-trimethyl	$C_{13}H_{22}O_2$	210.31	37.29	0.40	27185-79-1
9.	2-methyltetracosane	C25H52	352.68	27.00	0.19	NA
10.	2-Methyl-Z, Z-3,13-octadecadienol	C19H36O	280.49	26.13	27.34	NA
11.	2-Piperidinone, N[4-bromonbutyl]-	C ₉ H ₁₆ BrNO	234.13	38.39	0.28	195194-80-0
12.	3,7,11,15-Tetramethyl-2-hexadecen-1-ol	$C_{20}H_{40}O$	296.53	21.19	0.20	102608-53-7
13.	3-Hexadecene, (Z)	C16H32	224.42	12.60	0.20	34303-81-6
14.	3-Isopropyl-6a,10b-dimethyl-8-(2-oxo-2-phenyl-ethyl)-dodecahydro-benzo[f]chromen-7-one	C ₂₆ H ₃₆ O ₃	396.56	38.72	0.10	NA
15.	4,8,12-Tetradecatrien-1-ol, 5,9,13-trimethyl-	$C_{17}H_{30}O$	250.42	38.04	0.25	NA
16.	6-Octadecenoic acid, methyl ester, (Z)-	C19H36O2	296.49	25.42	0.74	2777-58-4
17.	7,9-Di-tert-butyl-1-oxaspiro(4,5)deca-6,9-diene-2,8-dione	C17H24O3	276.37	22.26	0.24	82304-66-3
18.	8-Methyl-6-nonenamide	$C_{10}H_{19}NO$	169.26	31.32	3.99	NA
19.	9,10-Secocholesta-5,7,10(19)-triene-3,24,25-triol,(3á,5Z,7E)-	$C_{27}H_{44}O_3$	416.63	37.72	0.30	40013-87-4
20.	9,12,15-Octadecatrienoic acid, 2,3-bis(acetyloxy)propyl ester, (Z,Z,Z)-	$C_{25}H_{40}O_{6}$	436.58	32.84	0.31	55320-02-0

21.	9,12-Octadecadienoic acid (Z,Z), methyl ester	$C_{19}H_{34}O_2$	294.47	25.30	0.84	2462-85-3
22.	9,12-Octadecadienoic acid, ethyl ester	$C_{20}H_{36}O_2$	308.50	26.34	6.38	7619-08-1
23.	9-Octadecenoic acid, methyl ester	$C_{21}H_{40}O_4$	356.54	53.88	2.17	3443-84-3
24.	á-Amyrin	C ₃₀ H ₅₀ O	426.72	45.98	0.31	638-95-9
25.	Allopregnan-3á, 9à-diol-20-one, 3acetate	C23H36O4	376.53	43.17	2.19	24587-69-7
26.	Androst-4-en-3-one, 17-acetoxy-19-(N-formylmethylamino)	C23H33NO4	387.51	35.89	0.84	NA
27.	á-Sitosterol	$C_{31}H_{52}O_2$	456.74	43.73	0.28	915-05-9
28.	Benzoic acid, 2-(dimethylamino)ethyl ester	C ₁₁ H ₁₅ NO ₂	193.24	23.06	1.40	2208-05-1
29.	Bisphenol, bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyl) ether	$C_{27}H_{44}O_2Si_2$	456.81	44.50	0.18	NA
30.	Butyl 9-tetradecenoate	$C_{18}H_{34}O_2$	282.46	38.54	0.23	NA
31.	Cedran-diol, (8S,14)-	$C_{15}H_{26}O_2$	238.36	47.95	0.32	62600-05-9
32.	Corymbolone	$C_{15}H_{24}O_2$	236.35	38.91	0.71	97094-19-4
33.	Ç-Sitosterol	C ₂₉ H ₅₀ O	414.70	39.70	0.63	83-47-6
34.	Cyclohexanepropanol, 2,2-dimethyl-6-methylene-	$C_{12}H_{22}O$	182.30	29.20	0.18	95452-04-3
35.	Cyclooctane, (methoxymethoxy)-	$C_{10}H_{20}O_2$	172.26	33.31	0.27	42604-11-5
36.	Di-n-decylsulfone	$C_{20}H_{42}O_2S$	346.61	40.93	0.19	111530-37-1
37.	E-11-Hexadecenoic acid, ethyl ester	$C_{18}H_{34}O_2$	282.46	26.85	0.13	NA
38.	Eicosanoic acid, phenylmethyl ester	C ₂₇ H ₄₆ O ₂	402.65	35.71	0.58	77509-04-7
39.	Hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester	$C_{18}H_{36}O_2$	284.48	23.75	1.78	628-97-7
40.	Hexadecanoic acid, octadecyl ester	C34H68O2	508.90	48.36	2.11	2598-99-4
41.	Lupeol	C ₃₀ H ₅₀ O	426.72	45.51	0.50	545-47-1
42.	n-Hexadecanoic acid	$C_{16}H_{32}O_2$	256.42	23.30	6.52	57-10-3
43.	Octadecanoic acid, octadecyl ester	C ₃₆ H ₇₂ O ₂	536.95	54.64	0.79	2778-96-3
44.	Phthalic acid, cyclobutyltridecyl ester	C25H38O4	402.57	21.47	0.33	NA
45.	Pyrimidine, 2-(4'-butyl[1,1'-biphenyl]-4-yl)5-ethyl-	$C_{22}H_{24}N_2$	316.44	41.38	2.46	130827-90-6
46.	Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	C10H28O4Si3	296.58	44.71	0.26	3555-45-1
47.	Stigmastan-3,5-diene	C29H48	396.69	39.27	0.81	NA
48.	Sulfurous acid, 2-propyl tridecyl ester	C ₁₆ H ₃₄ O ₃ S	306.50	23.92	0.11	NA
49.	Tetracosamethyl-cyclododecasiloxane	C24H72O12Si12	889.84	27.40	0.30	18919-94-3
50.	Tetradecanoic acid, 10,13-dimethyl-, methyl ester	C ₁₇ H ₃₄ O ₂	270.45	22.63	0.33	267650-23-7
51.	Vinyl 10-undecenoate	$C_{13}H_{22}O_2$	210.31	33.54	0.70	5299-57-0

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

Sonali SINGH & al.

LIU & al. (2008) isolated compounds including heneicosanoic acid, β -sitosterol, propyl palmitate, and catechin from *G. biloba*. AHAMED & al. (2009) and ULLAH & al. (2012) also identified lactone, gluonic acid, and derythro-2-hexenoic acid from the same plant. Additionally, NATARAJAN & al. (2015) reported compounds with anti-diabetic potential from *Grewia hirsuta*, and REHMAN & al. (2022) identified tridecanoic acid, octanoic acid, eicosanoic acid, and octadecatrienoic acid from *G. tenax*. Based on these findings, it is plausible to explore similar medicinal properties in Dhaman fruit.

Significance of this study

Medicinal plants have long been employed to prevent diseases, maintain health, and treat various ailments. Plants rich in compounds such as triterpenoids, flavonoids, hentriacontane, 16-hentriacontanone, adiantone, isoadiantone, ß-sitosterol, fernene, 2-methoxy-5,40-dimethylbenzenebutanal, methyl octadecanoate acid, kaempferol, quercetin, 3,4',7trihydroxy-3',5-dimethoxyflavone, catechin, epicatechin, afzelechin, epiafzelechin, mesquitol, ophioglonin, aromadendrin, phenol, dichloromethane, phytol, coumarins, glycosides, etc., have demonstrated significant biological activities, which are gaining increasing attention [PRABHADEVI & al. 2012; ABAYOMI & al. 2014; LIU & al. 2015; AMAN & al. 2016; OAMAR & al. 2021]. The present study identified numerous phytomolecules in Dhaman fruit through GC-MS analysis. Consequently, this fruit holds potential for treating various human ailments such as dementia, exhibiting antimicrobial properties, antiandrogenic properties, antioxidant and neuroprotective activities, anti-diabetic and anti-leukemic effects, analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties, immune-stimulant and antitumor activities, and more. The local community has long revered this plant due to its important role in their daily lives. This study highlights the need for further research on specific plants to explore their unique curative properties. The implications of these findings for rural communities could contribute to their well-being and safety.

Conclusion and future perspectives

This study elucidated the presence of diverse phytomolecules in abundance in Dhaman fruit. GC-MS analysis revealed the identification of forty-eight distinct phytomolecules, including esters, hydrocarbons, fatty alcohols, and ester compounds. These bioactive molecules are well-known for their antimicrobial, antiandrogenic, antioxidant and neuroprotective, antidiabetic, anti-leukemic, analgesic, anti-inflammatory, immune-stimulant, antitumor, antialopecic, lubricant, hemolytic, $5-\alpha$ reductase inhibitory, diuretic, and antifungal properties. Hence, Dhaman fruit shows significant potential for combating various human diseases and promoting overall well-being. Moreover, the fruit could serve as a beneficial feed supplement in agro-animal sectors such as poultry farming, dairy cattle industry, and fish farming, enhancing health and productivity. Consequently, this phytochemical characterization study of Dhaman fruit lays the groundwork for future research in the development of pharmaceutical drugs and feed additives.

Acknowledgements

First author is highly grateful to vice chancellor of the university for his kind financial support during this experiment.

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF DHAMAN (GREWIA TILIIFOLIA VAHL) ...

References

- OMOTOSO A. E., OLORUNFEMI E. O. & MIKAILU S. 2014. Phytochemical analysis of *Cnidoscolus aconitifolius* (Euphorbiaceae) leaf with spectrometric techniques. *Nigerian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Applied Science Research.* **3**(1): 38-49.
- ADHIKARI B. S., BABU M. M., SAKLANI P. L. & RAWAT G. S. 2010. Medicinal plants diversity and their conservation status in wildlife Institute of India (WII) campus, Dehradun. *Ethnobotany Leaflets*. 14: 46-83.
- AHAMED B. M. K., KRISHNA V. & MALLESHAPPA K. H. 2009. In vivo wound healing activity of the methanolic extract and its isolated constituent, gulonic acid γ-lactone, obtained from Grewia tiliaefolia. Planta Medica. 75(5): 478-482. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1185315
- AHMAD Z., KHAN S. S., WANI A. A. & KHAN F. 2013. Ethnomedicinal plants used for different ailments by the tribals of district Raisen (M.P.), India. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*. 7(7): 298-303. https://doi.org/10.5897/JMPR011.1669
- AMAN U., SUBHAN F., SHAHID M., AKBAR S., AHMAD N., ALI G., FAWAD K. & SEWELL R. D. E. 2016. Passiflora incarnata attenuation of neuropathic allodynia and vulvodynia apropos GABA-ergic and opioidergic antinociceptive and behavioural mechanisms. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 16: 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-016-1048-6
- BADAMI S., GUPTA M. K., MATHEW N., MEYYANATHAN S. N., SURESH B. & BEBDELL D. J. 2002. HPTLC determination of lupeol in Grewia tiliaefolia. Journal of Planar Chromatography – Modern TLC. 15(3): 183-186. https://doi.org/10.1556/jpc.15.2002.3.4
- BADAMI S., GUPTA M. K., RAMASWAMY S., RAI S. R., NANJAIAN M., BENDELLD. J., SUBBAN R. & BHOJARAJ S. 2004. Determination of betulin in *Grewia tiliaefolia* by HPTLC. *Journal of Separation Science*. 27(1-2): 129-131. https://doi.org/10.1002/jssc.200301599
- BADAMI S., VIJAYAN P., MATHEW N., CHANDRASHEKHAR R., GODAVARTHI A., DHANARAJ S. A. & SURESH B. 2003. In vitro cytotoxic properties of Grewia tiliaefolia bark and lupeol. Indian Journal of Pharmacology. 35: 250-251.
- BHARDWAJ P., THAKUR M. S., KAPOOR S., BHARDWAJ A. K., SHARMA A., SAXENA S., CHAURASIA O. P. & KUMAR R. 2019. Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity study of methanol extract of stems and roots of *Codonopsis clematidea* from Trans-himalayan Region. *Pharmacognosy Journal*. 11(3): 536-546. https://doi.org/10.5530/pj.2019.11.86
- DIXIT A. M. & GEEVAN C. P. 2000. A quantitative analysis of plant use as a component of EIA: Case of Narmada Sagar hydroelectric project in Central India. *Current Science*. **79**(2): 202-210. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24103448
- FATOPE M. O., IBRAHIM H. & TAKEDA Y. 1993. Screening of higher plants reputed as pesticides using the brine shrimp lethality assay. International Journal of Pharmacognosy. 31(4): 250-254. https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209309082949
- GREENWELL M. & RAHMAN P. K. S. M. 2015. Medicinal plants: their use in anticancer treatment. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research. 6: 4103-4112. https://doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.6(10).4103-12
- GUPTA R., YADAV A. & GARG V. K. 2014. Influence of vermicompost application in potting media on growth and flowering of marigold crop. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*. 3: 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40093-014-0047-1
- HARIDAS R., SUMATHI P. & THOMAS B. 2017. Phytochemical investigation by using tender leaf part of Grewia tiliifolia vahl. Kongunadu Research Journal. 4(3): 68-70. https://doi.org/10.26524/krj234
- JUVEKAR A. R., SAKAT S. S., SHAH A. S. & WAKADE A. S. 2007. Anti-inflammatory activity of an aqueous extract of *Grewia tiliaefolia* leaves. *Planta Medica*. **73**: 005. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-986787
- KHADEER AHAMED M. B., KRISHNA V. & DANDIN C. J. 2010. In vitro antioxidant and in vivo prophylactic effects of two γ-lactones isolated from Grewia tiliaefolia against hepatotoxicity in carbon tetrachloride intoxicated rats. European Journal of Pharmacology. 631(1-3): 42-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.12.034
- KHATTAB H. A. H., EL-SHITANY N. A., ABDALLAH I. Z. A., YOUSEF F. M. & ALKREATHY H. M. 2015. Antihyperglycemic potential of *Grewia asiatica* fruit extract against streptozotocin-induced hyperglycemia in rats: anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*. 2015: 549743, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/549743
- KUMAR S., SINGH B. & BAJPAI V. 2022. Traditional uses, phytochemistry, quality control and biological activities of genus Grewia. Phytomedicine Plus. 2(3): 100290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phyplu.2022.100290
- LIU J. Q., WU J. M., KOU X. L. & HONG Q. 2008. Studies on chemical constituents from Grewia biloba. Journal of Chinese Medicinal Materials. 31: 1505-1507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcdf.2014.12.001
- LIU J., WILLFÖR S. & XU C. 2015. A review of bioactive plant polysaccharides: Biological activities,

functionalization, and biomedical applications. *Bioactive Carbohydrates and Dietary Fibre*. **5**(1): 31-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phyplu.2022.100290

- MALAR D. S., SHAFREEN R. B., PANDIAN S. K. & DEVI K. P. 2017. Cholinesterase inhibitory, anti-amyloidogenic and neuroprotective effect of the medicinal plant Grewia tiliaefolia – an in vitro and in silico study. *Pharmaceutical Biology*. 55(1): 381-393. https://doi.org/10.1080/13880209.2016.1241811
- MRABTI H. N., DOUDACH L., MEKKAOUI M., KHALIL Z., HARRAQUI K., FOZIA F., NACEIRI MRABTI N., EL-SHAZLY M., ALOTAIBI A., ULLAH R., FAOUZI M. E. A. & BOUYAHYA A. 2022. Profile of medicinal plants traditionally used for the treatment of skin burns. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. 2022: 3436665, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/3436665
- NATARAJAN A., SUGUMAR S., BITRAGUNTA S. & BALASUBRAMANYAN N. 2015. Molecular docking studies of (4Z, 12Z)-cyclopentadeca-4, 12-dienone from *Grewia hirsuta* with some targets related to type 2 diabetes. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. 15: 73, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-015-0588-5
- OWUOR B. O. & KISANGAU D. P. 2006. Kenyan medicinal plants used as antivenin: a comparison of plant usage. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine. 2: 7, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4269-2-7
- PATIL P., PATEL M. M. & BHAVSAR C. J. 2011. Preliminary phytochemical and hypoglycemic activity of leaves of Grewia asiatica L. Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences. 2(1): 516-520.
- PAVIAYA U. S., KUMAR P., WANJAR M., THENMOZHI S. & BALAKRISHNAN B. R. 2013. Analgesic and antiinflammatory activity of root bark of *Grewia asiatica* Linn. in rodents. *Ancient Science of Life*. 32(3): 150-155. https://doi.org/10.4103/0257-7941.122998
- POONAM K. & SINGH G. S. 2009. Ethnobotanical study of medicinal plants used by the Taungya community in Terai Arc Landscape, India. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. **123**(1): 167-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2009.02.037
- PRABHADEVI V., SAHAYA S. S., JOHNSON M., VENKATRAMANI B. & JANAKIRAMAN N. 2012. Phytochemical studies on Allamanda cathartica L. using GC-MS. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine. 2(2): S550-S554. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2221-1691(12)60272-x
- QAMAR M., AKHTAR S., ISMAIL T., WAHID M., BARNARD R. T., ESATBEYOGLU T. & ZIORA Z. M. 2021. The chemical composition and health-promoting effects of the *Grewia* species – a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. 13(12): 4565. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13124565
- REHMAN N. U., ANSARI M. N., AHMAD W. & AMIR M. 2022. The detailed pharmacodynamics of the gut relaxant effect and GC-MS analysis of the *Grewia tenax* fruit extract: *In vivo* and *ex vivo* approach. *Molecules*. 27(24): 8880. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27248880
- SHARMA K. V. & SISODIA R. 2009. Evaluation of the free radical scavenging activity and radioprotective efficacy of Grewia asiatica fruit. Journal of Radiological Protection. 29(3): 429-443. https://doi.org/10.1088/0952-4746/29/3/007
- ULLAH W., UDDIN G. & SIDDIQUI B. S. 2012. Ethnic uses, pharmacological and phytochemical profile of genus Grewia. Journal of Asian Natural Products Research. 14(2): 186-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/10286020.2011.639764
- WALIULLAH G. U., RAUF A., SIDDIQUI B. S., REHMAN T. U. & RAUF A. 2011. Chemical constituents and biological screening of *Grewia optiva* Drummond ex Burret whole plant. *American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences*. 11(4): 542-546.
- ZIA-UL-HAQ M., STANKOVIĆ M. S., RIZWAN K. & DE FEO V. 2013. Grewia asiatica L., a food plant with multiple uses. Molecules. 18(3): 2663-2682. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules18032663

How to cite this article:

SINGH S., BHARDWAJ P., SHARMA A., BHARDWAJ G., BHAGAT N. R., KUMARI P., NARYAL A. & GIRI A. 2023. Phytochemical screening of Dhaman (*Grewia tiliifolia* Vahl) fruit in sub-tropical region of India. J. Plant Develop. 30: 55-67. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.925

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STUDY OF SOME AROMATIC SPECIES OF THE GENUS *NEPETA* L.

Maricica COLŢUN^{1*}, Alina BOGDAN¹, Elvira GILLE^{2*}, Valentin GRIGORAȘ²

¹ "Alexandru Ciubotaru" National Botanical Garden (Institute), Chişinău – Republic of Moldova.

² "Stejarul" Biological Research Center, Piatra Neamt – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: coltun@mail.ru; elgille9@yahoo.com

Abstract: The paper presents a study on four species of aromatic plants: a native species from the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova (*Nepeta cataria* L.), a species to be introduced (*Nepeta racemosa* Lam.) and two non-native species (*Nepeta melissifolia* Lam., *Nepeta grandiflora* M. Bieb.); little research has been conducted on these species, but they are therapeutically valuable. The genus *Nepeta* L. is one of the largest and most important genera in the family Lamiaceae, subfamily Nepetoideae. The studies aimed at their evaluation and characterization from a bio-ecological and phytochemical aspect, in order to highlight the biomorphological peculiarities, the essential oil content and the possibility of using them in aromatherapy, perfumery, phytotherapy and gastronomy. The research highlighted the high adaptive potential and the prospects of cultivation of these species under the pedoclimatic conditions of the Republic of Moldova.

Key words: Nepeta, introduction, aromatic plants, composition, essential oil.

Introduction

The main purpose of each botanical garden is to work on introducing plants, in order to enrich the flora of a certain region with new promising species, valuable from economic point of view, with a wide but also rational use of genetic resources. The cultivation of aromatic plants in our country, after a long period of stagnation, is slowly recovering. Currently, there is an active interest in studying these plants, as they are a natural and local source of raw material. People, knowing the properties of these plants, gradually expanded their scope of application in various branches of the national economy: aromatherapy, phytotherapy, perfumery and food. The growing demands contributed to the fact that many peoples tried to identify promising plant species in their homeland, others to introduce them, which led to the creation of collections of aromatic and medicinal plants specific to each country. Such a collection has also been created in the "Alexandru Ciubotaru" National Botanical Garden (Institute), Chişinău.

Among the many genera of aromatic plants present in the collection, the genus *Nepeta* L. is of particular importance, being represented in the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova by three species: *N. parviflora* Bieb., *N. pannonica* L. and *N. cataria* L. The following species have been introduced and researched in the collection of the "Alexandru Ciubotaru" National Botanical Garden (Institute), Chişinău: *Nepeta cataria* L., *Nepeta racemosa* Lam., *Nepeta melissifolia* Lam., *Nepeta grandiflora* M. Bieb., *Nepeta kokanica* Regel, which have served as research subjects.

Materials and methods

The research was initiated in 2019 and included observations on the species of the genus *Nepeta* L., presented in the collection of aromatic plants: *Nepeta cataria* L., *Nepeta Received*: 25 April 2023 / *Revised*: 24 November 2023 / *Accepted*: 29 November 2023

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STUDY OF SOME AROMATIC SPECIES OF THE GENUS NEPETA L.

racemosa Lam., Nepeta melissifolia Lam., Nepeta grandiflora M. Bieb., Nepeta kokanica Regel. The plants were grown in plots, on a south-facing field, under ecologically balanced conditions, on a general agrotechnical background. Phenological observations were made according to the method used in botanical gardens, with slight modifications depending on the peculiarities of each species, throughout the growing season [Metodica fenologhiceschih nabliodenii v botaniceschih sadah SSSR, 1979]. The essential oil content was determined by steam distillation [Gosudarstvenaia farmacopeia SSSR, 1968]. During the growing season, observations were made on the reaction of plants to late spring frosts, resistance to low temperatures, the influence of light intensity, the insufficiency and excess of atmospheric precipitation and the resistance of plants to diseases and pests. The phytochemical compounds of the essential oil were determined at "Stejarul" Biological Research Center, Piatra Neamţ, Romania, with the help of the gas chromatograph Agilent Technologies tip 6890N coupled to the mass selective detector (MSD) 5975 inert XL MSD, by gas chromatography mass spectrometry (CG/MS).

Results and discussions

One of the species included in the research is *Nepeta cataria* L. (Figure 1, a) species introduced from the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova, herbaceous, perennial plant, which has numerous fibrous roots in the soil starting from a woody, branched rhizome. The stem is erect, vigorous, and square, with short hairs. Under the conditions of the botanical garden, it reaches 40-60 cm in height. The leaves are triangular ovate with acuminate tip. The inflorescences are spikes, with flowers located in the axils of the leaves in the upper part of the shoots. The flowers are pink, grouped in dense whorls, arranged at the base of the leaves from the top of the stem. The flowering stage occurs between July 25 and August 15. The fruits are ellipsoidal, brown, smooth nutlets. The natural range of this species includes Western Europe and Asia, up to the Himalayas. In the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova, it occurs sporadically, it grows in meadows and forest edges, thickets, ruderal and stony areas. The biologically active substance is the essential oil, which is contained in the non-lignified aerial part. The maximum content is recorded in the full flowering stage and is 0.24-0.30%, in inflorescences -0.32-0.41%. The main compounds of the essential oil are: carvacrol, thymol, citral, nepetalactone, nepetalic acid, nepetal-glucoside-ether, limonene, geraniol, caffeic acid, ursolic and rosmarinic acid, coumarins and flavonoids. The plant product possesses therapeutic properties, such as: antispasmodic, antitussive, astringent, carminative, gastrointestinal stimulant, tonic, sedative, emmenagogue, diuretic and cholagogue [ARDELEAN & MOHAN, 2008]. It is beneficial in neurological disorders, chest pains, and improvement of digestion by stimulating gastrointestinal secretions, stimulation of salivation and toothache relief. The essential oil obtained from the plant is used in the perfume and cosmetic industry, in the production of soaps [TELEUTĂ & al. 2008]. The aerial part of the plant is part of the aromatic herb mixture used in the production of vermouth. The leaves and shoots are used to flavour sauces and soups. The leaves are used to flavour tea.

Nepeta racemosa Lam. (Figure 1, b) is a perennial herbaceous plant, introduced from the Nikita Botanical Garden, Yalta, Crimea, which has, in the soil, fibrous roots starting from a woody, branched rhizome. The stem is erect, densely pubescent, vigorous, square, under the climatic conditions of our country, it reaches 30-40 cm in height. The leaves are cordate-ovate rarely oblong-ovate. The inflorescence consists of several false whorls, of which 3-4 grouped at the top and another 1-3 whorls are spaced. The corolla of the flower is blue-purple, white
Maricica COLŢUN & al.

pubescent outside, the lower lip is twice as long as the upper one, with a large central lobe and obliquely semicircular side lobes. It blooms all summer long. The fruits are ellipsoidal, smooth, brown-black nutlets that ripen at the end of June. The species occurs, under natural conditions, in the Caucasus. This species has been successfully introduced in Crimea and the Republic of Moldova. The perennial plants start the growing season at the beginning of March, they bloom in the period from June to August. The seeds ripen in the last days of September. The plants synthesize essential oil in all organs. The raw material harvested during the summer contains 0.20-0.22% essential oil and the material harvested in autumn – 0.15-0.18%. If cultivated, it grows well on calcareous, humic, structural soils. The plants are frost-tolerant. They withstand low temperatures, down to -25-30 °C. In the Republic of Moldova, if irrigated, this species gives up to three harvests. It can be propagated only vegetatively, by cuttings or by division. The essential oil contains nepetalactone, germacrene, citral, citronellol, geraniol, nerol, mucilage, saponins, etc., and it exhibited antioxidant activity and antibacterial properties against Escherichia coli microorganisms [MOLLOVA & al. 2023]. The plant product has diuretic, analgesic, anti-inflammatory, anxiolytic, sedative, hypnotic, antispasmodic, astringent, antitussive and antimicrobial effects [RABOTEAGOV & ACSENO, 2014]. The essential oil is used in the perfume and cosmetic industry, particularly to produce soaps. The leaves and tops of the plant stems harvested in the full flowering stage are used as a spice. The fresh and dried leaves are added to teas for a cooling and flavouring effect. They contain high amounts of vitamin C, therefore have calming effect, help treating colds and fever and improve appetite. In landscaping, it is used as an ornamental plant, resistant to drought, with long flowering period, which makes it possible to use this species successfully in the design of gardens, over which pollinators will gather, attracted by the honey flowers.

Nepeta melissifolia Lam. (Figure 1, c) is an herbaceous, perennial plant introduced into the Botanical Garden by seed exchange from the Bordeaux Botanical Garden, France. It has ascending stems, growing 40-60 cm tall, ovate-cordate leaves, up to 3.5 cm long, pubescent. The flowers are up to 1.5 cm long, blue with red dots, in spike inflorescences. They are native to Crete and the Aegean Islands [BHAT & al. 2018]. It grows among bushes on rocky slopes. Under the climatic conditions of our country, the plants start growing at the end of April. The budding stage occurs in the middle of June. It blooms between July and August. The growing season lasts for 135 days. The flowers are attractive to bees. The biologically active substance is the essential oil, which is contained in the non-lignified aerial part, in the full flowering stage reaching 0.20-0.30%, in inflorescences 0.25-0.35%. The basic compounds of the essential oil are: nepetalactone, nerol, geraniol, geranial, β -Caryophyllene, linalool, carvacrol, thymol, citral, nepetalic acid, nepetal-glucoside-ether, limonene, β -pinene, etc. (Table1, Figure 2).

Nepeta grandiflora M. Bieb. (Figure 1, d) is a perennial, hemicryptophyte, obtained by international seed exchange from Germany. The plant has a square, light green, slightly branched stem and fibrous root. The leaves are opposite, crenate, toothed. The flowers – violet, grouped in terminal whorls. Fruit – brown nutlet. It is researched as an aromatic and medicinal plant, which contains essential oil (0.31-0.42%). Under the conditions of our country, it reaches 50-75 cm in height. Plants go through the entire development cycle, synthesize essential oil (0.31-0.42%). In the essential oil obtained from the aerial parts of the plant, 25 chemical compounds were identified, the main ones being: germacrene D, eucalyptol, etc. (Table 1, Figure 3).

In folk medicine, it is a perfect remedy for reducing blood pressure, a good sedative for hyperactive children and it improves digestion [RABOTEAGOV & ACSENO, 2014].

Nepeta kokanica Regel. is an herbaceous, perennial species, obtained in 2021 by the International Seed Exchange from Germany. It has numerous stems, 10-35 cm tall, ascending

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STUDY OF SOME AROMATIC SPECIES OF THE GENUS NEPETA L.

or erect, strongly branched, covered with long white hairs. The leaves are light green, 1.5-2.5 cm long and 1-2.2 cm wide, ovate, with serrated edges. The flowers are grouped in false whorls, forming an ovoid inflorescence of bright blue colour. The fruit is an elongated, brown nut. It blooms in July-August. It is able to complete the entire cycle of vegetation. It is currently under research.



Figure 1. Plant species of the genus *Nepeta* L. a – *Nepeta cataria* L.; b – *Nepeta racemosa* Lam.; c – *Nepeta grandiflora* M. Bieb.; d – *Nepeta melissifolia* Lam.

Maricica COLȚUN & al.

TR	Kovats	und IV. grundytoru IVI. Die	Area %			
(min)	Index	Compounds	N. melissifolia	N. grandiflora		
5.65	922	α-Thujene	0.1	0.1		
5.85	930	α-Pinene	0.2	1.5		
6.91	974	Sabinene	0.2	3.7		
7.03	978	β-Pinene	0.9	5.6		
7.19	985	3-Octanone	0.2	0.4		
7.39	992	β-Myrcene	0.1	1.1		
8.50	1026	p-Cymene	0.4	0.1		
8.66	1030	Limonene	-	1.9		
8.74	1033	Eucalyptol	0.2	27.1		
8.93	1038	<i>trans</i> -β-Ocimene	0.2	2.2		
9.31	1048	<i>cis</i> -β-Ocimene	0.5	2.3		
11.21	1101	Linalool	2.0	0.3		
14.35	1181	4-Terpineol	0.4	0.5		
14.90	1194	α-Terpineol	0.2	0.2		
15.57	1210	3-Terpinen-1-ol / p-Menth-3-en-1-ol	0.1	-		
15.89	1217	Dihydro myrcenol acetate	0.2	-		
16.47	1231	Nerol	8.5	-		
16.98	1242	Neral	1.6	-		
17.58	1256	Geraniol	5.7	-		
18.23	1271	Geranial	2.0	-		
19.17	1292	Thymol	0.1	-		
19.57	1301	Carvacrol	0.8	-		
21.99	1359	(4aS,7S,7aS)-trans,cis-	22.9	-		
22.78	1378	α-Copaene	-	0.2		
23.15	1388	β-Bourbonene	-	0.7		
23.20	1388	(4aS,7S,7aR)-cis,trans-	47.6	-		
23.39	1393	(4aR,7S,7aS)-cis,cis-Nepetalactone	2.1	-		
23.44	1394	β-Elemene	-	1.0		
24.56	1422	β-Caryophyllene	1.3	12.3		
25.92	1455	α-Humulene	0.1	0.7		
27.02	1482	Germacrene D	0.1	28.0		
27.65	1498	Bicyclogermacrene	-	1.3		
28.11	1510	α-Farnesene	-	0.4		
28.70	1525	δ-Cadinene	-	0.3		
30.95	1584	Spathulenol	0.9	4.1		
33.61	1655	τ-Cadinol	-	0.5		
		Other compounds	0.5	3.5		

 Table 1. The chemical composition of the essential oil of the species Nepeta melissifolia Lam.

 and N. grandiflora M. Bieb.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STUDY OF SOME AROMATIC SPECIES OF THE GENUS NEPETA L.







Figure 3. GC-MS chromatogram of Nepeta grandiflora M. Bieb.

Conclusions

The pedoclimatic conditions of Moldova are favourable for the growth and development of plants of the genus *Nepeta* L. They fully complete the ontogenetic cycle. The essential oil content varies among the plant species. The highest content was found in the species *Nepeta grandiflora* M. Bieb. (0.31-0.42%), followed by *Nepeta cataria* L. (0.29-0.40%). The species *Nepeta grandiflora* M. Bieb. is the tallest (50-75 cm), followed by *Nepeta melissifolia* Lam. (40-60 cm). The introduced species fully complete the ontogenetic cycle. The plants bloom and bear fruit starting from the 2nd year of vegetation. They synthesize essential oil.

The conducted research on the chemical composition of essential oil produced by the introduced species, under the conditions of the Republic of Moldova, indicates that in *Nepeta melissifolia* Lam. the main compound is (4aS,7S,7aR)-*cis, trans*-Nepetalactone (47.8%), followed by (4aS,7S,7aS)-*trans, cis*-Nepetalactone (22.9%), nerol (8.5%), geraniol (5.7%), geranial (2.0%). The presence of nepetalactones is frequent in the essential oils produced by species of the genus *Nepeta*. According to the obtained data, the composition of the essential oil from the species *N. grandiflora* M. Bieb. differs in the predominant presence of the compound Germacrene D (28%), followed by β-Caryophyllene (12.3%), β-Pinene (5.6%), Spathulenol (4.1), Sabinene (3.7%) etc.

The species of the genus *Nepeta* L. introduced and researched in the National Botanical Garden (Institute) can serve as sources of local raw material for the production and diversification of the range of natural cosmetic and pharmaceutical products of plant origin. All species are excellent honey plants.

Acknowledgements

The research was supported by the NARD through the project "Research and conservation of vascular flora and macromycobiota of the Republic of Moldova", 20.80009.7007.22.

References

ARDELEAN A. & MOHAN G. 2008. Flora medicinală a României. București: ALL, 400 pp.

- BHAT A. H., ALIA A. KUMAR B. & MUBASHIR S. 2018. Phytochemical constituents of genus Nepeta. Research & Reviews: Journal of Chemistry. 7(2): 31-37.
- BOURREL C., PERINEAU F., MICHEL G. & BESSIERE J. M. 2011. Catnip (Nepeta cataria L.) essential oil: analysis of chemical constituents, bacteriostatic and fungistatic properties. Journal of Essential Oil Research. 5(2): 159-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.1993.9698195
- MOLLOVA S., DZHURMANSKI A., FIDAN H., BOJILOV D., MANOLOV S., DINCHEVA I., STANKOV S., STOYANOVA A., ERCISLI S., ASSOUGUEM A., MARC R. A., ULLAH R. & BARI A. 2023. Chemical composition of essential oils from *Nepeta transcaucasica* Grossh. and *Nepeta cataria* L. cultivated in Bulgaria and their antimicrobial and antioxidant activity. ACS Omega. 8(17): 15441-15449. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.3c00704
- RABOTEAGOV V. & ACSENO D. I. 2014. V. Componentnâi sostav ăfirnovo masla vidov roda Nepeta L. Farmația i farmacologhia. 6(7): 201. s.25-28.
- TELEUȚĂ A., COLȚUN M., MIHĂILESCU C. & CIOCÎRLAN N. 2008. Plante medicinale. "Litera" Publishing Press, Chișinău, 335 pp.

*** GOSUDARSTVENAIA FARMACOPEIA SSSR. 1968. Moscva. 993 c.

*** METODICA FENOLOGHICESCHIH NABLIODENII V BOTANICESCHIH SADAH SSSR. 1979. Bulletin GBC, M. "Nauca". Vîp. 113, s. 3-8.

How to cite this article:

COLȚUN M., BOGDAN A., GILLE E. & GRIGORAȘ V. 2023. Contributions to the study of some aromatic species of the genus *Nepeta* L. J. Plant Develop. **30**: 69-75. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.921

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF *ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA* LEAF, STEM AND ROOT EXTRACTS

Bushra Sumayya MOHAMMED, Poornesh SUTRAMAY, Samreen AHMADI, Salma FATHIMA, Srinitha ASKANI, Pruthvi Charan JAMBIGA, Ramya THUMMA, Sunitha Bai DHARAVATH, <u>Shasthree TADURI</u>^{*}

> Department of Biotechnology, Kakatiya University, Warangal – India. *Corresponding author. E-mail: tadurishasthree@kakatiya.ac.in

Abstract: *Erythrina variegata* is a potent medicinal plant belonging to the family Fabaceae. Present investigation was carried out the preliminary phytochemical screening of the *Erythrina variegata* to evaluate the presence of alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, phenols, tannins, steroids/triterpenoids, quinones, saponins by using different parts of the plant extracts such as leaf, stem and root in five different solvent systems (methanol, butanol, chloroform, ethanol, and distilled water) by cold maceration technique. According to our evaluation the high intensity of secondary metabolites like alkaloids and glycosides were strongly observed in leaf butanol extract and complete absence of saponins except in aqueous solvent was seen. In stem extracts butanol and chloroform were more efficient solvents for alkaloids, glycosides, tannins and moderate for phenols and steroids. The results of root extract revealed the strong presence of alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides inbutanol extract. Due to its efficiency in butanolic extract *Erythrina variegata* was used to test anti-bacterial activity. Which showed the highest zone of inhibition against *Bacillus subtilis* in leaf and root extract whereas in stem butanolic extract highest zone of inhibition was against *Proteus vulgaris*.

Keywords: anti-bacterial activity, Bacillus subtilis, Erythrina variegata, plant extracts, Proteus vulgaris.

Introduction

Medicinal plants have the ability to cure many diseases which can be used as a resource formany drugs [PAVANI & SHASTHREE, 2022]. The presence of different phytochemicals in the plant determines the medicinal value of the plant [SANTHIYA & al. 2016]. Most of the developed countries use the compounds obtained from medicinal plants for the production oftraditional medicines [YADAV & AGARWALA, 2011]. However, these plants should be studied to betterunderstand their properties, and the safety upon their usage. The phytoconstituents identifiedfrom the plant material helps to predict the possible pharmacological activity of that plant [SHAIKH & PATIL, 2020]. Therefore, understanding the phytochemical profile of *Erythrina variegata* can provide valuable insights into its the rapeuticpotentialandleadto the development of novel natural remedies or pharmaceutical agents.

Phytochemical screening is a crucial process in the field of plant science and pharmacology. It involves the systematic analysis and identification of various biologically active compounds present in plants. These compounds, known as phytochemicals, are natural chemicals that contribute to the plant's characteristics and play essential roles in their growth, development, and defense mechanisms [DOUGHARI, 2012].

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA ...

Phytochemicals are of great interest to scientists and researchers because of their potential health benefits and medicinal properties. Many of these compounds have been found to possess antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, and anticancer properties, among others, making them valuable for drug development and alternative medicine [RALTE & al. 2022].

The alkaloids extracted from the leaves of *E. variegata* are reported to have analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity whereas iso-flavonoids isolated have antibacterial activity [KUMAR & al. 2010], cytotoxic [NKENGFACK & al. 2001], anthelmintic [JESUPILLAI & PALANIVELU, 2009], antiulcer and diuretic properties [SACHIN & ARCHANA, 2009].

E. variegata holds immense potential as a natural source of antimicrobial agents. Its long-standing use in traditional medicine and recent scientificevidence of its efficacy against various pathogens highlight the importance of further exploration. The therapeutic properties of this plant may offer a sustainable and effective solution to combat infectious diseases and address the growing concern of antimicrobial resistance. The various parts of *E. variegata*, such as leaves, bark, flowers, and seeds, are used totreat a range of ailments, including microbial infections. The plant's therapeutic potential is attributed to its diverse phytochemical composition, which includes alkaloids, flavonoids, tannins, saponins, and other secondary metabolites [SANTHIYA & al. 2016].

Studies investigating the antimicrobial properties of *E. variegata* have shown promising results against a wide spectrum of pathogens. some studies suggest that *E. variegata* bioactive compounds may interfere with crucial enzymatic processes within microbial cells, further compromising their viability [BASKAR & al. 2010].

As a result, this study is being conducted to give phytochemical analysis, employing various solvents and *Erythrina variegata* anti-bacterial characteristics.

Material and methods

Collection of plant material

E. variegata plant was collected from the department of biotechnology, Kakatiya University, Warangal where the plants were grown and maintained in proper condition. The collected plant materials were washed thoroughly under running tap to remove dirt. After that the parts were separated and shade dried for 10 days and were made in to powder form for further use (Figure 1).

Preparation of extract

The 3 grams of each plant part powder was taken along with 30 ml of each solvent in separate conical flask the solvents used here were aqueous, butanol ethanol, chloroform and methanol and were incubated in orbital shaker for about 48 and later the extracts were filtered using Whatman filter paper. The final extracts were kept in a rotating shaker for 48 hours at 28 °C. After 48 hours, the extract was filtered subsequently subjected for preliminary screening by using standard methods protocol.

Bushra Sumayya MOHAMMED & al.



Figure 1. Parts of *Erythrina variegata*. (a) – Leaves; (b) – Leaves powder; (c) – Leaves extract; (d) – Stem; (e) – Stem powder; (f) – Stem extract; (g) – Root; (h) – Root powder; (i) – Root extract.

Preliminary screening (qualitative) of phytochemicals in plant *Erythrina variegata* is determined by using the following tests (Table 1-6)

Test	Procedure	Observation
Mayers test	Few drops of filtered plant extract and 1 to 2 drops of Mayer's reagent (along the sides of test tube)	A creamy white/yellow ppt
Hager's test	0.5 ml filtered plant extracts and mixed with 1-2 drops of Hagers reagent	A creamy white ppt
Tannic test	0.5 ml filtered plant extracts and mixed with 10% tannic acid solution	Formation of buff color ppt

Table 1. Tests for alkaloids

	Table 2. Tests for flavonoids	
Test	Procedure	Observation
Alkaline reagent test	1 ml filtered plant extracts and mixed with 2 ml of 2% NaOH solution (and add few drops dil. HCl)	An intense yellow color, becomes color less on addition of diluted acid
Ferric chloride	Extract aqueous solution mixed with few drops 10% Ferric chloride solution	A green precipitate was appeared
	Table 3. Tests for glycosides	
Test	Procedure	Observation
Molisch test	2 ml filtered plant extracts and mixed with 2 drops of alcoholic α–naphthol and 1 ml conc. H2SO4 (along the sides of test tube)	A violet ring was formed in the middle of the two layers of the liquids
Conc. H2SO4 test	5 ml filtered plant extracts mixed with 2 ml glacial acetic acid and few drop of 5% FeCl3 + conc. H2SO4	A browning or red ppt was formed
	Table 4. Tests for saponins	
Test	Procedure	Observation
Foam test	0.5 gm plant extract mixed with 2ml distilled water and vigorously shaken for 10 to15 mints	Persistent foam layer was formed
	Table 5. Tests for phenols	
Test	Procedure	Observation
FeCl3 test	Plant extract mixed with few drops 5% ferric chloride sol.	Dark green/bluish black color
Ellagic acid test	Plant extract was mixed with few 5% glacial acetic acid and 5% sodium nitrite Solution	Solution turns muddy/Niger brown precipitate
	Table 6. Tests for tannins	
Test	Procedure	Observation
Alkali reagent test	1 ml plant extract was added to 2 ml of 2% NaOH solution (and add few drops dil. HCl)	An intense yellow color, becomes color less on addition of diluted acid
Fecl3test	1 ml of plant extract mixed with few drops 5% ferric chloride sol.	Dark green/bluish black color
Gelatin test	1.0 ml Plant extract is dissolved in 5 ml distilled water and add 1% gelatin Solution and 10% NaCl	A white precipitate

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA ...

Anti-bacterial activity

Using the well diffusion method, the plant extracts anti-microbial activity was evaluated in aseptic condition. the process in the well diffusion method, includes a volume of the microbial inoculum which is distributed over the entire agar surface. Next, a volume (20-80 μ l) of the extract solution is put into the well by aseptically making a hole with a diameter of 6 to 8 mm using a sterilecork borer or tip. The test microorganism is then placed on an appropriate agar plate, and the incubation process is continued. The antibiotic ingredient spreads across the

agar media and stops the tested microbial strain from growing. All the plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. After incubation, the size (diameter) of the inhibition zones was measured.

Results and discussions

Phytochemical screening Leaf extract

The phytoconstituents like alkaloids and glycosides in leaf extract of E. variegata were found to be in more concentration in butanol followed by chloroform extract and whereas the other phytoconstituents like flavonoids and phenols were found to be more in butanolic extract (Figure 1 and Table 7). Similarly phytochemical analysis of the ethanolic leaf extract of E. senegalensis showed the presence of alkaloids, saponins and flavonoids in moderate quantities [NNAMA & al. 2017].

	Table 7.1 liyu	Schennear con	stituents of I	Sryinrina variegi	iiu	
Part of plant	Components	Methanol extract	Butanol extract	Chloroform extract	Ethanol extract	Aqueous extract
	Alkaloids	+	++	+	+	-
	Flavonoids	+	++	++	+	-
	Glycosides	+	++	+	+	+
	Phenols	+	++	+	+	+
LEAF	Tannins	+	+	+	+	+
	Steroids/triterpenoids	_	+	_	+	+
	Quinones	-	_	_	_	+
	Saponins	-	—	_	_	+
	Alkaloids	+	++	+	+	++
	Flavonoids	+	+	+	+	+
	Glycosides	+	++	++	+	+
STEM	Phenols	+	+	+	_	+
	Tannins	+	+	+	++	+
	Steroids/triterpenoids	+	+	+	+	_
	Quinones	-	_	+	_	_
	Saponins	-	—	_	_	++
	Alkaloids	+	++	++	+	+
	Flavonoids	++	++	+	++	-
	Glycosides	+	++	+	+	+
DOOT	Phenols	_	+	_	-	+
KUUI	Tannins	+	+	+	++	++
	Steroids/triterpenoids	+	-	+	+	+
	Quinones	++	+	++	++	_
	Saponins	-	-	-	-	+

Table 7 Division provide a provide a section of Employing variage to

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA ...

Stem extract

The phytoconstituents such as alkaloids were more in concentration in butanol and aqueous extract whereas glycosides were found to be more in butanol extract along with them tannins were found more abundant in chloroform and ethanol extract. Similarly, results were observed in *Zingiber officinale* by AHMED & al. (2022).

Root extract

The phytoconstituents like alkaloids and glycosides were found to be more abundant inbutanol extract whereas flavonoids were in more concentration in methanol and butanol extracts. Similar, results were reported in *Mutuntingia calabura* leaf methanolic extract shown maximum zone of inhibition against *Escherichia coli* [SUVARCHALA & al. 2022]. Among all the extracts used saponins were found only in aqueous extract of all three plant parts like leaf, stem, root.

Anti-bacterial activity for leaf butanolic extract

The anti-bacterial activity of leaf, stem and root butanolic extracts ($20 \mu g/ml$, $40 \mu g/ml$, $60 \mu g/ml$, $80 \mu g/ml$) and the control streptomycin ($10 \mu g/ml$) was evaluated. The butanolic leaf extract shown a maximum zone of inhibition at $80 \mu g/ml$ when compared to other concentrations. As the concentration of plant extract increased, the inhibition zone was also found to increase. The maximum antibacterial activity was shown towards *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli* at $80 \mu g/ml$ concentration, followed by *P. vulgaris* and least zone of inhibition was shown by *B. Sphaericus* (Figure 2, 3). Similar work were reported in *M. cymbalaria* methanolic extract showed a high inhibition zone against *E. coli* [CHAITANYA & al. 2021] and the antibacterialactivity of *Moringa oleifera* ethanolic leaf extracts shown towards *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* [JAHAN & al. 2022].

Anti-bacterial activity for stem butanolic extract

The stem butanolic extract revealed considerable anti-microbial activity with large extent of inhibitory zones *against P. vulgaris*, followed by *E. coli* in contrast to the other bacterial strains tested (Figure 4, 5). However, it was shown that *B. sphaericus* have minimal anti-bacterial activity. The similar findings were reported in stem methanolic extract of *Sesbania grandiflora* [ANANTAWORASAKUL & al. 2011].

Anti-bacterial activity for root butanolic extract

The antibacterial properties of the various concentrations of root extract (20 μ g/ml, 40 μ g/ml, 60 μ g/ml, and 80 μ g/ml) were evaluated in comparison to the control (10 μ g/ml). Compared to the other concentrations, the 80 g/ml concentration displayed the largest zone of inhibition (Figure 6, 7). The root butanolic extract effectively inhibited *B. subtilis* in a zone. *E. coli*, *P. vulgaris* and *B. sphaericus*, however, demonstrated the least antibacterial action. Similar findings were reported in root extract of *Diploknema butyracea* [CHHETRY & al. 2022].

Bushra Sumayya MOHAMMED & al.



Figure 2. Anti-bacterial activity of butanolic leaf extracts of *E. variegata* against different bacterial strain
a. Zone of inhibition against *P. vulgaris*;
b. Zone of inhibition against *E. coli*;
c. Zone of inhibition against *B. subtilis*;
d. Zone of inhibition against *B. sphaericus*



Figure 3. Zone of inhibition for butanolic leaf extract of Erythrina variegata

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA ...



Figure 4. Anti-bacterial activity of butanolic stem extracts of *E. variegata* against different bacterial strain: a. Zone of inhibition against *P. vulgaris*; b. Zone of inhibition against *E. coli*; c. Zone of inhibition against *B. subtilis*; d. Zone of inhibition against *B. sphaericus*



Figure 5. Zone of inhibition for butanolic stem extract of Erythrina variegata

Bushra Sumayya MOHAMMED & al.



Figure 6. Anti-bacterial activity of butanolic root extracts of *E. variegata* against different bacterial strain. a. Zone of inhibition against *P. vulgaris*; b. Zone of inhibition against *E. coli*; c. Zone of inhibition against *B. subtilis*; d. Zone of inhibition against *B. sphaericus*



Proteus vulgarius
 Escherichia coli
 Bacillus sphaericus
 Bacillus subtilis
 Figure 7. Zone of inhibition for butanolic root extract of *Erythrina variegata*

PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTI-BACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF *ERYTHRINA VARIEGATA* ... Conclusions

This study is concluded that the phytochemical screening of *E. variegata* showed positive results for the presence of phytochemicals like alkaloids, flavonoids glycosides, steroids and quinones in butanolic extracts of leaf stem and root. Anti-bacterial activity of butanolic extracts was carried out which showed a maximum zone of inhibition at 80 μ g/ml compared to other concentrations. As the concentration of the plant extract increased, the inhibition zone was also found to increase, which concludes the anti-bacterial activity of *E. variegata* and secondary metabolites obtained from it have medicinal properties. It is useful for the production of medicine to treat various diseases.

Acknowledgements

The authors duly acknowledge the Department of Biotechnology, Kakatiya University, and Warangal for providing all the facilities for carrying out the research.

References

- AHMED N., KAROBARI M. I., YOUSAF A., MOHAMED R. N., ARSHAD S., BASHEER S. N., PEERAN S. W., NOORANI T. Y., ASSIRY A. A., ALHARBI A. S. & YEAN C. Y. 2022. The antimicrobial efficacy against selective oral microbes, antioxidant activity and preliminary phytochemical screening of *Zingiber officinale*. *Infection and Drug Resistance*. 15: 2773-2785. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S364175
- ANANTAWORASAKUL P., KLAYRAUNG S. & OKONOGI S. 2011. Antibacterial activities of *Sesbania grandiflora* extracts. *Drug discoveries & Therapeutics*. 5(1): 12-17. https://doi.org/10.5582/ddt.v5.1.12
- BASKAR N., PARIMALA DEVI B. & MOHAN KUMAR R. 2010. Anti-cancer activity of methanol extract of root bark of *Erythrina variegata* Linn. *International Journal of Toxicological and Pharmacological Research*. 2(2): 74-76.
- CH P. & SHASTHREE T. 2022. Qualitative screening and quantitative determination of secondary metabolites from different plant extracts of *Solanum khasianum* Clarke. *Research Journal of Chemistry and Environment*. 26(12): 113-123.
- CHAITANYA G., PAVANI C., SUVARCHALA V., SUNITHA BAI D., SPOORTHI, RAMAKRISHNA D. & SHASTHREE T. 2021. In vitro antimicrobial activity of leaf, stem fruit and root crude extracts of *Momordica cymbalaria* Fenzl: a medicinally important cucurbit. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. **10**(4): 146-152.
- CHHETRY A. K., DHAKAL S., CHAUDHARY L., KARKI K., KHADKA R. B., CHAUDHARY G. P., BASTOLA T., POUDEL A., ARYAL P. & PANDEY J. 2022. Study of antibacterial activity of root bark, leaves, and pericarp extracts of *Diploknema butyracea* and evaluation of prospective antioxidant activity. *Journal of Tropical Medicine*. 2022: ID6814901, 12 pp. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/6814901
- DOUGHARI J. H. 2012. Phytochemicals: extraction methods, basic structures and mode of action as potential chemotherapeutic agents. 32 pp. In: RAO V. (ed.). 2012. Phytochemicals – a global perspective of their role in nutrition and health. Rijeka, Croatia: INTECH Open Access Publisher, 538 pp. https://doi.org/10.5772/26052
- JAHAN S., SHAHJAHAN M., RASNA S. S., AKTAR M., SULTANA S., AHMED S. M., SABRIN F. & NAHAR S. 2022. Antibacterial effect of Moringa (Moringa oleifera) leaf ethanolic extract against Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli. Mymensingh Medical Journal. 31(4): 976-982.
- JESUPILLAI M. & PALANIVELU M. 2009. Anthelmintic activity of leaves of *Erythrina indica* Lam. *The Internet* Journal of Alternative Medicine. **7**(1): 1-3.
- KUMAR A., LINGADURAI S., JAIN A. & BARMAN N. R. 2010. Erythrina variegata Linn: A review on morphology, phytochemistry, and pharmacological aspects. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*. 4(8): 147-152. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-7847.70908
- NKENGFACK A. E., AZEBAZE A. G., WAFFO A. K., FOMUM Z. T., MEYER M. & VAN HEERDEN F. R. 2001. Cytotoxic isoflavones from *Erythrina indica*. *Phytochemistry*. **58**(7): 1113-1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9422(01)00368-5
- NNAMA T. N., ASOMUGHA A. L., ASOMUGHA R. N., UMEASALUGO K. E. & MGBEMENA I. O. 2017. Phytochemical analysis and acute toxicological study of *Erythrina senegalensis* ethanolic leaf extract in

Bushra Sumayya MOHAMMED & al.

albino Wistar rats. Anatomy & Physiology: Current Research. 7(1): 248. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0940.1000248

- RALTE L., KHIANGTE L., THANGJAM N. M., KUMAR A. & SINGH Y. T. 2022. GC–MS and molecular docking analyses of phytochemicals from the underutilized plant, *Parkia timoriana* revealed candidate anti-cancerous and anti-inflammatory agents. *Scientific Reports.* 12: 3395. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-07320-2
- SACHIN S. S. & ARCHANA J. 2009. Antiulcer activity of methanol extract of *Erythrina indica* Lam. leaves in experimental animals. *Pharmacognosy Research*. 1(6): 396-401.
- SANTHIYA N., PRIYANGA S., HEMMALAKSHMI S. & DEVAKI K. 2016. Phytochemical analysis, antiinflammatory activity, in vitro antidiabetic activity and GC-MS profile of *Erythrina variegata* L. bark. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*. 6(7): 147-155. https://doi.org/10.7324/JAPS.2016.60722
- SHAIKH J. R. & PATIL M. 2020. Qualitative tests for preliminary phytochemical screening: An overview. International Journal of Chemical Studies. 8(2): 603-608. https://doi.org/10.22271/chemi.2020.v8.i2i.8834
- VANKUDOTH S., DHARAVATH S., VEERA S., MADURU N., CHADA R., CHIRUMAMILLA P., GOPU C. & TADURI S. 2022. Green synthesis, characterization, photoluminescence and biological studies of silver nanoparticles from the leaf extract of *Muntingia calabura*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 630: 143-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2022.09.054
- YADAV R. N. S. & AGARWALA M. 2011. Phytochemical analysis of some medicinal plants. *Journal of Phytology*. 3(12): 10-14.

How to cite this article:

MOHAMMED B. S., SUTRAMAY P., AHMADIS., FATHIMA S., ASKANI S., JAMBIGA P. C., THUMMA R., DHARAVATH S. B. & TADURI S. 2023. Phytochemical screening and anti-bacterial activity of *Erythrina* variegata leaf, stem and root extracts. J. Plant Develop. **30**: 77-87. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.927

SUSTAINABLE OKRA (*ABELMOSCHUS ESCULENTUS* L.) PRODUCTIVITY AS INFLUENCED BY FORTIFICATION OF GOAT MANURE WITH RICE HUSK ASH IN NORTHERN GUINEA SAVANNA ECOLOGY OF NIGERIA

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU^{1*}, Moses Samuel BASSEY²

¹ Department of Agronomy, Bayero University Kano, PMB 3011, Kano State – Nigeria.
 ² National Cereals Research Institute, Badegi, P.M.B. 8, Niger State – Nigeria.
 * Corresponding author. Email: seabraham.agr@buk.edu.ng. ORCID: 0000-0003-0639-009X

Abstract: To assess the agronomic effects of sustainable okra production as impacted by goat manure (GM) and rice husk ash (RHA) on a community-based demonstration farm in Gombe State, field trials were carried out during the wet seasons of 2017 and 2018. The trails consisted of four levels of GM and RHA, each measuring 0.0, 5.0, 7.5, and 10.0 t ha-1 which were used on Kwadon's local cultivar of okra in a Randomized complete block design (RCBD) replicated four times. Findings revealed that days to 50% emergence and establishment count were not significantly (P>0.05) influenced by the application of GM and RHA, regardless of rates of application. Other growth-related indices were significantly (P<0.05) higher due to GM, such as plant height at 4, 5, and 6 WAS, number of leaves plant⁻¹ at 4 WAS, and pod diameter. On the other hand, RHA significantly (P<0.05) increased plant height, the number of leaves plant⁻¹ at 5 and 6 WAS, leaf area, shortened days to 50% flowering, and the number of pods plant⁻¹ across the sampling periods and seasons. Similar to this, due to adequate mineralization of organic material through time and space, fresh okra's marketable weight increased in the 2018 season compared to the previous year. Thus, the application of 10.0 t ha-1 of both GM and RHA can be adopted in the production of okra in the study area to reduce greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the use of inorganic agrochemical inputs.

Key words: fortification, goat manure, growth, okra, rice husk ash, yield characters.

Introduction

In an effort to combat hunger and meet the demand for food from the world's everincreasing human population, as part of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), farming system depends on the use of synthetic fertilizers, pesticides, and growth regulators for enhancing crop productivity [SEARCHINGER & al. 2019]. Despite the increase in yield brought about by using these methods, the rate of pest incidence and resistance, as well as the degradation of the ecosystem arising from global warming, is still at an alarming rate. The need to find more sustainable methods of producing food becomes essential in light of the SDGs' aim to guarantee food security in a holistic manner without lowering the quality of the ecosystem and causing a loss of biodiversity [FOLEY & al. 2011; PAUSTIAN & al. 2016; SHAKOOR & al. 2020 a, b]. Instead of using chemical pesticides, regenerative agriculture, which is a subset of sustainable agriculture, promotes the use of strategies like crop and animal rotation, composting, no-till farming, agroecology, and agroforestry. Regenerative agriculture increases the amount of fertile topsoil that is accessible for farming, leading to a more wholesome and long-lasting food system [REGENERATIVE ORGANIC ALLIANCE, 2020]. RHODES (2017)

SUSTAINABLE OKRA (ABELMOSCHUS ESCULENTUS L.) PRODUCTIVITY AS INFLUENCED BY ...

asserts that implementing regenerative agriculture towards integrating crop and livestock residue for food production could lessen environmental degradation and improve household sustainability. By incorporating organic and inorganic nutrients into the soil, enhancing the fertility of the soil, increasing the organic matter content, and increasing the soil's ability to hold water, soil amendments are used in agriculture to support plant growth and development.

According to extensive research, adding organic manure to the soil can increase crop productivity for a variety of crops, including okra [ADEKIYA & al. 2018; OKEE, 2020]. eggplant [MOURSY & al. 2021], pepper [ANTONIOUS, 2014; ROSA-MARTÍNEZ & al. 2021], kale and collard greens [ANTONIOUS & al. 2014], cabbage and broccoli [ANTONIOUS & al. 2012] among other crops. Okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L.), also known as lady's finger is a valuable multifunctional crop in Nigeria and around the world valued for its tasty green seed pods, immature fresh leaves, and dried fruits [PATIL & al. 2015; SANDHAM & al. 2019]. It also contains high amount of dietary fiber, antioxidants, folate, and vitamins A, B, and C, as well as minerals including sodium, calcium, potassium, zinc, and iron [DHRUVE & al. 2015]. Because of its home and industrial utility, its production demand continues to outstrip supply [AWOLU & al. 2014; DONG & al. 2014]. Given that it is typically eaten as a succulent vegetable, it becomes essential to enhance its output utilizing a regenerative strategy. Compared to other animal manures, there is less information available on the cultivation of solanaceous crops utilizing goat manure. There has also been little research done on using rice husk ash to increase food output. In light of this, the current study was carried out with the aim of evaluating the impact of goat manure and rice husk ash on the productivity of okra.

Materials and methods

Experimental site

Field trials were conducted during 2017 and 2018 cropping seasons at a Community-Based Demonstration farm (11°03'0.0" E, 10°18'59" N) within Gombe using different levels of Goat manure and Rice husk ash.

Treatments and experimental design

The experimental treatment comprised of four levels of Goat manure (0.0, 5.0, 7.5 and 10.0 t ha⁻¹) and four levels of Rice husk ash (0.0, 5.0, 7.5 and 10.0 t ha⁻¹) which were factorially combined and applied to okra and replicated four times in a Randomized complete block design.

Land preparation and sowing

The land was ploughed and ridged before plots were marked out of size 4 m x 3 m. Four seeds of okra (*var*. Kwadon local, a predominant cultivar of okra cultivated by farmers in the experimental area) were sowed on intra row spacing of 30 cm on each ridge. The organic materials (Crop livestock) used were thoroughly incorporated into the soil based on treatment combination after marking the individual plots a week before sowing. Weeding was carried out twice manually using hoe on an interval of three weeks.

Data collection and Data analysis

Five plants per treatment were randomly selected and tagged from which growth and yield related characters were assessed. The data collected on growth and yield characters were subjected to analysis of variance and differences between means were determined by Duncan Multiple Range Test (DMRT) in General Linear Model (GLM) of SPSS.

Results and discussion

In the farming seasons of 2017 and 2018, levels of goat manure (GM) and rice husk ash (RHA) had no significant (P>0.05) impact on the number of days to 50% emergence and crop establishment count (Table 1). Similarly, treatment interaction was also not significant in both seasons.

establishment count of okra at Gombe during 2017 and 2018 wet cropping season									
Treatmont	Days to 50	% emergence	Establishment count 3 WAS						
	2017	2018	2017	2018					
Goat manure (t ha ⁻¹)									
0.00	4.31	4.06	79.90	71.09					
5.00	4.06	4.31	71.09	74.22					
7.50	4.31	4.31	74.22	77.03					
10.0	4.37	4.38	77.03	79.92					
LS	NS	NS	NS	NS					
SE±	0.11	0.12	2.87	3.22					
Rice Husk Ash (t ha ⁻¹)									
0.00	4.19	4.18	69.53	69.53					
5.00	4.25	4.25	77.27	77.27					
7.50	4.37	4.38	77.73	77.73					
10.0	4.25	4.25	77.73	77.73					
LS	NS	NS	NS	NS					
SE±	0.11	0.12	2.87	3.22					
Interaction									
Gm x Rh Ash	NS	NS	NS	NS					

Table 1. Effect of goat manure and rice husk ash on number of days to 50% emergence and establishment count of okra at Gombe during 2017 and 2018 wet cropping season

NS - not significant; WAS - weeks after sowing; LS - level of significance, SE - standard error.

Plant height was significantly (P<0.05) influenced by application of GM at 3, 4, 5 and 6 WAS in both 2017 and 2018 farming seasons, respectively (Table 2). Application of 0-10 t ha⁻¹ of GM results in a significant (P<0.05) increase in plant height, with 10 t ha⁻¹ producing the tallest plant in both seasons. The rise in plant height supports ANIEFIOK & al. (2013) findings, which indicated that adding poultry manure to water leaves increased plant height. Similar to this, NAJAH & al. (2021) found that the application of organic fertilizer increased the height of the okra plants. Application of RHA did not differ significantly due to plant height at 3WAS in both seasons. However, it significantly (P≤0.05) differs at 4, 5, and 6 WAS, respectively, where the application of 5.0-10.0 t ha⁻¹ of RHA gave significantly taller plants at 4 WAS in the 2017 and 2018 seasons. Additionally, plants grown in response to 10.0 t ha⁻¹ of RHA were substantially taller than those grown in response to other treatments, which were at par at 5 and 6 WAS during the farming seasons of 2017 and 2018, respectively. Treatment interaction with respect to plant height was not significant in 2017 and 2018 farming seasons, across the sampling periods.

		during	g 2017 and 2	2018 wet cr	opping seas	son			
	Plant height (cm)								
Treatment	3 W	'AS	4 W	'AS	5 W	'AS	6 W	AS	
	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	
Goat manure	(t ha ⁻¹)								
0.00	9.56°	19.56°	15.50 ^b	25.50 ^b	21.44 ^b	31.44 ^b	24.19 ^b	34.19 ^b	
5.00	9.81°	19.81°	17.38 ^{ab}	27.38 ^{ab}	24.50 ^b	33.75 ^b	24.75 ^b	34.75 ^{ab}	
7.50	10.50 ^b	20.50 ^b	17.56 ^{ab}	27.56 ^{ab}	23.75 ^b	34.50 ^b	25.93 ^{ab}	35.94 ^{ab}	
10.0	11.31 ^a	21.25ª	19.38ª	29.38ª	29.50 ^a	39.50ª	28.81ª	38.81ª	
LS	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	
$SE\pm$	0.11	0.18	0.71	0.75	0.97	1.02	1.12	1.21	
Rice Husk As	h (t ha ⁻¹)								
0.00	10.37	20.38	14.69 ^b	24.69 ^b	23.06 ^b	33.06 ^b	23.31 ^b	33.31 ^b	
5.00	10.13	20.13	19.38 ^a	27.63ª	23.31 ^b	33.31 ^b	25.31 ^{ab}	35.31 ^{ab}	
7.50	10.19	20.13	18.13 ^a	28.13 ^a	25.81 ^{ab}	35.81 ^{ab}	27.38 ^a	37.38 ^{ab}	
10.0	10.50	20.50	17.63ª	29.38ª	27.00 ^a	37.00 ^a	27.69ª	37.69 ^a	
LS	NS	NS	*	*	*	*	*	*	
$SE\pm$	0.11	0.18	0.71	0.75	0.97	1.02	1.12	1.21	
Interaction									
Gm x Rh	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	

SUSTAINABLE OKRA (ABELMOSCHUS ESCULENTUS L.) PRODUCTIVITY AS INFLUENCED BY	<i>.</i> •
Table 2. Effect of goat manure and rice husk ash on plant of okra at Gombe	

Means followed by common letter(s) in a column are not significantly different at 5% probability level, DMRT. NS - not significant; WAS - weeks after sowing; LS - level of significance; SE - standard error;

* - significant at 5%

Number of leaves plant⁻¹ was significantly affected by levels of GM at 4 WAS and rice husk ash at 5 and 6 WAS during 2017 and 2018 seasons (Table 3). At 4 WAS, application of 10.0 t ha⁻¹ of GM (P<0.05) significantly resulted in highest number of leaves plant¹ compared with other levels which were at par in both years. However, number of leaves plant⁻¹ due to levels of RHA at 10.0 t ha⁻¹ significantly resulted in highest number of leaves plant⁻¹ while other levels were at par at 5 and 6 WAS in both seasons, respectively. Nevertheless, treatment interactions due to number of leaves plant⁻¹ were not significant in both years across the sampling periods. The increase in number of leaves due to GM application could be attributed to nutrient supplied by the manure compared with no nutrient as in control. ADESINA & al. (2014) who reported increase in pepper leaves number due to increase in levels of poultry manure application as organic soil amendment.

Table 3. Effect of goat manure and rice husk ash on number of leaves plant ⁻¹	of okra at Gombe during
2017 and 2018 wet cropping season	

	Number of leaves plant ¹							
Treatment	3 V	VAS	4 V	VAS	5 V	VAS	6 WAS	
	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018
Goat manure	(t ha ⁻¹)							
0.00	4.37	18.75	6.50 ^b	21.00 ^b	6.06	21.06	6.81	21.38
5.00	4.44	19.13	6.00 ^b	21.00 ^b	6.31	21.06	6.75	21.50
7.50	4.13	19.44	6.00 ^b	21.63 ^b	6.06	21.13	6.19	21.75
10.0	4.44	19.44	8.00 ^a	23.00 ^a	6.13	21.31	6.13	21.81
LS	NS	NS	*	*	NS	NS	NS	NS
SE±	0.10	0.31	0.29	0.31	0.19	0.24	0.26	0.34
				92				

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU & Moses Samuel BASSEY

Rice husk (t h	1 a ⁻¹)							
0.00	4.25	19.25	6.75	21.50	5.63°	20.63 ^b	5.75 ^b	20.75 ^b
5.00	4.38	19.38	6.50	21.63	5.88 ^{bc}	20.88^{ab}	6.44 ^{ab}	21.75 ^{ab}
7.50	4.38	19.38	6.75	21.75	6.38 ^{ab}	21.38 ^{ab}	6.75 ^a	21.75 ^{ab}
10.0	4.38	18.75	6.50	21.75	6.69 ^a	22.69 ^a	7.19 ^a	22.19 ^a
LS	NS	NS	NS	NS	*	*	*	*
SE±	0.10	0.31	0.29	0.31	0.19	0.24	0.26	0.34
Interaction								
Gm x RH	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Means followed by common letter(s) in a column are not significantly different at 5% probability level, DMRT. NS – not significant; WAS – weeks after sowing; LS – level of significance; SE – standard error; * – significant at 5%.

Application of GM significantly influenced leaf area plant⁻¹and pod diameter of okra in the 2017 season only. However, there was no significant influence observed on leaf area and pod diameter in 2018, days to 50% flowering, number of pods plant⁻¹ and pod length in 2017 and 2018 seasons (Table 4). Leaf area, days to 50% flowering, and number of pods per plant were significant (P \leq 0.05) due to the application of RHA in both seasons.

Rice husk ash at 10.0 t ha⁻¹ produced the larger leaves in both years of the trial (Table 4). On the other hand, the application of 10.0 t ha⁻¹ of rice husk ash significantly (P<0.05) decreased the number of days to 50% flowering in both seasons compared to other rates that were at par. The number of pods plant⁻¹ was significantly higher arising from the application of 10.0 t ha⁻¹ rice husk ash compared to other rates, which were at par in the 2017 and 2018 seasons, respectively. Further, pod length and pod diameter were not significant due to RHS in both the 2017 and 2018 seasons. Similarly, treatment interactions remained insignificant (P>0.05) across all parameters in both the 2017 and 2018 farming seasons.

			durı	ng 2017 and 2	018 wet cropp	ng season				
Treatment -	Leaf ar	ea (cm)	Days to 509	% flowering	Number of	pod plant ⁻¹	Pod length (cm)		Pod diameter (cm)	
Treatment -	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018
Goat manure (t ha ⁻	·1)									
0.00	80.50 ^b	85.86	49.69	49.56	12.81	27.56	12.31	14.19	1.48 ^b	2.48
5.00	80.81 ^b	85.81	49.56	49.69	13.06	27.81	15.25	14.28	1.56 ^{ab}	2.56
7.50	84.81 ^{ab}	89.81	49.94	49.94	12.94	27.94	13.66	15.66	1.64 ^{ab}	2.64
10.0	102.69ª	107.81	50.13	50.13	12.56	28.06	12.28	17.13	1.73 ^a	2.73
LS	*	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	*	NS
SE±	5.51	6.41	0.20	0.24	0.16	0.16	0.95	0.91	1.56	0.07
Rice Husk Ash (th	a ⁻¹)									
0.00	69.69 ^c	74.56 ^b	50.00 ^a	50.31ª	12.56 ^b	27.56 ^b	12.03	13.97	1.61	2.61
5.00	80.57 ^{bc}	85.75 ^b	50.31ª	50.00 ^{ab}	12.63 ^{ab}	27.63 ^{ab}	12.94	14.75	1.66	2.66
7.50	90.50 ^{ab}	95.69 ^{ab}	49.75 ^{ab}	49.75 ^{ab}	13.06 ^{ab}	28.06 ^{ab}	13.84	15.84	1.58	2.58
10.0	108.00 ^a	113.00 ^a	49.25 ^b	49.25 ^b	13.13ª	28.13ª	14.69	16.96	1.56	2.56
LS	*	*	*	*	*	*	NS	NS	NS	NS
SE	5.51	6.41	0.20	0.24	0.16	0.16	0.95	0.91	1.56	0.07
Interaction										
Gm x Rh Ash	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

SUSTAINABLE OKRA (ABELMOSCHUS ESCULENTUS L.) PRODUCTIVITY AS INFLUENCED BY ...

 Table 4. Effect of goat manure and rice husk ash on leaf area, days to 50% flowering, number of pods plant⁻¹, pod length and pod diameter of okra at Gombe during 2017 and 2018 wet cropping season

Means followed by common letter(s) in a column are not significantly different at 5% probability level, DMRT. NS – not significant; WAS – weeks after sowing; LS – level of significance; SE – standard error; * – significant at 5%.

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU & Moses Samuel BASSEY

Okra fresh marketable weight and dry weight were not significantly affected by the application of GM and RHA, irrespective of the rates of application, in the 2017 season, while in the 2018 season they were significantly influenced by both GM and RHA (Table 5). The application of 5, 7.5, and 10 t ha⁻¹ of GM resulted in a higher fresh marketable weight of okra than the control, which resulted in a lower weight. On the other hand, application of RHA at 5.0 t ha⁻¹ significantly produced heavier marketable pods, though statistically at par with 7.5 and 10.0 t ha⁻¹ compared to the control that recorded a lower weight. Similarly, treatment interaction was not significant in both years (Table 5). Findings from this study can infer that the application of GM and RHA can significantly influence crop productivity, as depicted in the growth and yield attributes of okra. This corroborates the findings of GONZÁLEZ & al. (2023), who reported that goat manure fertilization resulted in an increase in grain yield and total protein content of two varieties of Chenopodium quinoa Willd. Grown at high altitude. Similarly, ABUKARI (2014) documented a higher number of nodules and nodule weight in cowpea arising from a 4.5 t ha⁻¹ application of RHA. SARANYA & al. (2018) reported an increase in plant height, shoot and root weight, and dry matter due to the application of RHA at 10 t ha⁻¹ + 50% of the recommended K rate. THIND & al. (2017) recorded a 25% increase in grain yield of wheat over control arising from a 10 t ha⁻¹ RHA application. The 2018 growing season saw a marked improvement in growth and yield-related traits, which could be attributed to the organic materials' correct mineralization throughout time and space, which allowed the crop to utilize them for the formation of dry matter. Due to the rapid decomposition of organic materials, which influences how much rice husk ash is applied, this is the moment when nutrients are released. The results concurred with those of DE LA ROSA & al. (2023), who reported sustainable crop production by evaluating the agronomic impact of volcanic ash, rice husk ash, and other soil amendments as a means of lowering pollution and protecting the ecosystem.

	U					
Treatmont _	Fresh market	able weight (g)	Dry weight (g)			
Treatment –	2017	2018	2017	2018		
Goat manure (t ha ⁻¹)						
0.00	189.37	183.18 ^b	28.84	32.39		
5.00	191.22	200.28 ^a	30.47	36.02		
7.50	185.27	204.37 ^a	30.19	37.11		
10.0	174.43	206.28ª	25.39	56.22		
LS	NS	*	NS	NS		
SE±	6.87	7.23	1.71	9.23		
Rice Husk Ash (t ha ⁻¹)						
0.00	176.36	181.36 ^d	26.30	33.48		
5.00	193.99	208.99ª	31.56	56.77		
7.50	193.06	201.88 ^{ab}	30.40	38.56		
10.0	177.28	198.28 ^{bc}	26.48	33.48		
LS	NS	*	NS	NS		
SE	6.87	7.23	1.71	9.23		
Interaction						
Gm x Rh Ash	NS	NS	NS	NS		

 Table 5. Effect of goat manure and intact rice husk on fresh weight and dry weight of okra at Gombe during 2017 and 2018 wet cropping season

Means followed by common letters in a column are not significantly different at 5% probability level, DMRT. NS – Not significant; LS – Level of significance; SE – standard error; * – significant at 5%.

SUSTAINABLE OKRA (ABELMOSCHUS ESCULENTUS L.) PRODUCTIVITY AS INFLUENCED BY ... Conclusion and recommendation

The results of the experiments show that the application of GM and RHA up to 10.0 t ha⁻¹ greatly improved the growth and yield indices of okra in the research area. Thus, GM can be exploited as a crucial part of organic manure, and when strengthened with RHA, its effectiveness can be enhanced towards the production of okra and other horticultural crops, lowering greenhouse gas emissions from the usage of synthetic agrochemicals in soils and the environment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- ABUKARI A. 2014. *Effect of rice husk biochar on maize productivity in the guinea savannah zone of Ghana.* Thesis submitted to the Department of Agroforestry, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of M. Sc. Faculty of Renewable Natural Resources, College of Agriculture and Renewable Natural Resources, Ghana, 103 pp.
- ADEKIYA A. O., AGBEDE T. M., ABOYEJI C. M., DUNSIN O. & SIMEON V. T. 2018. Effects of biochar and poultry manure on soil characteristics and the yield of radish. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 243: 457-463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2018.08.048
- ADESINA J. M., SANNI K. O., AFOLABI L. A. & ELEDUMA A. F. 2014. Effect of variable rate of poultry manure on the growth and yield of pepper (*Capsicum annum*) in south western Nigeria. *Academia Arena*. 6(1): 9-13.
- ANIEFIOK E. U., UDO I. A. & SHIYAM J. O. 2013. Effects of poultry manure and plant spacing on the growth and yield of water leaf (*Talinum fructicosum* L. Juss). *Journal of Agronomy*. 12(3): 146-152. https://doi.org/10.3923/ja.2013.146.152
- ANTONIOUS G. F. 2014. Impact of soil management practices on yield, fruit quality, and antioxidant contents of pepper at four stages of fruit development. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B.* 49(10): 769-774. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2014.929908
- ANTONIOUS G. F., KOCHHAR T. S. & COOLONG T. 2012. Yield, quality, and concentrations of seven heavy metals in cabbage and broccoli grown in sewage sludge and chicken manure amended soil. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A.* 47(13): 1955-1965. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2012.676509
- ANTONIOUS G. F., TURLEY E. T., HILL R. R. & SNYDER J. C. 2014. Chicken manure enhanced yield and quality of field-grown kale and collard greens. *Journal of Environ Science and Health, Part B.* **49**(4): 299-304. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2014.868681
- AWOLU O. O., IGBE F. O. & SANUSI A. B. 2014. Characterization and optimization of solvent and enzymatic extraction of okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* L.) oil. *Journal of Scientific Research and Reports*. 3(4): 630-638. https://doi.org/10.9734/JSRR/2014/4199
- DE LA ROSA J. M., PÉREZ-DALÍ S., MILLER A. Z., CAMPOS P., SÁNCHEZ-MARTÍN Á., CUBERO B., JIMÉNEZ-MORILLO N. T., MERINO A. & GONZÁLEZ-PÉREZ J. A. 2023. Assessment of the agronomic impact of rice husk ash, volcanic ash, green compost and wood biochar as soil amendments, EGU General Assembly 2023, Vienna, Austria, 24-28 Apr 2023, EGU23-2301. https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu23-2301
- DHRUVE J. J., SHUKLA Y. M., SHAH R., PATEL J. & TALATI J. G. 2015. Contribution of okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L.) seeds towards the nutritional characterization. World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. 4(7): 1009-1023.
- DONG Z., ZHANG J. G., TIAN K. W., PAN W. J. & WEI Z. J. 2014. The fatty oil from okra seed: supercritical carbon dioxide extraction composition and antioxidant activity. *Current Topics in Nutraceutical Research.* 12(3): 75-84.
- DUNCAN D. B. 1955. Multiple Range and Multiple F-tests. Biometrics. 11: 1-42.
- FOLEY J. A., RAMANKUTTY N., BRAUMAN K. A., CASSIDY E. S., GERBER J. S., JOHNSTON M., MUELLER N. D., O'CONNELL C., RAY D. K., WEST P. C., BALZER C., BENNETT E. M., CARPENTER S. R., HILL J., MONFREDA C., POLASKY S., ROCKSTRÖM J., SHEEHAN J., SIEBERT S., TILMAN D. & ZAKS D. P. M. 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature*. 478: 337-342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10452

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU & Moses Samuel BASSEY

- GONZÁLEZ J. A., YOUSIF S. K. M., ERAZZU L. E., MARTÍNEZ CALSINA L., LIZARRAGA E. F., OMER R. M., BAZILE D., FERNANDEZ-TURIEL J. L., BUEDO S. E., REJAS M., FONTANA P. D., GONZÁLEZ D.
 A., OVIEDO A., ALZUAIBR F. M., AL-QAHTANI S. M., AL-HARBI N. A., MOHAMED F. M., IBRAHIM M. F. M. & VAN NIEUWENHOVE C. P. 2023. Effects of goat manure fertilization on grain nutritional value in two contrasting quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa* Willd.) varieties cultivated at high altitudes. *Agronomy*. 13(3): 918. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy13030918
- MOURSY F. S., GAD D. A., ADLY D. & SADEK I. I. 2021. Study the effect of two organic fertilizers, methods of fertilization on productivity, pests and predatory insects associated with eggplant under modified climatic condition. GSC Biological and Pharmaceutical Sciences. 16 (1): 170-185. https://doi.org/10.30574/gscbps.2021.16.1.0205
- NAJAH M. F. A., SUTHARSAN S. & RIFNAS L. M. 2021. Effects of different fertilizers on growth and yield of okra (Abelmoschus esculentus) cv. Haritha in Ampara district of Sri Lanka. International Journal of Biology, Pharmacy and Allied Sciences. 10: 563-576 (12 (Special issue) part 2) https://doi.org/10.31032/IJBPAS/2021/10.12.2050
- OKEE J. I. 2020. Evaluation of the effect of organic manure and inorganic fertilizer on the growth and yield of okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L.) in Lokoja, Kogi State, Nigeria. International Journal of Agricultural Economics, Management and Development. 8(2): 202.
- PATIL P., SUTAR S., JOSEPH J. K., MALIK S., RAO S., YADAV S. & BHAT K. V. 2015. A systematic review of the genus Abelmoschus (Malvaceae). Rheedea. 1: 14-30. https://doi.org/10.22244/rheedea.2015.25.01.03
- PAUSTIAN K., LEHMANN J., OGLE S., REAY D., ROBERTSON G. P. & SMITH P. 2016. Climate-smart soils. Nature. 532: 49-57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17174
- REGENERATIVE ORGANIC ALLIANCE. 2020. Regenerative Organic Certified. Available online at: https://regenorganic.org/ (accessed October 7th, 2020).
- RHODES C. J. 2017. The imperative for regenerative agriculture. *Science Progress*. **100**: 80-129. https://doi.org/10.3184/003685017X14876775256165
- ROSA-MARTÍNEZ E., GARCÍA-MARTÍNEZ M. D., ADALID-MARTÍNEZ A. M., PEREIRA-DIAS L., CASANOVA C., SOLER E., FIGÀS M. R., RAIGÓN M. D., PLAZAS M., SOLER S. & PROHENS. J. 2021. Fruit composition profile of pepper, tomato and eggplant varieties grown under uniform conditions. Food Research International. 147: 110531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110531
- SANDHAM L. A., CHABALALA J. J. & SPALING H. H. 2019. Participatory rural appraisal approaches for public participation in EIA: Lessons from South Africa. Land. 8(10): 150. https://doi.org/10.3390/land8100150
- SARANYA P., SRI GAYATHIRI C. M. & SELLAMUTHU K. M. 2018. Potential use of rice husk ash for enhancing growth of maize (Zea mays). International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science. 7(3): 899-906. https://doi.org/10.20546/ijcmas.2018.703.105
- SEARCHINGER T., WAITE R., HANSON C., RANGANATHAN J., DUMAS P., MATTHEWS E. & KLIRS C. 2019. Creating a sustainable food future: a menu of solutions to feed nearly 10 billion people by 2050. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute.
- SHAKOOR A., ASHRAF F., SHAKOOR S., MUSTAFA A., REHMAN A. & ALTAF M. M. 2020a. Biogeochemical transformation of greenhouse gas emissions from terrestrial to atmospheric environment and potential feedback to climate forcing. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 27: 38513-38536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10151-1
- SHAKOOR A., GAN M. Q., YIN H. X., YANG W., HE F., ZUO H. F., MA Y. H. & YANG S. Y. 2020b. Influence of nitrogen fertilizer and straw returning on CH₄ emission from a paddy field in Chao lake basin, China. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research.* 18(1): 1585-1600. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1801_15851600
- THIND H. S., YADVINDER S., SHARMA S. & SINGH V. 2017. Phosphorus fertilizing potential of bagasse ash and rice husk ash in wheat – rice system on alkaline loamy sand soil. *Journal of Agricultural Science*. 155(3): 465-474. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859616000484

How to cite this article:

SHITTU E. A. & BASSEY M. S. 2023. Sustainable okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* L.) productivity as influenced by fortification of goat manure with rice husk ash in Northern Guinea Savanna ecology of Nigeria. J. Plant Develop. 30: 89-97. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.929

EFFECTS OF CHROMIUM STRESS ON SEED GERMINATION AND EARLY SEEDLING GROWTH PERFORMANCES OF PEARL MILLET *PENNISETUM GLAUCUM* (L.) R. BR. (POACEAE)

Muhammad Zafar IQBAL, Sana MURTAZA, Muhammad SHAFIQ* 问

Department of Botany, University of Karachi, Karachi, 75270 – Pakistan. * Corresponding author. E-mail: shafiqeco@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-0488-8946

Abstract: Heavy metals are widely available in the environment due to the natural processes, industrial, anthropogenic activities and ultimately in the results contaminate the immediate environment. The presence of the heavy metals such as Pb, Cd, Cr, Ni, Fe and Cu in environment disturb the quality of ecosystems, soils, water, air and vegetation. The chromium metal at higher level in ecosystem is an alarming signal for both developed and developing countries. Pennisetum glaucum is an annual grass which is widely cultivated in drought, rain fed and high temperature areas. The limited amount of literature available on the impact of chromium stress on P. glaucum. This study was conducted to investigate the beneficial or harmful effect of chromium stress on seed germination and seedling growth performances of P. glaucum in in vitro conditions. The different concentration of chromium 0, 25, 50, 75 and 100 ppm was applied. In present study, the overall results suggests the variable response on the rate of seed germination percentage and plant growth of P. glaucum to chromium stress was recorded. Results showed that the chromium treatment at 25 ppm significantly (p<0.05) reduced root growth of P. glaucum. The chromium at 50 ppm level significantly decreased the rate of percentage of seed germination of P. glaucum. The seedling dry weight of P. glaucum seedling was decreased highly at 75 ppm chromium. Root / shoot ratio also decreased due to gradual increase in chromium from low (25 ppm) to higher (100 ppm) levels. Similarly, the chromium at 25 to 100 ppm gradually decreased the percentage of tolerance and seedling vigor index of P. glaucum. An effective efforts for minimize the chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants are required.

Keywords: heavy metal, pearl millet, root, shoot, toxicity.

Introduction

Chromium is an important environmental pollutant and commonly used in leather tanning industries [CICATELLI & al. 2017; GOMES & al. 2017] chrome plating and stainless steel industries. Chromium with atomic number 24 and atomic weight of 52 is known to cause carcinogen [KUMAR & CHOPRA, 2015]. The addition of metals in the environment due by human and industrial activities is a serious concern for germination and growth of flora and fauna. Metals at cellular level produced oxidative stress on plants [SMEETS & al. 2009; KAPOOR & al. 2022] and uptake at higher concentrations become toxic for plant growth. The leaching of metals via food chain caused human health hazards [KUMAR & al. 2013] and environment [KIMBROUGH & al. 1999; KOTAS & STASICKA, 2000].

It is recognized that heavy metals due to their toxicity, long persistence in nature can accumulate in the trophic chain and cause organism dysfunction [CHEN & al. 2021]. The harmful effects of chromium on photosynthesis, and water relations capabilities in plant was reported [SHANKER & al. 2005]. The hexavalent chromium toxicity under 10 and 50 μ M stress for *Amaranthus viridis* and *Amaranthus cruentus* in hydroponic system was recorded [BASHRI

Received: 30 November 2022 / Revised: 19 November 2023 / Accepted: 28 November 2023

EFFECTS OF CHROMIUM STRESS ON SEED GERMINATION AND EARLY SEEDLING GROWTH ...

& al. 2016]. The excess level of chromium produced harmful impact on germination and seedling growth of field Pea (Pisum sativum Malviya Matar-15 (HUDP-15), Pusa Prabhat (DDR-23), Arabidopsis thaliana and uptake of certain nutrients in Citrullus, rice, castor bean, food crops and some vegetables [PANDEY & PANDEY, 2008; DUBE & al. 2003; DU & al. 2003; de SILVA & al. 2021; ABDELGAWAD & al. 2022; ALI & al. 2022; BASIT & al. 2022; CHEN & al. 2022]. The research work on the risk assessment of chromium in date palm (Phoenix dactylifera) leaves as use in livestock feed recorded [PILLAY & al. 2003]. The chromium toxicity on germination and early seedling growth in melon (Cucumis melo L.), okra (Abelmoschus esculentus); Sesbania sesban L. (Merrill) and tolerance limit in Hibiscus cannabinus L., Cannabis sativa L., Zea mays L., wheat and alfalfa seeds was recorded [AKINCI & AKINCI, 2010; MOHANTY & al. 2015; DING & al. 2016; ANJUM & al. 2017; CITTERIO & al. 2003; KNEŽEVIĆ & al. 2021; LEI & al. 2021; MUSHTAQ & al. 2021, 2022; MURTHY & al. 2022]. Effect of chromium (VI) phytotoxicity on morpho-physiological characteristics, yield, and yield components of two chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) varieties, Brassica oleracea L. var. acephala DC., Brassica juncea and Vigna radiata, peas, sunflower, tumble weed, wheat, rice seedlings, regulation of cell death, chromium uptake and proline metabolism in wheat, and pulses observed [NODELKOSKA & DORAN, 2000; FAISAL & HASNAIN, 2005; TORRESDEY & al. 2005; FOZIA & al. 2008; JUN & al. 2009; DIWAN & al. 2010; OZDENER & al. 2011; WAKEEL & XU, 2020; SINGH & al. 2020; 2022a; 2022b; WANI & al. 2022]. MUKHERJI & ROY (1977) studied the effect of K₂Cr₂O₇ solutions between 10-5 and 10-3 M on germination and seedling elongation of rice and on the content of reducing sugars and amino acids in potato tuber slices. There was considerable water loss, and the effect of chromium on the changes in permeability became intensified gradually with increasing time of exposure.

Pennisetum glaucum L. R. Br. is member to family Poaceae and known as Bajra. Pearl millet is found in Africa and in the sub-continent. This purple majesty species is the most widely grown millet in plain and hilly areas. *P. glaucum* consider as a multiple cereal grain crop food, fodder, fuels and prefer to grow in well-drained soil in full sun light. *P. glaucum* is naturally rich in nutrients, gluten free and is sold in products likewise whole as raw grain, breads, biscuits and pasta grown at more than 27 million hectares worldwide [SATURNI & al. 2010; NAMBIAR & al. 2011; MANWARING & al. 2016].

An ever increase of chromium metal pollution is affecting growth of agricultural crops in regional and global level. *P. glaucum* is economically an important grain crop of Pakistan and successfully growing in drought area. There seems little literature available on chromium toxicity on germination and early seedling growth of millet cereal as compared to wheat, rice and maize in Pakistan. This investigation was carried out to determine the influence of chromium on early seedling growth performances of an important agricultural cereal crop *P. glaucum* of growing for grain and fodder production.

Materials and methods

The legume seeds of *P. glaucum* were obtained from super store. The percentage of germination was first checked. The surface of seeds were sterilized with 1N NaOCl solution for one minute to avoid any fungal type of action and washed with double distilled water. Ten seeds were kept on filter paper in each Petri dishes having 90 mm diameter in equal distance. The Petri dishes were washed to drop off the chances of further fungal infectivity. Chromium salt was used as potassium chromate with five 0, 25, 50, 75 and 100 ppm concentrations and initially, five ml of chromium solution was applied. Old solution from each petri dish was changed after

Muhammad Zafar IQBAL & al.

two days and two ml of prepared chromium solutions were added in each set of treatment. The Petri dishes were placed at room temperature $(32\pm2 \text{ °C})$ along with 240 Lux light intensity. The experiment was completely randomized with three replicates and terminated after ten days. Seed germination, root, shoot, seedling lengths and root / shoot ratios were noted. The treated three tallest seedlings were oven dried at 80 °C for 24 hours to get dry weight. The seedling vigor and tolerance indices was determined [BEWLY & BLACK, 1982; IQBAL & REHMATII, 1992].

T.I. = (Mean root length in metal solution / Mean root length in distilled water) x 100

Statistical analysis

The recorded data was analyzed for ANOVA and Duncan's Multiple Range Test on personnel computer using COSTAT version 3. The level of significance was found at p < 0.05 level.

Results and discussion

The abiotic stress conditions likewise addition of heavy metals (Cr) in the immediate environment affect plant growth and development. Chromium is a toxic heavy metal and higher level suppress the seed germination and plant growth. Increasing heavy metal concentrations in the soil, non-biodegradable nature, long biological life in ecosystem have become a significant problem in the modern industrialized world due to several anthropogenic activities which, ultimately pose a threat on human life also [THAKUR & al. 2016].

The damage in plant growth due to metal may result at any stage of growth of plant [PRODGERS & INSKEEP, 1981]. The biotic and abiotic factors influence on crop yield and abiotic stress such as drought, salinity, extreme temperatures and heavy metal (HM) contamination are the common factors reported in the scientific literature worldwide. GANGAIAH & al. (2013) demonstrated the effects of different heavy metals such as chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co) and lead (Pb) on pearl millet (Pennisetum glaucum (L.) R.Br.) seed germination and seedling growth using doses of 1, 10, 20, 50 and 100 ppm along with control cultures i.e. tap and distilled water media. This present study proved the decreased in rate of seed germination percentage as well as seedling growth of P. glaucum as the increased concentrations in the substrate. The treatment of chromium at higher concentration 100 ppm decreased growth characteristics of P. glaucum. Statistically analyzed data showed that seed germination, seedling growth and seedling dry weight of P glaucum seedlings were reduced significantly (p<0.05) with increased concentrations of chromium (Table 1). Chromium treatment at 75 and 100 ppm significantly (p<0.05) affected seed germination percentage (76.66) and (73.33%) against control (100%). The crop yield production depends upon the prevailing conditions of biotic and abiotic stress. Chromium concentrations at 1, 10, 20, 50 and 100 ppm decreased seed germination of P. glaucum by in vitro conditions [GANGAIAH & al. 2013]. It was determined that inhibitory effects of Cr were more on all seedling growth variables of P. glaucum as compared to control treatment. Similarly, KABIR & al. (2011) studied the tolerance of Samanea saman (Jacq.) Merr. for Cu, Fe, Pb and Zn under laboratory conditions and showed that with increasing concentrations of metals reduced seed germination.

The use of genetic engineering to modify plants for metal uptake, transport and sequestration may open up new avenues for enhancing efficiency of plant [EAPEN & D'SOUZA, 2005]. The rapid industrialization, and modern agricultural practices have resulted in increased heavy metal contamination in the environment, which causes toxicity to the living

EFFECTS OF CHROMIUM STRESS ON SEED GERMINATION AND EARLY SEEDLING GROWTH ...

organisms [KAVAMURA & ESPOSITO, 2010; MIRANSARI, 2011]. Heavy metal stress adversely reduce growth and productivity of plant. The protective efficacy of seed priming with SiO₂ NPs (400 mg/L) in relieving the Cr (200 μ M) phytotoxicity mainly in *Brassica napus* L. seedlings recorded. In this study an evidence was established about the Cr-detoxification by seed primed SiO₂ NPs in *B. napus*, indicated the potential of SiO₂ NPs as stress reducing agent for crops grown in Cr contaminated areas. The different Cr levels (200, 300, and 400 mg/kg soil) affected the growth of mung bean seedlings with the use of Azospirillum brasilense and salicylic acid [ALI & al. 2023]. Furthermore, the Cr treatment decreased shoot and root length, plant height, dry weight, and chlorophyll content of mung bean. 37.15% plant height, 71.85% root length, 57.09% chlorophyll contents, 82.34% crop growth rate was decreased when Cr toxicity was @ 50 μ M. Furthermore, Mung bean seedlings reported severely damaged by Cr contamination, which limits their growth and physiological characteristics.

TRT (ppm)	SG (%)	Root length (cm)	Shoot length (cm)	Seedling size (cm)	Seedling dry weight (g)	Root / shoot length Ratio
00	100.00±0.0a	12.94±1.1a	6.32±0.4a	19.26±1.3a	0.026±0.004a	2.03±0.1a
25	100.00±0.0a	3.95±0.3b	2.15±0.3b	6.04±0.6b	0.026±0.004a	2.03±0.2a
50	83.33±3.3b	3.53±0.2b	1.47±0.1bc	5.01±0.3bc	0.020±0.004ab	2.53±0.3ab
75	6.60±3.3bc	2.91±0.4b	1.01±0.3c	3.40±1.6cd	0.013±0.001ab	3.21±1.0ab
100	73.33±3.3c	0.94±0.2c	1.55±0.2bc	2.48±0.4d	0.010±0.004b	0.63±0.1b
L.S.D. p<0.05	8.13	1.62	0.876	2.33	0.014	1.405

Table 1. Effects of chromium on germination and growth of Pearl millet

Symbol used: TRT = treatment; SG = Seed germination; Number followed by the same letters in the same column are not significantly different (p<0.05) according to Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

Potassium dichromate at concentrations above 0.5 mM suppressed growth of radicle and plumule of pea significantly. Its deleterious effect was more pronounced on the growth of roots than on shoots. In addition chromium treated plants a larger proportion of pods failed to set seeds and the average number of seeds per pod was lower [BISHNOI & al. 1993]. The root growth performances of *P. glaucum* was strongly affected by all concentration of chromium. The chromium at 25 ppm level produced a negative and significant impact on root and shoot growth of P. glaucum. Similarly, ISLAM & al. (2016) also found decrease in growth of Zea mays L. under chromium. Chromium is non-essential element for plant growth. The seedling size of P. glaucum showed similar trend of decline as recorded for root and shoot growth. The highest seedling size of P. glaucum was recorded for control (19.26 cm) and lowest (2.48 cm) at 100 ppm of chromium. The high uptake of chromium from the medium could be important reason of reduction in seedling height of P. glaucum. Seedlings of P. glaucum significantly decreased its dry weight with 100 ppm of chromium. Heavy metals produced toxic effects on the plant biomass [SINGH & al. 2015]. Phytotoxic effects of chromium on germination and seedling growth of different plant species investigated [JOUTEY & al. 2013; NAZ & al. 2013], root growth and environmental contamination [PRADAS & al. 2014; PRADAS & al. 2021].

Chromium stress influence on growth, nutritional quality and tolerance in plant [MOHAMMED & al. 2021; LÓPEZ-BUCIO & al. 2022]. The metal tolerance character found in well adapted plant species. The seedlings of *P. glaucum* also tested for tolerance to different level of chromium. The seedlings of *P. glaucum* responded differently for tolerance to chromium (Figure 1). Chromium at 25 ppm showed high percentage of tolerance for *P. glaucum* and lowest

to chromium at 100 ppm. The chromium pollution treatment showed the order of phytotoxicity tolerance 25>50>75>100 ppm in seedlings of *P. glaucum*.





Figure 1. Percentage of tolerance in *P. glaucum* using different concentration of chromium (25, 50, 75, 100 ppm) as compared to control.

Figure 2. Seedling vigor index for *P. glaucum* using different concentration 0, 25, 50, 75, 100 ppm of chromium.

An association between seedling vigor index percentages in chromium was also recorded with similar trends (Figure 2). The results suggests that an increase in chromium concentration decreased seedling vigor index. Seedling vigor of *P. glaucum* was prominently decreased at 100 ppm of chromium and agreed with the findings of AMIN & al. (2013) who has been found that chromium treatment at 100 mg kg⁻¹ adversely affected seedling vigor index of *Hibiscus esculentum* L.

Conclusion

It was concluded that excess level of chromium produced phytotoxic effects on seedling growth of *P. glaucum*. The chromium at 25 ppm significantly (p<0.05) affected root, shoot and seedling length of *P. glaucum*. The seedlings *P. glaucum* showed lowest tolerance and seedling vigor indices to chromium at 100 ppm level which might be due to disturbances in metabolic system. It is suggested that such types of ecotoxicological studies can be useful for cultivation of vegetation in chromium polluted areas based on tolerance index.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to the Chairman Department of Botany, University of Karachi, Pakistan for providing the space and facilities for this research work.

References

ABDELGAWAD H., SHETEIWY M. S., SALEH A. M., MOHAMMED A. E., ALOTAIBI M. O., BEEMSTER G. T. S., MADANY M. M. Y. & VAN DIJK J. R. 2022. Elevated CO₂ differentially mitigates chromium (VI) toxicity in two rice cultivars by modulating mineral homeostasis and improving redox status. *Chemosphere.* 307(3): 135880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.135880

EFFECTS OF CHROMIUM STRESS ON SEED GERMINATION AND EARLY SEEDLING GROWTH ...

- AKINCI I. E. & AKINCI S. 2010. Effects of chromium toxicity on germination and early seedling growth in melon (*Cucumis melo L.*). African Journal of Biotechnology. 9(29): 4589-4594.
- ALI H. H., ILYAS M., ZAHEER M. S., HAMEED A., IKRAM K., KHAN W. U. D., IQBAL R., AWAN T. H., RIZWAN M., MUSTAFA A. E. M. A. & ELSHIKH M. S. 2023. Alleviation of chromium toxicity in mung bean (Vigna radiata L.) using salicylic acid and Azospirillum brasilense. BMC Plant Biology. 23(1): 535. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-023-04528-w
- ALI S., MFARREJ M. F. B., RIZWAN M., HUSSAIN A., SHAHID M. J., WANG X., NAFEES M., WASEEM M. & ALHARBY H. F. 2022. Microbe-citric acid assisted phytoremediation of chromium by castor bean (*Ricinus communis* L.). Chemosphere. 296: 134065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134065
- ALI S., MIR R. A., TYAGI A., MANZAR N., KASHYAP A. S., MUSHTAQ M., RAINA A., PARK S., SHARMA S., MIR Z. A., & al. 2023. Chromium toxicity in plants: Signaling, mitigation, and future perspectives. *Plants*. 12(7): 1502. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12071502
- AMIN H., ARAIN B., AMIN F. & SURHIO M. 2013. Phytotoxicity of chromium on germination, growth and biochemical attributes of *Hibiscus esculentus* L. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*. 4(12): 2431-2439. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2013.412302
- ANJUM S. A., ASHRAF U., KHAN I., TANVEER M., SHAHID M., SHAKOOR A. & WANG L. 2017. Phyto-toxicity of chromium in maize: oxidative damage, osmolyte accumulation, anti-oxidative defense and chromium uptake. *Pedosphere*. 27(2): 262-273. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60315-1
- BASHRI G., PARIHAR P., SINGH R., SINGH V. P. & PRASAD S. M. 2016. Physiological and biochemical characterization of two *Amaranthus* species under Cr(VI) stress differing in Cr(VI) tolerance. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 108: 12-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.06.030
- BASIT F., BHAT J. A., HAN J., GUAN Y., JAN B. L., SHAKOOR A. & ALANSI S. 2022. Screening of rice cultivars for Cr-stress response by using the parameters of seed germination, morpho-physiological and antioxidant analysis. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*. 29(5): 3918-3928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2022.02.038
- BEWLY J. D. & BLACK B. M. 1982. Physiology and biochemistry of seeds in relation to germination. Springer Verlag, New York, pp. 40-80. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-68643-6
- BISHNOI N. R., DUA A., GUPTA V. K. & SAWHNEY S. K. 1993. Effect of chromium on seed germination, seedling growth and yield of Peas. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 47(1): 47-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8809(93)90135-C
- CHEN F., MAJ., AKHTAR S., KHAN Z. I., AHMAD K., ASHFAQ A., NAWAZ H. & NADEEM M. 2022. Assessment of chromium toxicity and potential health implications of agriculturally diversely irrigated food crops in the semi-arid regions of South Asia. Agricultural Water Management. 272: 107833. https://doi.org/ 10. 1016/j.agwat.2022.107833
- CHEN Y., HE X., HUANG J., LUO R., GE H. Z., WOŁOWICZ A., WAWRZKIEWICZ M., GŁADYSZ-PŁASKA A., LI B., YU Q., KOŁODYŃSKA D., LV G. Y. & CHEN S. 2021. Impacts of heavy metals and medicinal crops on ecological systems, environmental pollution, cultivation, and production processes in China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 219: 112336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112336
- CICATELLI A., GUARINO F. & CASTIGLIONE S. 2017. Reclamation of Cr-contaminated or Cu-contaminated agricultural soils using sunflower and chelants. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International.* 24(11): 10131-10138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8655-8
- CITTERIO S., SANTAGOSTINO A., FUMAGALLI P. P., RANALLI N. P. & SGORBATI S. 2003. Heavy metal tolerance and accumulation of Cd, Cr and Ni by *Cannabis sativa* L. *Plant and Soil.* **256**: 243-252. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026113905129
- de SILVA N. D. G., BOUTIN C., LUKINA A. O., WESTERN T. L., MOLINA I. & ROWLAND O. 2021. Seed coat suberin forms a barrier against chromium (Cr³⁺) during early seed germination in Arabidopsis thaliana. Environmental and Experimental Botany. 191: 104632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2021.104632
- DING H., WANG G., LOU L. & LV J. 2016. Physiological responses and tolerance of kenaf (*Hibiscus cannabinus* L.) exposed to chromium. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 133: 509-518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2016.08.007
- DIWAN H., KHAN I., AHMAD A. & IQBAL M. 2010. Induction of phytochelatins and antioxidant defence system in Brassica juncea and Vigna radiata in response to chromium treatments. Plant Growth Regulation. 61(1): 97-107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-010-9454-0
- DU Y., HE J. H., CHEN J. J., WEI X. G., YANG X. Q., WANG S. Y. & HE W. B. 2003. Effects of heavy metals of Pb, Cd and Cr on the growth of vegetables and their uptake. *Acta Horticulturae Sinica*. **30**(1): 51-55.
- DUBE B. K., TEWARI K., CHATTERJEE J. & CHATTERJEE C. 2003. Excess chromium alters uptake and translocation of certain nutrients in *Citrullus. Chemosphere*. 53(9): 1147-1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00570-8

- EAPEN S. & D'SOUZA S. F. 2005. Prospects of genetic engineering of plants for phytoremediation of toxic metal. Biotechnology Advances. 23: 97-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2004.10.001
- FAISAL M. & HASNAIN S. 2005. Chromate resistant *Bacillus cereus* augments sunflower growth by reducing toxicity Cr (VI). *Journal of Plant Biology*. 48(2): 187-194. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03030407
- FOZIA A., MUHAMMAD A. Z., MUHAMMAD A. & ZAFAR M. K. 2008. Effect of chromium on growth attributes in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Journal of Environmental Sciences. 20(12): 1475-1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(08) 62552-8
- GANGAIAH A., CHANDRASEKHAR T., VARAPRASAD D., HIMA B. Y., KEERTHI K. M., CHAKRADHAR T. & REDDY M. C. 2013. Effects of heavy metals on *in vitro* seed germination and early seedling growth of Pennisetum glacum (L.) R. Br. International Journal of Food, Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences. 3(3): 87-93.
- GOMES M. A., HAUSER-DAVIS R. A., SUZUKI M. S. & VITORIAA. P. 2017. Plant chromium uptake and transport, physiological effects and recent advances in molecular investigations. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 140: 55-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.01.042
- IQBAL M. Z. & RAHMATI K. 1992. Tolerance of Albizia lebbeck to Cu and Fe application. Ekologia. 11: 427-430.
- ISLAM F., YASMEEN T., ARIF M. S., RIAZ M., SHAHZAD S. M., IMRAN Q. & ALI I. 2016. Combined ability of chromium (Cr) tolerant plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB) and salicylic acid (SA) in attenuation of chromium stress in maize plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry.* 108: 456-467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.08.014
- JOUTEY N. T., BAHAFID W., SAYEL H. & EL-GHACHTOULI N. 2013. Phytotoxic effects of hexavalent chromium on germination and seedling growth of different plant species. *Journal of Agricultural Technology*. 9(2): 361-372.
- JUN R., LING T. & GUANGHUA Z. 2009. Effects of chromium on seed germination, root elongation and coleoptile growth in six pulses. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 6(4): 571-578. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326097
- KABIR M., IQBAL M. Z. & SHAFIQ M. 2011. Toxicity and tolerance in Samanea saman (Jacq.) Merr. to some metals (Pb, Cd, Cu and Zn). Pakistan Journal of Botany. 43(4): 1909-1914.
- KAPOOR R. T., MFARREJ M. F. B., ALAM P., RINKLEBE J. & AHMAD P. 2022. Accumulation of chromium in plants and its repercussion in animals and humans. *Environmental Pollution*. 301: 119044. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119044
- KAVAMURA V. N. & ESPOSITO E. 2010. Biotechnological strategies applied to the decontamination of soils polluted with heavy metal. *Biotechnology Advances.* 28: 61-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.09.002
- KIMBROUGH D. E., COHEN Y., WINER A. M., CREELMAN L. & MABUNI C. 1999. A critical assessment of chromium in the environment. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*. 29(1): 1-46. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389991259164
- KNEŽEVIĆ M. M., STAJKOVIĆ-SRBINOVIĆ O. S., ASSEL M., MILIĆ M. D., MIHAJLOVSKI K. R., DELIĆ D. I. & BUNTIĆ A. V. 2021. The ability of a new strain of *Bacillus pseudomycoides* to improve the germination of alfalfa seeds in the presence of fungal infection or chromium. *Rhizosphere*. 18: 100353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2021.100353
- KOTAS J. & STASICKA Z. 2000. Commentary: Chromium occurrence in the environment and methods of its speciation. *Environmental Pollution*. **107**(3): 263-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00168-2
- KUMAR S., ASIF M. H., CHAKRABARTY D., TRIPATHI R. D., DUBEY R. S. & TRIVEDI P. K. 2013. Expression of a rice Lambda class of glutathione S-transferase, OsGSTL2, in Arabidopsis provides tolerance to heavy metal and other abiotic stresses. Journal of Hazardous Materials. 248-249: 228-237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.01.004
- KUMAR V. & CHOPRA A. K. 2015. Toxicity of chromium in agricultural crops with response to its chemical speciation. A-Review. *World Applied Sciences Journal*. **33**(6): 944-969.
- LEI K., SUN S., ZHONG K., LI S., HU H., SUN C., ZHENG Q., TIAN Z., DAI T. & SUN J. 2021. Seed soaking with melatonin promotes seed germination under chromium stress via enhancing reserve mobilization and antioxidant metabolism in wheat. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 220: 112241. https://doi.org/ 10. 1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112241
- LÓPEZ-BUCIO J. S., RAVELO-ORTEGA G. & LÓPEZ-BUCIO L. 2022. Chromium in plant growth and development: toxicity, tolerance and hormesis. *Environmental Pollution*. 312: 120084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120084
- MANWARING H. R., BLIGH H. F. J. & YADAV R. 2016. The challenges and opportunities associated with biofortification of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) with elevated levels of grain iron and zinc. *Frontiers* in Plant Science. 7: 1-15.
- MIRANSARI M. 2011. Hyperaccumulators, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and stress of heavy metal. *Biotechnology* Advances. 29: 645-653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.04.006

EFFECTS OF CHROMIUM STRESS ON SEED GERMINATION AND EARLY SEEDLING GROWTH ...

- MOHAMMED B., MOHAMMED T., MOHAMMED E. M. & TARIK A. 2021. Physiological and physico-chemical study of the effect of chromium VI on the nutritional quality of maize (Zea mays L.). Procedia Computer Science. 191: 463-468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021.07.058
- MOHANTY M., PRADHAN C. & PATRA H. K. 2015. Chromium translocation, concentration and its phytotoxic impacts in *in vivo* grown seedlings of *Sesbania sesban* L. Merrill. *Acta Biologica Hungarica*. 66(1): 80-92. https://doi.org/10.1556/ABiol.66.2015.1.7
- MUKHERJI S. & ROY B. K. 1977. Toxic Effects of chromium on germinating seedlings and potato tuber slices. Biochemie und Physiologie der Pflanzen. 171(3): 235-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-3796(17)30300-1
- MURTHY M. K., KHANDAYATARAY P. & SAMAL D. 2022. Chromium toxicity and its remediation by using endophytic bacteria and nanomaterial's: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management.* 318: 115620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.115620
- MUSHTAQ Z., ASGHAR H. N. & ZAHIR Z. A. 2021. Comparative growth analysis of okra (Abelmoschus esculentus) in the presence of PGPR and press mud in chromium contaminated soil. Chemosphere. 262: 127865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127865
- MUSHTAQ Z, LIAQUAT M., NAZIR A., LIAQUAT R., IFTIKHAR H., ANWAR W. & ITRAT N. 2022. Potential of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria to mitigate chromium contamination. *Environmental Technology & Innovation.* 28: 102826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2022.102826
- NAMBIAR V. S., DHADUK J. J., SAREEN N., SHAHU T. & DESAI R. 2011. Potential functional implication of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) in health and disease. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Scicence*. 1(10): 62-67.
- NAZ A., KHAN S., QASIM M., KHALID S., MUHAMMAD S. & TARIQ M. 2013. Metals toxicity and its bioaccumulation in purslane seedlings grown in controlled environment. *Natural Science*. 5(5): 573-579. https://doi.org/10.4236/ns.2013.55073
- NODELKOSKA T. Y. & DORAN P. M. 2000. Interactive effects of temperature and metal stress on the growth and some biochemical compounds in wheat seedlings. *Environmental Pollution*. **107**(3): 315-320. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00177-3
- OZDENER Y., AYDIN B. K., AYGUN S. F. & YUREKLI F. 2011. Effect of hexavalent chromim on the growth and physiologicl and biochemical parameters on *Brassica oleracea* L. var. *acephala* DC. *Acta Biologica Hungarica*. **62**(4): 463-476. https://doi.org/10.1556/ABiol.62.2011.4.11
- PANDEY S. K. & PANDEY S. K. 2008. Germination and seedling growth of field Pea Pisum sativum Malviya Matar-15 (HUDP-15) and Pusa Prabhat (DDR-23) under varying level of copper and chromium. American Journal of Science. 4(3): 28-40.
- PILLAY A. E., WILLIAMS J. R., EL MARDI M. O., AL-LAWATI S. M., AL-HADABBI M. H. & AL-HAMDI A. 2003. Risk assessment of chromium and arsenic in date palm leaves used as livestock feed. *Environment International*. 29(5): 541-545. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(03)00011-4
- PRADAS DEL REAL A. E., GARCÍA-GONZALO P., LOBO M. C. & PÉREZ-SANZ A. 2014. Chromium speciation modifies root exudation in two genotypes of *Silene vulgaris*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 107: 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.05.002
- PRASAD S., YADAV K. K., KUMAR S., GUPTA N., MARINA M. S., REZANIA S., RADWAN N. & ALAM J. 2021. Chromium contamination and effect on environmental health and its remediation: a sustainable approaches. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 285: 112174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112174
- PRODGERS R. A. & INSKEEP W. P. 1981. Heavy metals tolerance of inland salt grass Distichlis spicata. Great Basin Naturalist. 51: 271-278.
- SATURNI L., FERRETTI G. & BACCHETTI T. 2010. The gluten free diet; safety and nutritionally quality. *Nutrients*. **2**(1): 16-34.
- SHANKER A. K., CERVANTES C., LOZA-TAVERA H. & AVUDAINAVAGAM S. 2005. Chromium toxicity in plants. Environment International. 31(5): 739-753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2005.02.003
- SINGH S., PARIHAR P., SINGH R., SINGH V. P. & PRASAD S. M. 2015. Heavy metal tolerance in plants: role of transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and ionomics. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 6: 1143. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.01143
- SINGH D., SHARMA N. L., SINGH C. K., SARKAR S. K., SINGH I. & DOTANIYA M. L. 2020. Effect of chromium (VI) toxicity on morpho-physiological characteristics, yield, and yield components of two chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) varieties. *PLoS ONE*. 15(12): e0243032. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0243032
- SINGH S., DUBEY N. K. & SINGH V. P. 2022a. Nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide independently act in mitigating chromium stress in *Triticum aestivum* L. seedlings: Regulation of cell death, chromium uptake, antioxidant system, sulfur assimilation and proline metabolism. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 183: 76-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2022.05.004
- SINGH S. K., SUHEL M., HUSAIN T., PRASAD S. M. & SINGH V. P. 2022b. Hydrogen sulfide manages hexavalent chromium toxicity in wheat and rice seedlings: the role of sulfur assimilation and ascorbate-glutathione cycle. *Environmental Pollution*. 307, 2022, 119509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119509
- SMEETS K., OPDENAKKER K., REMANS T., SANDEN S. V., BELLEGHEM F. V., SEMANE B., HOREMAN B., GUISEZ Y., VANGRONSVELD J. & CUYPERS A. 2009. Oxidative stress-related responses at transcriptional and enzymatic levels after exposure to Cd or Cu in a multipollutant context. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 166(18): 1982-1992.
- THAKUR S., SINGH L., WAHID ZA., WAHID ZA., SIDDIQUI M. F., ATNAW S. M. & DIN M. F. 2016. Plant driven removal of heavy metals from soil: uptake, translocation, tolerance mechanism, challenges, and future perspectives. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*. 188: 206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5211-9
- TORRESDEY J. L. G., DE LA ROSA G., PERALTA-VIDEA J. R. & MONTES M. 2005. A study of the differential uptake and transportation of trivalent and hexavalent chromium by Tumble weed (*Salsola kali*). Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 48(2): 225-232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-003-0162-x
- ULHASSAN Z., YANG S., HE D., KHAN A. R., SALAM A., AZHAR W., MUHAMMAD S., ALI S., HAMID Y., KHAN I., SHETEIWY M. S. & ZHOU W. 2023. Seed priming with nano-silica effectively ameliorates chromium toxicity in *Brassica napus. Journal of Hazardous Materials.* 458: 131906, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2023. 131906.
- WAKEEL A. & XU M. 2020. Chromium morpho-phytotoxicity. *Plants.* 9(5): 564. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9050564
 WANI K. I., NAEEM M. & AFTAB T. 2022. Chromium in plant-soil nexus: Speciation, uptake, transport and sustainable remediation techniques. *Environmental Pollution.* 315: 120350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120350

How to cite this article:

IQBAL M. Z., MURTAZA S. & SHAFIQ M. 2023. Effects of chromium stress on seed germination and early seedling growth performances of pearl millet *Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br. (Poaceae). J. Plant Develop. 30: 99-107. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.919

BIODIVERSITY OF AQUATIC PLANTS AND MICROFLORA IN TAGWAI DAM, NIGERIA

Habiba Maikudi MUHAMMED^{1*}, Usman Ibrahim HAMZA¹, Danladi Garba HANI², Aliyu Danjuma ALIYU¹, Alhassan Usman GABI¹, Ibrahim YAHAYA¹, Hauwa Hussaini NDAYAKO¹, Maikarfi MONDAY¹

¹ Department of Biological Sciences, Ibrahim Badamasi Babangida University, Lapai, Niger State – Nigeria.
² Department of Plant science and Biotechnology, Kebbi State University of Science and Technology, Aliero, Kebbi State – Nigeria.
* Corresponding author. E-mail: habibamaliyu@gmail.com; mmhabiba@ibbu.edu.ng, ORCID: 0000-0003-2225-3407

Abstract: Aquatic biodiversity of microflora and plants are the varieties of organisms and the ecosystems that make up the wetlands of the world and their interactions. Tagwai Dam is located in Chanchaga local government area of Niger State, Nigeria, located between longitude 60°39' to 60°44' East and latitude 34° to 90°37' North to South-west of Minna, Niger State, Nigeria. Transect sampling collection of aquatic flora and phytosociological method was adopted by using planktonic net, sterilized poly pots and plastic bottles from five sampling stations. Isolation and identification of microflora was conducted using serial dilution for bacterial species and biochemical tests for the identification. Agar pour plate method for the isolation and morphological characteristics for the identification of fungal species. The dominant families of aquatic plants included Araceae, Nymphaeaeceae, Alismataceae, Marsileaceae and Ceratophyllaceae. The identified bacterial species were Salmonella species, Proteus species, Psuedomonas species, Enterobacter species, while, the fungal species identified were Aspergillus species, Mucor pusillus, Penicillum notatum and Candida albicans were the most dominant microflora found from the sampling stations. The abundance and identification of these aquatic plants and microflora revealed there biodiversity and importance as they serve source of food and energy to the wetland. Aquatic plants and micro flora make up the ecosystem more reliable and comfortable for the aquatic animals and zooplanktons. They are the primary source of energy, the first organisms in food chain in a wetland community.

Keywords: aquatic plants, biodiversity, ecosystem, microflora, transect sampling, wetlands.

Introduction

Aquatic flora make water bodies more important, due to the introduction of non-native species from one part of the world. Some are beneficial or of horticultural interest while majority escaped cultivation leading to acid spread problems [EVERITT & al. 2011]. Documented of fresh water aquatic flora will encourage water chemistry, hydrologic regime, temperature, sedimentation and availability of biodiversity with rich species. The aquatic flora [DEGOOSH, 2014] are phytoplankton ecosystem with different descriptive morphology, importance and nutritive value for aquatic faunas and they serve as primary producer, medicinal, water purifiers, absorbance of carbon dioxide, hide out, spawning site for aquatic faunas and other terrestrial faunas.

Aquatic flora are floating and rooted flora of hydrophytes known as macrophytes and phytoplankton in the study of water ecosystem. They are herbs, shrubs, legumes, forage, fruits

BIODIVERSITY OF AQUATIC PLANTS AND MICROFLORA IN TAGWAI DAM, NIGERIA

or fruitless producing flowers, leaves with or no trichome with swollen and stolon or rhizomes Some are perennial monocot found in all types of water bodies [RODGERS, 2014]. They are also grasses, vegetables and rooted plants with smooth succulent or rough pine stem and lamina. They have mechanism in leaf and root capable of receiving oxygen, nutrient and water from aquatic environment with modified stem and leaves for storage and absorbance of photosynthetic activities. Most of their roots are feathery, blunt and shallow to the soil or attachment for dangling freely in water, for example water hyacinth with rooted leaves. Though, some are vegetative in nature with leaves and fruit [RODGERS, 2014], for example *Elodea* sp., *Cabomba* sp., *Ceratopteris thalictroides, Mourera fluvialitis*, micro sword and rooted algae. They are of different species which constitute macrophytes and phytoplankton. The aquatic flora are grouped into flaunting leaves, free floating, surmerged plants and emergent flora though some are tall, minutes, short in nature [DEGOOSH, 2014].

Aquatic plants and microflora can be seen growing abundantly in differ water bodies, lakes and water ways in every side of the world [MOHAMMED & al. 2013]. Some are floating, submerged and others are emerged. However, some are producers of amino acid, presence of anti-nutritional factor (ANF's), some have excess crude fibers, presence of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin [KHAN & GHOSH, 2012]. They also have proximate composition of ash, crude protein and crude fat.

They are the main source of freshwater retention, and their chemical constituent need adequate growth of aquatic flora for optimum concentration of much needed nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus) with calcium and other nutrient element [MANAHAN, 2005]. Some aquatic macrophytes are used for aesthetics, drainage, fishing, flood control, hydropower generating, irrigation, navigation, recreation and ultimately land values. Assessment of aquatic flora is of more important in the previous years over the implementation of National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) to regulate aquatic plants management, mostly the qualitative assessment of nuisance plant. Aquatic flora might help in reducing floods, contribute to the development of climate and weather that will supply enough dissolved oxygen (DO) to the ecosystem and may tend to reduce the deflection of ozone layer. Many microscopic organisms infect fishes, causing spoilage of aquatic environment and loss of income either by the cost of medication treatment or direct loss of the organism to infectious diseases; while some are of zoonotic potential, causing diseases in animal and human, and some may produce metabolites that can cause positive effect to man and animal [KEDDY, 2010].

The aquatic flora have some new importance but undiscovered. Marine flora are consumed by human as macro-algae, used in pharmaceutical, use as biomass feedback while freshwater flora are demanded in water garden and aquarium planting [BHARATHIRAJA & al. 2015]. Hydrophytes are used as food source notably in south east Asia but uncooked ones are involve in transmission of Fasciolopsiasis and they are source of animal nutrition, for example *Eichornia* sp. (water hyacinth), *Lemna minor* (duckweed) and *Trichanthera gigantea* (suiban) [HILL & al. 2011].

Identification of aquatic plants and microflora are broadly disturbing in Tagwai Dam, Niger State due to poor management of the water body and destruction of native flora, over grassing and water pollution. The aquatic plants and microflora are the modest of ecosystem hence they are the primary producer and ecosystem repairer. The aim of this study is the assessment of biodiversity of aquatic plants and micro flora in Tagwai Minna, Niger State, Nigeria.

Material and methods

Study Area

The study was carried out at Tagwai Reservoir, Minna, Niger State, Nigeria. Tagwai reservoir has a total surface area of 44 hectares, and storage capacity of 28.3 million m^3 of water. It has a depth of 25 meters and a length of 18 km. The reservoir was constructed in 1980 on longitude 60°39' to 60°44' East, and latitude 34° to 90°39' North to South-West of Minna [MUHAMMED & al. 2019].



Figure 1. Map of Tagwai Dam. Source: Niger State water Board, Minna, Nigeria

Samples Collection

Transect sampling collection of aquatic flora and physical characteristic (Phytosociological) method of collection was adapted by using planktonic net, polypots and plastic bottles in five different locations of the dam with labeling p01a, p02b, p03c, p04d and p05eon weekly basis in the morning and evening for a period of four months. The map of the study area as shown in Figure 1. A 20 ml syringe Horst was attached at the bottom of the planktonic net with about 30 centimeters radius of iron rod which the net was hanged on and along (8 ft) foot stick in length for handling and taking water sample from the located point. The samples were used for the identification of aquatic flora in the Dam. More than 200 square meters away from each sampling point was use in order to avoid over distribution of aquatic the same aquatic flora species in any sampling point MADSEN & WERSAL (2017).

The water samples in the five sampling station were transported to the laboratory of Biological sciences department at Ibrahim Badamasi Babangida University Lapai for microbial analysis. The preserved samples were allowed to settled at room temperature for three days and the samples was shake for free phytoplankton and siphoned for the sample to be minimized to 10 ml for modified form for counting of cell and mount on Stereo microscope. The phytoplankton were counted identified and placed on their groups [KOLOANDA & OLADIMEJI, 2004].

BIODIVERSITY OF AQUATIC PLANTS AND MICROFLORA IN TAGWAI DAM, NIGERIA

Identification and the distribution of aquatic flora in Tagwai Dam

The aquatic flora were identified based on their root and leaves with the help of an atlas by [SPALDING, 2010]. The aquatic flora were identified, classified according to their species and types and also the rate of their percentage distribution / percentage frequency distribution of aquatic flora was determined by: sum = (no. of flora at a location x 100) / total number of flora.

Serial dilution of water samples

The water samples collected in the five different locations (p01a to p05e) were serially diluted in accordance to [ANDERSON, 2011].

Microbial analysis of the water samples

Prepared Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA) and Nutrient Agar were poured into 30 petri dishes, 15 petri dishes were used for each media in a sterile and conducive environment. After pouring of the medium, it was allowed to solidify and then spread plate the medium by inoculating the 10^{-3} , 10^{-4} and 10^{-5} test tube samples into the media in 3 petri dishes for each sample as described by [EFUNTOYE & al. 2012].

Characterization and identification of the microbial isolates

The fungal and the bacterial isolates from the water samples were characterized and identified based on their morphological characteristics, biochemical properties such as mannitol salt agar test, oxidase test, indole test, citrate utilization test, triple sugar iron test, gram staining and microscopic characteristics as described by CHEESBROUGH (2005).

Data analysis

The method adapted for the collection of aquatic flora was survey and transect sampling [JOHNSON & NEWMAN, 2011] where collection of data involved using of chart and tables assessment in field and laboratory. The determination of data was obtained using excel: formula = Average, mean (total number of species). The average percentage of aquatic plants distribution average was 3.1%, bacteria was with the average of 9, while fungi has average of 12% in frequency distribution.

Results

Identification and the distribution of aquatic flora

Thirty five (35) aquatic plants were identified and classified into ten (10) families, nine (9) orders and twelve (12) species and into habitat in accordance to plants habitat with *Mimosa pigra* and *Cyperus* species having the higher percentage of distribution while *Persicaria senegalensis* was less though invasive and nuisance flora accumulated into the eastern axis of the reservoir (Table 1). The distribution of aquatic flora in Tagwai Dam were: *Mimosa pigra*, *Persicaria senegalensis*, *Wolfia* sp., *Nymphaea* sp., *Ludwigia* sp., *Pistia stratiotes*, *Hydrocleys nymphoides*, *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Lagarosiphon* sp., *Marsilea* sp., *Cyperus* sp., *Schoenoplectus* sp. (Table 2).

Habiba Maikudi MUHAMMED & al.

Table 1. Identification of aquatic flora of Tagwai Dam					
Common name	Family	Order	Genus	Species	
Giant sensitive tree	Fabaceae	Fabales	Mimosa	pigra	
Snakeroot	Polygonaceae	Caryophyllales	Persicaria	senegalensis	
Duckweed	Araceae	Alimatales	Wolffia	sp.	
Water lily	Nymphaeaceae	Nymphaeales	Nymphaea	sp.	
Alligator weed	Onagraceae	Myrtales	Ludwigia	sp.	
Water lettuce	Araceae	Alismatales	Pistia	stratiotes	
Water poppy	Alismataceae	Alismatales	Hydrocleys	nymphoides	
Coontail	Ceratophyllaceae	Ceratophyllales	Ceratophyllum	demersum	
Oxygen weed	Hydrocharitacea	Alismatales	Lagarosiphon	major	
Water clover	Marsileaceae	Salviniales	Marsilea	sp.	
Giant sedge	Cyperaceae	Poales	Cyperus	ustulatus	
Water reed	Cyperaceae	Poales	Schoenoplectus	subterminalis	

Source: Authors collection

Table 2. Distribution of aquatic flora in Tagwai Dam

Aquatic flora	Number	Percentage (%)
Mimosa pigra	5	13.5
Persicaria senegalensis	1	2.7
<i>Wolffia</i> sp.	2	5.4
<i>Nymphaea</i> sp.	3	8.1
Ludwigia sp.	4	10.8
Pistia stratiotes	3	8.1
Hydrocleys nymphoides	1	2.7
Ceratophyllum dermersum	4	10.8
Lagarosiphon sp.	2	5.4
Marsilea sp.	3	8.6
Cyperus ustulatus	5	13.5
Schoenoplectus subterminalis	3	8.1
Total	37	99.9

Source: Authors collection

The total viable counts of the bacterial isolates from the five sampling stations of the Tagwai Dam was shown in Table 3.

	1				
Table 4	Total	viable	count of	hacteria	isolates
Table 5.	rotar	viable	count or	Dacteria	15014105

Location	Dilution factor	Number of colonies	Population (cf/ml)
P01a	10-3	108	1.85
P01b	10-4	64	6.45
P02a	10-3	90	0.95
P02b	10-4	47	4.75
P03a	10-3	43	0.435
P03b	10-4	19	1.95
P04a	10-3	96	0.965
P04b	10-4	50	5.0 ⁵
P05a	10-3	92	0.925
P05b	10-4	40	4.05

Keys: P01a to P05e = station

BIODIVERSITY OF AQUATIC PLANTS AND MICROFLORA IN TAGWAI DAM, NIGERIA

The bacterial species identified, total number of colonies and the percentage distribution of the bacterial species in Tagwai Dam as shown in Table 4.

Bacteria species identified	Number of colonies	Morphology	Percentage (%)
Salmonella sp.	3	Rods	5.3
Proteus sp.	7	Rods	12.5
Escherichia coli	14	Rods	25
Pseudomonas sp.	8	Rods	14.3
Enterobacter sp.	16	Rods	28.6
Staphylococcus sp.	4	Cocci	7.1
Shigella sp.	4	Rods	7.1

Table 4. Total number of colonies and percentage distribution of bacteria in Tagwai Dam

Source: Authors collection

The fungal species identified and their frequency of occurrence from the sampling stations during the period of collection was shown in Table 5.

Fungal species identified	First	Second Dish	Total count.	Percentage (%)
Aspergillus niger	4	8	12	16.9
Aspergillus flavus	5	10	14	19.7
Aspergillus fumigatus	6	3	9	12.7
Mucor pusillus	4	9	13	18.3
Penicillum notatum	3	7	10	14.0
Candida albicans	7	6	13	18.3

 Table 5. Identification and their frequency of occurrence fungal isolates

Source: Authors collection

Discussion

The percentage distribution of Mimosa pigra of the family Fabaceae, and Cyperus ustulatus of the family Cyperaceae as the most dominant hydrophytes with 13.5% each while, the least species of distribution was observed in *Persicaria senegalensis* of the family Polygonaceae and Hydroclevs nymphoides of the family Alismataceae with 2.7% each during the period of collection. This might probably be as a result of environmental factors such as rainfall and vegetation type of the plants habitat in Tagwai Dam. This is in agreement with the findings of ADESINA & al. (2011), who reported that hydrophytes with free floating and emergent plants such as the Fabaceae and Cyperaceae formed the highest frequency distribution of 93.3% with dominant species irrespective of season in Jebba Lake, the dominant species are being Mimosa pigra and Vossia cuspidata. DIENYE (2015) reported that Cyperaceae had the highest species abundance and lowest were recorded in other families in New Calabar River. Also, the findings of IDOWU & NGAMARJU (2011) reported that high abundance of species composition of aquatic hydrophytes at Lake Alau in Nigeria during the rainy season has increased the water level which had favoured the increased in aquatic free floating and emergent vegetation. The presence of Nymphaea sp. and Pistia stratiotes in some of the sampling stations might be due to the effects of transportation of wastes from domestic and industrial sources from the surroundings of the dam into these stations, these activities could enhanced the growth of these plants. ALFRED & al. (2014) reported that soil erosion, flooding, transportation of

Habiba Maikudi MUHAMMED & al.

nutrient-rich industrial and domestic sources can provide rich nutrients that can boost *Nymphaea* sp. and *Pistia stratiotes* plant growth parameters and there propagules. OBOT & MBAGWU (1988) also reported that anthropogenic changes caused eutrophication of lakes, altering aquatic vegetation species and abundance in water bodies.

The bacteria species identified in the sampling stations were *Salmonella* sp., *Proteus* sp., *Staphylococcus* sp., *Esherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas* sp., *Enterobacter* sp. and *Shigella* sp. The presence and abundance of some of these bacteria species could be attributed to human domestic activities such as wastes disposal, washing at the water banks, fishing with hazardous chemicals. This corroborated with the findings of CHUKWUEMAKA & al. (2019) who reported *Salmonella* sp., *Staphylococcus* sp. and *Esherichia coli* in Tagwai Lake, as responsible for water borne disease. Also, the reports of ADAMU & al. (2022) , reported *Esherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas* sp. as the common encountered species in water and other aquatic products in Lake Dangana, Nigeria. *Esherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Staphylococcus* sp. identified in this study, have been previously reported by OBIRE & AGUDA (2015), ADAMU & al. (2022) as bacterial species that are actively involved in organic materials decomposition which might have been as a result of the water through the surface run-off from the lake surroundings. SINGLETON & SAINSBURY (2001) in their findings reported these bacteria species as causative agents of gastrointestinal disorders such as diarrhea and upper respiratory infections.

The fungi species isolated and identified in the sampling stations were *Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus fumigatus, Mucor pusillus, Penicillum notatum* and *Candida albicans.* The presence and abundance of some of the fungi species could be as a result of organic materials degradation in the water body. ADAMU & al. (2022) reported that *Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus fumigatus, Mucor pusillus,* and *Penicillum* sp. as waste degraders in Dangana Lake, Nigeria. Similar findings were reported by ARIYO & OBIRE (2016), SOKOLO & al. (2018), ADAMU & al. (2018) as waste degraders in aquatic environments.

Conclusion

The identification and determination of the aquatic plants distribution in Tagwai Dam revealed that *Mimosa pigra* and *Cyperus ustulatus* are the dominant distributed flora with 13.5% while *Persicaria senegalensis* and *Hydrocleys nympoides* are the least with 2.7%. Though, more abundance species of plants are in Station one (p01a), the eastern axis of the dam with high rate of invasive and nuisance flora species accumulating the site which might lead to eutrophication of the reservoir. Also in the isolation and identifying of microflora (fungal and bacterial species) from the five different locations of Dam showed that *Enterobacter* species have the high rate of distribution of 28.6%, while *Salmonella* species has the low distribution of 5.3%. For the fungi *Aspergillus flavus* have higher percentage of 19.7% and the *Aspergillus fumigatus* distributed at low percentage of 12.7%. The dam has average of 1% of aquatic flora distribution.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the entire staff of the Laboratory of Biological sciences Department of Ibrahim Badamasi Babangida University, Lapai, Niger State, Nigeria for providing technical assistance during this research.

Conflict of interest

Authors declare that they have no conflict of interest. The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

BIODIVERSITY OF AQUATIC PLANTS AND MICROFLORA IN TAGWAI DAM, NIGERIA References

- ADAMU K. M., MOHAMMED Y. M., IBRAHIM U. F., ABDULLAHI I. L. & JIMOH Y. O. 2022. Assessment of some physical, chemical and biological parameters of Lake Dangana, Nigeria. *Research Square*. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1863785/v1
- ADAMU K. M., ADEBOLA M. O., ILOBA I. K., JONATHAN D., ABDULLAHI A. S., ONYEMATA E. K. & IKOMI B. R. 2018. Are fungi isolated from water and fish samples in Lapai-Agaie Dam, Nigeria pathogenic to human health? *Production Agriculture and Technology*. 14(2): 58-67.
- ADESINA G. O., AKINYEMIJU O. A. & MOUGHALU J. I. 2011. Checklist of the aquatic macrophytes of Jebba Lake, Nigeria. *Ife Journal of Science*. **13**(1): 93-105.
- ANDERSON L. 2011. Freshwater plants and seaweeds. Aquatic plants, their uses and risks. In: SIMBERLOFF D. & REJMANEK M. (eds.). 2011. Encyclopedia of biological invasion. University of California Press, Berkeley: 765 p.
- ALFRED A. J., ENOCH I. M. & HUGHES I. U. 2014. Rainy season identification and species characteristics of aquatic macrophytes in the floodplains of River Benue at Makurdi. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*. 16(6): 145-165.
- ARIYO A. B. & OBIRE O. 2016. Microbial population and hydrocarbon utilizing microorganism from Abattoir soils in the Niger Delta. *Current Studies in Comparative Education Science and Technology*. **3**(1): 228-237.
- BHARATHIRAJA B., CHAKRAVARTHY M., RANJITH KUMAR R., YOGENDRAN D., YUVARAJ D., JAYAMUTHUNAGAI J., PRAVEEN KUMAR R. & PALANI S. 2015. Aquatic biomass (algae) as a future feed stock for bio-refineries: A review on cultivation, processing and products. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews.* 47(C): 634-653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.03.047
- CHEESBROUGH M. 2005. Distinct laboratory practice in tropical countries, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, New York. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511581304
- CHUKWUEMAKA V. I., OLAJIDE K. O., AUTA Y. I., SAMUEL P. O., AUTA H. S. & ERHABOR O. F. 2019. Physicochemical and bacteriological analysis of Tagwai Lake Minna Niger State. *Freshwater biological association of Nigeria*, 2nd Annual Conference Books of Proceeding: 121-131.
- CONDE D., BONITA S., AUBRIOT L., DE LEON R. & PINTOS W. 2007. Relative contribution of planktonic and benthic microalgae production in a eutrophic coastal lagoon of South America. *Journal of Limnology*. 78: 207-212.
- DEGOOSH K. 2014. Guide to understanding freshwater aquatic plants. DEM Office of Water Resources. (401) 222-4700, 11 pp.
- DIENYE H. E. 2015. Species diversity of macrophytes of the New Calabar River, Niger Delta, Nigeria. *International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies*. **3**(1): 409-413.
- EFUNTOYE M. O., OLURIN K. B. & JEGEDE G. C. 2012. Bacterial flora from healthy *Clarias gariepinus* and their antimicrobial resistance pattern. *Advance Journal of Food Science and Technology*. 4(3): 121-125.
- EVERITT J. H., YANG C., SUMMY K. R., GLOMSKI L. M. & OWENS C. S. 2011. Evaluation of hyperspectral reflectance data for discriminating six aquatic weeds. *Journal of Aquatic Plants Management*. 49: 94-100.
- HILL M. P., COETZEE J., JULIEN M. H. & CENTER T. 2011. Water Hyacinth, pp. 689-692. In: SIMBERLOFF D. & REJMÁNEK M. (eds.). Encyclopedia of biological invasions. University of California Press, Berkeley, California, 765 pp.
- IDOWU R. T. & NGAMARJU G. U. 2011. Aquatic macrophyte composition in Lake Alau, Arid Zone of Nigeria in West Africa. *Nature and Science*. 9(9): 14-18.
- MADSEN J. D. & WERSAL R. M. 2017. A review of aquatic plant monitoring and assessment method. *Journal of* Aquatic Plant Management. 55: 1-12.
- JOHNSON J. A. & NEWMAN R. M. 2011. A comparison of two methods for sampling Biomas of aquatic plants. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management. 49: 1-8.
- KEDDY P. A. 2010. Wetland Ecology: Principles and conservation (2nd edition). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom. p. 497. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511778179
- KHAN A. & GOSH K. 2012. Characterization and identification of gut-associated phytase-producing bacteria in some fresh water fish cultured in ponds. Acta Ichthyologica et Piscatoria. 42(1): 37-45. https://doi.org/10.3750/AIP2011.42.1.05
- KOLOANDA R. J. & OLADIMEJI A. A. 2004. Water quality and some nutrient level in Shiroro Lake, Niger State, Nigeria. Journal of Aquatic Sciences. 19(2): 99-106. https://doi.org/10.4314/jas.v19i2.20031
- MANAHAN S. E. 2005. Environmental Chemistry. 7th edition. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Fl, 898 pp.
- MOHAMMED H. A., UKA U. N. & YAURI Y. A. B. 2013. Evaluation of nutritional composition of water lily (Nymphaea lotus Linn.) from Tatabu Flood Plain, North-central, Nigeria. Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science. 8(1): 261-264. https://doi.org/10.3923/jfas.2013.261.264

- MUHAMMED H. M., IBRAHIM B. U., BALOGU D. O., ISAH M. C. & MUSA A. I. 2019. Biodiversity of fishes of Tagwai reservoir, Minna, Niger State, Nigeria. Cogent Biology. 5(1): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1080/23312025.2018.1564525
- OBIRE O. & AGUDA M. 2015. Impact of human activities on the bacteriological quality of Kolo creek in Nigeria. Current Studies in Comparative Education, Science and Technology. 2(1): 81-95
- OBOT E. A. & MBAGWU I. G. 1988. Successional pattern of aquatic macrophytes in Jebba Lake. African. Journal of Ecology: 26: 295-300. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2028.1988.TB00981.X
- OKAYI R. G., DAKU V. & MBATA F. U. 2013. Some aquatic macrophytes and water quality parameters of river Guma, Benue, Nigeria. Nigerian Journal of Fisheries and Aquaculture. 1(1): 25-30.
- RODGERS J. H. Jr. 2014. Biology and control of aquatic plant. Aquatic ecosystem restoration foundation. *Ecology and management of Noxious Algae, Clemson University.* **14**: 105-111.
- SINGLETON P. & SAINSBURY D. 2001. Dictionary of microbiology and molecular biology. 3rd, John Wiley & Sons, New York: 140-141.
- SOKOLO R. S., ATAGANA H. & AKANI N. P. 2018. Molecular characterization of culturable aerobic hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria and fungi in oil polluted soil at Ebubu-Ejama community, Eleme River State. Journal of Advances in Biology and Biotechnology. 18(4): 1-7. https://doi.org/10.9734/JABB/2018/43507
- SPALDING M. 2010. World atlas of mangroves. 1st edition, Routledge, London, 336 pp.

How to cite this article:

MUHAMMED H. M., HAMZA U. I., HANI D. G., ALIYU A. D., GABI A. U., YAHAYA I., NDAYAKO H. H. & MONDAY M. 2023. Biodiversity of aquatic plants and microflora in Tagwai Dam, Nigeria. J. Plant Develop. 30: 109-117. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.923

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE (*HIBISCUS SABDARIFFA* L.) IN A SEMI-ARID ENVIRONMENT OF NIGERIA

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU^{1*}, Moses Samuel BASSEY², Ishaku James DANTATA³

¹ Department of Agronomy, Bayero University Kano, PMB 3011, Kano State – Nigeria.

² National Cereals Research Institute, Badegi, P.M.B. 8, Niger State – Nigeria.

³ Department of Agronomy, Federal University Gashua, PMB 1005, Yobe State – Nigeria.

* Corresponding author. Email: seabraham.agr@buk.edu.ng. ORCID: 0000-0003-0639-009X

Field trial was conducted during the 2019/2020 cropping seasons to determine the effect of cultivar and Abstract: weed control strategies on the productivity of roselle in a semi-arid environment. The trials comprised of two cultivars (deep red and white) and seven weed control strategies (pendimethalin at 2.0, butachlor 2.0, butachlor 1.5 + pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹, butachlor 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS, pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS, hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS, and weedy check) which were factorially combined and replicated thrice in a Randomized complete block design. The application of pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹, as well as the deep red roselle cultivar, resulted in significant (P<0.01) increase in the number of days to 50% emergence, crop injury scores, and lowest stand count. The weedy check, on the other hand, recorded the lowest crop vigor score, plant height, number of leaves plant⁻¹, leaf area, and leaf area index. Similarly, weedy check had the lowest fresh fruit weight, fresh capsule weight, dried capsule weight, seed weight, seed yield, and 1000 seed weight when compared to the other weed control strategies. Weed cover and weed density were similar in weedy check compared to the other weed control strategies, but treatment efficiency index was significantly (P<0.01) higher with application of two hoe weeding's at 3 WAS and 6 WAS, butachlor 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS and pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS. Deep roselle cultivar outperformed white roselle in terms of growth and yield characters. Therefore, the cultivation of deep red roselle with butachlor and pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS can be adopted in place of hoe weeding for season long weed control in the study area.

Keywords: cultivar, productivity, roselle, yield, weed control strategy.

Introduction

The semi-arid ecology is an integral part of a dryland area found worldwide with an aridity index of 0.20-0.50 and with about 34% of its land under cultivation [SAFRIEL & al. 2005]. Dryland ecosystems are considered to be under threat [ADEEL & al. 2005; SAFRIEL & al. 2005] due to loss of biodiversity, increasing soil degradation, poverty, drought, and encroachment of invasive species which impede crop and livestock production [REYNOLDS & al. 2007; COTULA & al. 2006; 2009]. This can be mitigated by encouraging farmers to enhance their crop production ventures, especially those with household and industrial applications, since they have the potential to improve their socioeconomic standing. Crop production, on the other hand, faces a number of obstacles posed by biotic and abiotic stress, including determining which agronomic approaches are best for a given crop in a given ecosystem. Biotic variables are the most important component in ensuring a crop's predicted yield. Weed infestation becomes more significant among biotic variables depending on the weed

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE...

flora and duration of weed competition [THAKUR & al. 2016]. Semi-arid dryland soil contains approximately 100-300 million buried weed seeds per hectare, of which only a percentage germinate and emerge each year, resulting in crop-weed competition for limited environmental resources [CHIKOYE & al. 2004], Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.), of Malvaceae family, crop native to Central and West Africa. It is, however, mostly grown in tropical and subtropical places around the world for its tasty calyces [AMIN & al. 2008; PURSEGLOVE, 1991]. Apart from the nutritional and physiological benefits that the crop provides, it also provides a considerable source of revenue for subsistence rural farmers in Africa's drylands [NYARKO & al. 2006; ATTA & al. 2010]. The Roselle seeds until now do not have any commercial applications though they are a valuable food resource on account of their protein, calorie and substantial amount of fiber and valuable micro-nutrient [AKANBI & al. 2009; NORHAYATI & al. 2019]. The seeds contain an edible fixed oil (17-20%) similar with cotton seed oil properties [OTTAI & al. 2004; OTTAI & ABD-EL-KHAIR, 2004; HUSSEIN & al. 2010; HASSAN & al. 2014]. Roselle is more prone to weed infestation, especially at the beginning of its life cycle, because of its slow initial growth behavior, which reduces canopy cover. An effective weed management practices is necessary for higher crop production and better economic returns of any crop production venture. As a result, weed control in the crop has become increasingly important. The need to evaluate the effectiveness of some weed control strategies and choices of cultivars becomes imperative towards ensuring sustainable roselle production in the semi-arid dryland areas.

Materials and methods

Experimental site

The experiment was carried out during the 2019/2020 seasons at the Research and Training Farm of the Centre for Dry Land Agriculture, Bayero University Kano ($12^{\circ}43'$ N Latitude; $8^{\circ}31'0.9''$ E Longitude; altitude of 481 m above sea level). The maximum temperature fluctuated between 29.7 °C and 40.2 °C, while the minimum temperature ranged between 20.7 °C and 26.5 °C, with a total amount of rainfall of 989.8 mm falling from June to October. The soil at the experimental site was sandy loam with a pH of 6.37, low organic carbon (0.49 g/kg), low available N (0.04 percent), low available P (31.7 mg/kg), and medium available K (0.19 cmol/kg).

Treatments and experimental design

The experiment included seven (7) weed control treatments and two roselle cultivars (white and deep red roselle) factorially combined and laid out in a randomize complete block design (RCBD) and replicated three (3) times.

Land preparation and sowing

Prior to marking out individual plots, the experimental field was harrowed twice. The gross and net plot was 3 x 4 m and 4.5 m² respectively, with 0.5 m and 1.0 m between subplots and replicates. Cultivars were sourced from the National Horticultural Research Institute (NIHORT) Kano Station, Bagauda, and 5 seeds of each cultivar were sowed per hole before being pruned to two plants per stand-1 at 2 WAS (weeks after sowing).

Treatment and fertilizer application

The herbicides were administered pre-emergence two days after sowing with a knapsack sprayer equipped with a blue deflector polyjet nozzle and set at 2.1 kg m⁻² pressure to

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU & al.

provide a spray volume of 250 L ha⁻¹. To avoid wind drift, the spraying was done first thing in the morning. Herbicides were used in accordance with the treatment plan. Hoe weeding was performed at 3 and 6 WAS for hoe weeded treatments, respectively, and at 6 WAS for the treatments assigned to additional hoe weeding. Weedy check plots were left unweeded for comparison during the experiment period. The optimal fertilizer rate was applied at 2 WAS at the rate of 300 kg ha⁻¹ of N, P₂O₅, and K₂O in the form of NPK 20-10-10.

Data collection and Data analysis

Data were collected on growth and yield characters of roselle, as well as on weed attributes. The data acquired in the field was subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GENSTAT (17th edition). Significant means were separated using the Student Newman-Keuls Test (SNK) at a 5% level of probability.

Results and discussion

Effect of weed control strategy and cultivar on growth characters

Weed control strategy was only significant on days to 50% emergence; weed control strategy and cultivar were both significant on crop injury scores, days to 50% flowering and stand count at harvest, but the interaction was only significant on crop injury score (Table 1). When compared to other weed control strategy that resulted in a lower number of days to 50% emergence; application of pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha^{-1} considerably (P ≤ 0.05) increased the number of days to 50% emergence, but was par with butachlor 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ and butachlor 1.5 + pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹. Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ produced the greatest crop injury scores, however it was comparable to other strategies' that caused less crop injury (Table 1). Similarly, pendimethalin 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹, pendimethalin 1.5 + butachlor 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹, and pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS resulted in a lower stand count as compared to other weed control strategies that led in a greater stand count. Weedy check significantly (P \leq 0.05) in increasing the number of days to 50% flowering though at par with application of pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹. The remaining weed control strategies, on the other hand, resulted in decreased number of days to 50% flowering (Table 1). In comparison to the white roselle cultivar, the deep red roselle cultivar produced the highest crop injury scores and longest days to 50% flowering. Stand count was significantly ($P \le 0.01$) higher with white cultivar. Significant interaction was observed on crop injury scores (Table 2). The application of pendimethalin 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ to deep red roselle resulted in the greatest injury score, closely followed by the same treatment applied to white roselle, while other treatments resulted with lower injury values throughout the cultivars. The increase in number of days to 50% emergence, crop injury scores, as well as low stand count obtained in pendimethalin applied at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ and other pendimethalin combinations might be due to the phytotoxic effect of the herbicide on the cultivars. IMOLOAME & al. (2011) in sesame; DANTATA & SHITTU (2014) in sorghum and SHITTU & al. (2021) in roselle, all observed phytotoxic effects of pendimethalin on small-seeded crops, as evidenced by reduced stand counts and high crop injury scores. This confirms the herbicide's ability to include mitotic poisons that impair cell division in susceptible crops and weed seeds. However, depending on their genetic make-up, some sensitive crop genotypes may be able to metabolize it. Weed control strategy was highly significant ($P \le 0.01$) on crop vigor, whereas cultivars and their interaction did not differ significantly.

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE...

 Table 1. Effect of weed control strategy and cultivar on days to 50% emergence, crop injury score, days to 50% flowering, stand count at harvest of roselle during 2019/2020 (pooled data)

Treatment	Days to 50% emergence	Crop injury scores	Days to 50% flowering	Stand count at harvest				
Weed control strategy (W)								
Weedy check	4.17	-	88.17 ^a	18.50 ^a				
Hoe weeded at 3 and 6 WAS	4.33	-	83.33 ^b	21.67 ^a				
Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	5.00	5.50 ^a	85.33 ^{ab}	11.33 ^b				
Butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	4.67	2.88 ^b	83.67 ^b	21.67 ^a				
Butachlor at 1.5 + Pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	4.67	2.17°	85.50 ^b	12.83 ^b				
Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹⁺ SHW at 6 WAS	4.17	2.17°	84.33b	22.33ª				
Pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	4.00	3.00 ^b	85.67 ^b	12.00 ^b				
Level of probability	0.253	0.039	0.002	< 0.001				
$SE(\pm)$	0.303	0.134	0.731	1.139				
Cultivar (C)								
White roselle	4.24	2.80 ^b	76.38 ^b	18.81ª				
Deep red roselle	4.62	3.07 ^a	93.90ª	15.57 ^b				
Level of probability	0.108	<.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
SE (±)	0.162	0.030	0.391	0.609				
Interaction	-		-					
W x C	0.957	0.030	0.558	0.357				

Means followed by the same superscripts in a column are not significantly different at 5% according to Student-Newman-Keuls test (SNK). WAS = weeks after sowing, SHW = supplementary hoe weeding, SE = Standard Error.

Table 2. Interaction between weed	l control strateg	y and cultivar o	on crop injury score of	f roselle during
	2019/2020	(pooled data)		

Cultivar		Weed control strategy						
Cultivar	T1	T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 T						
White roselle	-	-	4.00 ^b	2.67 ^{cd}	2.00 ^{cd}	2.33 ^{cd}	3.00 ^c	
Deep red roselle	-	-	5.00 ^a	3.00 ^c	2.33 ^{cd}	2.00 ^d	3.00°	
SE(±)				0.189				

Means followed by the same superscripts in a column are not significantly different at 5% according to Student-Newman-Keuls test (SNK). T1 = Weedy check; T2 = Hoe weeded at 3 and 6 WAS; T3 = Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹; T4 = Butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹; T5 = Butachlor 1.5 + Pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹; T6 = Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS; T7 = Pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS; T6 = Standard Error.

Plant height, number of leaves, leaf area, and leaf area index were also significant as a result of the weed control strategy and cultivar (Table 3). The application of Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS was highly significantly (P \leq 0.01) and produced the most robust plant, followed by hoe weeding twice at 3 and 6 WAS and butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹. Other treatments, such as weedy checked, resulted in less vigorous plants. Application of butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹, butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS, and hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS increased plant height substantially more than other treatments that resulted in decreased plant height (Table 3). Hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS was highly significant (P \leq 0.01) and resulted in more number of leaves, followed by butachlor 2.0 and butachlor 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS, compared to other treatments that resulted in a significantly lower number of leaves, with weedy check recording the lowest number of leaves plant⁻¹ (Table 3). Application

of butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ was highly significant ($P \le 0.01$) and produced the widest leaves which were closely followed by hoe weeded twice at 3 WAS and 6 WAS, butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS in comparison with other treatments that resulted in wider leaves, while weedy check recorded the narrowest leaf (Table 3). Hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS. and butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha^{-1} was highly significant (P \leq 0.01) and increased LAI, though at par with butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha^{-1} + SHW at 6 WAS and pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha^{-1} + SHW at 6 WAS, compared with weedy check that significantly resulted in the decrease LAI (Table 3). The white roselle cultivar produced significantly taller plants than the Deep red, which produced shorter plants. At 12 WAS, the deep red roselle cultivar considerably ($P \le 0.05$) produced a greater number of leaves plant¹, leaf area, and leaf area index, whereas the white roselle produced the lower values, respectively (Table 3). The increase in plant aspect caused by butachlor application at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ and butachlor application at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS might be attributed to more effective weed management with less phytotoxic effect as compared to pendimethalin rates. RAJU & MITRA (2020) observed that the use of Pretilachlor 50 EC (900 ml ha^{-1}) + one-hand weeding resulted in the best growth parameters and fibre output of roselle. Similarly, SHITTU & al. (2021) also reported the efficacy of butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ and butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS on calvx yield of roselle in Nigeria's Sudan savanna region.

Treatment	Crop vigor at	Plant height (cm)	Number of leaves	Leaf area (cm ²)	Leaf area index
	12 WAS	at 12 WAS	at 12 WAS	at 12 WAS	at 12 WAS
Weed control strategy (W)					
Weedy check	3.83 ^d	56.98 ^b	59.67 ^e	137.8 ^d	1.57°
Hoe weeded at 3 and 6 WAS	7.33 ^b	83.86ª	115.48 ^a	217.8ª	2.91ª
Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	4.83°	58.70 ^b	69.63 ^d	160.5 ^{cd}	2.16 ^b
Butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	7.17 ^b	90.79ª	104.43 ^b	221.9ª	2.81ª
Butachlor at 1.5 + Pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	5.00 ^c	60.56 ^b	75.87 ^{cd}	167.8 ^{cd}	2.16 ^b
Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	8.50 ^a	84.17 ^a	106.96 ^b	200.1 ^{ab}	2.66 ^{ab}
Pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	5.50°	65.19 ^b	79.62°	183.0 ^{bc}	2.44 ^{ab}
Level of probability	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
SE(±)	0.328	2.369	2.152	9.02	0.151
Cultivar (C)					
White roselle	6.10	76.54ª	85.60 ^b	132.6 ^b	1.77 ^b
Deep red roselle	5.95	66.39 ^b	89.16 ^a	235.6ª	2.99ª
Level of probability	0.570	< 0.001	0.038	< 0.001	< 0.001
SE(±)	0.175	1.266	1.150	4.82	0.081
Interaction					
WxC	0.166	0.833	1.010	0.49	0.952

 Table 3. Effect of weed control strategy and cultivar on crop vigor scores, plant height, number of leaves, leaf area and leaf area index of roselle during 2019/2020 (pooled data)

Means followed by the superscripts in a column are not significantly different at 5% according to Student-Newman-Keuls test (SNK). WAS = weeks after sowing; SHW = supplementary hoe weeding; SE = Standard Error.

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE...

Effect of cultivar and weed control strategies on yield and yield related characters

Table 4 presents the effect of cultivar and weed control strategy on number of fruits plant⁻¹, fresh fruit weight, fresh capsule weight, dry capsule weight, seed weight, seed yield and 1000 seed weight of roselle. Weed control strategy was highly significant (P < 0.01) with all the vield characters, cultivar was significant (P < 0.05) except with fresh capsule weight and 1000 seed weight while interaction was not significant (P>0.05) across the yield and yield related characters (Table 4). The application of butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS was highly significant (P \leq 0.01) and produced the height number of fruits plant⁻¹ compared with the remaining weed control strategy. However, it was at par with two hoe weeding's at 3 and 6 WAS and butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ compared with the rest of the treatment that produced lower number of fruits plant. Fresh fruit weight was highly significant ($P \le 0.01$) with the application of hoe weeding twice at 3 and 6 WAS, though at par with other weed control strategy that resulted in higher values compared to weedy check that significantly produced the lowest fresh fruit weight (Table 4). Fresh and dry capsule weight were significantly ($P \le 0.01$) highest with the application of hoe weeding twice at 3 and 6 WAS, butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha^{-1} + SHW at 6 WAS and pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS compared with other weed control strategies that produced lower while weedy check substantially produced the lowest fresh and dry capsule weight of roselle (Table 4). Seed weight and seed yield was significantly highest with hoe weed d twice at 3 and 6 WAS though statistically comparable with the remaining weed control strategy with the exception of weedy check which significantly produced the lowest seed weight and seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) of roselle (Table 4). All weed control strategy except weedy check significantly produced higher 1000 seed weight of roselle. Similarly, the deep roselle cultivar outweighed the white roselle by significantly ($P \le 0.01$) producing the highest number of fruits plant¹, fresh fruit weight, dry capsule weight, seed weight and seed yield ha-1, respectively (Table 4). The increased yield and yield related characters in these treatments might be due to effective control of weeds during the critical period as evidenced by low weed cover scores, weed density and high treatment efficiency index, which favored the increased crop growth and ultimately on yield components and yield of the crop. This corroborates with the findings of AMARA JYOTHI & al. (2018) who reported high yield and yield components of roselle due to application of Butachlor 50% EC at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ at 45-48 hours of sowing + one hand weeding. This is also supported by the findings of SHITTU & al. (2021) who confirms the increased in calvx yield of roselle due to application of butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹. In another development by SHITTU (2023), the productivity of Tomatoes was greatly enhanced due to effective weed management owing to the application of butachlor at 1.5 and 2.0 kg a.i. ha^{-1} + SHW at 6 WAS.

Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU & al.

 Table 4. Effect of weed control strategy and cultivar on number of fruits, fresh fruit weight, fresh capsule weight, dry capsule weight, seed weight, seed yield and 1000 seed weight of roselle during 2019/2020 (pooled data)

Treatment	Number of fruits plant ⁻¹	Fresh fruit weight	Fresh capsule weight	Dry capsule weight	Seed weight (g)	Seed yield (Kg ha ⁻	1000 seed weight
Wood control strategy ((g)	(g)	(g)		-)	(g)
Weed control strategy (7.005	(2.05	20.200	11.075	7.224	eaad	22 (7b
Weedy check	7.00*	62.9	29.20*	11.06	1.32-	822-	23.07
Hoe weeded at 3 and 6 WAS	18.50 ^{ab}	165.9ª	75.17ª	25.06ª	17.08ª	2305ª	35.67ª
Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	8.33°	70.5 ^{b-d}	42.69 ^b	15.64 ^b	10.21 ^{bc}	1196 ^{cd}	34.33ª
Butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	13.67 ^{bc}	129.8abc	45.64 ^b	16.08 ^b	12.20 ^{abc}	1753 ^{abc}	32.67ª
Butachlor 1.5 + Pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	9.67°	76.4 ^{b-d}	40.45 ^b	14.55 ^b	10.63 ^{bc}	1368 ^{bcd}	31.33ª
Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	22.17ª	131.7 ^{ab}	73.80ª	24.01ª	15.28 ^{ab}	2033 ^{ab}	37.00ª
Pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	10.17°	83.2 ^{bd}	70.07ª	21.47ª	15.25 ^{ab}	1902 ^{ab}	32.50ª
Level of probability	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
SE (±)	1.737	15.21	3.39	1.397	1.394	173.1	1.581
Cultivar (C)							
White roselle	11.40 ^b	92.51 ^b	54.50	16.64 ^b	11.71 ^b	1513 ^b	32.62
Deep red roselle	14.43 ^a	113.31ª	53.21	19.89ª	13.42ª	1738 ^a	32.29
Level of probability	0.019	0.032	0.620	0.005	0.017	0.098	0.783
SE (±)	0.928	8.13	1.81	0.747	0.745	92.5	0.845
Interaction							
W x C	0.572	0.108	0.156	0.349	0.878	0.856	0.747

Means followed by the same superscripts in a column are not significantly different at 5% according to Student-Newman-Keuls test (SNK). WAS = Weeks after sowing, SHW = Supplementary hoe weeding; SE = Standard Error.

Effect of cultivar and weed control strategies on weed parameters

Table 5 presents the effect of cultivar and weed control strategy on weed cover scores, weed density and herbicide efficiency index of roselle. Weed cover cores was highly significant (P<0.01) and highest in weedy check compared with other weed control strategy that resulted in lower weed cover scores. Similarly, weed density was highest in weedy check compared with the remaining weed control strategy. However, the application of hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS, pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS and butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS significantly ($P \le 0.01$) produced the lowest weed cover scores in roselle (Table 5). Treatment efficiency index was highly significantly (P≤0.01) and highest in hoe weeded twice at 3 and 6 WAS compared with the remaining weed control strategy. However, it was closely followed by the application of butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS and pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS which had higher treatment efficient index compared with the rest of the weed control strategy that resulted in lower TEI (Table 5). Uninterrupted weedy conditions resulted in high weed cover scores and weed density being obtained in weedy check plots. However, application of herbicide either alone or supplemented with hoe weeding at 6 WAS resulted in lower weed cover scores, weed density, as well as an enhanced treatment efficiency index as compared with the weedy check. Similar findings were reported by various scholars on reduced weed cover score and weed density as well as increased weed control

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE...

efficiency in roselle due to pre-emergence herbicide application [AMARA JYOTHI & al. 2018; RAJU & MITRA, 2020; SHITTU & al. 2021; SHITTU & BASSEY, 2023; SHITTU, 2023].

Table 5. Effect of weed control strategy and cultivar on weed cover scores, weed density and treatment
efficiency index of roselle during 2019/2020 (pooled data)

Treatment	Weed cover scores	Weed density (n m ⁻²)	Treatment efficiency index (TEI)		
Weed control strategy (W)					
Weedy check	4.45 ^a	185.50 ^a	-		
Hoe weeded at 3 and 6 WAS	1.20 ^d	15.00 ^d	34.45 ^a		
Pendimethalin at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	2.90 ^{bc}	66.33°	8.59 ^d		
Butachlor at 2.0 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	3.05 ^b	132.50 ^b	9.28 ^d		
Butachlor 1.5 + Pendimethalin 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹	2.53 ^{bc}	89.33°	9.58 ^d		
Butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹⁺ SHW at 6 WAS	2.00 ^{bcd}	24.00 ^d	15.29 ^b		
Pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha ⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS	1.67 ^{cd}	23.00 ^d	12.55°		
Level of probability	<.001	<.001	< 0.001		
SE (±)	0.334	11.03	0.445		
Cultivar (C)					
White roselle	2.70	82.5	14.30 ^b		
Deep red roselle	2.39	70.5	15.60ª		
Level of probability	0.238	0.162	0.002		
SE (±)	0.178	5.89	0.257		
Interaction					
W x C	0.976	0.514	0.344		

Means followed by the same superscripts in a column are not significantly different at 5% according to Student-Newman-Keuls test (SNK). WAS = weeks after sowing, SHW = supplementary hoe weeding; SE = Standard Error; Weed cover score by visual observation on a scale of 1-5; 1 = less weed cover and 5 = highly infested weed cover.

Conclusion and Recommendation

In arid places, the communities are highly unique. Others rely on natural resources less, while others rely on them more. Environmental variability, combined with rising population levels and increased competition for crop growth resources between crop and weed biotypes, emphasizes the need for an effective weed control strategy that can promote viable roselle growth and seed yield as an alternative to hoe weeding, which is a common farmer practice for combating weeds, thereby increasing farmers' income and investment options in roselle production. Based on the findings from this trial, it can be concluded that application of butachlor at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS and pendimethalin at 1.5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ + SHW at 6 WAS be recommended as alternative to two hoe weeding's, which is the farmer's practice in the dry land ecology of Nigeria, as it increases fresh fruit weight, fresh and dry capsule weight, and seed yield, which was also traced to the deep red cultivar, and effectively results in the lowest weed cover scores and weed density as well as enhances the treatment efficiency index. Hence, farmers in this area can be encourage to adopt this strategy of combating weed menace in roselle farm.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- ADEEL Z., SAFRIEL U., NIEMEIJER D. & WHITE R. 2005. *Ecosystems and human well-being: desertification synthesis.* Millennium ecosystem assessment. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.
- AKANBI W. B., OLANIYAN A. B., TOGUN A. O., HUPEJU A. E. O. & ALANIRAN O. A. 2009. The effects of organic fertilizer on growth, calyx yield and quality of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). American-Eurasian Journal of Sustainable Agriculture. 3: 652-657.
- AMARA JYOTHI P., JAGANNADHAM J., HARI SATYANARAYANA N., RAJASHEKER Y. & SWATI B. 2018. Weed management studies in roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). International Journal of Chemical Studies. 6(6): 45-47.
- AMIN I., EMMY H., KHAIRU I., HALIMATUL S. & MOHAMED N. 2008. Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) seeds nutritional composition, protein quality and health benefits. Global Science Books. Bailiere Tinall Ltd., London.
- ATTA S., DIALLO A. B., SARR B., BAKASSO Y., SAADOU M. & GLEW R. H. 2010. Variation in macro-elements and protein contents of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) from Niger. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture* and Nutritional Development. 10: 2707-2718. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajfand.v10i6.58067
- CHIKOYE D., SCHULTZ S. & EKELEME F. 2004. Evaluation of integrated weed management practices for maize in the Northern Guinea Savannah, Nigeria. Crop Protection. 23: 895-900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2004.01.013
- COTULA L., TOULMIN C. & QUAN J. 2006. Better land access for the rural poor: lessons from experience and challenges ahead. International Institute for Environment and Development, London, UK, 56 pp.
- COTULA L., VERMEULEN S., LEONARD R. & KEELEY J. 2009. Land grab or development opportunity? Agricultural investment and international land deals in Africa. IIED/FAO/ IFAD, London, UK.
- DANTATA I. J. & SHITTU E. A. 2014. Effect of pendimethalin on relative tolerance of Sorghum in Northern Guinea Savanna areas of Nigeria. Asian Journal of Agriculture and Food Science. 2(3): 221-226.
- HASSAN N., ELSHARKAWY M. M., SHIMIZU M. & HYAKUMACHI M. 2014. Control of root rot and wilt diseases of roselle under field conditions. *Mycobiology*. 42(4): 376-84. https://doi.org/10.5941/MYCO.2014.42.4.376
- HUSSEIN R. M., SHAHEIN Y. E., EL HAKIM A. E. & AWAD H. M. 2010. Biochemical and molecular characterization of three colored types of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). Journal of American Science. 6(11): 726-733.
- IMOLOAME E. O., JOSHUA S. D. & GWORGWOR N. A. 2011. Effect of pre and post-emergence herbicides on weed infestation and productivity of sesame (*Sesanum indicum L.*) in the Sudan Savanna Zone of Nigeria. *Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology and Sustainable Development.* 3(2): 19-27.
- NORHAYATI Y., NG W. H. & ADZEMI M. A. 2019. Effects of organic fertilizers on growth and yield of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) on bris soil. *Malaysian Journal of Applied Biology*. **48**(1): 177-184.
- NYARKO G., BAYOR H., CRAIGON J. & SULEIMAN I. A. 2006. The effect of container types, seed dressings and desiccants on the viability and vigour of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. var. sabdariffa) seeds. Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences. 9(4): 593-597. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.2006.593.597
- OTTAI M. E. S. & ABD-EL-KHAIR H. 2004. Influence of transplantation and biological control of *Fusarium* welt on some quantitative characters of three roselle cultivars. *Minufiy Journal of Agricultural Research*. **29**: 1091-1108.
- OTTAI M. E. S., ABDEL-MONIEM A. S. H. & EL-MERGAWI R. A. 2004. Effect of variety and location on growth and yield components of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. and its infestation with the spiny bollworm *Earias insulana* (BOISD). Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection. **37**: 215-231.
- PURSEGLOVE J. W. 1991. Tropical Crops. Dicotyledons. Longman, pp. 74-77.
- RAJU M. & MITRA S. 2020. Effect of weed management practices on weed attributes, growth and yield attributes of mesta (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *International Journal of Agriculture Sciences*. 12(7): 9692-9695.
- REYNOLDS J. F., STAFFORD SMITH D. M., LAMBIN E. F., TURNER B. L. I., MORTIMORE M., BATTERBURY S. P. J., DOWNING T. E., DOWLATABADI H. D., FERNÁNDEZ R. J., JEFFREY E., HERRICK J. E., HUBER-SANNWALD E., JIANG H., LEEMANS R., LYNAM T., MAESTRE F. T., AYARZA M. & WALKER B. 2007. Global desertification: Building a science for dryland development. *Science*. 316(5826): 847-851. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1131634
- SAFRIEL U., ADEEL Z., NIEMEIJER D., PUIGDEFABREGAS J., WHITE R., LAL R., WINSLOW M., ZIEDLER J., PRINCE S., ARCHER E., KING C., SHAPIRO B., WESSELS K., NIELSEN T. T., PORTNOV B., RESHEF I., THORNELL J., LACHMAN E. & MCNAB D. 2005. Chapter 22: Dryland systems. In: HASSAN R., SCHOLES R. & ASH N. (eds.). 2005. Millennium ecosystem assessment. Vol. 1. Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC. pp. 623-662.

CULTIVAR AND WEED CONTROL STRATEGY INFLUENCING THE PRODUCTIVITY OF ROSELLE...

- SHITTU E. A. & BASSEY M. S. 2023. Weed persistence, crop resistance and herbicide phytotonic effects in cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) under various weed control treatments in Kano, Nigeria. World News of Natural Sciences. 48: 60-69
- SHITTU E. A. 2023. Growth and yield performance of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* Mill.) under hoe weeding and butachlor application. *World Scientific News.* **180**: 94-104.
- SHITTU E. A., FAGAM A. S., SABO M. U., ABRAHAM P. & DANTATA I. J. 2021. Calyxes yield of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) as influenced by cultivar and weed control practices in the Sudan Savanna, Nigeria: 262-267.
 In: LADO A., DARAJA Y. B., DAWAKI K. D., JIBRIL H. J., MAGAJI A. I., YAWALE M. A., FULANI M. S. & GARKO M. S. 2021. Theme-sustainable weed management in a changing climate. *Proceedings of the 48th Annual Conference of the Weed Science Society of Nigeria (WSSN), Faculty of Agriculture and Agricultural Technology, Kano State University of Science and Technology, Wudil, Kano State, Nigeria.* 1st-4th november, 359 pp.
- THAKUR N. S., KUSHWAHA B. B., GIROTHIA O. P., SINHA N. K & MISHRA J. S. 2016. Effect of integrated weed management on growth and yields of rainy season sorghum. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. **61**(2): 217-222.

How to cite this article:

SHITTU E. A., BASSEY M. S. & DANTATA I. J. 2023. Cultivar and weed control strategy influencing the productivity of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) in a semi-arid environment of Nigeria. J. Plant Develop. 30: 119-128. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.934

COMPARATIVE NUTRITIONAL AND PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF SORGHUM BICOLOR (L.) MOENCH AND ZEA MAYS L.

<u>Ibrahim Umar KARAYE</u>^{1*}, Sa'idu Muhammad MAISHANU², Muhammad Hannatu LAWAL³, Ismaila Shafi'u ADILI³, Abubakar SHEHU³, Nasiru Shehu GATAWA²

¹ Department of Biology, Faculty of Chemical and Life Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto – Nigeria.

² Department of Plant Science, Faculty of Chemical and Life Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto – Nigeria.

³ Department of Environmental Biology, Shehu Shagari University of Education, Farfaru, Sokoto – Nigeria. * Corresponding author. Email: inaguraguri@gmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-1638-1632

This study was carried out to determine the nutritional and phytochemical properties of freshly harvested Abstract: grains of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays using standard biochemical procedures. Nutritional properties analyzed included proximate composition analyzed using Soxhlet extraction, AOAC Kjeldal methods. Mineral contents were determined using Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry [AAS] while the phytochemicals were determined using standard procedures. All analyses were replicated three times. From the results, crude protein content was low, with values, 7.81% and 6.66% for Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays respectively. Lipid analysis showed that Sorghum bicolor had a higher lipid content of 16.57%. Crude carbohydrate content was higher in both seeds. Percentage of crude fiber was 11.20% and 8.11% for Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays respectively. Vitamin C analysis showed that Zea mays had a higher content of 122.14 mg/100 g. Available energy kj/100 g was also analyzed for Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays respectively. Significant differences (P≤0.05) was observed in crude lipid, crude fiber, vitamin C, and available energy between the two seeds. Mineral analysis revealed appreciable contents of minerals necessary for healthy growth and development. Calcium content was highest in Sorghum bicolor. Significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) was observed in phosphorus, magnesium, calcium, and iron between the two seed types. Phytochemical contents of the seeds showed significant differences (P≤0.05) in tannins, nitrates and saponin with 12.57 mg/100 g, 18.18 mg/100 g and respectively in Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays. Nitrate and saponin content was higher in Zea mays. Alkaloid, flavonoids and phytate contents was detected in both seeds. Minute amounts of oxalate and cyanide were detected in both seed types. It is important to note that Zea mays is under pressure as one of formidable food source due to the increasing demand, and thus, increasing the cultivation of Sorghum bicolor could alleviate the over dependence on maize as the primary source of nutrition for humans and animal feed formulation.

Keywords: animal-feed, anti-nutritional, guinea-corn, maize, nutritional.

Introduction

Sorghum bicolor is the scientific name of guinea corn, in Hausa land, it is called Dawa Jan-Jare, is local name and is the one of the categories of guinea corn, which belongs to the family Poaceae. It is native to North Africa, where it is cultivated for its grains which are used for food for human beings and animals and for ethanol production. Guinea corn is a cereal grain that originated in Africa and is eaten throughout the world. It is especially valuable in arid terrain because of its resistance to drought, guinea corn is a nutrient rich grain that is often ground into flour to make bread, porridge and pancakes. Typical flowering plant placed in the grass family

COMPARATIVE NUTRITIONAL AND PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF SORGHUM BICOLOR ...

of Poaceae, seventeen of the twenty-five species are native to Austria 10th the range of some extending to Africa, Asia Mesoamerica and certain islands in the Indian and pacific oceans. One species is grown for its grains, while many others are used as fodder plants either cultivated in warm climates worldwide. Sorghum bicolor is an important food crop particularly in arid and semi-arid tropics. It is a dual-purpose crop providing staple food for humans and as a fodder for livestock, alcohol production as well as well as preparation of industrial; products many people in Africa and Asia depend on sorghum as the stuff of life. Being a drought tolerant crop, it can give dependable and stable yield in both raining and post raining seasons. It thrives with less rainfall than is needed for rice and maize and can be grown where no other major cereals can be cultivated. Altogether, Sorghum is one of the indispensable crops required for the survival of man. According to FAO (1995) report, sorghum was grown globally on area of about 46 million ha with a production of about 60 million tons. However, in India, sorghum is cultivated on an area of about 7.65 million tons. The role of plants in the maintenance of good health is well known. These plants constitute an enormous reservoir of wide varieties of compounds, which exhibit some medicinal and nutritive properties. The leading producers of this valuable crop include Nigeria (12%), USA (10%), Sudan (8%) and Mexico (8%) reported by USDA (2016). Sorghum food material is readily available in Nigeria and has promising nutritional attribute. Whole sorghum grain is an important source or B-complex vitamins and some minerals like phosphorus, magnesium, calcium and iron, the protein content of sorghum is similar to that of wheat and maize with lysine as the most limiting amino acid [FAO, 1995]. Maize (Zea mays L.), commonly known as corn. It is another important member of Poaceae family, is the third world most important cereal crop universally following wheat, rice, occupies a pivotal role in world's economy and is second among cereals for human consumption after wheat [MULI & al. 2016]. It is the main source of income for smallholder farmers in Africa in general [YAREGAL & FIREB, 2019]. Maize is the cereal widely grown for throughout the world in a range of agro-ecological environment; maize is produced annually than any other grain crops. In 2017, Africa produces 7.4% of the 1,135 million tons produced world-wide in 40 million hectares according to data from FAO (1995). Out fifty species of maize exist and consist of different colors, texture and grain shapes and sizes [AZEVEDO & LEA, 2005]. The white and yellow varieties are the most preferred by most people depending on the region. Maize was introduced in the 1500s and has since became one of African's dominant food crops. The grains are rich in vitamins A, C and E, carbohydrate as well as essential minerals. Maize is staple food for almost half the population of Sub-Saharan Africa and is important for carbohydrate, protein, iron, vitamin B and minerals. The produce, maize meal (ugali), porridge, pastes, and beer, and can be boiled or roasted as fresh as it comes from the farm. Maize is also produced to produce oils for cooking. It is also very important crop for animal feed. Most of maize production in Africa is rain fed. Over the years, maize has become an important crop taking over acreages from traditional crops such as millet and sorghum. In 2018, about 10.2 million tons of maize was produced from 4.8 million hectares, making Nigeria the highest producer in Africa [FAO, 2018]. Research effort by breeders and agronomists have led to the production of many technologies including the breeding of high yielding varieties that are tolerant to drought, diseases and striga infestation [KAMARA & al. 2014]. Maize is grown both (as sweet corn) for human consumption and (as field corn) for other uses such as animal feed and biofuels. Worldwide, only around 15% of maize production is used for human consumption with most production going to animal feed. However, the production of maize production for food production in developing countries is higher at 25 and even higher in regions such as South East Asia where it is estimated to 30-40% whilst in parts of Sub-Saharan Africa, it can be as high as 70-80%.

Materials and methods

Sample collection and preparation

Fresh grains of *Sorghum bicolor* and *Zea mays* were procured from Sokoto Agricultural Development Project [SADP] in Sokoto, Nigeria. The two seeds were taken to the Departmental Herbarium, Department of Plant Science for authentication, where voucher specimens were deposited. The two seeds were separately ground into fine powders and kept in a cleaned bottle until required for analysis.

Proximate and Ascorbic acid composition analysis

The micro-kjeldal method was followed for the determination of crude proteins. Crude lipids, crude fibre, moisture % and ash % were determined using the methods of [AOAC, 2005], while carbohydrate was determined by difference. The calorific values in kilo joule (kj) were calculated by multiplying the crude fat, protein and carbohydrate by Atwater factors of (k) 4, 4 and 9 respectively. Ascorbic acid was determined according to the method described by MUSA & al. (2010).

Mineral composition analysis of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays

The mineral composition of the samples was determined by first dry ashing the samples at 550 °C in the muffle furnace. The filtered solutions were used to determine Na, K, Mg, Ca, Fe, Cu, Zn, Co, Cd, and Ni by means of Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer [AAS] [Buck Scientific Model-200A/210, Norwalk, Connecticut [06855] and phosphorus was determined calorimetrically by Spectronic 20 (Gallenkamp, UK) using the phosphovanado molybdate method [AOAC, 2005].

Phytochemical screening of seeds of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays

Alkaloid, tannin and flavonoid contents were determined according to the method of TREASE & EVANS (1989) while the phytate contents was determined using the method as described by VAN-BUREN & ROBINSON (1981). Oxalate composition was analyzed following the method as described by YOUNG & GREAVES (1940). Cyanide contents was determined using the method of DAY & UNDERWOOD (1986), the nitrate content was determined following the method of WANG & al. (2005). Saponin was determined using the method of BOHM & KOPACI (1994).

Data Analysis

The results obtained has been presented as Means \pm SE of the means. The data collected was subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GenStat^(r) 18th edition, where the treatments were found to be significantly different, mean separation was carried out using Duncan's multiple range test (DMRT) at 5% level.

Results and discussion

Proximate and ascorbic acid composition of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays.

Proximate composition of *Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays* in Sokoto, Nigeria has been presented in Table 1 below. From the results, values for % crude protein contain were the least 7.81% and 6.66%, obtained in *Sorghum bicolor* and *Zea mays* respectively. Crude lipid (%) analysis revealed 16.51% in *Sorghum bicolor* while 17.18% was recorded for *Zea mays* respectively. Total carbohydrate (%) revealed the highest contents with 79.64% obtained in *Sorghum bicolor*, while 82.39% was recorded in *Zea mays*. Crude fibre (%) revealed 8.20% was recorded for *Sorghum bicolor* while 8.11% was obtained in *Zea mays* respectively. Vitamin C

COMPARATIVE NUTRITIONAL AND PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF SORGHUM BICOLOR ...

contents revealed appreciable contents of the valuable ascorbic acid in both the seeds with 98.62 mg/100 g obtained in Sorghum bicolor while in Zea mays 122.14 mg/100 g was recorded. Available energy (kj/100 g) revealed that the two seeds were loaded with 396.90 k/cal per 100 g in Sorghum bicolor while 462.42 k/cal per 100 g in Zea mays respectively. The values of crude protein, % ash and crude fibre contents of 28.00%, 9.28% and 12.57% reported on Moringa oleifera by OKIKI & al. (2015) were higher than the obtained values in the current study. The difference could be attributed to species variability. However, obtained values obtained in the current study were higher than the reported value by the same author as above. Low value of ascorbic acid was reported to be 0.72 mg/100 g on Moringa oleifera while vitamin C contents as reported by RAIMI & al. (2014) was higher with 189.53 mg/100 g in seeds of Vitellaria paradoxa. In another study by AFOLAYAN & al. (2014), reported value of 542.40 mg/100 g was highest than the obtained values in the current study. Low value of vitamin C was however, reported to be 0.72 mg/100 g on Moringa oleifera by OKIKI & al. (2015). More so, the protein with 28.54% and lipid 22.47% reported by HASSAN & UMAR (2004) on dehulled seeds of Parkia biglobosa were higher than obtained values in the current study. Low value of carbohydrate was reported to be 37.87 %. Higher protein, % ash and % crude fibre contents of 28.00%, 9.28% and 12.87% were reported higher than obtained in the current study as reported by OKIKI & al. (2015) on Moringa oleifera and in a study by JACOB & al. (2015) on melon seeds. In another report on proximate traits of the seed and seed cake of Shea butter tree (Vitellaria paradoxa) in Nigeria's savanna ecozone, the range of crude carbohydrate as reported by the same author as above was 64.0% to 68.0% while that of crude protein ranged from 8.8% to 9.3% respectively.

Parameters	Units	Sorghum bicolor	Zea mays
Moisture content	%	5.90±0.63ª	6.11 ± 0.49^{a}
Crude protein	% DW	7.81±0.99ª	$6.66 {\pm} 0.96^{b}$
Crude lipid	% DW	16.51±1.17 ^a	17.18±1.17 ^a
Total carbohydrates	% DW	79.64±2.19ª	$82.39 \pm .2.10^{a}$
Crude fibre	% DW	$8.20{\pm}0.86^{a}$	8.11±0.99 ^a
Ash	% DW	6.23±0.63ª	7.16±0.76 ^a
Vitamin C	mg/100 g	98.62±3.46ª	122.14±3.19 ^b
Calorific value	kj/100 g	396.90±4.26ª	462.42 ± 4.46^{b}

Table 1. Proximate and ascorbic acid composition of Sorghum bicolor and Zea may

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (p \leq 0.05).

Results of mineral analysis have been presented in Table 2. The table revealed that there was significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the composition of potassium, magnesium, phosphorus and iron. Calcium was the most abundant mineral with 116.64 mg/100 g and 132.54 mg/100 g in seeds of *Sorghum bicolor* and *Zea mays* respectively. Analysis for phosphorus revealed the highest contents of 116.74 mg/100 g obtained in *Zea mays* while 96.72 mg/100 g was recorded in *Sorghum bicolor*. Magnesium contents was 62.12 mg/100 g obtained in *Sorghum bicolor* while 41.64 mg/100 g was recorded in *Zea mays*. Analysis for potassium revealed the highest content 56.96 mg/100 g and 46.72 mg/100 g respectively recorded for *Sorghum bicolor* and *Zea mays*. Manganese analysis revealed 52.76 mg/100 g in *Sorghum*

Ibrahim Umar KARAYE & al.

bicolor while 48.66 mg/100 g was recorded for *Zea mays* respectively. Other essential minerals were zinc and iron with appreciable composition in the two seed types. In a report by MUNAHIRA & al. (2022), low values of iron, manganese and zinc were reported 1.87, 0.26 and 3.77 mg/100 g on *Lagenaria siceraria*. Higher values were reported for *Sesamum indicum* and *Moringa oleifera* by KARAYE & al. (2022). More so, low values of zinc and calcium were reported to be 0.58 mg/100 g and 82.50 mg/100 g on *Moringa oleifera* as reported by OKIKI & al. (2015). Also, low values of 30.24, 6.24, 0.30, and 0.72 mg/100 g on calcium, magnesium, manganese and zinc as reported by RAIMI & al. (2014) on seeds of *Vitellaria paradoxa*. Overall, the two seed types could be considered too well in terms of proximate and mineral profile. In a study by OKIKI & al. (2015), low values of zinc, magnesium and potassium were reported 64.17%, 643.33% and 430.00% reported by the same author as above. More so, higher iron and zinc contents of 144.70 mg/100 g and 21.05 mg/100 g as reported by JACOB & al. (2015).

Mineral (mg/100 g)	Symbol	Sorghum bicolor	Zea mays
Sodium	Na	7.72±0.93ª	5.23±0.53ª
Potassium	Κ	56.96±2.69ª	46.72 ± 2.26^{b}
Magnesium	Mg	62.12±2.86 ^a	$31.64{\pm}1.62^{b}$
Phosphorus	Р	76.72±2.99ª	116.74±3.83 ^b
Manganese	Mn	32.76±1.05ª	48.66 ± 276^{b}
Calcium	Ca	116.64±3.14ª	132.54 ± 3.98^{b}
Iron	Fe	23.06±1.62ª	15.07 ± 1.02^{b}
Cupper	Cu	$0.24{\pm}0.06a$	$0.31{\pm}0.04^{a}$
Chromium	Cr	$0.06{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$0.02{\pm}0.01^{a}$
Zinc	Zn	13.36±1.09ª	$11.74{\pm}0.98^{a}$
Nickel	Ni	$0.07{\pm}0.04^{a}$	$0.09 \pm 0.02^{\rm a}$

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (p \leq 0.05).

Results on phytochemical screening of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays has been presented in Table 3. The results show a significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the contents of tannins, nitrates, flavonoids and saponin between the two species. For instance, tannin was 12.51% DW in Sorghum bicolor while 18.18% DW in Zea mays. Nitrate content was 16.62% DW in Sorghum bicolor while it was 22.14% DW in Zea mays. Flavonoid content was 24.56% DW while it was 13.63% DW recorded in Zea mays. Saponin content was 22.23% DW obtained in Sorghum bicolor while it was 15.67% DW recorded in Zea mays respectively. In a report by KARAYE & al. (2013) on evaluation of selected Nigeria cucurbits, low values of phytate, cyanide and oxalate, compared to the obtained values in the current study, were reported on Lagenaria aegyptiaca, Citrullus lanatus and Momordica balsamina seeds. In another report by NWEZE & NWAFOR (2014), alkaloids were reported to be 3.56% DW and flavonoids 3.36% DW. However, it has been reported that climatic factors and stages of maturity could cause variation in the distribution of phytochemicals BAMISHAIYE & al. (2011) as well as the choice of solvent as different solvents have different extraction capabilities and spectrum of solubility for phytoconstituents [HANDA & al. 2008]. Low values of tannins, oxalate, saponin were reported to be 0.32, 0.93 and 1.67% DW as reported by AFOLAYAN & al. (2014) were lower than the obtained values in the current study. In a study by NWEZE & NWAFOR (2014).

COMPARATIVE NUTRITIONAL AND PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF SORGHUM BICOLOR ...

Phytochemicals such as alkaloid was reported to be 3.56% DW, saponins 1.41% DW, tannins 9.36% DW and flavonoids 3.56% DW the values were lower than obtained in the current study. In addition, 19.1% DW and 13.80% DW were reported by FAGBEMI & al. (2005) to be higher than obtained in the current study. However, higher tannin and oxalate contents of 26.40% DW and 39.40% DW as reported on melon seeds by JACOB & al. (2015).

~ .

Table 3. Phytochemical composition of the seeds of <i>Sorghum bicolor</i> and <i>Zea mays</i> (presented as % DW)				
Parameters	Sorghum bicolor	Zea mays		
Alkaloids	$11.23{\pm}0.78^{a}$	12.66 ± 1.17^{a}		
Tannins	12.51±1.16 ^a	18.18 ± 1.42^{b}		
Phytate	9.64±0.94ª	6.39±0.35ª		
Oxalate	6.12±0.46ª	8.11±0.69ª		
Cyanide	$0.03{\pm}0.07^{a}$	$0.06{\pm}0.05^{a}$		
Nitrate	16.62 ± 1.36^{a}	22.14±1.19 ^b		
Flavonoid	$14.56{\pm}1.24^{a}$	13.63±1.11ª		
Saponin	$22.23{\pm}1.78^{a}$	15.67±1.32 ^b		

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (p≤0.05).

Conclusion

In conclusion, it is importantly pertinent to note that Zea mays is under pressure as one of the main foods used by man from time immemorial. There is nowadays, an immense pressure on maize as the food source and for use as a formidable source of feeds for fish and poultry. More so, due to the fluctuating weather conditions occasioned by less downpour, there is the urgent need to get alternative food source that may augment the maize used. Therefore, increasing the cultivation of Sorghum bicolor could alleviate the over dependence on maize as the primary source of nutrition for humans and animal feed formulation strategies.

Conflict of interest

. .

The authors affirm that there is no conflict of interest amongst them.

References

AFOLAYAN M., BAWA G., SEKONI A., ABEKE F., INEKWE V. & ODEGBILE E. O. 2014. Phytochemical and nutritional evaluation of locust bean fruit pulp. Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering and Applied Sciences (JETEAS). 5(7): 44-47.

AOAC. 2005. Official methods of analysis. AOAC International, 18th edition. Suite 500, Gaithersburg, MD 20877, Washington DC, USA. Available online: www.aoac.org

AZEVEDO R. A. & LEA P. J. 2005. Toxic metals in plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology. 17: 53-64.

BAMISHAIYE E. I., OLAYEMI F. F., AWAGU E. F. & BAMISHAIYE O. M. 2011. Proximate and phytochemical composition of Moringa oleifera leaves at three stages of maturation. Advanced Journal of Food Science and Technology. 3(4): 233-237.

BOHM M. K. & KOPACI A. 1994. Flavonoids composition and uses. Smithsonian Institute Press, Washington. 106-109.

- DAY R. A. & UNDERWOOD A. L. 1986. Quantitative Analysis. 5th Edition. 701., Prentice Hall Publication, Upper Saddle River, 701.
- DUNCAN D. B. 1955. Multiple Range and Multiple F-Tests. Biometrics. 11: 1-42. https://doi.org/10.2307/3001478
- EL-OLEMY M. M., AL-MUHTADI F. J. & AFIFI A. A. 1994. Experimental phytochemistry: a laboratory manual. Department of Pharmacognosy, College of Pharmacy, King Saud University Press, Riyadh: 3-61.
- FAGBEMI T. N., OSHODI A. A. & IPINMOROTI K. O. 2005. Processing effect on some antinutritional factors and in vitro multienzyme protein digestibility (IVPD) of three tropical seeds: breadnut (Atrocarpus altilis), cashewnut

(Anacardium occidentale) and fluted pumpkin (Telfairia occidentalis). Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 4(4): 250-256. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2005.250.256

- FAO. 1995. Production Year Book. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome. FAO (2009). Food and agricultural commodities production. (Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 49: 169 pp.
- FAO. 2018. The State of food security and nutrition in the world; Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition, Food Agriculture, Rome.
- HANDA S. S., KHANUYA S. P. S., LONGO G. & RAKESH D. D. 2008. Extraction technology for medicinal plants and aromatic plants. International Centre for Science and High-Technology, Trieste, Italy: 21-54.
- HASSAN L. G. & UMAR K. J. 2004. Proximate and mineral composition of seed and fruit pulp of Parkia biglobosa L. Nigerian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. 13: 15-27.
- IITA. 1988. Selected methods for soil and plant analysis. Manual Series no. 1. International Institute for Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan, Nigeria, 55-56.
- JACOB A. G., ETONG D. I. & TIJJANI A. 2015. Proximate, mineral and anti-nutritional composition of melon (*Citrullus lanatus*) seeds. British Journal Research. 2(5): 142-151.
- KAMARA A. Y., EWANSIHA S. U. & MENKIR A. 2014. Assessment of nitrogen uptake and utilization in drought-tolerant and striga resistant tropical maize varieties. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Sciences*. 60(2): 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2013.783204
- KARAYE I. U., ALIERO A. A., MUHAMMAD S. & BILBIS L. S. 2013. Evaluation of nutritional and anti-nutritional contents of the seeds of selected nigerian cucurbits. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences*. 4(1): 137-142.
- KARAYE I. U., MAISHANU S. M., ANKA S. A., SHEHU A., ADILI S. I., MUHAMMAD L. H. & MUSA A. 2022. Nutritional and extractable oil profile in seeds of *Sesamum indicum* L. and *Moringa oleifera* Lam. grown in Sokoto, Nigeria. *Journal of Plant Development.* 29: 69-77. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2022.29.1.904
- MULI J. K., BUDAMBULA N. L. M., MWEU C., IMBO M. C. & ANAMI S. E. 2016. Genetic improvement of african maize towards drought tolerance: a review. Advances in Life Sciences and Technology. 48: 1-9.
- MUNAHIRA M., IRUM N., SALEEM A. & AMANAT A. 2022. Medicinal and nutritional importance of *Lagenaria siceraria* (Lauki.). Saudi Journal of Biomedical Research. **7**(2): 67-73.
- MUSA A., EZENWA M. I. S., OLADIRAN J. A., AKANYA H. O. & OGBADOYI E. O. 2010. Effect of soil nitrogen levels on some micronutrients, antinutrients and toxic substances in *Corchorus olitorius* grown in Minna, Nigeria. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. 5(22): 3075-3081.
- OKIKI P. A., OSIBOTE I. A., BALOGUN O., OYINLOYE B. E., IDRIS O., ADELEGAN O., ASOSO S. O. & OLAGBEMIDE P. T. 2015. Evaluation of proximate, minerals, vitamins and phytochemical composition of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. cultivated in Ado-Ekiti, Nigeria. *Advances in Biological Research.* 9(6): 436-444. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.abr.2015.9.6.96112
- NWEZE N. O. & NWAFOR F. I. 2014. Phytochemical, proximate and mineral composition of leaf extracts of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. from Nsukka, South-Eastern Nigeria. *IORS Journal of Pharmacy and Biological Sciences (IORTS-JPBS)*. 9(1): 99-103. https://doi.org/10.9790/3008-091699103
- RAIMI M. M., ADEGOKE B. M. & AFOLABI O. 2014. Nutritional composition of seed and physicochemical properties of seed oil of Vitellaria paradoxa. Scientific Research Journal (SCIRJ). 2(4): 35-39.
- TREASE G. E. & EVANS W. C. 1989. Pharmacognosy. 11th Edition, Bailliere Tindall, London.
- USDA. 2016. Sorghum bicolor. The Plants Database (Plants USDA govt. Greensboro, North Carolina Natural Plant Data Team.
- VAN-BUREN J. P. & ROBINSON W. B. 1981. Formation of complexes between protein and tannic acid. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry. 17(4): 772-777. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60164a003
- WANG T. L., TONG H. W., YAN X. Y., SHANG L. Q., YANG J. & LIU S. M. 2005. Determination of volatile carbonyl compounds in cigarette smoke by LC-DAD. *Chromatographia*. 62(11-12): 631-636. https://doi.org/10.1365/s10337-005-0675-8
- YAREGAL D. & FIREB M. 2018. Genetic variability of improved maize varieties (Zea mays L.) for acidic soil tolerance under contrasting environment in Assosa, Ethiopia. Greener Journal of Agricultural Science. 8(12): 332-350. https://doi.org/10.15580/GJAS.2018.12.121018169
- YOUNG S. M. & GREAVES J. E. 1940. Influence of variety and treatment on phytin content of wheat. *Food Research*. 5(1): 103-108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1940.tb17171.x

How to cite this article:

KARAYE I. U., MAISHANU S. M., LAWAL M. H., ADILI I. S., SHEHU A. & GATAWA N. S. 2023. Comparative nutritional and phytochemical composition of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench and *Zea mays L. J. Plant Develop.* 30: 129-135. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.932

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS DURING HERBIVORE ATTACKS: A BRIEF REVIEW ON *ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA*

Aira Monique Nasol FELIX, <u>Tim XING</u>*

Department of Biology and Institute of Biochemistry, Carleton University, Ottawa ON – Canada. * Corresponding author. E-mail: tim.xing@carleton.ca, ORCID: 0000-0002-8325-0835

Abstract: Electrical signals in plants were first documented in the mid-19th century. In response to insect attacks, plants generate electrical signals that spread throughout the plant body and trigger physiological, biochemical and molecular responses. *Arabidopsis* has been used as a model plant in the past several decades. In this mini review, we will address the current understanding of electrical signaling in *Arabidopsis* and its physiological and biochemical impacts during herbivore attacks.

Keywords: electrical signal, gene expression, herbivore attack, long-distance communication, plant response.

Introduction

Plants are constantly exposed to numerous stressors in nature such as heat, salt, flooding, pathogens and herbivores; therefore, they have evolved various defense mechanisms to protect themselves against these stressors. One of the most fascinating defense mechanisms utilized by plants is the use of electrical signals to combat insect attacks. Electrical signals are a means of rapid, long-distance communication within a plant, and they play a crucial role in coordinating various physiological and biochemical processes [FOTOUHI & al. 2022]. In response to insect attacks, plants can generate electrical signals that spread throughout the plant body, providing a means of communication between the attacked site and the remote sites of the plant. These electrical signals trigger a cascade of physiological and biochemical response, including the production of defensive compounds, which can deter herbivores [FÜRSTENBERG-HÄGG & al. 2013]. Considerable studies have shown evidence of electrical signals taking place distally, far from the site of herbivore damage [ZIMMERMANN & al. 2016].

The discovery of electrical signals in plants is often attributed to British physiologist, John Scott Burdon-Sanderson, who conducted pioneering experiments on the electrical properties of plant cells in the mid-19th century. In 1873, Burdon-Sanderson published a landmark paper, in which he described his experiments on the electrical responses of plant tissues to various stimuli, such as heat and mechanical pressure [BURDON-SANDERSON, 1873]. He utilized a technique known as capillary electrometer, which allowed him to detect and record weak electrical currents generated by plant cells [BURDON-SANDERSON, 1873].

Burdon-Sanderson observed that when a plant leaf was mechanically stimulated, such as touching or pinching, it generated a small electrical current that was detectable with his capillary electrometer. He also observed that the electrical response of the leaf varied depending on the nature and intensity of the stimulus. His experiments marked the first time that the electrical properties of plant cells had been systematically studied and documented. His findings

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ...

suggested that plants may have a primitive form of nervous system, capable of generating and transmitting electrical signals in response to various stimuli [BURDON-SANDERSON, 1873]. Although his work was groundbreaking, it was not widely recognized or accepted by the scientific community at that time. Today, the discovery of electrical signals in plants by Burdon-Sanderson is considered a seminal event in the history of plant physiology, paving the way for further research on the electrical properties of plants and their role in various physiological and biochemical processes.

Types of electrical signals in plants

Due to the sessile condition of plants, it is critical for them to detect external cues and trigger long-distance intercellular signals for them to adapt to new environmental conditions. Plant cells have evolved numerous plant signals to convey information across the plant, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), calcium ion (Ca^{2+}), nitric oxide (NO) and electrical signals (ES) [GILROY & al. 2016; CHOI & al. 2017]. As for electrical signals, three types have been observed to occur in plants, and these are action potential (AP), variation potential (VP) or called slow wave potential (SWP), and system potential (SP) [ZIMMERMANN & al. 2016].

- i) AP has been associated with non-damaging stimuli such as cold and touch. It depends on a single transient depolarization of the plant plasma membrane and exhibits distinct dynamics in comparison to variation potentials [FROMM & BAUER, 1994].
- VP is a transient depolarization of the plant plasma membrane that has an irregular shape and can persist for several minutes. VP has been shown to be triggered by damaging stimuli such as wounding and burning [DZIUBIŃSKA & al. 2003].
- iii) SP can be triggered by a wide range of external stimuli. In comparison with variation potential and action potential, system potential is consisting of a transient hyperpolarization of the plasma membrane, which is most likely driven by the activation of H⁺-ATPases [ZIMMERMANN & al. 2009].

Among these three types of electrical signals, VP or SP are the most widely investigated herbivore-induced depolarizations that can move in long distances and last for minutes to hours, and is considered a unique electrical signal in higher plants [KLOTH & DICKE, 2022]. Studies have demonstrated that electrical signals in plants can regulate various physiological processes, including gene expression, phloem translocation, synthesis of hormones, etc. [FILEK & KOŚCIELNIAK, 1997; SUKHOV & al. 2012; VODENEEV & al. 2015]. In contrast with AP, VP is not subject to the 'all-or-none law', which means that the parameters of VP can directly impact plant physiological activities [VODENEEV & al. 2006; FELLE & ZIMMERMAN, 2007]. Burning is the most prevalent external stimulus known to induce VP in a diverse range of higher plants, including soybean, barley, and sunflower [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. Wounding or cutting can also trigger VP in some plants such as in pea, maize, and sunflower; however, not in plants such as wheat and tomato [VODENEEV & al. 2012; VODENEEV & al. 2015].

Consequently, burning has emerged as the most frequently utilized stressor to trigger VP. VP is prolonged depolarization of the plasma membrane that can last for up to several minutes and attain high amplitudes (up to tens of mV) with a propagation rate of $mm \cdot s^{-1}$ [VODENEEV & al. 2011, 2012]. VP can encompass two distinct components. The first is a sustained depolarization, and the second is the presence of spikes akin to AP [DZIUBIŃSKA

& al. 2003]. However, VP can also manifest without AP-like spikes [STAHLBERG & COSGROVE, 1997].

The generation of sustained depolarization and/or AP-like spikes may occur in the same plant and is dependent on the severity of the injury and the distance from the local zone of damage. The amplitude and speed of propagation of VP are inversely proportional to the distance from the local damage site [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. In wheat and pumpkin, it has been estimated that the amplitude decrement is 10% cm⁻¹ [VODENEEV & al. 2011]. Indeed, the amplitude of VP is directly proportional to the severity of the injury [VODENEEV & al. 2012]. In addition, VP has been demonstrated to propagate even through dead and injured plant tissues [EVANS & MORRIS, 2017].

Generation of variation potential

The hypothesis that the inactivation of plant plasma membrane H⁺-ATPases is crucial for VP generation is supported by pharmacological studies [JULIEN & FRACHISSE, 1992; FRACHISSE-STOILSKOVIĆ & JULIEN, 2006]. Sodium orthovanadate, a H⁺-ATPase inhibitor, was found to decrease both VP amplitude and depolarization/repolarization rates [KATICHEVA & al. 2014]. On the other hand, VP amplitude was observed to increase upon administration of fusicoccin, a proton pump activator [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. VP generation is also influenced by changes in external and internal pH. Alkalinization of the apoplast (with a magnitude of 0.2-0.7 change in pH unit) accompanies VP generation, while a decrease of 0.3-0.6 pH unit was noted in the cytoplasm [GRAMS & al. 2009; SUKHOV & al. 2014]. In addition, an increase in plasma membrane permeability induced by administering the protonophore carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone (CCCP) was found to decrease VP amplitude, which supports the role of H⁺-ATPase inactivation in VP generation [JULIEN & FRACHISSE, 1992; FRACHISSE-STOILSKOVIĆ & JULIEN, 2006]. These findings suggest that changes in H⁺-ATPase activity and pH regulation are involved in the generation of VP. Depolarization of the plasma membrane is caused by the inactivation of proton pumps. Ca^{2+} also plays a role in the generation and regulation of VP. Inhibiting Ca²⁺-permeable channels or dissipating the electrochemical gradient for Ca²⁺ blocks VP generation or decreases VP amplitude in various plants including pumpkins, wheat, barley, and tomatoes [JULIEN & FRACHISSE, 1992; FRACHISSE-STOILSKOVIĆ & JULIEN, 2006; ZIMMERMANN & al. 2009; KATICHEVA & al. 2014]. According to predictions, the activation of Ca^{2+} -permeable channels is the first step required for the depolarization of the plasma membrane and the inactivation of H⁺-ATPases [VODENEEV & al. 2011; SUKHOV & al. 2013; KATICHEVA & al. 2014]. Ca²⁺ influx can also activate K⁺ and Cl⁻ channels, generating AP-like spikes and rapid plasma membrane depolarization [SUKHOV & al. 2013]. On the other hand, long-lasting plasma membrane depolarization is caused by H⁺-ATPases inactivation [SUKHOV & al. 2013]. It is noteworthy that Ca^{2+} influx is responsible for both proton pump inactivation and K⁺ and Cl⁻ channel activation [VODENEEV & al. 2015].

Propagation of variation potential

As previously mentioned, VP or SWP/SP is a rapid electrical signal that is propagated within the plant vascular system and other plant tissues. There are two main hypotheses for VP propagation: hydraulic wave and chemical agent [MANCUSO, 1999; VODENEEV & al. 2015; EVANS & MORRIS, 2017].

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ...

The hydraulic wave hypothesis suggests that VP propagation is caused by a change in hydraulic pressure within the plant vascular system [MALONE, 1992; STAHLBERG & COSGROVE, 1997; MANCUSO, 1999; VODENEEV & al. 2012]. When a plant is damaged by an external stimulus, such as an insect attack or physical injury, the damaged tissue releases cellular contents and causes a sudden increase in local turgor pressure [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. This pressure wave then propagates through the plant vascular system, resulting in the propagation of VP [STAHLBERG & COSGROVE, 1997]. However, the propagation speed of the hydraulic wave is much faster than that of the VP, which suggests that other mechanisms may be involved in the VP propagation [VODENEEV & al. 2015].

The chemical agent hypothesis suggests that the VP is propagated through the release of chemical agents, such as ROS, calcium ions, and/or neurotransmitters. When a plant is damaged, it releases ROS, which are known to regulate ion channels in the plasma membrane, leading to the depolarization of the membrane potential [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. This depolarization triggers the opening of calcium channels, leading to an influx of calcium ions into the cytoplasm. The increase in cytoplasmic calcium concentration then triggers the release of neurotransmitters, which propagate the VP to adjacent cells. This hypothesis suggests that a combination of chemical agents may be involved in VP propagation, with different agents playing different roles in different plant species [VODENEEV & al. 2015].

Regardless of the mechanism involved, the VP is propagated along the plant vascular system and other plant tissues. VP travels through phloem, xylem, and apoplast, which are the interconnected networks of cells that transport water, nutrients, and other molecules throughout the plant [ZIMMERMANN & al. 2016]. VP is propagated by changes in the membrane potential of adjacent cells, with depolarization of one cell triggering the depolarization of the adjacent cells. The propagation speed of the VP varies between different plant species and tissues, but it generally ranges from a few millimetres to several centimetres per second [VODENEEV & al. 2015].



Figure 1. Wounding (chewing damage) – induced responses within the first minutes after infestation. Chewing damage induces a decrease in hydraulic pressure (turgor pressure) and an increase in apoplastic amino acids including the representative glutamate (Glu). These two main changes are perceived by mechanosensitive ion channels on plasma membrane (e.g., MSL10) and the glutamate receptor-like cation channels (GLRs including GLR3.1, GLR3.2, GLR3,3 and GLR3.6), respectively, leading to a slow long-term membrane depolarization. Open arrows indicate level changes and solid arrows indicate pathway directions.

Detection of electrical signals in long-distance communication in plants

Plants have developed sophisticated mechanisms to detect and respond to insect attacks. One such mechanism is the production of electrical signals that can be detected both intracellularly and extracellularly. Both intracellular and extracellular detection of plant electrical signals provide valuable information about the plant response to the attack.

Aira Monique Nasol FELIX & Tim XING

Intracellular recording: The first step in intracellular detection of plant electrical signals is to prepare the plant tissue for electrode insertion. This typically involves removing the outer layers of the plant tissue to expose the cells of interests. Once the tissue has been prepared, the microelectrode is inserted into the cell or group of cells to be measured. The electrode is connected to an amplifier and recording device, which allows for the measurement and analysis of the electrical signal [ZHAO & al. 2013]. When an insect attacks a plant, it can cause the plant cell membrane to depolarize, leading to an influx of calcium ions and the production of electrical signals. This depolarization can be measured as a change in electrical potential between the inside and outside of the cell [ZIMMERMANN & al. 2016]. The microelectrode is able to detect these changes in potential and generate an electrical signal that is amplified and recorded for further analysis. Intracellular detection of plant electrical signals allows for the measurement of changes in membrane potential at a high spatial resolution; however, it requires invasive procedures and may damage the plant tissue [LI & al. 2021]. Intracellular detection also involves the use of voltage-sensitive dyes, which are fluorescent molecules that can be incorporated into the cell membrane and detect changes in membrane potential [MATAMALA & al. 2021]. These signals can also be detected by imaging the fluorescence of the voltage-sensitive dyes. Another method of intracellular detection involves the use of patch clamp electrophysiology [LI & al. 2021]. This technique involves the use of glass pipette to create a seal on the surface of a plant cell membrane. By controlling the voltage applied across the membrane, ion currents can be measured, providing information about the membrane potential and ion channel activity.

Extracellular recording: Extracellular detection involves the use of microelectrodes or non-invasive methods such as surface potential measurements that can detect the electrical signals produced by the plant during an insect attack [FOTOUHI & al. 2022]. This method involves the use of microelectrodes or surface electrodes placed on the surface of plant tissues. These electrodes are typically made of metal or glass and are small enough to be placed on the surface of the plant tissues without causing significant damage [LI & al. 2021].

During the attack, plant cells release ions and other charged molecules into the extracellular space, resulting in a change in the electrical potential of the surrounding tissue. This change in potential can be detected by the electrodes, which convert the electrical signal into a measurable voltage that can be recorded and analyzed [BRUCE & PICKETT, 2007]. One common method of extracellular detection is to use a glass microelectrode filled with a conductive solution such as saline or KCl. The tip of the electrode is placed on the surface of the plant tissue, and a reference electrode is placed in a nearby location [LI & al. 2021]. The voltage difference between the two electrodes is then measured using an amplifier and recorded by a data acquisition system. Another method of extracellular detection involves the use of surface electrodes, which are placed on the surface of the plant tissue and can detect changes in the electric field surrounding the tissue [LI & al. 2021]. This method is less invasive than microelectrode techniques and allows for the detection of electrical signals over a larger area.

A recent summary of common techniques for the detection of plant electrical signals at various ranges can be found in LI & al. (2021), including metal electrode, glass microelectrode, electrical penetration graph/aphid technique, voltage clamp, patch clamp, and self-reference ion-selective electrode technology (SIET)/microelectrode ion flux estimation (MIFE).

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ...

Initial and systemic response of plants following insect attack

When a plant is attacked by insects, it undergoes a series of complex defense responses to protect itself from further damage. These responses can be divided into two categories: local responses that occur at the site of insect attack and systemic responses that occur throughout the entire plant [MOSTAFA & al. 2022].

Locally, the first response is usually physical; however, this will not be further explained here. If the insect is successful in penetrating the plant's tissues, it causes local damage to the cells [MOSTAFA & al. 2022]. This damage triggers electrical signals in the form of VP or SWP at the wounded site. These electrical signals will trigger the opening of ion channels in the damaged cells which allows for the influx of calcium ions [VODENEEV & al. 2015]. The influx of calcium ions will stimulate the production of ROS and activates mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades [MOSTAFA & al. 2022]. This leads to the induction of defense-related genes and synthesis of defense-related compounds [WANG & al. 2013]. In this long-distance signaling mechanism, wounded leaves synthesize prosystemin in phloem parenchyma cells, and the prosystemin is proteolytically processed to systemin. Systemin is released from phloem parenchyma cells and binds to receptors on the plasma membrane of adjacent companion cells. This binding activates a signaling cascade involving phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and MAP kinases, which results in the biosynthesis of jasmonic acid (JA). JA is then transported via sieve elements to unwounded leaves. There, JA initiates a signaling pathway in target mesophyll cells, resulting in the expression of genes that encode protease inhibitors. Plasmodesmata facilitate the spread of the signal at various steps in the pathway [ERB & REYMOND, 2019; MOSTAFA & al. 2022].

In addition, SWPs can also activate other defense-related genes, including those involved in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites such as alkaloids, terpenoids, and phenolics [DIVEKAR & al. 2022]. These metabolites can have toxic or deterrent effects on insects, providing further protection to the plant.

Hormone changes in Arabidopsis thaliana upon electrical signaling after insect attack

Studies have shown that electrical signals triggered by herbivore attacks can activate several different hormone signaling pathways in plants, such as JA, salicylic acid (SA), and abscisic acid (ABA).

The JA pathway is particularly relevant in plant defense against herbivores, as it plays a key role in regulating the production of defense compounds such as protease inhibitors, which can deter herbivores from feeding on the plant [HOWE & JANDER, 2008]. Electrical signals triggered by herbivore attacks have been shown to upregulate genes involved in JA biosynthesis and signaling as previously mentioned above, suggesting that electrical signals can activate this pathway to aid the plant defend against herbivores. In more detailed explanation, the influx of calcium ions can activate the JA signaling pathway by inducing the expression of JA biosynthesis genes and JA-responsive genes [MOUSAVI & al. 2013; FROMM & LAUTNER, 2007].

Arabidopsis mutants deficient in SA biosynthesis (*sid2-1*) or signaling (*npr1*) were shown to be more resistant to *S. littoralis* and *Bemisia tabaci* [BODENHAUSEN & REYMOND, 2007; ZARATE & al. 2007]. The SA pathway antagonizes JA signaling and can therefore act as a negative regulator of JA-dependent defenses in plants [PIETERSE & al. 2012]. However, more evidence is needed to support that electrical signaling leads to a rapid systemic accumulation of SA [KLOTH & DICKE, 2022].
Aira Monique Nasol FELIX & Tim XING

Although the role of ABA in plant defense against herbivores is less understood, some studies have suggested that electrical signals can also activate the ABA pathway [FROMM & LAUTNER, 2007]. The expression of *Arabidopsis* chloroplast-localized glycerolipid A1 lipases *PLIP2* and *PLIP3* was induced by ABA and leads to JA accumulation and the work seemed to indicate a mechanistic link between ABA accumulation and downstream JA-defense responses [WANG & al. 2018]. It was also found that pea aphid performance is decreased on the ABA biosynthesis mutant *aba1-1* in *Arabidopsis* [HILLWIG & al. 2016].

Changes in gene expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana* upon electrical signaling after insect attack

At the remote site, signaling pathways activated by electrical signal can lead to changes in gene expression through the activation or repression of transcription factors that bind to certain sequences of DNA and modulate the expression of genes of interest. The activation or repression of transcription factors is typically mediated through post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, methylation, or acetylation, which can alter their activity or stability. For example, the calcium signaling pathway can activate a calciumdependent protein kinase (CPK) that phosphorylates and activates a transcription factor called MYC2, which in turn activates the expression of genes involved in defense against herbivores, such as proteinase inhibitors and polyphenol oxidases [KAZAN & MANNERS, 2013; WASTERNACK & HAUSE, 2013].

Similarly, JA pathway can activate a transcription factor called MYC2 or MYC3, which binds to specific DNA sequences located in the promoter regions of the genes of interest and activate their expression. The SA pathway, on the other hand, can activate a transcription factor called NPE1, which is translocated to the nucleus, activating the expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) genes by interacting with other transcription factors [KAZAN & MANNERS, 2013; FU & DONG, 2013]. In addition, the ethylene pathways can also repress the expression of genes involved in growth and development, which can help the plant allocate resources towards defense [HEIL & TON, 2008]. Here, we highlight some well-studied genes.

Glutamate receptor-like (GLR) genes

Electrical signals triggered by insect herbivory have been shown to regulate the expression of glutamate receptor-like (GLR) genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. GLR genes encode for ion channels that have a structural similarity to ionotropic glutamate receptors in mammals. These genes play a crucial role in mediating the electrical signal propagation within plants, which is essential for the systemic communication between different parts of the plant in response to insect attack [TOYOTA & al. 2018].

Several studies found that GLR3.3 and GLR3.6 were upregulated in systemic leaves of *Arabidopsis* plant after local leaf wounding by herbivory, and this upregulation was dependent on the electrical signal triggered by the wounding. The upregulation of these genes led to increased JA levels in the systemic leaves, which is a key signal for plant defense responses. This study suggests that GLRs play a role in systemic defense signaling in plants [MOUSAVI & al. 2013; XUE & al. 2022].

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ...

Lipoxygenase 2 (LOX2)

This gene encodes a lipoxygenase enzyme that catalyzes the synthesis of JA. LOX2 expression is upregulated by electrical signaling triggered by herbivory, and its products are involved in the regulation of several defense-related genes, including those encoding proteinase inhibitors and threonine deaminase. LOX2 has been observed to play a role in the activation of JA-mediated defense responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana* [VISWANATH & al. 2020].

Pathogenesis related protein-1 (PR-1)

This gene encodes a pathogenesis-related protein that is induced by the SA pathway and is a marker of systemic acquired resistance (SAR). PR-1 expression is also upregulated by electrical signaling triggered by herbivory, indicating a potential crosstalk between SA and JA pathways [BRICCHI & al. 2012].

WRKY70 transcription factor

This gene is associated in the regulation of JA pathway and is induced by electrical signaling triggered by herbivory. Activation of WRKY70 leads to the upregulation of several defense-related genes, including proteinase inhibitors and polyphenol oxidase (POX). WRKY70 has also been shown to negatively regulate defense pathways [CHAKRABORTY & al. 2020].

Omics approaches

In various study systems, the dominant biological functions activated by herbivory are suggested to be responses to biotic and abiotic stress, production and response to ROS, calcium signaling, cell wall modification, secondary metabolism, hormone metabolism, and transcriptional regulation [KUŚNIERCZYK & al. 2008; REYMOND & al. 2004]. While considerable progress has been made, there is a growing need to better understand how the cascade components function in modules, complexes and signaling networks.

Omics approaches were taken in an investigation of the impact of aphid feeding on gene expression and epigenetic control in *Arabidopsis* plants [ANNACONDIA & al. 2021]. They found that aphid feeding induced changes in gene expression in *Arabidopsis* plants. These changes were visualized using volcano plot, which showed genes that were significantly upregulated. They also found that the upregulated genes were mainly associated with the defense response in the plant. This was confirmed by analyzing gene ontology (GO) terms and categories, which showed that, many of the genes that are upregulated were associated in biological processes related to defense responses [ANNACONDIA & al. 2021].

In addition, they also found that aphid feeding caused a relaxation of epigenetic control in *Arabidopsis* plants. This was shown by the upregulation of a single epigenetic component during aphid feeding. Furthermore, various transcription factors were significantly upregulated during aphid infestation. This suggests that they may play a role in regulating the plant's response to aphid feeding. Lastly, their study found that aphid feeding caused changes in chromatin accessibility. They identified the significant overexpression of a single component of the epigenetic regulatory pathways that was overexpressed under aphid attack, HIKESHI-LIKE PROTEIN1 (HLP1), a promoter binding protein that promotes chromatin acetylation [SHARMA & al. 2019]. Overall, their study suggests that aphid feeding induces changes in gene expression and epigenetic control in *Arabidopsis* plants, which in turn lead to the activation of the defense response [ANNACONDIA & al. 2021]. Clearly, network-wide approaches enable identification of groups of closely associated proteins with common biological functions, and

Aira Monique Nasol FELIX & Tim XING

to further understand the regulation of these signaling components in cellular and physiological contexts. For example, transcriptomic approaches have been used in the analysis of the landscape of herbivore oviposition in *Arabidopsis* and have revealed considerable novel and potential components in the signaling process [OJEDA-MARTINEZ & al. 2022]. It is thus highly possible that omics analysis dedicated to electric signaling may have a significant potential to the further understanding of the response mechanisms upon herbivore attacks.

Conclusions and perspectives

In conclusion, the findings of this research have important implications for understanding plant-herbivore interactions and for developing new strategies for plant protection in agriculture and natural ecosystems. This research demonstrates that electrical signals play an important role in the physiological and biochemical responses of *Arabidopsis thaliana* during herbivore attacks. Furthermore, this research highlights the complexity and dynamic nature of plant defense responses and the role of electrical signals in shaping these responses. It is hoped that our work will further elucidate the function of electrical signals in herbivore-induced systemic response of plants. Future studies in this area could focus on elucidating the specific mechanisms by which electrical signals modulate gene expression and metabolic pathways in response to herbivore damage. For example, researchers could explore the roles of specific ion channels, signaling molecules, and transcription factors in mediating the effects of electrical signaling on plant metabolism and defense. Additionally, researchers could investigate the impact of electrical signals on the expression of epigenetic marks, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, which can modulate gene expression and metabolic pathways in response to environmental stimuli.

Furthermore, future studies could also investigate the potential of electrical signaling in enhancing plant resistance to herbivores in agriculture and horticulture. For example, researchers could explore the efficacy of using electrical stimulation as a means of priming plants to respond more robustly to herbivore attacks or using electrical signaling to trigger the production of natural pesticides. Overall, the insights gained from this study have important implications for our understanding of the complex mechanisms underlying these effects and to explore their potential applications in sustainable agriculture and environmental management. The potential for using electrical signaling as a tool for enhancing plant resistance to herbivores has exciting implications for sustainable agriculture and could lead to novel strategies for managing pests in crop systems.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by research grants to Tim XING from Carleton University, Canada, and Bayer Crop Science Inc. Canada.

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ... References

- ANNACONDIA M. L., MARKOVIC D., REIG-VALIENTE J. L., SCALTSOYIANNES V., PIETERSE C. M. J., NINKOVIC V., SLOTKIN R. K. & MARTINEZ G. 2021. Aphid feeding induces the relaxation of epigenetic control and the associated regulation of the defense response in *Arabidopsis. The New phytologist.* 230(3): 1185-1200. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.17226
- BODENHAUSEN N. & REYMOND P. 2007. Signaling pathways controlling induced resistance to insect herbivores in Arabidopsis. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions. 20(11): 1406-1420. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-20-11-1406
- BURDON-SANDERSON J. S. 1873. Note on the electrical phenomena which accompany stimulation of the leaf of Dionaea muscipula. Proceedings of the Royal Society. 21: 495-496. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspl.1872.0092
- BRICCHI I., BERTEA C. M., OCCHIPINTI A., PAPONOV I. A. & MAFFEI M. E. 2012. Dynamics of membrane potential variation and gene expression induced by Spodoptera littoralis, Myzus persicae, and Pseudomonas syringae in Arabidopsis. PLoS ONE. 7(10): https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046673
- BRUCE T. J. & PICKETT J. A. 2007. Plant defence signaling induced by biotic attacks. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 10(4): 387-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2007.05.002
- CHAKRABORTY J., SEN S., GHOSH P., JAIN A. & DAS S. 2020. Inhibition of multiple defense responsive pathways by CaWRKY70 transcription factor promotes susceptibility in chickpea under *Fusarium oxysporum* stress condition. *BMC Plant Biology*. 20(1): 319. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-02527-9
- CHOI W. G., MILLER G., WALLACE I., HARPER J., MITTLER R. & GILROY S. 2017. Orchestrating rapid longdistance signaling in plants with Ca2+, ROS and electrical signals. *The Plant Journal*. 90: 698-707. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13492
- DIVEKAR P. A., NARAYANA S., DIVEKAR B. A., KUMAR R., GADRATAGI B. G., RAY A., SINGH A. K., RANI V., SINGH V., SINGH A. K., KUMAR A., SINGH R. P. MEENA R. S. & BEHERA T. K. 2022. Plant secondary metabolites as defense tools against herbivores for sustainable crop protection. *International journal of molecular sciences.* 23(5): 2690. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23052690
- DZIUBINSKA H., FILEK M., KOSCIELNIAK J. & TREBACZ K. 2003. Variation and action potentials evoked by thermal stimuli accompany enhancement of ethylene emission in distant non-stimulated leaves of Vicia faba minor seedlings. Journal of Plant Physiology. 160(10): 1203-1210. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00914
- ERB M. & REYMOND P. 2019. Molecular interactions between plants and insect herbivores. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 70: 527-557. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050718-095910
- EVANS M. J. & MORRIS R. J. 2017. Chemical agents transported by xylem mass flow propagate variation potentials. *The Plant Journal.* **91**(6): 1029-1037. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13624
- FELLE H. H. & ZIMMERMANN M. R. 2007. Systemic signaling in barley through action potentials. *Planta*. **226**(1): 203-214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-006-0458-y
- FOTOUHI N., FISCHER-STETTLER M., LENZONI G., STOLZ S., GLAUSER G., ZEEMAN S. C. & FARMER E. E. 2022. ACA pumps maintain leaf excitability during herbivore onslaught. *Current Biology*. 32(11): 2517-2528.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.03.059
- FÜRSTENBERG-HÄGG J., ZAGROBELNY M. & BAK S. 2013. Plant defense against insect herbivores. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 14(5): 10242-10297. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140510242
- FILEK M. & KOŚCIELNIAK J. 1997. The effect of wounding the roots by high temperature on the respiration rate of the shoot and propagation of electric signal in horse bean seedlings (*Vicia faba L. minor*). *Plant Science*. 123(1-2): 39-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9452(96)04567-0
- FRACHISSE-STOILSKOVIĆ J. M. & JULIEN J. L. 1993. The coupling between extra- and intracellular electric potentials in *Bidens pilosa* L. *Plant*, *Cell & Environment*. 16(6): 633-641. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1993.tb00481.x
- FROMM J. & LAUTNER S. 2007. Electrical signals and their physiological significance in plants. Plant, Cell & Environment. 30(3): 249-257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01614.x
- FROMM J. & BAUER T. 1994. Action potentials in maize sieve tubes change phloem translocation. Journal of Experimental Botany. 45(4): 463-469. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/45.4.463
- FU Z. Q. & DONG X. 2013. Systemic acquired resistance: turning local infection into global defense. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 64: 839-863. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105606
- GILROY S., BIAŁASEK M., SUZUKI N., GÓRECKA M., DEVIREDDY A. R., KARPIŃSKI S. & MITTLER R. 2016. ROS, Calcium, and electric signals: key mediators of rapid systemic signaling in plants. *Plant Physiology*. 171(3): 1606-1615. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.00434

- GRAMS T. E., LAUTNER S., FELLE H. H., MATYSSEK R. & FROMM J. 2009. Heat-induced electrical signals affect cytoplasmic and apoplastic pH as well as photosynthesis during propagation through the maize leaf. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* 32(4): 319-326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01922.x
- HEIL M. & TON J. 2008. Long-distance signaling in plant defence. Trends in Plant Science. 13(6): 264-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2008.03.005
- HILLWIG M. S., CHIOZZA M., CASTEEL C. L., LAU S. T., HOHENSTEIN J., HERNÁNDEZ E., JANDER G. & MACINTOSH G. C. 2016. Abscisic acid deficiency increases defence responses against *Myzus persicae* in *Arabidopsis. Molecular Plant Pathology*. 17(2): 225-235. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12274
- HOWE G. A. & JANDER G. 2008. Plant immunity to insect herbivores. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 59: 41-66. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurey.arplant.59.032607.092825
- JULIEN J. L. & FRACHISSE J. M. 1992. Involvement of the proton pump and proton conductance change in the wave of depolarization induced by wounding in *Bidens pilosa*. *Canadian Journal of Botany*. **70**(7): 1451-1458. https://doi.org/10.1139/b92-183
- KATICHEVA L., SUKHOV V., AKINCHITS E. & VODENEEV V. 2014. Ionic nature of burn-induced variation potential in wheat leaves. *Plant and Cell Physiology*. 55(8): 1511-1519. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcu082
- KAZAN K. & MANNERS J. M. 2013. MYC2: the master in action. *Molecular Plant.* 6(3): 686-703. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/sss128
- KLOTH K. J. & DICKE M. 2022. Rapid systemic responses to herbivory. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 68: 102242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2022.102242
- KUŚNIERCZYK A., WINGE P., JØRSTAD T. S., TROCZYŃSKA J., ROSSITER J. T. & BONES A. M. 2008. Towards global understanding of plant defence against aphids-timing and dynamics of early *Arabidopsis* defence responses to cabbage aphid (*Brevicoryne brassicae*) attack. *Plant Cell & Environment.* 31(8): 1097-1115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01823.x
- LI J. H., FAN L. F., ZHAO D. J., ZHOU Q., YAO J. P. WANG Z. Y. & HUANG L. 2021. Plant electrical signals: a multidisciplinary challenge. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 261: 153418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2021.153418
- MALONE M. 1992. Kinetics of wound-induced hydraulic signals and variation potentials in wheat seedlings. *Planta*. 187(4): 505-510. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00199969
- MANCUSO S. 1999. Hydraulic and electrical transmission of wound-induced signals in Vitis vinifera. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology. 26(1): 55-61. https://doi.org/10.1071/PP98098
- MATAMALA E., CASTILLO C., VIVAR J. P., ROJAS P. A. & BRAUCHI S. E. 2021. Imaging the electrical activity of organelles in living cells. *Communications Biology*. 4(1): 389. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-01916-6
- MOSTAFA S., WANG Y., ZENG W. & JIN B. 2022. Plant responses to herbivory, wounding, and infection. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 23(13): 7031. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23137031
- MOUSAVI S. A., CHAUVIN A., PASCAUD F., KELLENBERGER S. & FARMER E. E. 2013. GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR-LIKE genes mediate leaf-to-leaf wound signaling. *Nature*. 500(7463): 422-426. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12478
- OJEDA-MARTINEZ D., DIAZ I. & SANTAMARIA M. E. 2022. Transcriptomic landscape of herbivore oviposition in Arabidopsis: a systematic review. Frontiers of Plant Science. 12: 772492. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.772492
- PIETERSE C. M., VAN DER DOES D., ZAMIOUDIS C., LEON-REYES A. & VAN WEES S. C. 2012. Hormonal modulation of plant immunity. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology. 28: 489-521. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154055
- REYMOND P., BODENHAUSEN N., VAN POECKE R. M., KRISHNAMURTHY V., DICKE M. & FARMER E. E. 2004. A conserved transcript pattern in response to a specialist and a generalist herbivore. *The Plant Cell*. 16(11): 3132-3147. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.104.026120
- SHARMA M., BANDAY Z. Z., SHUKLA B. N. & LAXMI A. 2019. Glucose-Regulated HLP1 Acts as a key molecule in governing thermomemory. Plant Physiology. 180(2): 1081-1100. https://doi.org/ 10.1104/ pp.18.01371
- STAHLBERG R. & COSGROVE D. J. 1997. The propagation of slow wave potentials in pea epicotyls. *Plant Physiology*. **113**(1): 209-217. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.1.209
- SUKHOV V., ORLOVA L., MYSYAGIN S., SINITSINA J. & VODENEEV V. 2012. Analysis of the photosynthetic response induced by variation potential in geranium. *Planta*. 235(4): 703-712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-011-1529-2
- SUKHOV V., AKINCHITS E., KATICHEVA L. & VODENEEV V. 2013. Simulation of variation potential in higher plant cells. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*. 246(4): 287-96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-013-9529-8

ELECTRICAL SIGNALING AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL IMPACTS ...

- SUKHOV V., SHERSTNEVA O., SUROVA L., KATICHEVA L. & VODENEEV V. 2014. Proton cellular influx as a probable mechanism of variation potential influence on photosynthesis in pea. *Plant Cell & Environment*. 37(11): 2532-2541. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12321
- TOYOTA M., SPENCER D., SAWAI-TOYOTA S., JIAQI W., ZHANG T., KOO A. J., HOWE G. A. & GILROY S. 2018. Glutamate triggers long-distance, calcium-based plant defense signaling. *Science*. 361(6407): 1112-1115. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat7744
- VISWANATH K. K., VARAKUMAR P., PAMURU R. R., BASHA S. J., MEHTA S. & RAO A. D. 2020. Plant lipoxygenases and their role in plant physiology. *Journal of Plant Biology*. 63(2): 83-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12374-020-09241-x
- VODENEEV V. A., AKINCHITS E. K., ORLOVA L. A. & SUKHOV V. S. 2011. The role of Ca2⁺, H⁺, and Cl⁻ ions in generation of variation potential in pumpkin plants. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 58: 974-981. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1021443711050256
- VODENEEV V., ORLOVA A., MOROZOVA E., ORLOVA L., AKINCHITS E., ORLOVA O. & SUKHOV V. 2012. The mechanism of propagation of variation potentials in wheat leaves. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 169(10): 949-954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2012.02.013
- VODENEEV V., OPRITOV V. A. & PYATYGIN S. S. 2006. Reversible changes of extracellular pH during action potential generation in a higher plant Cucurbita pepo. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 53(4): 481-487. https://doi.org/10.1134/S102144370604008X
- VODENEEV V., AKINCHITS E. & SUKHOV V. 2015. Variation potential in higher plants: mechanisms of generation and propagation. *Plant Signaling & Behavior*. 10(9): e1057365. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2015.1057365
- WANG K., GUO Q., FROEHLICH J. E., HERSH H. L., ZIENKIEWICZ A., HOWE GA. & BENNING C. 2018. Two abscisic acid-responsive plastid lipase genes involved in jasmonic acid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell. 30(5): 1006-1022. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.18.00250
- WANG Y., BOUWMEESTER K., VAN DE MORTEL J. E., SHAN W. & GOVERS F. 2013. Induced expression of defense-related genes in Arabidopsis upon infection with Phytophthora capsici. Plant Signaling & Behavior. 8(7): e24618. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.24618
- WASTERNACK C. & HAUSE B. 2013. Jasmonates: biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. An update to the 2007 review in Annals of Botany. Annals of Botany. 111(6): 1021-1058. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mct067
- XUE N., ZHAN C., SONG J., LI Y., ZHANG J., QI J. & WU J. 2022. The glutamate receptor-like 3.3 and 3.6 mediate systemic resistance to insect herbivores in *Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany*. 73(22): 7611-7627. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erac399
- ZARATE S. I., KEMPEMA L. A. & WALLING L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiology*. 143(2): 866-75. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.106.090035
- ZHAO D. J., WANG Z. Y., LI J., WEN X., LIU A., HUANG L., WANG X. D., HOU R. F. & WANG C. 2013. Recording extracellular signals in plants: a modeling and experimental study. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*. 58(3-4): 556-563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcm.2011.10.065
- ZIMMERMANN M. R., MAISCHAK H., MITHÖFER A., BOLAND W. & FELLE H. H. 2009. System potentials, a novel electrical long-distance apoplastic signal in plants, induced by wounding. *Plant Physiology*. 149(3): 1593-600. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.133884
- ZIMMERMANN M. R., MITHÖFER A., WILL T., FELLE H. H. & FURCH A. C. 2016. Herbivore-triggered electrophysiological reactions: candidates for systemic signals in higher plants and the challenge of their identification. *Plant physiology*. **170**(4): 2407-2419. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.01736

How to cite this article:

FELIX A. M. N. & XING T. 2023. Electrical signaling and its physiological and biochemical impacts during herbivore attacks: a brief review on Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Plant Develop. 30: 137-148. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.928

Muhammad SHAFIQ^{1*}, Muhammad Zafar IQBAL¹, Mohammad ATHAR²

¹ Department of Botany, University of Karachi, Karachi, 75270 – Pakistan.
 ² California Department of Food and Agriculture, 1220 N Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 – USA.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: shafiqeco@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-0488-8946

Abstract: The wet (rain, snow, fog, sleet, dew) and dry (transport of aerosol, particles and gases) deposition of acidic substance in environment results due to human, automobile, fossil fuel burning and industrial activities. Acid deposition is worldwide environmental degradation problems and in recent years these acidic materials are increasing at alarming scale in the environment both in developed and developing countries, including Pakistan. Some scientific literature survey reports suggest that plant growth and agriculture yield decrease due to consequence of acid rain. In addition, acid rain is found responsible for producing toxic effects on the morphological parameters of agricultural crop. The evidence collected from last more than fifty years showed the common significant effects of acid rain on seed germination percentage, seedling height, root hair and structure, alteration in leaf anatomy, size and area, stomatal structure, size, pollen germination, photosynthetic pigments and physiological changes in herbs, shrubs and trees. Still, little is known on the impact of acid rain on plant growth. This study was aimed to review the effects of acid mist on growth performances of some selected plant species. This review is contributed with the help of literature survey, research work published on the impact of acid rain on the plant growth.

Key words: fossil fuel, leaf damage, mineral nutrition, root, seed germination, shoot, water potential, yield.

Introduction

The rapid growth of economic development, industrial and automobile activities has given rise to many common ecological and environmental pollution problems [SANKA & al. 1995; IQBAL & SHAFIQ, 2006; SHAFIQ & IQBAL, 2012; LIU & al. 2016; QIAO & al. 2018; SHAFIQ & al. 2019; IQBAL & al. 2023]. Sources of pollution depends on specific industrial activities, anthropogenic emission due to fuel combustion, geographical, geological, environmental contamination, coal combustion, climatic and sociological conditions which ones alone or in combination influence all parts of the environments. The pollutants likewise sulfur and nitrogen oxides are chemically converted in the atmosphere to form strong acids (H₂SO₄ and HNO₃) and this chemical reaction in the presence of moisture formed acid rain and increase of acidity in the environment decrease the level of alkalinity. Therefore, sulfuric and nitric acids can form and fall as acid rains [JALALI & NADERI, 2012]. The pH value of a substance determines its acidity or alkalinity and is measured on a scale of 0.0 to 14.0. The pH values less than 7.0 acidic, more than 7.0 basic, pure water has a pH of 7.0 and making it neutral [CBEF, 2013]. There are tenfold differences between each unit recorded. The pH 6 is ten times more acidic than pH 7, pH 5 is 100 times more acidic than pH 7 [GRANAT, 1972; LIKENS & al. 1972]. The pH of acid rain usually ranged about 3.0 to 5.5 [REIQUAM, 1970; DAI & al. 2013]. The effects of acid rain on soil acidification, calcium nutrition, tree growth, environmental disaster, ecological system and forest health also reported [CAP, 1993; SVERDRUP & al. 1994; DeHAYES & al. 1999; LARSSEN & al. 2006; XU & al. 2015; GUO & al. 2016; DEBNATH

& al. 2018; BARTELS & al. 2019; LIU & al. 2019]. The maximum sulfur dioxide concentrations, exceed WHO guideline in some areas of Pakistan [UNEP, 1992]. Acid rain in 2018 affected an area of 530,000 km² in China [Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China, 2018]. Acid rain availability produces harmful impact on herbs, shrub and trees. In present review the variance between pH levels 6.0 to 2.0 indicates that seed germination, seedling growth, root system, plant dry weight, pollen germination and photosynthetic activities significantly behaved differently. JU & al. (2017) stated that the precipitations with pH values lower than 5.6 as acid rain and contribute to several key environmental issues, including acidification of soils and waters, leaf injury and forest decline, loss of biodiversity, and damage of buildings and metal materials. In the natural environment, soil pH has an enormous influence on soil biogeochemical processes. Soil pH that influences myriads of soil biological, chemical, and physical properties and processes that affect plant growth and biomass yield. The soil pH interlinked with the biological, geological, and chemical aspects of the soil environment as well as how these processes, through anthropogenic interventions, induce changes in soil pH [NEINA, 2019]. Acid rain describes any form of precipitation that contains high levels of nitric and sulfuric acid. It can occur in the form of snow, fog, and tiny bits of dry matter that settled on earth. Normal rain is slightly acidic with pH of 5.6 and acid rain generally range between pH 4.2 and 4.4 [NUNEZ, 2019].

The plants can be considered as the biggest victim of acid rain pollution in terrestrial ecosystem [RAMLALL & al. 2015]. It was found that simulated acid rain stress induced changes in root system, root morphology, yield and shoot: root ratio of seedlings; climate change, invertebrates, microorganism and soil respiration for nutrient uptake in forest [ERICSSON, 1995; KUPERMAN & EDWARDS, 1997; KUKI & al. 2008; REIS & al. 2012; LIANG & WANG, 2013; EL-MALLAKH & al. 2014; LIANG & al. 2015; LIANG & al. 2018; LIANG & al. 2020]. The impact of acid rain on pollen germination in corn, foliar nutrient concentrations for sugar maple, foliar injury and on the biogeochemical cycles of red spruce ecosystems noted [NEUFELD & al. 1985; LEITH & al. 1989; SHERMAN & FAHEY, 1994; HOGAN, 1998]. The disturbances in the chemical climate of earth, enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant activities, ecosystem may also decrease in the pH and an increase in foliar leaching losses [COWLING, 1983; DU & al. 2020]. The possible impact of atmospheric acid deposition on leaf litters, tree leaves, root phenotypes and tree growth noted [SOLBERG & al. 2004; WANG & al. 2010; TOMAŠEVIĆ & al. 2011; SUN & al. 2013; BARTELS & al. 2019]. An important factor governing germination is the pH [HORA & BAKER, 1972]. Acid rain toxicity is deleterious to plant growth. Normally, rainfall is slightly acid, but its pH value lower than 5.6 induced high effects of on soil pH, soil microbial community, leaf injury, root, sapling and woody tree growth [ZHANG & al. 1996; OUYANG & al. 2008; PIETRI & BROOKES, 2008; MEENA, 2013; WANG & al. 2014]. Effects of simulated acid rain on the mineral nutrition, foliar pigments, biochemical attributes and photosynthetic rates of sugar maple, white spruce and wheat seedlings recorded [DIXON & KUJA, 1995; DOLATABADIAN & al. 2013]. Acidic deposition and inputs affected forest in northeastern US [DRISCOLL & al. 2001; 2003].

Acid rain pollution studies are a matter of utmost concern. Great concern has been expressed, in developed and developing countries about the toxicity role of acid rain on the immediate environment. The occurrence of incased precipitation acidity over wide areas of the city raises serious question, as it can effects on growth and vigor of plant species. This effort of research review work was carried out with the aim to highlight and understand the different types of effects of acidified rain on plant growth, soil and environmental with the help of available scientific literature covering 1970-2023. The searching was done using large database from different web sites, scientific journals, google, google scholar, scientific journals, PubMed, Hindawi, Sciencealert.net and Science Direct.

Effects of acid mist on seed germination and seedling growth of plant

The effects of acid rain on seed germination and seedling growth of different plant species is provided in Table 1. The interpretation of results showed a wide range of sensitivities of seed germination to acidic substrate conditions (pH 4.0, 3.0, 2.4) exists among five tree species characteristic (Acer saccharum L. Sapindaceae, Acer rubrum L. Sapindaceae, Betula lutea Britton Betulaceae, Tsuga canadensis (L.) Carrière Pinaceae and Pinus strobus L. Pinaceae of Adirondack mixed hardwood conifer forests [RAYNAL & al. 1982]. The rate of seed germination of Balsam fir and yellow birch showed significantly greater germination at pH 3 than at pH 4 or 5 [SCHERBATSKOY & al. 1987]. The acid rain treatment of Vicia faba L. cv. 'Con Amore', grown either in soil or quartz gravel in eight open top chambers to two levels of SO₂ (charcoal-filtered air and charcoal filtered air enriched with SO₂) and two artificial rain treatments (pH 5.6 and pH 3.0/4.0), alone or in combination resulted in a decrease of fresh and dry weight of whole plants, leaves, stalks, fruits and roots; number of leaves, stalks, blossoms, pods and seeds; leaf area; plant height; sulphur content total fresh and dry weight and fruit production of plants grown in soil, while, particularly at the beginning of the rain treatments, dry weight of whole potted plants and leaves as well as the number of leaves of plants grown in quartz gravel decreased [ADAROS & al. 1988].

A variable response of two years old red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg.) seedlings growth and foliar injury to varying pH acidity value (2.5-3.5) in concentrations of sulfur and nitrogen was observed [JACOBSON & al. 1990]. In a study, seeds and seedlings of five hardwood species were subjected to a simulated acid rain 2.0, 3.5, 5.0, 6.0 pH, and to distilled water (the control). Seed germination was remarkably inhibited by pH 2.0 treatment for three hardwood species while seedling growth was stimulated at pH levels between 3.5 and 5.0. The inhibition of seed germination and seedling growth for all the treated hardwood species was recorded by pH 2.0 treatment [FAN & WANG, 2000]. SINGH & AGRAWAL (2004) reports the effect of simulated acid rain of different pH 5.6 (control), 5.0, 4.5, 4.0 and 3.0 on two cultivars of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*, Malviya 213(M213) and Sonalika). Shoot and root lengths significantly declined at pH 3.0 in both varieties. Leaf area declined at pH 4.0 and 3.0 in M213 at both ages and at 75 days in Sonalika. Total biomass of 75 days plants declined significantly at pH range 4.5-3.0 in M213 and at pH 4.0 and 3.0 in Sonalika and concluded that acid rain has a significant negative effect on wheat plant performance.

LIU & al. (2011) reported the different effects of calcium on seed germination, seedling growth and photosynthesis of six forest tree species under simulated acid rain. The seed germination percentage, germination index of rice and wheat was absolutely inhibited with simulated acid rain stress at pH 2.0. Furthermore, rice and wheat seeds germinated abnormally at pH 2.5. An inhibition index of shoot and root length of rice, wheat and rape seeds decreased with increased pH values [ZENG & al. 2005]. Such types of studies are helpful in understanding the susceptibility of tree species to acid precipitation. Growth of five weeks old white ash (Fraxinus americana) was found the greatest for seedlings treated with pH 4.3 and the least for those treated with pH 5.6 or 3.0 simulated rain under controlled environmental conditions. Significant linear decreases in root dry weight, and root/shoot ratio occurred with increasing rain acidity [CHAPPELKA & CHEVONE, 2011]. Similar types of the effects of simulated acid rain (pH 2.5, 3.5,4.5 and 5.6) on the seedling growth of Jatropha curcas L. was recorded by [SHU & al. 2019]. The effect of varying simulated acid rain solutions treatment, one each at pH 5.6, 4.5, 3.5 and 2.5, on the growth of two crop plants, brinjal (Solanum melongena Linn.) and cowpea (Vigna unguiculata ssp. cylindrica (L.) Walpers was assessed [ARORA & al. 2022]. This study revealed that decrease in pH to 2.5 adversely affected almost all the growth parameters in brinjal. In case of cowpea, however, this depression was quite discernible even at pH 3.5.

Table 1. Effects of acid mist on seed germination and seedling growth of plant				
Name of plant species	pH range 2.0-6.0	Symptoms	Reference	
<i>Betula alleghaniensis</i> Britt. – Betulaceae	2.3	Seedling growth decreased	WOOD & BORMANN, 1974	
Acer rubrum L. – Sapindaceae Betula lutea Britton – Betulaceae Pinus strobus L. – Pinaceae	4.0 3.0 3.0-2.4	Inhibition Inhibition Stimulation	RAYNAL & al. 1982	
Balsam fir and yellow birch	3 than at pH 4 or 5	Significantly greater germination at pH 3 than at pH 4 or 5	SCHERBATSKOY & al. 1987	
Vicia faba L. ev. 'Con Amore'	5.6 and 3.0/4.0)	Decrease of fresh and dry weight, stalks, fruits and roots; number of leaves, stalks, blossoms, pods and seeds; leaf area; plant height; sulphur content, fruit production, and leaves as well as the number of leaves of plants	ADAROS & al. 1988	
Pinus taeda L.	5.30, 4.0 -	Seedling height and diameter growth decrease	EDWARDS & al. 1990	
Acer accharum Marsh. Picea glauca (Moench) Voss	3.2	Decreased seedling height	DIXON & KUJA, 1995	
Clitorea ternatea L. Senna holosericea (Fresen.) Greuter. Adenanthera pavonina L. Senra incana Cay	4.0, 3.0	Seed germination and early seedling growth decreased	SHAUKAT & SHAFIQ, 1998	
a=Cinnamomum camphora L. – Lauraceae b=Castanopsis fissa Rehd. et Wils. – Fagaceae c=Koelreuteria bipinnata Franch. – Sapindaceae	2.0	a=reduction [51.09%] b=reduction [76.61%] c=reduction [56.32%]	MUNZUROGLU & WANG, 2000 – China	
Cinnamomum camphora L. Castanopsis fissa Rehd. et Wils. Koelreuteria bipinnata Franch. Ligustrum lucidum Ait. Melia azedarach L.	2.0	Seedling growth adversely decreased	FAN & WANG, 2000 – China	
Two cultivars of wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> , 'Malviya' 213(M213) and 'Sonalika')	5.6, 5.0, 4.5, 4.0 and 3.0	Shoot and root lengths significantly declined at pH 3.0 in both varieties. Leaf area declined at pH4.0 and 3.0 in M213. Total biomass declined significantly at pH range4.5–3.0 in M213 and at pH 4.0 and 3.0 in Sonalika	SINGH & AGRAWAL, 2004	
Rice and wheat	2	Seedling inhibition	ZENG & al. 2005	
Tomato	2.5	inhibition of growth	DEBNATH & al. 2018	
Jatropha curcas L. – Euphorbiaceae	4.50 (+)	Seedling growth stimulated	SHU & al. 2019 – China	
Two crop plants, brinjal (Solanum melongena Linn.) and cowpea (Vigna unguiculata ssp. cylindrica (L.) Walpers	5.6, 4.5, 3.5, 2.5	2.5 adversely affected almost all the growth parameters in brinjal. In case of cowpea, this depression was quite discernible even at pH 3.5.	ARORA & al. 2022	

THE EFFECTS OF ACID MIST ENVIRONMENT ON PLANT GROWTH: A REVIEW Table 1. Effects of acid mist on seed germination and seedling growth of plan

Effects of different concentrations of acid mist pH (T1-2.82, T2-3.45, T3-4.46, T4-5.55) on root, shoot, seedling height and seedling dry weight of *Albizia lebbeck*

The shoot growth of *Albizia lebbeck* (L.) Benth. at pH 4.46 was found promotory. A sharp decline in shoot growth of *A. lebbeck* was noticed in pH 5.55 and 3.45 followed by pH 2.82 and 4.46 treatment, respectively (Table 2). The maximum reduction in shoot growth of *A. lebbeck* at 5.5 pH was recorded. The acid rain not only affects the aerial parts of plant but also degrade the fertility of soil and increases the vulnerability of plants to toxic metals [DU & al. 2017].

Treatments Root length (cm)		Shoot length (cm)	Plant height (cm)	Seedling dry weight (g)
T1	16.00	12.20	28.10	2.856
T2	20.00	11.70	31.70	2.992
T3	15.40	11.70	27.10	2.878
T4	14.10	10.50	24.60	2.308
L.S.D. P<0.05	9.32	2.28	10.64	1.421
Source: IQBAL & S	HAFIQ (2023) – Pakista	an		

 Table 2. Effects of different concentrations of acid mist pH on seedling growth and dry weight of *Albizia lebbeck*

The effects of acid mist on leaf growth, anatomy and stomata of plant species

The relative sensitivities of foliage of foliage of several clones of *Tradescantia* sp., *Pteridium aquilinum, Quercus palustris*, and *Glycine max* to acid rain, and leaf surface and anatomical alterations to simulated acid rain at pH 5.7, 3.4, 3.1, 2.9, 2.7, 2.5, and 2.3 levels was investigated [EVANS & CURRY, 1979]. Sporophyte leaves of bracken fern (*P. aquilinum*) were most sensitive to simulated acid rain among the species tested. About 10% of the surface area of older leaves of *P. aquilinum* was injured after exposure to 10 rainfalls at pH 2.5 (a single 20-min rainfall daily). The gall formation that resulted from both cell hypertrophy and hyperplasia occurred in lesions of *Tradescantia*, and *Q. Palustris* [EVANS & CURRY, 1979]. In general, it was concluded that the tested plant species that show cell hyperplasia and hypertrophy of leaf tissues after exposure to simulated acid rain.

Acid rain can negatively impact on micromorphology, leaf function and anatomy of plant health [SILVA & al. 2005; SANT'ANNA-SANTOS & al. 2006; TONG & al. 2014; WU & LIANG, 2017; MA & al. 2021] and suppresses leaf function and mesophyll cell (Table 3). The more acute injury of acid rain to plant foliage includes variation in stomatal conductance [DONG & al. 2017]. Acid rain can affect the structure of plant leaves, destroy the cuticle, and leaves, cause leaves to lose a large amount of nutrients likewise potassium, calcium, and magnesium and cell building [SINGH & AGRAWAL, 2007; HU & al. 2019]. The treatment of pH 4.5 (H₂SO₄) altered the micro morphological changes in youngest leaves, wilting of epidermal common cells and stomatal guard cells of *Joannesia princeps* [ANDRADE & al. 2020]. The visible leaf damage and anatomical alterations in two urban trees, *Liquidambar styraciflua* L. and *Fraxinus uhdei* (Wenz.) Lingelsh growing in Mexico City with sulfuric acid solutions at pH 2.5 and 3.8 reported [RODRÍGUEZ-SÁNCHEZ & al. 2020].

As an important edible part of leafy vegetables, the leaf blade is also one of the more sensitive plant parts to environmental stresses [XIONG & al. 2016; YANG & al. 2018; GAO & al. 2020]. The extent and magnitude of acid rain in Vietnam and other Asian countries have become more apparent since over the past decade. In this study, the effect of simulated acid rain (pH 5.0, 4.0, and 3.0) and control treatment (pH 6.0) are observed for three species *Brassica*

integrifolia, *B. rapa*, and *B. juncea* in Hanoi. In pot experiment results showed that acid rain causes direct damage to leaves. Observations also revealed white spots on leaves; leaves getting discolored and gradually turning yellow, curling leaf marginal, and turning dark blue, with the most severe symptoms being necrotic leaves. Parameters of the shoot and root length, leaf area, biomass, and chlorophyll content all decrease as pH drops. In conclusion, *B. rapa* showed the highest resistance capability to acid rain compared with *B. integrifolia* and *B. juncea*, especially its proline content is the highest at pH 3.0 in three Brassicaceae species [PHAM & al. 2022].

Name of Plant masing	Acid rain pH 2.0 - 6.0, symptoms and reference					
Name of Flant species	2.0-6.0	Symptoms	Reference			
Betula alleghaniensis Britt – Betulaceae	3.0	Foliar tissue damage	WOOD & BORMANN, 1974			
Pinus jeffreyi Grev. & Balf. – Pinaceae Sequoiadendron giganteum (Lindl.) Buchholz – Cupressaceae	3.4 2.0	Leaf chemical changes	WESTMAN & TEMPLE, 1989 – U.S.A.			
Picea rubens Sarg.	3.5	Foliar injury	JACOBSON & al. 1990 – U.S.A.			
Picea abies L. Karst. Pinus sylvestris L.	4.0 3.0	Alteration in the size of the ultrastructure of needles of mesophyll chloroplasts	BÄCK & HUTTUNEN, 1992			
Both conifers and broadleaved tree seedlings	3.5	Subtle changes in the structural characteristics of leaf surfaces	CAPE, 1993			
Shortleaf pine – <i>Pinus echinata</i> Mill.	5.3, 4.3, 3.3	Leaf area affected	SHELBURNE & al. 1993			
Red spruce – <i>Picea rubens</i> Sarg.	3.0	Impaired stomatal functions, including a smaller maximum aperture, slower closure and an increased lag time between stomatal closure. Delayed stomatal closure	BORER & al. 2005			
Liquidambar formosana Schima superba	3.0	Leaf necrosis	CHEN & al. 2013			
Liquidambar styraciflua L. – Altingiaceae	2.5, 3.8	Cuticle alterations	RODRÍGUEZ-SÁNCHEZ & al. 2020 – Mexico			
Fraxinus uhdei (Wenz.) Lingelsh. – Oleaceae	2.5, 3.8	Visible leaf damage, anatomical alterations	RODRÍGUEZ-SÁNCHEZ & al. 2020 – Mexico			
Joannesia princeps Vell – Euphorbiaceae	4.5	Wilting epidermal and stomata guard cell	ANDRADE & al. 2020 – Brazil			
Pak choi (<i>Brassica rapa</i> subsp. chinensis)	3.5	Growth retardation and leaf yellowing	ZHA & al. 2022			
Brassica integrifolia Brassica rapa Brassica juncea in Hanoi	3.0	white spots on leaves; leaves getting discolored and gradually turning yellow, curling leaf marginal, turning dark blue, severe symptoms being necrotic leaves	PHAM & al. 2022			

Table 3. The effects of acid rain on leaf anatomy, damage and stomata of plant species

The effects of acid rain on root system (root phenotypes, growth, mineral content) of plant species

Root systems provide mechanical support and helps in nutrient uptakes and the addition of acid rain usually damage the plant root growth (Table 4). The diameter growth of white oak were significantly decreased to rains of pH 3.6 [WALKER & McLAUGHLIN, 1991]. Acid rain threatens the development of plant roots [HUANG & al. 2000; LIU & al. 2018b]. The research work of HUANG & al. (2019) shows that acid rain increases the accumulation of reactive oxygen species and inhibits roots growth and root system development of white oak (*Quercus alba* L.) and loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) were examined. The effects of topsoil heavy metal pollution (3,000 mg kg⁻¹ Zn, 640 mg kg⁻¹ Cu, 90 mg kg⁻¹ Pb and 10 mg kg⁻¹ Cd) and (synthetic) acid rain (pH 3.5) on tree growth and water use efficiency of young forest ecosystems consisting of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), willow (*Salix viminalis*), poplar (*Populus tremula*) and birch (*Betula pendula*) trees and a variety of understorey plants was investigated. The fine root mass was significantly reduced by heavy metal pollution in *P. abies*, *P. tremula* and *B. pendula*. Above and below ground growth was strongly inhibited by acidic subsoil in *S. viminalis* and to a lesser degree also in *P. abies* [MENON & al. 2007].

	Acid rain pH 2.0 - 6.0, symptoms and reference					
Name of plant species	2.0- 6.0	Symptoms	Reference			
White oak (<i>Quercus alba</i> L.) and Loblolly pine (<i>Pinus taeda</i> L.)	3.6	Growth and root system development reduced	WALKER & McLAUGHLI, 1991			
Soybean (Glycine max L.)	3.0	Root phenotype	SUN & al. 2013			
Rice Oryza sativa L.	2.5	Root length, surface area, volume and number of tips reduced	ZHANG & al. 2016			
Rice Oryza sativa L.	2.0	Severe reduction in root growth	JU & al. 2017			
Rice Oryza sativa L.	4.5 3.5	Reduced morphology and growth	LIU & al. 2018			
Quercus acutissima and Cunninghamia lanceolata	4.5 2.5	Damage root length and area	LIU & al. 2022			
Pinus massoniana Lamb	4.6	primary lateral root length, root dry weight and number of root tips in seedlings exposed to simulated acid rain at pH 4.6 were higher than that of the control (pH 6.6).	ZHOU & al. 2022			

 Table 4. The effects of acid rain on root system (root phenotypes, growth, mineral content)

The effects of acid rain on biomass of different plant species

Some other studies that assessed similar pattern of decrease in biomass production in forests and agricultural areas (Table 5). The effects of simulated acid rain, at varying pH levels of 5.7, 4.0, 3.1 and 2.7 on yields of radish, garden beet, kidney bean, and alfalfa recorded. The results showed no significant difference in the yields of radish, kidney bean, and alfalfa when treated with simulated acid rain when compared to the yields of garden beet treated with pH 5.7 simulated rain [EVANS & al. 1982]. However, the combinations of ozone (carbon-filtered (control), ambient, 1.7 x ambient, and 2.5 x ambient) and acidic precipitation (pH 5.3, 4.3 and 3.3) for 16 months (1989 harvest) or 28 months (1990 harvest) showed trend of increased in aboveground biomass in seedlings of Shortleaf pine (*Pinus echinata* Mill.) and concluded that because N concentrations in the soils generally increased with decreasing pH [SHELBURNE &

al. 1993]. The reduction in forest productivity, water quality, the availability of nutrients due to acid stress are very common [DAHL & SKRE, 1971; SHEPPARD & al. 1993; NEAL & al. 2010]. The toxic impact of simulated acid rain on growth and yield of two cultivars of wheat noted SINGH & AGRAWAL (2004). LV & al. (2014) reported the effects of sulfuric, nitric, and mixed acid rain on litter decomposition, soil microbial biomass, and enzyme activities in subtropical forests of China. It also leads to further decreases in vertical growth, stem incremental growth, and in total plant biomass [ZHANG & al. 2016; LIU & al. 2018]. The inhibitory effects of acid rain on plant growth in general, aboveground and belowground plant parts responded differently. The interactions between acid rain pH and other acid rain characteristics and experimental characteristics indicating that there were pH dependent interaction patterns [SHI & al. 2021].

Name of	Acid rain pH 2.0 - 6.0					
Plant species	2.0 - 6.0	Symptoms	Reference			
Pinus taeda L.	5.3, 4.0	Biomass accumulation, seedling height and diameter growth, biomass accumulation and leaf pigment concentrations of loblolly pine	EDWARDS & al. 1990			
Pinus echinata Mill.	5.3, 4.3, 3.3	Biomass less	SHELBURNE & al. 1993			
Vigna sinensis L. and Phaseolus mungo L.	4, 2	Biomass accumulation, leaf chlorophyll, net photosynthesis, and photosystem activities. The level of chlorophyll on a unit fresh weight basis showed progressive reduction upon increasing acidity of mists treatment; the reduction was due to the loss of Chl a and Chl b. The increased stomatal diffusive resistance and reduced photosynthetic pigments lowered the net photosynthetic rate.	MUTHUCHELIAN & al. 1994			
Zebrina pendula	5.6, 3.5 2.5, 1.5	Biomass, relative anthocyanin concentration, chlorophyll content, nitrate reductase activity, proline content, antioxidase activity. slightly inhibited antioxidant activity. visible injury symptoms on leaves, with a sharp decline in ornamental quality.	ZHANG & al. 2014			

Table 5. The effects of acid rain on biomass of different plant species

Effects of acid rain on pollen development

Acid rain produce inhospitable environment on pollen tube elongation, germination and growth in most of the plants. The information available on the impact of acid rain on pollen germination of plants. WERTHEIM & CRAKER (1987) evaluated the properties of an acid rain episode that could influence the germination of pollen in corn (*Zea mays* L.) by treating silks with a simulated acid rain and measuring the subsequent germination of pollen on the silks. The data indicated that acid rain creates an inhospitable environment for pollen germination on the silk surface. Reduced germination appeared directly related to the acidity of the rain. Rinsing silks with a pH 5-6 rain after treatment with a pH 2-6 rain did not increase pollen germination above that on silks treated only with a pH 2-6 rain. Pollen germination on silks was inhibited even when silk tissue was exposed to a simulated rain of pH 2-6 for <1-5 min. The seed yields of corn (*Zea mays* L.) plants were significantly reduced on where the silks had been exposed to an episode of simulated acid rain at pH 3.6 as compared with yields on plants with silks exposed to simulated rain of pH 5.6. The reduction in yield appeared related to a decrease in pollen germination and tube elongation associated with acidic conditions and limited quantities of

pollen available for pollination. Germination and tube elongation of pollen were also inhibited when grown on an agar medium acidified to pH 4.6 [CRAKER & WALDRON, 1989].

In the broad leaved species, pollen germination and pollen tube elongation showed sensitivities to detergent and acidity. The presence of 1 to 3 mg 1-1 sodium dodecylbenzensulfonate detergent, or a growth medium pH of 4.0-5.0, inhibited pollen germination and pollen tube elongation more in broad leaved trees than in conifers. Pollen germination of most broad-leaved species was completely inhibited in the presence of detergent concentrations of more than 3-5 mg l-1; the only exceptions were some entomophilous species (Salix caprea L.) in which the ability of the pollen to germinate in high pollutant concentrations could be related to the presence of tryphyne [PAOLETTI, 1992]. The introduction of genetic material into the pollen and the production of transformed plants produced from seed formed after fertilization with treated pollen could have a tremendous impact on the improvement of economically important crops, tobacco [SMITH & al. 1994]. The effects of simulated acid fog (SAF) and temperature on stigmatic receptivity in two birch species were performed [HUGHES & COX, 1994]. Excised reproductive branches were sampled from representative individuals of mountain paper birch (Betula cordifolia Regel.) and paper birch (Betula papyrifera Marsh.) in populations adjacent to the Bay of Fundy, New Brunswick, Canada. Since 1979 these trees have exhibited branch dieback in association with abnormal foliar browning symptoms. This browning has been linked with acidity and nitrate deposited by fog, which is frequent in the area. In general, experimental results indicated that pollen germination increased with temperature, but pH effects were less obvious. Similarly, pollen tube growth responded positively to temperature and was little affected by fog acidity. ANOVA tests indicated a significant difference (P < 0.05) between species in their pollen germination response only at 12 °C, and not at the other three temperatures tested. For pollen tube growth, significant differences between species (P< 0.05) were demonstrated at 12 and 22 °C. A significant pH effect was demonstrated at 27 °C for germination, while pH effects on tube growth were significant at 27 and 12 °C (P< 0.01). A response surface regression analysis indicated that acidity significantly affected pollen germination in mountain paper birch (P<0.001) but not in paper birch. For pollen tube growth, however, temperature was more important than pH and produced highly significant effects in both species (P<0.001). Acidity was also a significant factor in pollen tube growth for paper birch. Effects of simulated acid precipitation (pH 5.6, 3.6, 2.6) on pollination in *Oenothera parviflora* L. from different populations were examined both in vitro and in vivo. The response of pollen in vitro indicated significant inhibitory effects of pH, and demonstrated that pH values \leq 3.6 were inhibitory to both germination and tube growth, when compared with the treatment of pH 5.6. Dosages of LD50 for *in vitro* pollen germination, taken as the initial pH of cultures for the different pollens, ranged from pH 3.49 to 3.72. Stigma germination and initial tube growth on the stigmatic surface also declined significantly (P<0.01) in response to acid rain simulation prior to hand pollinations. Again simulants \leq pH 3.6 significantly reduced stigma receptivity compared with the treatment at pH 5.6 [COX, 1984].

The effects of acid rain were observed on the development of anther and pollen grain in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. (Table 6). The plants were irrigated with distilled water (pH 6.8) before treatments and considered as the control. Plants were treated by HNO₃ solution pH 4.5, 4, 3 and 2 separately. Plants were treated by mixed solutions of HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ pH 4.5, 4, 3, 2 separately, applying single spraying treatments. Results showed that number of pollen grains and fertile pollen were decreased in plants that treated by acid solutions. Pollen development was taking as other dicotyledonous plants. But in plants that were treated by different acidic solutions, some abnormalities were seen during pollen development. Tetrads were formed as

spherical shape in normal plants but changing of tetrad shape to polygonal form is one of the treated effects by acid solutions [CHEHREGANI & al. 2006]. Pollination is a key event for fruit set. There has been an increasing interest in acid mist impact on pollen germination. Environmental conditions such as temperature, rain and high wind speed negatively affect pollination [RAMÍREZ & DAVENPORT, 2013]. A plant biostimulant is any substance or microorganism which can be applied to plants to enhance seed germination and plant growth development along with its nutritional efficiency. Plant biostimulants collectively influence: plant growth development, nutritional efficiency, yield and shelf-life of crops, rhizospheric and soil microorganisms, general soil health and plant-environment interactions. Biostimulants are derived from natural origins and can help reduce the use of chemical products and also mitigate the negative impacts of harmful chemicals in the environment. The impacts on the shelf-life and efficiencies of commercial biostimulants, as compared to synthetic chemical products and highlights the opportunities and challenges of their market expansion [GUPTA & al. 2021].

Name of	Acid rain pH 2.0 - 6.0						
Plant species	2.0 - 6.0	Symptoms	Reference				
Corn (Zea mays L.)	2.6	Inhospitable environment reduced germination of pollen	WERTHEIM & CRAKER, 1987				
Corn (Zea mays L.)	5.6, 4.6, 3.6	The reduction in yield appeared related to a decrease in pollen germination and tube elongation associated with acidic conditions and limited quantities of pollen available for pollination. Germination and tube elongation of pollen were also inhibited when grown on an agar medium acidified to pH 4.6	CRAKER & WALDRON, 1989				
Broad leaved trees / conifers Conifer	5.0, 4.0 3.0-2.5	Inhibition Pollen tube elongation	PAOLETTI & al. 1992 – Italy				
<i>Malus sylvestris</i> Miller Cv. 'Golden'	3.3, 3.4	Decreased by 41.75% Pollen tube elongation 24.30%	MUNZUROGLU & al. 2003 – Turkey				
Phaseolus vulgaris L.	4.5, 4.0, 3.0, 2.0	The number, development of anther and pollen grain decreased. Tetrads were formed as spherical shape in normal plants but changing of tetrad shape to polygonal form is one of the treated effects by acid solutions	CHEHREGANI & al. 2006				

Fable 6. Effects of acid rain on pollen germination, growth and develops

The effects of acid rain on alterations and changes in photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll a, b) in plant species

Photosynthesis is the basic metabolic process in plant growth and development, which is very sensitive to various abiotic stresses [ZHENG & al. 2009; DONG & al. 2017; LIU & al. 2022]. Acid rain found responsible for declining photosynthetic abilities [LIU & al. 2007]. It is well known that acidic precipitations are harmful for plants, in fact, they can damage the photosynthetic machinery, plant physiology, reduce the chlorophylls content and increase the production of reactive oxygen species, while at agroecosystem levels they are responsible for the crop yield losses, above and below ground plant parts [SHU & al. 2023]. Chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics and the growth response of *Elaeocarpus glabripetalus* to simulated acid rain [LIU & al. 2015]. Industrial activity has been threatening the environment for decades and this resulted in dramatic damage of forest covers in the south-west part of Poland [JABLOŃSKI & al. 2019]. This work investigates the response to simulated acid rain on

photosynthetic organs of 13 deciduous trees and 10 dicotyledonous plants (Table 7). The deleterious effects of simulated acid rain on chlorophyll contents, chlorophyll fluorescence, chlorosis, nutrient loss, enzyme activity changes in foliage of plant reported [REN & al. 2018]. Plants tolerance to stresses requires maintaining the photosynthetic apparatus [MA & al. 2019]. The application of simulated acid rains pH 3.0, 3.5, 4.0, 4.5, 5.0, 5.5 to green leaves of 13 deciduous trees and 10 species of dicotyledonous plants revealed that 77% of deciduous species represented very low to intermediate photosynthetic recovery meaning that highly acid rain impacted trees will be surviving less or none [DIATTA & al. 2021]. Acid rain of pH 3.0 inhibited plant 13C assimilation and the flow of fixed 13C to the soil. And reduces the photosynthesized C sequestration of maize soil system and soil microbial taxa interactions [LIU & al. 2023]. CHEN & al. (2013) reported photosynthetic and antioxidant responses of Liquidambar formosana and Schima superba seedlings to sulfuric rich and nitric rich simulated acid rain. Acer amplum subsp. catalpifolium is a critically endangered, native deciduous broadleaved tree species mainly distributed in the rainy zone of west China. ZHANG & al. (2021) recorded the effects of acidity levels (pH 2.5, 3.5 and 4.5) on photosynthetic performance and stress status of A. amplum subsp. catalpifolium and conclude that simulated acid rain can enhance the peak photosynthetic rate and stomatal conductance. The significant degradation of natural ecosystem, photosynthetic performance, pigment composition, soil physiochemical and microbial properties due to pollutant stress reported [YAO & al. 2016; WEI & al. 2021]. In a study about the comparison of forest susceptibility to acid stress estimated a relative growth reduction in forest productivity in Sweden and north eastern United States [JONSSON & SUNDBERG, 1972a; JONSSON & SUNDBERG, 1972b].

The influence of different acidic mists (pH 5, 4, 2) treatment on height, biomass accumulation, leaf chlorophyll, net photosynthesis, and photosystem activities in Vigna sinensis L. and Phaseolus mungo L. were investigated [MUTHUCHELIAN & al. 1994]. The level of chlorophyll on a unit fresh weight basis showed progressive reduction upon increasing acidity of mists treatment; the reduction was due to the loss of Chl a and Chl b. The increased stomatal diffusive resistance and reduced photosynthetic pigments lowered the net photosynthetic rate. However, when various photosynthetic activities were followed in isolated chloroplast, a decrease in the rates was obtained in the seedlings exposed to pH 4 and 2. The impact of soil pH (2-6.4) on seed germination rates, plant growth, chlorophyll content, and the accumulation of phenolics on invasive weed Phytolacca americana (pokeweed - PaU) growing in industrially contaminated (Ulsan) and noncontaminated (Suwon-PaS) sites in South Korea were measured to assess the effects of industrial pollution and global warming related stresses on plants. The highest seed germination rate and chlorophyll content occurred at pH 2.0 for both PaU and PaS plants. Increased pH from 2-5 correlated to increased phenolic compounds and decreased chlorophyll content. However, at pH 6.4, a marked decrease in phenolic compounds, was observed and chlorophyll content increased. These results suggest that although plants from Ulsan and Suwon sites are the same species, they differ in the ability to deal with various stresses [KIM & al. 2008].

Acid rain is a frequent environmental issue in southern China that causes damage to the growth and photosystems of subtropical tree species. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) can improve plant tolerance to acidic conditions [WANG & al. 2021]. In this study, the inoculated *Zelkova serrata*, an important economic tree species in China, with *Rhizophagus irregularis*, and *Diversispora versiformis*, alone and in combination, under three simulated acid rain regimes (pH 2.5, 4.0, and 5.6). The results revealed that acid rain sharply reduced photosynthetic ability and total biomass of non-mycorrhizal plants. Moreover, the acid tolerance of *Z. serrata* was positively correlated with net photosynthetic rate. Acid rain has progressively

become more problematic due to increasing concentrations of atmospheric pollution, particularly in China [LY & al. 2023]. *Mirabilis jalapa* L. is an important landscaping ground cover plant with significant resistance to multiple stressors and its tolerance to acid stress was reported. In this study, the effects of acid rain on the growth and numerous physiological indexes of *M. jalapa* at different growth stages such as plant height, leaf growth, chlorophyll content, and chlorophyll fluorescence were investigated under increasingly acidic conditions of pH 5.6 (control), pH 4.0, pH 3.0, and pH 2.0. The plant height, leaf length, and leaf area of *M. jalapa* showed significantly variable results. As the simulated acid rain pH decreased, the plant height, leaf length, and leaf area showed the trend of first increasing before decreasing. In the peak at pH 4.0 treatment, the plant height, leaf length, leaf area, and chlorophyll content were significantly higher than that of the control, pH 3.0 and pH 2.0 (P < 0.05).

Name of	Acid rain pH 2.0 - 6.0					
Plant species	2.0 - 6.0	Symptoms	Reference			
Pinus taeda L.	5.3, 4.0	Leaf pigment concentrations	EDWARDS & al. 1990			
Red spruce (Picea rubens Sarg.)	3.0	Photosynthetic decline	BORER & al. 2005.			
Liquidambar formosana Schima superba	3.0	Inhibited photosynthetic, soluble protein, proline content and antioxidant enzymes activities	CHEN & al. 2013			
Tomato seedlings	2.5	Inhibition of photosynthesis, severity of oxidative damage were found at pH 2.5	DEBNATH & al. 2018			
Tea (Camellia sinensis)	3.5, 2.5	Restrict photosynthesis, antioxidant defense system, and metabolic disorder	ZHANG & al. 2020 - China			
13 deciduous tree and 10 dicotyledonous plants	3.0, 3.5 4.0, 4.5 5.0, 5.5	77% of deciduous species represented very low to intermediate photosynthetic recovery	DIATTA & al. 2021			
Mirabilis jalapa L.	4.0, 3.0, 2.0	There are significant differences in chlorophyll fluorescence parameters under different treatments ($P < 0.05$)	LY & al. 2023			

Table 7. The effects of acid rain on photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll a, b) in plant species

The effects of acid rain on plant physiology (water relation), metabolic disorder, mineral nutrients, microbial activities in plant species

Acid rain alters soil carbon cycling by influencing the soil microbial community structure and functions (Table 8). Previous studies have indicated that acid rain both indirectly by inducing nutrient leaching and increasing availability of toxic heavy metals [de VRIES & al. 2015]. The influence of simulated acid rain on photosynthetic pigment, proline, malondialdehyde, antioxidant enzyme activity, total nitrogen, caffeine, catechins, and free amino acids in seedlings of Tea (*Camellia sinensis*) showed that increase in acidity increased total nitrogen, certain amino acid content (theanine, cysteine), and decreased catechin and caffeine contents, resulting in an imbalance of the carbon and nitrogen metabolisms. These results further indicated that simulated acid rain at pH 3.5 and pH 2.5 could restrict photosynthesis and the antioxidant defense system, causing metabolic disorders and ultimately affecting plant development and growth [ZHANG & al. 2020]. The response of soil microbial communities to acid rain under acid rain (pH 5.0, pH 4.0, and pH 3.0) in an agricultural soil of southern China showed that the pH 3.0 acid rain increased the total, bacterial, gram positive bacterial, and actinomycetal [LIU & al. 2021].

At the same time, these effects of acid rain impact the total biomass of microorganisms and the structural distribution of different strains [WAKELIN & al. 2008; LIU & al. 2017], resulting in changes in microbial respiration. The research results showed acid rain changes soil respiration and forest type in China [FENG & al. 2002, 2017]. LIANG & al. (2016) also found that different types of forest soil have different responses to simulated acid rain, which may be caused by the differences in the acid buffering capacity of different forest stands and the original pH value of soil and litter layers [LIANG & al. 2013]. Response of soil microbial community, seed production, soil respiration and its components in a mixed coniferous broadleaved forest to simulated acid rain in the three gorges reservoir area reported [LI & al. 2011; LI & al. 2019; LI & al. 2021]. PIGNATTELLI & al. (2021) found reduction in physiology and growth of Lepidium sativum due to acid rain stress. All around the world, Europe, North America and Southeast Asia, especially central and southern China are affected by acidic deposition [MENZ & SEIP, 2004]. In another study, the effects of simulated acid rain pH 3.5-2.5 on the antioxidative system in Cinnamomum philippinense seedlings was recorded [LIU, 2011]. Plants ability depends on meteorological conditions and geochemical characteristics [AKSELSSON & al. 2013]. In Cina, the pH value of acid rain was below 5.6 is a severe environmental issue and affecting ecosystem health since 1970's [QU & HAN, 2021].

The plant water relations control the transport and loss of water evaporation from the soil. In a study, the pressure volume curves, day and night transpiration rates, needle drying curves, and shoot water potentials were determined for 2 year old red spruce trees by exposing for the three months to a range of acid mists (pH 2.5 to pH 5.0) containing equimolar (NH₄)₂SO₄ and HNO₃ [EAMUS & al. 1989]. Simulated acid rain has been reported to cause physiological changes in various plant species. SMITH & al. (1990) were conducted studies in 1983, 1984 and 1985 to determine the effect of acid rain on some physiological parameters in two corn (*Zea mays* L.) hybrids. Simulated rain of pH 3.0, 4.2, and 5.6 was applied throughout the growing season onto plots protected from ambient rain and grown on a Flanagan silt loam (fine, montmorillonitic, mesic Aquic Argiudoll). Individual plants were evaluated for change in leaf CO₂ fixation, water potentials, chlorophyll content, and in vitro pollen germination.

Significant decreases in maximum turgor, the relative water content associated with zero turgor, bulk volumetric elastic modulus occurred as the pH of the mist decreased from 5.0 to 2.5 and in result the shoot water potential was declined with a decrease in pH of the mist (Table 8). The effects of simulated acid rain pH 5.1 and 3.0 and ozone (ambient and twice ambient) on tissue water relations of mature clones of a fast growing genotype of ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa* Dougl. ex Laws.) was investigated [MOMEN & HELMS, 1995]. The treatments showed little effect on the water relations of branches of mature trees. It was concluded that twice ambient ozone caused osmotic adjustment in seedlings, and the response was magnified by pH 3.0 rain. The low pH 4.5-6.5 reduced the propensity of *Acer rubrum* (L.) and *Quercus alba* L. to adjust leaf water relations and xylem anatomical traits in response to nutrient manipulations [MEDEIROS & al. 2016].

Table 8.	The effects	of acid	l rain on p	lant p	hysio	logy	(water re	elation), meta	boli	c disor	der,	mineral
		n	utrients, n	nicrob	ial ac	tiviti	es in pla	nt spec	cies				

Name of		Acid rain pH 2.0 -	6.0
Plant species	2.0 - 6.0	Symptoms	Reference
Red spruce	5.0, 2.5	Shoot water potential declined	EAMUS & al. 1989
Ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa Dougl. ex Laws.)	3.0	Water relation of branches similar to drought conditions.	MOMEN & HELMS, 1995
The change in the soil C/N ratio would affect the release of nutrients during the decomposition of organic matter by microorganisms	4.0, 3.25, 2.5	Soil organic carbon content increased, inhibiting microbial respiration.	HESSEN & al. 2004
plant growth, litter, fungi	4.0, 3.25	Increased heavy metal content in soil, decomposition of litter by fungi increased.	ROUSK & al. 2009
Juvenile Japanese red pine tree <i>Pinus densiflora</i> Sieb. et Zucc.	3.0-2.0	The needle gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence, chemical contents and visual and physiological damage to needles.	OGUNTIMEHIN & al. 2013
Acer rubrum (L.) Quercus alba (L.)	4.5	The leaf nutrient content, water relations, leaf level and canopy level gas exchange, total biomass and allocation decreased.	MEDEIROS & al. 2016
Tea (Camellia sinensis)	3.5, 2.5	Proline, malondialdehyde, antioxidant enzyme activity, total nitrogen, caffeine, catechins, and free amino acids increase catechin and caffeine contents decreased	ZHANG & al. 2020

Conclusions

Many plant species have shown the harmful effects of acid mist or acid rain on plant growth. The published scientific results clearly illustrated that increase in simulated acid rain significantly decreased the germination and growth characteristics of plant. In addition, the decrease in the pH value of the simulated acid rain produced more negative impact on physiological and biochemical parameters in plants. The variable changes in the nutrient availability, photosynthetic activities and yield for plants mainly due to the low pH values available in the immediate environment. This review also highlighted the effects of acid rain on plant growth in the context of acid rain pollution as a key driving ecological indicator. Further literature research into the screening for better acid mist tolerant species is recommended. There is a need of coordination in multidisciplinary research and development programme leading to utilization of acid tolerant species for plantation at the industrial, urban centers and acid mist deposit areas. This article reviews recent developments in our knowledge of acid mist impact on plants growing in the different parts of the world.

Acknowledgement

We are grateful to the anonymous referees for reviewing the manuscript.

References

- ADAROS G., WEIGEL H. J. & JAUGER H. J. 1988. Effects of sulphur dioxide and acid rain alone or in combination on growth and yield of broad bean plants. *New Phytologist.* **108**(1): 67-74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1988.tb00205.x
- AKSELSSON C., HULTBERG H., KARLSSON P. E., KARLSSON G. P. & HELLSTEN S. 2013. Acidification trends in south Swedish forest soils 1986-2008 – Slow recovery and high sensitivity to sea salt episodes. *Science* of the Total Environment. 444: 271-287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.106
- ANDRADE G. C., CASTRO L. N. & DA SILVA L. C. 2020. Micro morphological alterations induced by simulated acid rain on the leaf surface of *Joannesia princeps* Vell. (Euphorbiaceae). *Ecological Indicators*. 116: 106526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106526
- ARORA V., SINGH B. J. & BITHEL N. 2022. Effect of simulated acid rain on plant growth behaviour of Solanum melongena Linn. and Vigna unguiculata ssp. cylindrica (L.) Walp. Environment, Development and Sustainability. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-022-02726-4
- BÄCK J. & HUTTUNEN S. 1992. Effects of long term exposure to simulated acid rain on conifer needle ultrastructure and hardening status. Forest Ecology and Management. 51(1-3): 95-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(92)90475-0
- BARTELS S. F., GENDREAU-BERTHIAUME B. & MACDONALD S. E. 2019. The impact of atmospheric acid deposition on tree growth and forest understory vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region. Science of the Total Environment. 696: 133877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133877
- BORER C. H., SCHABERG P. G. & DEHAYES D. H. 2005. Acidic mist reduces foliar membrane associated calcium and impairs stomatal responsiveness in red spruce. *Tree Physiology.* 25(6): 673-680. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/25.6.673
- CAPE J. N. 1993. Direct damage to vegetation caused by acid rain and polluted cloud: definition of critical levels for forest trees. *Environmental Pollution*. **82**(2): 167-180. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(93)90114-4
- CBEF. 2013. CBEF (Chesapeake Bay Ecological Foundation), Inc. Acid Raid Overview. Retrieved from http://www.chesbay.org/acidRain/
- CHAPPELKA A. H. & CHEVONE B. I. 2011. White ash seedling growth response to ozone and simulated acid rain. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 16(4): 786-790. https://doi.org/10.1139/x86-139
- CHEHREGANI A., MALAYERI B. E., KAVIANPOUR F. & YAZDI H. L. 2006. Effect of acid rain on the development, structure and viability of pollen grains in Bean Plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Pakistan Journal* of Biological Sciences. 9: 1033-1036. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.2006.1033.1036
- CHEN J., WANG W. H., LIU T. W., WU F. H. & ZHENG H. L. 2013. Photosynthetic and antioxidant responses of Liquidambar formosana and Schima superba seedlings to sulfuric-rich and nitric rich simulated acid rain. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry. 64: 41-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.12.012
- COWLING E. B. 1983. Acid precipitation: scientific progress and public awareness. *The American Biology Teacher*. **45**(4): 194-202. https://doi.org/10.2307/4447678
- COX R. M. 1984. Sensitivity of forest plant reproduction to long range transported air pollutants: *in vitro* and *in vivo* sensitivity of *Oenothera parviflora* L. pollen to simulated acid rain. *New Phytologist.* 97(1): 63-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1984.tb04109.x
- CRAKER L. E. & WALDRON P. F. 1989. Acid rain and seed yield reductions in corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality*. **18**(1): 127-9. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1989.00472425 001800010023x
- DAHL E. & SKRE O. 1971. En undersdkelse av virkningen av sur nedb6r på produktiviteten i landbruket. Nordforsk, Miljdvardssekretariatet. 1: 27-40.
- DAI Z., LIU X., WU J. & XU J. 2013. Impacts of simulated acid rain on recalcitrance of two different soils. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 20(6): 4216-4224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1288-z
- DE VRIES J., SOUSA F. L., BÖLTER B., SOLL J. & GOULD S. B. 2015. YCF1: A Green TIC? *Plant Cell.* 27(7): 1827-1833. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.114.135541
- DEBNATH B., IRSHAD M., MITRA S., LI M., RIZWAN H. M., LIU S., PAN T. & QIU D. 2018. Acid rain deposition modulates photosynthesis, enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant activities in tomato. *International Journal of Environmental Research.* 12: 203-214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41742-018-0084-0
- DEHAYES D. H., SCHABERG P. G., HAWLEY G. J. & STRIMBECK G. R. 1999. Acid rain impacts on calcium nutrition and forest health. *Bioscience*. 49: 789-800. https://doi.org/10.2307/1313570
- DIATTA J., YOUSSEF Y., TYLMAN O., GRZEBISZ W., MARKERT B., DROBEK L., WÜNSCHMANN S., BEBEK M., MITKO K. & LEJWODA P. 2021. Acid rain induced leakage of Ca, Mg, Zn, Fe from plant photosynthetic organs – Testing for deciduous and dicotyledons. *Ecological Indicators*. 121: 107210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.107210

- DIXON M. J. & KUJA A. L. 1995. Effects of simulated acid rain on the growth, nutrition, foliar pigments and photosynthetic rates of sugar maple and white spruce seedlings. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution.* 83: 219-236. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00477354
- DOLATABADIAN A., SANAVY S., GHOLAMHOSEINI M., JOGHAN A. K., MAJDI M. & KASHKOOLI A. B. 2013. The role of calcium in improving photosynthesis and related physiological and biochemical attributes of spring wheat subjected to simulated acid rain. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*. 19(2): 189-198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12298-013-0165-7
- DONG D., DU E., SUN Z., ZENG X. & DE VRIES W. 2017. Non-linear direct effects of acid rain on leaf photosynthetic rate of terrestrial plants. *Environmental Pollution*. 231: 1442-1445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol. 2017.09.005
- DRISCOLL C. T., DRISCOLL K. M., MITCHELL M. J. & RAYNAL D. J. 2003. Effects of acidic deposition on forest and aquatic ecosystems in New York State. *Environmental Pollution*. **123**(3): 327-336. https://doi.org/ 10. 1016/s0269-7491(03)00019-8
- DRISCOLL C. T., LAWRENCE G. B., BULGER A. J., BUTLER T., CRONAN C. & EAGAR C. 2001. Acidic deposition in the northeastern US: sources and inputs, ecosystems effects, and management strategies. *BioScience*. 51(3): 180-198. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0180:ADITNU]2.0.CO;2
- DU E., DONG D., ZENG X., SUN Z., JIANG X. & W. DE VRIES. 2017. Direct effect of acid rain on leaf chlorophyll content of terrestrial plants in China. *Science of the Total Environment*. 605-606: 764-769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.044
- DU J., QV M., ZHANG Y., CUI M. & ZHANG H. 2020. Simulated sulfuric and nitric acid rain inhibits leaf breakdown in streams: a microcosm study with artificial reconstituted fresh water. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. **196**: 110535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110535
- EAMUS D., LEITH I. & FOWLER D. 1989. Water relations of red spruce seedlings treated with acid mist. *Tree Physiology*. **5**(3): 387-397. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/5.3.387
- EDWARDS N. T., TAYLOR G. E. jr., ADAMS M. B., SIMMONS G. L. & KELLY J. M. 1990. Ozone, acidic rain and soil magnesium effects on growth and foliar pigments of *Pinus taeda* L. *Tree Physiology*. 6(1): 95-104. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/6.1.95
- EL-MALLAKH T. V., GAO Y. L. & EL-MALLAKH R. S. 2014. The effect of simulated acid rain on growth of root systems of Scindapsus aureus. International Journal of Plant Biology. 5(1): 13-15. https://doi.org/10.4081/pb.2014.5187
- ERICSSON T. 1995. Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. *Plant and Soil.* 168-169: 205-214. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00029330
- EVANS L. S. & CURRY T. M. 1979. Differential responses of plant foliage to simulated acid rain. American Journal of Botany. 66(8): 953-62. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1537-2197.1979.tb06306.x
- EVANS L. S., LEWIN K. F., CUNNINGHAM E. A. & PATT M. J. 1982. Effects of simulated acidic rain on yields of field grown crops. New Phytologist. 91: 429-441. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1984.tb03557.x
- FAN H. B. & WANG Y. H. 2000. Effects of simulated acid rain on germination, foliar damage, chlorophyll contents and seedling growth of five hardwood species growing in China. *Forest Ecology and Management.* 126(3): 321-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00103-6
- FENG J., WANG J., DÍNG L., YAO P., QIAO M. & YAO S. 2017. Meta analyses of the effects of major global change drivers on soil respiration across China. Atmospheric Environment. 150: 181-186.
- FENG Z., MIAO H., ZHANG F. & HUANG Y. 2002. Effects of acid deposition on terrestrial ecosystems and their rehabilitation strategies in China. *Journal of Environmental Sciences – China*. 14(2): 227-233.
- FERET P. P., DIEBEL K. E. & SHARIK T. L. 1990. Effect of simulated acid rain on reproductive attributes of red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg.). Environmental and Experimental Botany. 30(3): 309-312. https://doi.org/10.1016/0098-8472(90)90042-3
- GAO P. P., XUE P. Y., DONG J. W., ZHANG X. M., SUN H. X. & GENG L. P. 2020. Contribution of PM2.5-Pb in atmospheric fallout to Pb accumulation in Chinese cabbage leaves via stomata. *Journal of Hazardous Materials.* 407: 124356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124356
- GRANAT L. 1972. On the relation between pH and the chemical composition in atmospheric precipitation. *Tellus*. **24**(6): 550-560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2153-3490.1972.tb01581.x
- GUO J., YANG Z., LIN C., LIU X., CHEN G. & YANG Y. 2016. Conversion of a natural evergreen broadleaved forest into coniferous plantations in a subtropical area: effects on composition of soil microbial communities and soil respiration. *Biology and Fertility of Soil.* 52(6): 799-809.
- GUPTA S., KULKARNI M. G., WHITE J. F., STIRK W. A., PAPENFUS H. B., DOLEŽAL K., ÖRDÖG V., NORRIE J., CRITCHLEY A. T. & STADEN J. V. 2021. Chapter 1 – Categories of various plant biostimulants – mode of application and shelf-life. In: GUPTA S., VAN STADEN J. (eds.). 2021. *Biostimulants for crops from seed* germination to plant development. Academic Press, 60 pp. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823048-0.00018-6

- HAYES P. & ZARSKY L. 1995. The role of science and technology in promoting environmentally sound development Seminar. Science and Technology Policy Institute/UN University Seoul, Republic of Korea, June 13-15. https://nautilus.org/staff-publications/acid-rain-in-a- regional-context/ Accessed on 13-07-2023.
- HESSEN D. O., ÅGREN G. I., ANDERSON T. R., ELSER J. J. & DE RUITER P. C. 2004. Carbon sequestration in ecosystems: the role of stoichiometry. *Ecology*. 85(5): 1179-1192. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0251
- HOGAN G. D. 1998. Effects of simulated acid rain on physiology, growth and foliar nutrient concentrations of sugar maple. *Chemosphere*. 36(4-5): 633-638. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(97)10099-6
- HORA T. S. & BAKER R. 1972. Extraction of a volatile factor from soil including fungistatis. *Phytopathology*. 62: 1475-1476. https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-62-1475
- HU X. F., WU A. Q., WANG F. C. & CHEN F. S. 2019. The effects of simulated acid rain on internal nutrient cycling and the ratios of Mg, Al, Ca, N, and pin tea plants of a subtropical plantation. *Environmental Monitoring* and Assessment. 191(2): 99-113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-019-7248-z
- HUANG J., WANG H., ZHONG Y., HUANG J., FU X. & WANG L. 2019. Growth and physiological response of an endangered tree, *Horsfieldia hainanensis* Merr., to simulated sulfuric and nitric acid rain in southern China. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 144: 118-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.09.029
- HUANG X. H., ZHOU Q. & ZHANG X. W. 2000. The stress effect of acid rain on root growth in plant. Argo-Environmental Protection. 19(4): 234-235.
- HUGHES R. N. & COX R. M. 1994. Acidic fog and temperature effects on stigmatic receptivity in two birch species. Journal of Environmental Quality. 23(4): 686-692. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1994.00472425002300040010x
- IQBAL M. Z., KHAN M. H. & SHAFIQ M. 2023. Effect of polluted soil on seedling growth and development of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. *Discovery*, 59(327): e27d1028, 1-9.
- IQBAL M. Z. & SHAFIQ M. 2006. Environment and Plants: Glimpses of research in South Asia. Nepal. 2006. "Environmental pollution and its effects on vegetation in Pakistan": 130-143. In: JHA P. K., CHAUDHARY R. P., KARAMCHARYA S. B. & PRASAD V. (eds.). 2006. Environment and Plants: Glimpses of Research in South Asia. Ecological Society (ECOS), P.O. Box 6132, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- IQBAL M. Z. & SHAFIQ M. 2023. The effects of acid mist rain on the growth of *Albizia lebbeck* (L.) Bth. New York Science Journal, 16(7)27-33. (online).http://www. Science pub.net/newyork. 05.doi:10.7537/marsnys160 7 23.05.
- JABŁOŃSKI T., TARWACKI G. & SUKOVATA L. 2019. Pine forest conditions in Poland in 2015-2018. In: KHARKIV P. P. (ed.). 2019. Pine forests: current status, existing challenges and ways forward. Proceedings of International Scientific and Practical Conference. 12-13: 83-88.
- JACOBSON J. S., TWYLENE B., HELLER L. I. & LASSOIE J. P. 1990. Response of *Picea rubens* seedlings to intermittent mist varying in acidity, and in concentrations of sulfur-, and nitrogen-containing pollutions. *Physiologia Plantarum*. 78(4): 595-601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1990.tb05247.x
- JALALI M. & NADERI E. 2012. The impact of acid rain on phosphorus leaching from a sandy loam calcareous soil of western Iran. Environmental Earth Sciences. 66: 311-317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-011-1240-4
- JONSSON B. & SUNDBERG R. 1972a. Supporting studies to air pollution across national boundaries. The impact on the environment of sulfur in air and precipitation. In: Sweden's case study for the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment. Stockholm: Royal Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Royal Ministry of Agriculture.
- JONSSON B. & SUNDBERG R. 1972b. Has the acidification by atmospheric pollution caused a growth reduction in Swedish forests? A comparison of growth between regions with different soil properties. Research Note No. 20, Department of Forest Yield Research, The Royal College of Forestry, S-104 05 Stockholm 50, Sweden.
- JU S. M., YIN N. N., WANG L. P., ZHANG C. Y. & WANG Y. K. 2017. Effects of silicon on Oryza sativa L. seedling roots under simulated acid rain stress. PLoS One. 12(3): e0173378. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173378
- KIM Y. O., RODRIGUEZ R. J., LEE E. J. & REDMAN R. S. 2008. *Phytolacca americana* from contaminated and noncontaminated soils of South Korea: Effects of elevated temperature, CO₂ and simulated acid rain on plant growth response. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 34: 1501-1509. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-008-9552-x
- KUKI K. N., OLIVA M. A., PEREIRA E. G., COSTA A. C. & CAMBRAIA J. 2008. Effects of simulated deposition of acid mist and iron ore particulate matter on photosynthesis and the generation of oxidative stress in *Schinus terebinthifolius* Radii and *Sophora tomentosa* L. *Science of the Total Environment*. 403(1-3): 207-214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.05.004
- KUPERMAN R. & EDWARDS C. A. 1997. Effects of acidic deposition on soil invertebrates and microorganisms. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination Toxicology*. 148: 35-138.
- LARSSEN T., LYDERSEN E., TANG D., HE Y. I., GAO J., LIU H., DUAN L., SEIP H. M., VOGT R. D., MULDER J., SHAO M., WANG Y., SHANG H. E., ZHANG X., SOLBERG S., AAS W., OKLAND T., EILERTSEN O., ANGELL V., LI Q., ZHAO D., XIANG R., XIAO J. & LUO J. 2006. Acid rain in China. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 40(2): 418-425. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0626133
- LEITH I. D., MURRAY M. B., SHEPPARD L. J., CAPE J. N., DEANS J. D., SMITH R. I. & FOWLER D. 1989. Visible foliar injury of red spruce seedlings subjected to simulated acid mist. *New Phytologist.* 113: 313-320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1989.tb02409.x

- LI X., WANG Y., ZHANG Y., WANG Y. & PEI C. 2021. Response of soil chemical properties and enzyme activity of four species in the Three Gorges Reservoir area to simulated acid rain. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 208: 111457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111457
- LI Y., YANG H., XIA J., ZHANG W., WAN S. & LI L. 2011. Effects of increased nitrogen deposition and precipitation on seed and seedling production of *Potentilla tanacetifolia* in a temperate steppe ecosystem. *PLoS ONE* 6(12): e28601. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028601
- LI Y. F., WANG Y. J., WANG B. & WANG Y. Q. 2019. Response of soil respiration and its components to simulated acid rain in a typical forest stand in the three gorges reservoir area. *Environmental Science*. **40**: 1457-1467. https://doi.org/10.13227/j.hjkx.201803170
- LIANG C. & WANG W. 2013. Antioxidant response of soybean seedlings to joint stress of lanthanum and acid rain. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 20(11): 8182-8191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1776-9
- LIANG C. J., MA Y. J. & LI L. R. 2020. Comparison of plasma membrane H+-ATPase response to acid rain stress between rice and soybean. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 27(6): 6389-6400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-07285-2
- LIANG C. J., YQ G., SU L. & BU J. J. 2015. Response of plasma membrane H+-ATPase in rice (*Oryza sativa*) seedlings to simulated acid rain. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International.* 22(1): 535-545. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3389-3
- LIANG C. J. & ZHANG B. J. 2018. Effect of exogenous calcium on growth, nutrients uptake and plasma membrane H+-ATPase and Ca2+-ATPase activities in soybean (*Glycine max*) seedlings under simulated acid rain stress. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 165: 261-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2018. 09.019
- LIANG G., HUI D., WU X., WU J., LIU J., ZHOU G. & ZHANG D. 2016. Effects of simulated acid rain on soil respiration and its components in a subtropical mixed conifer and broadleaf forest in southern China. *Environmental Science: Process & Impacts.* 18(2): 246-255. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5EM00434A
- LIANG G., LIU X., CHEN X., QIU Q., ZHANG D., CHU G., LIU J., LIU S. & ZHOU G. 2013. Response of soil respiration to acid rain in forests of different maturity in southern China. *PloS One.* 8(4): e62207. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062207
- LIKENS G. E, BORMANN F. H. & JOHNSON N. M. 1972. Acid rain. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development. 14(2): 33-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/00139157.1972.9933001
- LIU E. U. & LIU C. P. 2011. Effects of simulated acid rain on the antioxidative system in *Cinnamomum philippinense* seedlings. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution.* **215**(1-4): 127-135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0464-3
- LIU H., REN X., ZHU J., WU X. & LIANG C. 2018. Effect of exogenous abscisic acid on morphology, growth and nutrient uptake of rice (*Oryza sativa*) roots under simulated acid rain stress. *Planta.* 248(3): 647-659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-018-2922-x
- LIU J. X., ZHOU G. Y., YANG C. W., OU Z. Y. & PENG C. L. 2007. Responses of chlorophyll fluorescence and xanthophyll cycle in leaves of *Schima superba* Gardn. & Champ. and *Pinus massoniana* Lamb. to simulated acid rain at Dinghushan biosphere reserve, China. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. **29**: 33-38.
- LIU L., ZHANG X. & LU X. 2016. The composition, seasonal variation, and potential sources of the atmospheric wet sulfur (S) and nitrogen (N) deposition in the southwest of China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.* 23: 6363-6375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5844-1
- LIU M. H., YI L. T., YU S. Q., YU F. & YIN X. M. 2015. Chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics and the growth response of *Elaeocarpus glabripetalus* to simulated acid rain. *Photosynthetica*. 53(1): 23-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-015-0071-z
- LIU T. W., WU F. H., WANG W. H., CHEN J., LI Z. J. & DONG X. J. 2011. Effects of calcium on seed germination, seedling growth and photosynthesis of six forest tree species under simulated acid rain. *Tree Physiology*. 31(4): 402-413. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpr019
- LIU X., MA S. L., JIA Z. H., RAMZAN M., MENG M. J. & WANG J. P. 2022. Complex effects of different types of acid rain on root growth of *Quercus acutissima* and *Cunninghamia lanceolata* saplings. *Ecological Processes.* 11: 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13717-021-00351-z
- LIU X., FU Z., ZHANG B., ZHAI L., MENG M., LIN J., ZHUANG J., WANG J. G. & ZHANG J. 2018b. Effects of sulfuric, nitric, and mixed acid rain on Chinese fir sapling growth in Southern China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 160: 154-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.04.071
- LIU X., ZHANG B., ZHAO W., WANG L., XIEN D., HUO W., WU Y. & ZHANG J. 2017. Comparative effects of sulfuric and nitric acid rain on litter decomposition and soil microbial community in subtropical plantation of Yangtze River Delta region. *Science of the Total Environment.* 601-602: 669-678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.05.151
- LIU Z., CHEN J., SU Z., LIU Z., LI Y., WANG J., WU L., WEI H. & ZHANG J. 2023. Acid rain reduces plantphotosynthesized carbon sequestration and soil microbial network complexity. *Science of The Total Environment.* 873: 162030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162030

- LIU Z., WEI H., ZHANG J., SALEEM M., HE Y., ZHONG J. & MA R. 2021. Seasonality regulates the effects of acid rain on microbial community in a subtropical agricultural soil of Southern China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 224: 112681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112681
- LIU Z., YANG J., ZHANG J., XIANG H. & WEI H. 2019. A bibliometric analysis of research on acid rain. Sustainability. 11(11): 3077. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11113077
- LV Y., WANG C., JIA Y., WANG W., MA X., DU J., PU G. & TIAN X. 2014. Effects of sulfuric, nitric, and mixed acid rain on litter decomposition, soil microbial biomass, and enzyme activities in subtropical forests of China. Applied Soil Ecology. 79: 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.12.002
- LY C., WANG L., HY W. & ZHU X. 2023. Characterising the influence of acid rain on the growth and physiological characteristics of *Mirabilis jalapa* Linn. in southern China. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum. 45: 5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-022-03490-8
- MA S., LIU X., JIA Z., MENG M., LI C., REN Q., ZHAI L., ZHANG B., ZHANG Y. & ZHANG J. 2021. Response of *Quercus acutissima* foliage to different types of simulated acid rain. *Atmospheric Pollution Research*. 12(7): 101112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2021.101112
- MA Y., WANG B., ZHANG R., GAO Y., ZHANG X., LI Y. & ZUO Z. 2019. Initial simulated acid rain impacts reactive oxygen species metabolism and photosynthetic abilities in *Cinnamonum camphora* undergoing high temperature. *Industrial Crops and Products*. 135: 352-361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.04.050
- MEDEIROS J. S., TOMEO N. J., HEWINS C. R. & ROSENTHAL D. M. 2016. Fast growing *Acer rubrum* differs from slow growing *Quercus alba* in leaf, xylem and hydraulic trait coordination responses to simulated acid rain. *Tree Physiology*. 36(8): 1032-1044. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpw045
- MEENA H. M. 2013. Acid rain-the major cause of pollution: its causes, effects and solution. International Journal of Scientific Engineering and Technology. 2(9): 772-775.
- MENON M., HERMLE S., GÜNTHARDT-GOERG M. S. & SCHULIN R. 2007. Effects of heavy metal soil pollution and acid rain on growth and water use efficiency of a young model forest ecosystem. *Plant and Soil.* 297: 171-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9331-4
- MENZ F. C. & SEIP H. M. 2004. Acid rain in Europe and the United States: an update. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 7(4): 253-265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2004.05.005
- Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China. 2018. Report on the State of the Ecological Environment in China [EB/OL]. http://www.cnemc.cn/jcbg/zghjzkgb/201906/P020190618416112166768.pdf
- MOMEN B. & HELMS J. A. 1995. Osmotic adjustment induced by elevated ozone: interactive effects of acid rain and ozone on water relations of field grown seedlings and mature trees of *Pinus ponderosa*. *Tree Physiology*. 15(12): 799-805. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/15.12.799
- MUNZUROGLU O., OBEK E. & GECKIL H. 2003. Effects of simulated acid rain on the pollen germination and pollen tube growth of Apple (*Malus sylvestris* Miller Cv. Golden). Acta Biologica Hungarica. 54(1): 95-103. https://doi.org/10.1556/ABiol.54.2003.1.10
- MUTHUCHELIAN K., NEDUNCHEZHIAN N. & KULANDAIVELU G. 1994. Acid rain: Acidic mist-induced response in growth and photosynthetic activities on crop plants. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 26: 521-526. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00214156
- NEAL C., ROBINSON M., REYNOLDS B., NEAL M., ROWLAND P., GRANT S., NORRIS D., WILLIAMS B., SLEEP D. & LAWLOR A. 2010. Hydrology and water quality of the headwaters of the River Severn: stream acidity recovery and interactions with plantation forestry under an improving pollution climate. *Science of the Total Environment.* 408(21): 5035-5051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.07.047
- NEINA D. 2019. The role of soil pH in plant nutrition and soil remediation. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*. Article ID 5794869, 9 pages, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5794869
- NEUFELD H. S., JERNSTEDT J. A. & HAINES B. L. 1985. Direct foliar effects of simulated acid rain 1. Damage, growth and gas exchange. *New Phytologist.* **99**(3): 389-405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1985.tb0 3667.x
- NUNEZ C. 2019. What is acid rain? https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/acid-rain. Accessed on 13-07-2023.
- OGUNTIMEHIN I., BANDAI S. & SAKUGAWA H. 2013. Mannitol can mitigate negative effects of simulated acid mist and fluoranthene in juvenile Japanese red pine (*P. densiflora* Sieb. et Zucc.). *Environmental Pollution*. 174: 78-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2012.10.023
- OUYANG X., ZHOU G., HUANG Z., LIU J., ZHANG D. & LI J. 2008. Effect of simulated acid rain on potential carbon and nitrogen mineralization in forest soils. *Pedosphere*. **18**(4): 503-514.
- PAOLETTI E. 1992. Effects of acidity and detergent on *in vitro* pollen germination and tube growth in forest tree species. *Tree Physiology*. 10(4): 357-366. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/10.4.357
- PHAM H. T. T., NGUYEN L. N., LE T. T., LE M. Q. & TRAN T. K. 2022. Impact of simulated acid rain on the growth of three species *Brassica integrifolia*, *Brassica rapa*, *Brassica juncea* in Hanoi, Vietnam. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 29: 42090-42101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-19652-7

- PIETRI J. C. A. & BROOKES P. C. 2008. Relationships between soil pH and microbial properties in a UK arable soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 40: 1856-1861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.03.020
- PIGNATTELLI S., BROCCOLI A., PICCARDO M., TERLIZZI A. & RENZI M. 2021. Effects of polyethylene terephthalate (PET) microplastics and acid rain on physiology and growth of *Lepidium sativum*. *Environmental Pollution*. 282: 116997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116997
- QIAO F., ZHANG X. M., LIU X., CHEN J., HU W. J., LIU T. W., LIU J. Y., ZHU C. Q., GHOTO K., ZHU X. Y. & ZHENG H. L. 2018. Elevated nitrogen metabolism and nitric oxide production are involved in Arabidopsis resistance to acid rain. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 127: 238-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy. 2018.03.025
- QU R. & HAN G. 2021. A critical review of the variation in rainwater acidity in 24 Chinese cities during 1982–2018. Elementa Science of the Anthropocene. 9(1): 00142. https://doi.org/10.1525/elementa.2021.00142
- RAMÍREZ F. & DAVENPORT T. L. 2013. Apple pollination: A review. Scientia Horticulturae. 162: 188-203. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta. 2013.08.007
- RAMLALL C., VARGHESE B., RAMDHANI S., PAMMENTER N. W., BHATT A., BERJAK P. & SERSHEN. 2015. Effects of simulated acid rain on germination, seedling growth and oxidative metabolism of recalcitrant seeded *Trichilia dregeana* grown in its natural seed bank. *Physiology Plantarum*. 153(1): 149-160. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.12230
- RAYNAL D. J., ROMAN J. R. & EICHENLAUB W. M. 1982. Response of tree seedlings to acid precipitation I. Effect of substrate acidity on seed germination. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 22(3): 377-383. https://doi.org/10.1016/0098-8472(82)90030-2
- REIQUAM H. 1970. Sulfur: simulated long-range transport in the atmosphere. Science. 170(3955): 318-320. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.170.3955.318
- REIS S., GRENNFELT P., KLIMONT Z., AMANN M., APSIMON H., HETTELINGH J. P., HOLLAND M., LEGALL A. C., MAAS R., POSCH M., SPRANGER T., SUTTON M. A. & WILLIAMS M. 2012. Atmospheric science. From acid rain to climate change. *Science*. 338(6111): 1153-1154. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/ science.1226514
- REN X., ZHU J., LIU H., XU X. & LIANG C. 2018. Response of antioxidative system in rice (*Oryza sativa*) leaves to simulated acid rain stress. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 148: 851-856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv. 2017.11.046
- RODRÍGUEZ-SÁNCHEZ V. M, ROSAS U., CALVA-VÁSQUEZ G. & SANDOVAL-ZAPOTITLA E. 2020. Does acid rain alter the leaf anatomy and photosynthetic pigments in urban trees? *Plants.* 9(7): 862. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants9070862
- BARTELS S. F., GENDREAU-BERTHIAUME B. & MACDONALD S. E. 2019. The impact of atmospheric acid deposition on tree growth and forest understory vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region. Science of the Total Environment. 696: 133877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133877
- SANKA M., STRNAD M. & VONDRA J. 1995. Sources of soil and plant contamination in an urban environment and possible assessment methods. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*. 59(2-4): 327-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319508041338
- SANT'ANNA-SANTOS B. F., DA SILVA L. C., AZEVEDO A. A., DE ARAUJO J. M., ALVES E. F., DA SILVA E. A. M. & AGUIAR R. 2006. Effects of simulated acid rain on the foliar micromorphology and anatomy of tree tropical species. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 58(1-3): 158-168. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j. envexpbot.2005.07.005
- SCHERBATSKOY T., KLEIN R. M. & BADGER G. J. 1987. Germination responses of forest tree seed to acidity and metal ions. Environmental and Experimental Botany. 27(2): 157-164. https://doi.org/10.1016/0098-8472 (87)90066-9
- SHAFIQ M. & IQBAL M. Z. 2012. Impact of automobile pollutants on plants. LAMBERT Academic Publishing GmbH & Co. KG Heinrich-Böcking-Str. 6-8, 66121, Saarbrücken, Germany, 132 pp.
- SHAFIQ M., IQBAL M. Z., KABIR M. & FAROOQI Z. 2019. Poison Land. Vegetation of disturbed and polluted areas in Pakistan. Strategic book publishing & rights agency, U.S.A., 173 pp.
- SHAUKAT S. S. & SHAFIQ N. 1998. Effects of simulated acid rain on germination and seedling growth of some wild and cultivated species. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*. 1(3): 219-222. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.1998.219.222
- SHELBURNE V. B., REARDON J. C. & PAYNTER V. A. 1993. The effects of acid rain and ozone on biomass and leaf area parameters of shortleaf pine (*Pinus echinata* Mill.). *Tree Physiology*. 12(2): 163-72. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/12.2.163
- SHEPPARD L. J., CAPE J. N. & LEITH I. D. 1993. Influence of acidic mist on frost hardiness and nutrient concentrations in red spruce seedlings: 2. Effects of misting frequency and rainfall exclusion. New Phytologist. 124(4): 607-615. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1993.tb03850.x
- SHERMAN R. E. & FAHEY T. J. 1994. The effects of acid deposition on the biogeochemical cycles of major nutrients in miniature red spruce ecosystems. *Biogeochemistry*. 24: 85-114. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02390181

- SHI Z., ZHANG J., XIAO Z., LU T., REN X. & WEI H. 2021. Effects of acid rain on plant growth: A meta-analysis. Journal of Environmental Management. 297: 113213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113213
- SHU X., ZHANG K., ZHANG Q. & WANG W. 2023. Changes in the composition of rhizosphere bacterial communities in response to soil types and acid rain. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 325(Part A): 116493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116493
- SHU X., ZHANG K., ZHANG Q. & WANG W. 2019. Ecophysiological responses of Jatropha curcas L. seedlings to simulated acid rain under different soil types. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 185: 109705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109705
- SILVA L., OLIVA M., AZEVEDO A., ARAÚJO J. & AGUIAR R. 2005. Micromorphological and anatomical alterations caused by simulated acid rain in Restinga plants: Eugenia uniflora and Clusia hilariana. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution. 168: 129-143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-005-0941-2
- SINGH A. & AGRAWAL M. 2008. Acid rain and its ecological consequences. *Journal of Environmental Biology*. **29**(1): 15-24.
- SINGH B. & AGRAWAL M. 2004. Impact of simulated acid rain on growth and yield of two cultivars of wheat. *Water*, *Air*, *and Soil Pollution*. **152**: 71-80. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:WATE.0000015331.02874.df
- SINGH R. P. & AGRAWAL M. 2007. Effects of sewage sludge amendment on heavy metal accumulation and consequent responses of *Beta vulgaris* plants. *Chemosphere*. 67(11): 2229-2240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2006.12.019
- SMITH C. R., SAUNDERS J. A., WERT S. V., CHENG J. & MATTHEWS B. F. 1994. Expression of GUS and CAT activities using electrotransformed pollen. *Plant Science*. **104**(1): 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9452(94)90190-2
- SMITH C. R., VASILAS B. L., BANWART W. L., PETERS D. B. & WALKER W. M. 1990. Lack of physiological response of two corn hybrids to simulated acid rain. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 30(4): 435-442. https://doi.org/10.1016/0098-8472(90)90022-V
- SOLBERG S., ANDREASSEN K., CLARKE N., TØRSETH K., TVEITO O. E. & STRAND G. H. 2004. The possible influence of nitrogen and acid deposition on forest growth in Norway. *Forest Ecology and Management*. 192(2-3): 241-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.01.036
- SUN Z., WANG L., ZHOU Q. & HUANG X. 2013. Effects and mechanisms of the combined pollution of lanthanum and acid rain on the root phenotype of soybean seedlings. *Chemosphere*. **93**(2): 344-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.04.089
- SVERDRUP H., WARFVINGE P. & NIHLGÅRD B. 1994. Assessment of soil acidification effects on forest growth in Sweden. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution.* **78**: 1-36.
- TANG L., LIN Y., HE X. & HAN G. 2019. Acid rain decelerates the decomposition of *Cunninghamia lanceolata* needle and *Cinnamomum camphora* leaf litters in a karst region in China. *Ecological Research.* 34(1): 193-200. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1703.1065
- TOMAŠEVIĆ M., ANIČIĆ M., JOVANOVIĆ L. J., PERIĆ-GRUJIĆ A. & RISTIĆ M. 2011. Deciduous tree leaves in trace elements biomonitoring: A contribution to methodology. *Ecological Indicators*. 11(6): 1689-1695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.04.017
- TONG S. M. & ZHANG L. Q. 2014. Differential sensitivity of growth and net photosynthetic rates in five tree species seedlings under simulated acid rain stress. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*. 23(6): 2259-2264. https://doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/24930
- UNEP. 1992. United Nation Environmental Programme (UNEP). Urban Air Pollution in Mega cities of the world. Blackwell Publisher Oxford.
- WAKELIN A. S., MACDONALD L. M., ROGERS S. L., GREGG A. L., BOLGER T. P. & BALDOCK J. A. 2008. Habitat selective factors influencing the structural composition and functional capacity of microbial communities in agricultural soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 40(3): 803-813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.10.015
- WALKER R. F. & MCLAUGHLIN S. B. 1991. Growth and root system development of white oak and loblolly pine as affected by simulated acidic precipitation and ectomycorrhizal inoculation. Forest Ecology and Management. 46(1-2): 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(91)90247-S
- WANG C., GUO P., HAN G., FENG X., ZHANG P. & TIAN X. 2010. Effect of simulated acid rain on the litter decomposition of *Quercus acutissima* and *Pinus massoniana* in forest soil microcosms and the relationship with soil enzyme activities. *Science of the Total Environment.* 408(13): 2706-2713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.03.023
- WANG L., CHEN Z., SHANG H., WANG J. & ZHANG P. 2014. Impact of simulated acid rain on soil microbial community function in Masson pine seedlings. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*. 17(5): 199-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbt.2014.07.008

- WANG Y., LIU S., SHAO C., WU A., HE X., XIA L., WANG X., QIU Y., YU S., PEI J. & ZHANG N. 2021. Enhancement of photosynthetic parameters and growth of *Zelkova serrata* by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under simulated sulfuric acid rain. *Plant Ecology*. 222: 1361-1374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-021-01184-8
- WEI H., LIU Y., ZHANG J., LI S., ZHONG X. & XIANG H. 2021. Leaching of simulated acid rain deteriorates soil physiochemical and mechanical properties in three agricultural soils. *CATENA*. 206: 105485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2021.105485
- WERTHEIM F. S. & CRAKER L. E. 1987. Acid rain and pollen germination in corn. Environmental Pollution. 48(3): 165-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(87)90031-5
- WESTMAN W. E. & TEMPLE P. J. 1989. Acid mist and ozone effects on the leaf chemistry of two Western Conifer species. *Environmental Pollution*. 57(1): 9-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(89)90126-7
- WOOD T. & BORMANN F. H. 1974. The effects of an artificial acid mist upon the growth of *Betula alleghaniensis* Britt. *Environmental Pollution*. 7(4): 259-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-9327(74)90035-4
- WU X. & LIANG C. 2017. Enhancing tolerance of rice (Oryza sativa) to simulated acid rain by exogenous abscisic acid. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 24(5): 4860-4870. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-8219-3
- XIONG T. T., AUSTRUY A., PIERART A., SHAHID M., SCHRECK E., MOMBO S. & DUMAT C. 2016. Kinetic study of phytotoxicity induced by foliar lead uptake for vegetables exposed to fine particles and implications for sustainable urban agriculture. *Journal of Environmental Sciences.* 46: 16-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2015.08.029
- XU H. Q., ZHANG J. E., OUYANG Y., LIN L., QUAN G. M., ZHAO B. L. & YU J. Y. 2015. Effects of simulated acid rain on microbial characteristics in a lateritic red soil. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 22: 18260-18266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5066-6
- YANG L., XU Y. C., ZHANG R., WANG X. T. & YANG C. 2018. Comprehensive transcriptome profiling of soybean leaves in response to simulated acid rain. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety.* 158: 18-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.04.015
- YAO F. F., DING H. M., FENG L. L., CHEN J. J., YANG S. Y. & WANG X. H. 2016. Photosynthetic and growth responses of *Schima superba* seedlings to sulfuric and nitric acid depositions. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.* 23(9): 8644-8658. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5970-9
- ZENG Q. L., HUANG X. H. & ZHOU Q. 2005. Effect of acid rain on seed germination of rice, wheat and rape. *Huan Jing Ke Xue.* 26(1): 181-184.
- ZHA Y., TANG J. & PANG Y. 2022. The effects of simulated acid rain and cadmium-containing atmospheric fine particulate matter on the pakchoi (*Brassica campestris* L.) seedlings growth and physiology. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition. 68(2): 317-328. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2021.2023826
- ZHANG B., BU J. & LIANG C. Root morphology and growth regulated by mineral nutrient absorption in rice roots exposed to simulated acid rain. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution. 227: 457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-3151-1
- ZHANG X., GUO J., VOGT R. D., MULDER J., WANG Y., QIAN C., WANG J. & ZHANG X. 2020. Soil acidification as an additional driver to organic carbon accumulation in major Chinese croplands. *Geoderma*. 366: 114234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2020.114234
- ZHANG Y., TIAN C., YU T., DAYANANDA B., FU B., SENARATNE S. L., WU C. & LI J. 2021. Differential effects of acid rain on photosynthetic performance and pigment composition of the critically endangered Acer amplum subsp. catalpifolium. Global Ecology and Conservation. 30: e01773. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.gecco.2021.e01773
- ZHANG Y., WU L. & WANG X. 1996. Effects of acid rain on leaf injury and physiological characteristics of crops. AgroEnvironmental Protection. 15: 197-208.
- ZHANG Y. B., JIAN-FEI WANG J. F., LIU A. R. & XIA H. D. 2014. Effects of simulated acid rain on the growth and antioxidant activity of *Zebrina pendula*. Acta Prataculturae Sinica. 23(5): 338-344. https://doi.org/10. 11686/cyxb20140540
- ZHENG Y. L., FENG Y. L., LEI Y. B. & YANG C. Y. 2009. Different photosynthetic responses to night chilling among twelve populations of *Jatropha curcas*. *Photosynthetica*. 47(4): 559-566. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-009-0081-9
- ZHOU S., WANG P., DING Y., XIE L. & LI A. 2022. Modification of plasma membrane H+-ATPase in Masson pine (*Pinus massoniana* Lamb.) seedling roots adapting to acid deposition. *Tree Physiology*. 42(7): 1432-1449. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpac015

How to cite this article:

SHAFIQ M., IQBAL M. Z. & ATHAR M. 2023. The effects of acid mist environment on plant growth: a review. J. Plant Develop. 30: 149-170. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2023.30.1.933

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT GUIDE TO AUTHORS

AIMS AND SCOPE OF THE JOURNAL

Journal of Plant Development is the official scientific journal of the "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, which belongs to "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of IAȘI, ROMANIA. It was first published in 1979 (at that time as "Culegere de Studii și Articole de Biologie"). The new series begins in 1993 under the name "Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași". From 2008 on, it has been published under its present name "Journal of Plant Development". It appears in one volume, with one or two issues per year.

Journal of Plant Development (JPD) is an international journal that acts as a medium for the exchange of ideas and provides publication (yearly) of articles in all areas of Plant Science and Botany (of all 'plant' groups in the traditional sense - including algae, cyanobacteria, fungi, myxomycetes). It covers topics in plant development field, as well as the plant ecology. The Journal also covers related fields such as: plant conservation, plant taxonomy, plant embryology, phytosociology, ecology, plant morpho-anatomy and histology, comparative and developmental morphology, physiology, ecophysiology, plant distribution, natural and artificial habitats, ornamental plants, pharmaceuticals uses of plants, plant molecular biology, plant cell, tissue and organ culture etc. The Journal welcomes the submission of manuscripts that meet the general criteria of significance and scientific excellence. All articles published in JPD are peer-reviewed.

TYPES OF MANUSCRIPTS AND LANGUAGE

The journal publishes original research articles, short communications and reviews in English. Journal of Plant Development also publishes book reviews and conference reports. Manuscripts may be of any length, but must be clearly and concisely written.

Three main *types* of manuscripts may be submitted:

Original research articles: should reports results of a substantial, completed and original work, and describe new and carefully confirmed findings. Experimental procedures should be given in sufficient detail for others to verify the work. The length of a full paper should be the minimum required to describe and interpret the work clearly.

Short communications: are suitable for recording the results of complete small investigations or giving details of new models or hypotheses, innovative methods or techniques. The style of main sections need not conform to that of original research articles. Short communications are 2 to 4 pages in length.

Review articles. Submissions of reviews and perspectives covering topics of current interest are welcome and encouraged. Review articles are critical evaluations of material that has already been published. By organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published material, the author considers the progress of current research toward clarifying a problem. A review article is a tutorial in that the author defines and clarifies a problem, summarizes previous investigations in order to inform about the state of current research, identifies relations, contradictions, gaps, and inconsistencies in the literature, suggests the next step or steps in solving the problem. Reviews should be concise and no longer than 14-16 printed pages. Reviews are also peer-reviewed.

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

Journal of Plant Development publishes fully open access articles, which means that all articles are available on the internet to all users immediately upon publication. Non-commercial use and distribution in any medium is permitted, without charge to the user or his/her institution. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of open access.

REVIEWING POLICY

All contributions are subject to a double-blind reviewing process. Acceptance of papers is supervised by an international Editorial Board. Manuscripts considered suitable for peer review by the Editorial Board are sent to at least two referees (members of the Board or external). The journal gives referees a target of four weeks for the return of their reports. The review process takes between three weeks and two months.

PROOFS AND REPRINTS

Electronic proofs will be sent (e-mail attachment) to the corresponding author as a PDF file. Page proofs are considered to be the final version of the manuscript. With the exception of typographical or minor clerical errors, no changes will be made in the manuscript at the proof stage. Because JPD will be published freely online to attract a wide audience, authors will have free electronic access to the full text (in both HTML and PDF) of the article. Authors can freely download the PDF file from which they can print unlimited copies of their articles.

SUBMISSION

Manuscripts should be submitted electronically by sending a message to <u>gbot.is@uaic.ro</u> or <u>ana.cojocariu@uaic.ro</u>. The message should include:

(1) a cover letter, that should include the corresponding author's full name, address and telephone/fax numbers and should be in an e-mail message sent to the Editor. A Cover Letter is to be made upon submission, sending a revision or re-submission.

(2) a text file with the entire text, as an attachment, whose name should begin with the first author's surname.

(3) additional files for figures and tables.

Submission of a paper implies that it has not been published before (except in the form of an abstract or as part of a published lecture or academic thesis), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors, and that, if accepted, will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, without the written consent of the publisher.

JPD Formatting and template: <u>http://www.plant-journal.uaic.ro/instructions.htm</u> Journal of Plant Development have its own specific formatting. This defines how

an article will look when it is published online or in print. In order to format your article ready for submission to JPD, **Word Template** are available on the website, ready for you to download and apply to your document. Read the instructions for the author/s, download and save the word template file to your computer and apply these styles to your paper as appropriate.

Authors should consult the **checklists** given here on **how to prepare the files**. Authors are expected to have their papers well checked for content and correctness in presentation of text and illustrations. Manuscripts not conforming to the guidelines will be returned to the author until satisfactory files are provided.

The corresponding author receives by e-mail an acknowledgment of receipt of the manuscript, mentioning the communicating editor and a manuscript reference number (Article ID). The manuscript number will be mailed to the corresponding author same day or within 72 hours. If you do not receive an acknowledgement you should inquire to be sure it was received.

Details on types of contributions 1. Original research articles

The papers will be published only in a foreign language (English), structured as follows: title, authors, affiliation of the authors, abstract, keywords, introduction, material and method, results & discussions, conclusions, acknowledgements, references, tables, figure captions.

Title should be a brief phrase describing the contents of the paper.

Authors names would not be abbreviated, capitals for surname (family name) and no capitals for first name (except initial letter). Each author name would be accompanied by a complete address, as a footnote on the first page. The affiliation should be provided in the following order: university (institution) name; faculty/department name; number and street name; city; country and email address. One of the authors should be designated as the corresponding author.

Abstract should be concise informative and completely self-explanatory, briefly present the topic, state the purpose of the research, indicate significant data, and point out major findings and conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. Complete sentences, active verbs, and the third person should be used, and the abstract should be written in the past tense. References should therefore be avoided, but if essential, they must be cited in full, without reference to the reference list. Non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided but, if essential, they should be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

Key Words: five to seven words, the most important ones, in alphabetical order, after someone could discover your paper on the internet engines. Key words should not repeat the title of the manuscript.

The **Introduction** should provide a clear statement of the problem, the relevant literature on the subject, and the proposed approach or solution. It should be understandable to colleagues from a broad range of scientific disciplines. The introduction should conclude with a brief statement of the overall aim of the experiments and a comment about whether that aim was achieved.

Materials and methods should be complete enough to allow experiments to be reproduced. However, only truly new procedures should be described in detail; previously published procedures should be cited, and important modifications of published procedures should be mentioned briefly. Methods in general use need not be described in detail.

Results should be presented with clarity and precision. The results should be written in the past tense when describing findings in the authors' experiments. Previously published findings should be written in the present tense. Results should be explained, but largely without referring to the literature. Discussion and detailed interpretation of data should not be included in the Results but should be put into the Discussion section. The **Discussion** should interpret the findings in view of the results obtained in this and in past studies on this topic. State the conclusions in a few sentences at the end of the paper. The Results and Discussion sections can include subheadings, and when appropriate, both sections can be combined.

Conclusions should spell out the major findings of the work and may include some explanation of the significance of these conclusions and what further research should be done. Authors should include a general interpretation of the results in the context of current evidence, and not restricted to that which supports the findings of the present study.

Notes on contributors in maximum 65 words, provide short biographical notes on all contributors.

The **Acknowledgments** of people, grants, funds, etc. should be brief. People who contributed to the work but do not fit criteria for authorship should be listed in the Acknowledgments, along with their contributions. It is the authors' responsibility to ensure that anyone named in the acknowledgments agrees to being so named.

References should be listed at the end of the paper in alphabetical order. In the text, a reference identified by means of an author's name should be followed by the date of the reference in parentheses. Articles in preparation or articles submitted for publication, unpublished observations, personal communications, etc. should not be included in the reference list but should only be mentioned in the article text. Authors are fully responsible for the accuracy of the references.

2. Short communications

Short Communications are limited to a maximum of two figures and one table. They should present a complete study that is more limited in scope than is found in full-length papers. Short Communications follow the same format as for the original research papers, with the following differences: (1) Abstracts are limited to 100 words; (2) instead of a separate Materials and Methods section, experimental procedures may be incorporated into Figure Legends and Table footnotes; (3) Results and Discussion sections should be combined into a single section.

3. Review articles

Review articles are critical evaluations of material that has already been published. By organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published material, the author considers the progress of current research toward clarifying a problem. Reviews should be concise and no longer than 14-16 printed pages. Reviews are also peer-reviewed.

4. Book reviews and conference reports

These types of contributions would not exceed an A4 format page.

5. Special Issues

Proposals for Special Issues of full research papers that focus on a specific topic or theme will be considered.

CHECKLISTS FOR PREPARING THE ARTICLE FILES

CHECKLIST FOR COVER LETTER

The Cover Letter is formatted in MS Word (file type DOC) or in Rich Text Format (file type RTF).
The name of the file Cover Letter consists in the first author's surname followed by '_cover letter' (e.g. Petrescu cover letter.doc).
The cover letter states that the submission is not under consideration or published elsewhere, and that all authors are aware of the submission.
The letter includes contact details of the corresponding author, the title and authorship of the paper, and states if the paper is a first submission , revision or a re-submission . The manuscript reference number is given if the paper is a revision or resubmission.
If the paper is a revised or resubmitted manuscript, the letter explains what changes have been made to the manuscript and where and why changes requested by the Editor and referees have not been carried out.

CHECKLIST FOR TEXT FILE

The Text File is formatted in MS Word (file type DOC) or in Rich Text Format (file type RTF).							
The Petre	The name of the Text File consists of the first author's surname followed by '_article' (e.g. Petrescu article.doc).						
The	The page layout would be as follows: 17 x 24 cm (top 2 cm, bottom 2 cm, right 2 cm, left 2 cm).						
Title	would be written with bold, capital letters, 12 points size, centered.						
Names and Christian names of the authors will be written with Times New Roman, 10 points, centered, capitals for surname (family name) and no capitals for first name (except initial letter). Each author name would be accompanied by a complete address.							
The follor follor addre	full names of all authors : for papers with more than one author, the corresponding author's name is wed by a superscript asterisk*. For papers with authors from more than one institute: each name is wed by an identifying superscript number (1, 2, 3, etc.) associated with the appropriate institutional ess to be entered further down the page.						
The institutional address(es) of each author; each address is preceded by the relevant superscript number where appropriate (1, 2, 3, etc.). The affiliation should be provided in the following order: university (institution) name; faculty/department name; number and street name; city; country and email address. One of the authors should be designated as the corresponding author							
E-ma	ail address of the corresponding author.						
A str	uctured Abstract not exceeding 500 words.						
A list of at least five to maximum seven Key words , in alphabetical order, that should not repeat the title of the manuscript.							
The body of the paper is well structured (preferred structure is: Introduction, Material and methods, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgments and References).							
	Text is typed using size 10, Times New Roman font, single-spaced throughout.						
	Results are presented in a concise way and data are not repeated in both graphical and tabular form.						
	All tables and figures are sited in the text and use 'Figure' or 'Table'						
 All tables and figures are cited in the text and use 'Figure' or 'Table'. No more than three levels of headings are used: Main headings are in regular, bold letters and centered on one line (e.g. Introduction, Materials and methods). Second or third level headings are Bold, aligned to the left and only first word capitalized (e.g. Phytosociological analyses, not Phytosociological Analyses). 							
	Abbreviations are used for units of measurement, molecular terminology, common statistical terms (e.g. ANOVA, <i>t</i> -test and <i>r</i> 2), names of chemicals (e.g. ATP, Mes, Hepes, NaCl, O_2), and procedures (e.g. PCR, PAGE, RFLP). Other abbreviations are spelled out at first mention and all terms are written out in full when used to start a sentence.						
	A list of non-standard abbreviations should be added. In general, non-standard abbreviations should be used only when the full term is very long and used often in text. Each abbreviation should be spelled out and introduced in parentheses the first time it is used in the text. Only recommended						

	SI units should be used. Authors should use the solidus presentation (mg/ml). Standard abbreviations (such as ATP and DNA) need not be defined.			
	SI-units system should be used for all scientific and laboratory data throughout the manuscript. Spaces are left between numerals followed by a unit. In certain instances, it might be necessary to quote other units. These should be added in parentheses. Temperatures should be given in degrees Celsius.			
	Names of plants are written out in full (Genus, species) in the abstract and again in the main text for every organism at first mention (but the genus is only needed for the first species in a list within the same genus, e.g. <i>Ranunculus acris, R. repens.</i> Only names at genus level and below are put in italics. The scientific names of plant species would be italicized. The author (e.g. L., Benth., Shur, Opiz) is given at first mention of the name or (preferably) the authors are provided elsewhere in the paper in a table or appendix, or by reference to a standard work. Authors follow the list in IPNI (http://www.ipni.org), without using a space after initials.			
	Underlining is only used to indicate the major organs in a plant description in a taxonomic treatment.			
	For Specialized equipment mentioned in Materials and methods, details of the model and manufacturer are given.			
	Round numbers that require one word (e.g. up to sixteen, twenty, thirty, etc.) are written out unless they are measurements. All other numbers are in figures except at the beginning of a sentence. Dates are in the form of 10 Jan. 1999.			
	In the text, references are made using the author(s) name of a certain paper (e.g.: other authors as GÉHU (2006) mentioned that). Footnotes should be avoided.			
	References should be given inside the square brackets. [GÉHU, 2006]			
	References appear as follows in the text: [GEHU, 2006] or [BOX & MANTHEY, 2006], or when there are more than two authors [AMORFINI & al. 2006]. In cases where more than one reference is cited, references are listed in chronological order and separated by semicolons e.g. [TACKHOLM, 1920; WISSEMANN, 2000; RITZ & WISSEMANN, 2003; CAISSARD & al. 2006]. Reference to work in press is only used when the paper has been accepted for publication in a named journal, otherwise the terms 'unpubl. res.', giving the initials and location of the person concerned is given (e.g. M. PETRESCU, University of Iasi, Romania, unpubl. res.) or 'pers. comm.'			
The	References section is organized as follows:			
	All references cited in text (also when exclusively used in the bibliographies of taxa in a taxonomic			
	Treatment) are provided in the References section and vice versa. The references are arranged alphabetically based on the last name of the first or sole author. Where the same sole author or same first author has two or more papers listed, these papers are grouped chronologically. Where such an author has more than one paper in the same year, these are ordered with single authored papers first followed by two-author papers (ordered first alphabetically based on the second author's surname, then by year), and then any three-or-more-author papers (in year order only). Letters 'a', 'b', 'c', etc., are added to the date of papers with the same authorship and year.			
	References conform to one of the following styles according to the type of publication:			
	Papers in periodicals: the name of the author(s) would be given in capital letters. The Christian name(s) would be abbreviated. Before the last but one and the last author you must insert the sign "&". In the reference list you must mention all the authors of a certain paper. The year of a paper publication is put after the author (s). Title should be fully written. Between the year and the title we recommend to be inserted a point sign. Each periodical name is to be written in italics. A certain volume must be given in bolds. After it is placed the number of the periodical, inserted between the round brackets; next to it would be inserted the page numbers of the paper. BOSCAIU N. 2001. Ecotonul si importanta functiilor sale ecoprotective. Ocrotirea Naturii, 42: 13-21. MEHREGAN I. & KADEREIT J. W. 2008. Taxonomic revision of Cousinia sect. Cynaroideae (Asteraceae, Cardueae). Willdenowia. 38(2): 293-362.			
	Books: title should be fully written. The title of a book is written in italics. After the title, is placed the name of the town, the publishing house and the page numbers.			

		BOSCAIU N. 1971. Flora si vegetatia Muntilor Tarcu, Godeanu si Cernei. Bucuresti: Edit.
		Acad. Române, 494 pp.
		HILLIER J. & COOMBES A. 2004. The Hillier Manual of Trees & Shrubs. Newton Abbot,
		Devon, England: David & Charles, 512 pp.
		Chapters in books: author(s), year, title, pages, a point sign, followed by "In": author (s) of
		the book, city, publishing house, number of pages.
		TUTIN T. G. 1996. Helleborus L. pp. 249-251. In: TUTIN T. G. & al. (eds). Flora Europaea.
		2 nd ed., 1993, reprinted 1996. Vol. 1. Psilotaceae to Platanaceae. Cambridge: Cambridge
		University Press, XLVI, 581 pp.
		Article only available on-line with digital objet identifier (DOI): SONKÉ B., DJUIKOUO K.
		M. N. & ROBBRECHT E. 2008. Calycosiphonia pentamera sp. nov. (afrotropical Rubiaceae)
		from the 'Lower Guinea' area. Nordic Journal of Botany. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.0107-
		055X.2007.00141.x
		Thesis: NTORE S. 2004. Contribution à la connaissance systématique du genre afrotropical
		Pauridiantha (Rubiaceae). PhD Thesis, K. U. Leuven, Leuven, Belgium.

CHECKLIST FOR ILLUSTRATIONS

Photographs, drawings, maps, graphs, charts, plates and diagrams are all treated as 'Figures' and should be numbered consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text.
The mentions at the drawings, figures, pictures and tables will be placed inside the round brackets – for instance (Figure 2), (Table 2).
All illustrations should be clearly marked with the figure number and the author's name.
Figures composed of several smaller figures are treated as one figure and the subfigures are labeled with capital letters (A, B, C, D, etc.). Scientific names in captions are not followed by authors.
Each table has a complete caption at the top and is Table 1, Table 2, etc. according to the order in which they are first mentioned in the text.
All the schemes, drawings, electron micrographs etc. would be accompanied by a scale bar.
Line diagrams are black and white. Use of colour in line diagrams is acceptable where this enhances clarity significantly.
Related graphics are grouped into a single figure whenever possible. Each part of a grouped figure is labelled A, B, C, etc. and not treated as separate figures. Labels are preferably placed in the upper left or lower left corner of the picture using.
Colour images are used where they enhance significantly the clarity of the scientific information and must be very clear, being accompanied by the explanations.
The diagrams should be made in Excel; pictures, ink drawings must be saved in JPG, JPEG, or BMP format, having a good resolution.
If figures or tables are not imported into your text, these would be placed on separate sheets, with indications of their inserting place in the text.
Table text is typed using Times New Roman. Capitals are avoided within table cells (exceptions: first letter of the heading of row or column, names of taxa requiring a capital, and abbreviations e.g. pH).
Tables must be cell-based. Do not provide tables as graphic objects.
Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in tables do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article.

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT

CONTENTS

Downregulation of arabinogalactan proteins during spermatogenesis in the moss <i>Physcomitrium patens</i>	
ERIC EUGENE JOHNSON, ALYSSA TAYLOR-LAPOLE, MATTHEW BAVUSO	3
New data on the distribution and invasion status of some alien plants in Romania CULIȚĂ SîRB U, ADRIAN OPREA , MIHAI DOROFTEI , SILVIU COVALIOV	17
Ripgut brome (<i>Bromus diandrus</i>) in Romania's vascular flora ADRIAN OPREA , CULIȚĂ SÎRB U	33
Collection and phenotypic characterization of some nigerian bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea) germplasm using seed morphology	
DORCAS ROPO ABEJIDE , OLAMIDE AHMED FALUSI , OLADIPUPO ABDULAZEEZ YUSUF DAUDU , Liman Muhammad Muhammad , Aishatu Ahmed Gado	47
Phytochemical screening of dhaman (<i>Grewia tiliifolia</i> Vahl) fruit in sub-tropical region of India Sonali Singh, Pushpender Bhardwaj, Ajay Sharma, Garima Bhardwaj, Neha Rani Bhagat, Preeti Kumari, Avilekh Naryal, Arup Giri	55
Contributions to the study of some aromatic species of the genus Neneta L.	
Maricica Colțun, Alina Bogdan, Elvira Gille, Valentin Grigoraș	69
Phytochemical screening and anti-bacterial activity of <i>Erythrina variegata</i> leaf, stem and root extracts	
Bushra Sumayya Mohammed, Poornesh Sutramay , Samreen Ahmadi , Salma Fathima , Srinitha Askani , Pruthvi Charan Jambiga , Ramya Thumma , Sunitha Bai Dharavath , Shasthree Taduri	77
Sustainable okra (<i>Abelmoschus esculentus</i> L.) productivity as influenced by fortification of goat manure with rice husk ash in Northern Guinea savanna ecology of Nigeria EMMANUEL ABRAHAM SHITTU, MOSES SAMUEL BASSEY	89
Effects of chromium stress on seed germination and early seedling growth performances of pearl millet <i>Pennisetum glaucum</i> (L.) R. Br. (Poaceae) MUHAMMAD ZAFAR IQBAL , SANA MURTAZA , MUHAMMAD SHAFIQ	99
Biodiversity of aquatic plants and microflora in Tagwai Dam, Nigeria HABIBA MAIKUDI MUHAMMED , USMAN IBRAHIM HAMZA , DANLADI GARBA HANI , ALIYU DANJUMA ALIYU , ALHASSAN USMAN GABI , IBRAHIM YAHAYA , HAUWA HUSSAINI NDAYAKO , MAIKARFI MONDAY	109
Cultivar and weed control strategy influencing the productivity of roselle (<i>Hibiscus sabdariffa</i> L.) in a semi-arid environment of Nigeria EMMANUEL ABRAHAM SHITTU, MOSES SAMUEL BASSEY, ISHAKU JAMES DANTATA	119

* Please see *Table of Contents* at the front of the Volume for full volume contents

Cover photo (Camelia IFRIM): *Passiflora quadrangularis* L. – Greenhouses Complex of "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden of Iași, Romania